Consequences of forebrain cholinergic depletion and experimental cholinergic therapeutics in a transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease

Chiara Orciani

Integrated Program in Neuroscience McGill University, Montreal, Canada

December 2022

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Chiara Orciani, 2022

This Thesis is dedicated to my parents,

Cinzia and Enrico

Table of Contents

Abstract (En	glish)	9
Résumé (Fra	nçais)	
Acknowledg	ments	
Contribution	s of Authors	
Other Contri	butions	
List of Figur	es	
List of Supp	emental Figures	
List of Table	S	
List of Supp	lemental Tables	
List of Abbr	eviations	
CHAPTER 1	– Introduction	
1.1 His	tory of Alzheimer's disease	
1.2 The	burden of Alzheimer's disease	
1.3 Ger	netic and sporadic Alzheimer's disease	
1.3.1	Early-Onset Alzheimer's disease	
1.3.2	Late-Onset Alzheimer's disease	
1.4 Clin	nical progression of Alzheimer's disease	
1.4.1	Subjective Cognitive Impairment	
1.4.2	Mild Cognitive Impairment	
1.4.3	Dementia	
1.5 Pre	clinical stages of Alzheimer's disease	
1.6 Neu	ropathological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease	
1.6.1	Amyloid pathology	
1.6.2	Neurofibrillary tangles	
1.6.3	Brain atrophy and synaptic loss	
1.6.4	Inflammation	
1.6.5	Neurotransmitter dysfunction	
1.7 Is the second secon	ne basal forebrain relevant in Alzhimer's disease pathology?	55
1.8 Ace	etylcholine in the Central Nervous System	
1.8.1	Cholinergic markers	
1.8.2	The cholinergic system: The Basal Forebrain Cholinergic nuclei	
1.8.3	Acetylcholine receptors	

1.8.4	The physiological function of Basal Forebrain Cholinergic neurons	72
1.9	Cholinergic deficits in Alzheimer's disease	73
1.9.1	The Cholinergic Hypothesis	75
1.9.2	2 Cholinergic drugs in Alzheimer's disease	75
1.9.3	New clinical evidence supporting the Cholinergic Hypothesis	76
1.9.4	Acetylcholine modulates Amyloid Precursor Protein processing	79
1.10	Nerve Growth Factor (NGF)	82
1.10	.1 Trophic dependency of Basal Forebrain Cholinergic neurons	83
1.10	.2 Molecular biology of NGF	84
1.10	.3 Nerve Growth Factor Metabolism	84
1.10	.4 NGF and proNGF signalling	87
1.10	.5 NGF in Alzheimer's disease	88
1.10	.6 NGF dysmetabolism and amyloid pathology	88
1.10	.7 NGF dysmetabolism and tau pathology	89
1.11	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)	90
1.11	.1 BDNF, LTP and synaptic plasticity	92
1.11	.2 BDNF and phenotypic neurons maintenance	92
1.11	.3 BDNF, learning and Memory	93
1.11	.4 BDNF and non-glutamatergic neurons	93
1.11	.5 Molecular biology of BDNF	93
1.11	.6 BDNF and proBDNF signalling	94
1.11	.7 BDNF in Alzheimer's disease	97
1.12	Vascular-cholinergic hypothesis	97
1.12	.1 Evidence of vascular innervation by cholinergic neurons	98
1.12	.2 The Neurovascular unit (NVU)	99
1.12	.3 Coordinated vascular response	102
1.12	.4 BFCNs in the cerebral blood flow regulation	104
1.12	.5 BFCN regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)	106
1.12	.6 Neurovascular unit dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease	109
Thesis of	pjective and rationale	110
CHAPTE	ER 2	112
Long-term nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion induces attentional deficits and impacts cortical		
neurons a	and BDNF levels without affecting the NGF synthesis	112
2.1	Introduction	114
2.2	Methods	116

2.2.1	Experimental design
2.2.2	Stereotaxic surgery
2.2.3	5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task
2.2.4	Brain tissue collection
2.2.5	Gene expression analysis
2.2.6	Western blotting (WB)119
2.2.7	Immunohistochemistry (IHC)
2.2.8	Immunofluorescence (IF)
2.2.9	Brightfield imaging and analysis
2.2.10	Confocal imaging and analyses
2.2.11	Statistical analysis
2.3 Re	sults
2.3.1 neurons	Lesion of the nb with 192-IgG SAP induced a loss of ChAT-immunoreactive 122
2.3.2	Cognitive impairment following long-term lesion of the nb 125
2.3.3 termina	Long-term lesion of the nb induced loss and morphological changes of VAChT-IR ls in frontal and parietal cortices
2.3.4	Long-term immunolesion of the nb did not impact the NGF metabolic pathway 130
2.3.5	Long-term immunolesion of the nb impacted cortical BDNF RNA and protein levels. 131
2.3.6 GABA6	Long-term immunolesion of the nb impacted expression of glutamatergic and ergic neuronal markers
2.3.7	Cholinergic markers correlate with global score and BDNF levels
2.4 Dis	cussion
2.4.1	Cognitive deficits and correlation with cholinergic terminals
2.4.2	Lack of changes in the NGF metabolic pathway 142
2.4.3	Impact on BDNF and cortical neuronal markers 142
2.5 Co	nclusions
2.6 Co	nflict of interest
2.7 Ac	knowledgments146
2.8 Su	pplemental methods
2.9 Su	pplemental figures and tables
Connecting	text: Chapter 2 to 3 155
CHAPTER	3 156
Long-term	nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion affects cortical vessels, Vascular Endothelial
1 mor	and alial calls in Wiston not-

3.1	Intro	oduction 1	58
3.2	Metl	hods 1	61
3.2	2.1	Experimental design 1	61
3.2	2.2	Stereotaxic surgery	61
3.2	2.3	Brain tissue collection 1	61
3.2	2.4	Gene expression analysis 1	62
3.2	2.5	Western blotting (WB) 1	62
3.2	2.6	Immunofluorescence (IF) 1	63
3.2	2.7	Confocal imaging and analyses 1	64
3.2	2.8	Statistical analysis	65
3.3	Rest	ılts 1	66
3.3 par	.1 rietal c	Long-term lesion of the nb induced loss of VAChT-IR terminals in frontal a cortices	ind 66
3.3 par	.2 rietal c	Loss of VAChT-IR terminals affects pre-capillary arterioles and capillaries in toortex.	the 68
3.3	.3	Loss of VAChT-IR terminals affects vascular endothelial growth factor A 1	71
3.3 par	.4 rietal c	Loss of cholinergic innervation increased the number of astrocytes in the frontal a cortices	ind 73
3.3 cel	5.5 ls in tł	Loss of cholinergic innervation correlated with the increased number of microgl he parietal cortex	lial 76
3.4	Disc	cussion1	79
3.4	.1	Effect on vessels and VEGF-A 1	80
3.4	.2	Effect on astrocytes 1	81
3.4	.3	Effect on microglia 1	81
3.5	Ack	nowledgments1	82
3.6	Supp	plemental figures 1	83
Connec	ting te	ext: Chapter 3 to 4 1	86
CHAPT	FER 4		87
An M1 hallmar	and s ks in a	sigma-1 receptor agonist prevents cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease-li a transgenic rat model	ike 87
4.1	Intro	oduction 1	89
4.2	Metl	hods1	90
4.2	2.1	Animals 1	90
4.2	2.2	Experimental design and drug treatment 1	91
4.2	2.3	Open Field 1	91
4.2	2.4	New Object Location and Novel Object Recognition 1	91

4.2	Social Preference	191
4.2.	.6 Morris water maze	192
4.2.	.7 Brain tissue collection	192
4.2.	Sample preparation for Aβ levels and inflammatory mediators	193
4.2.	Analysis of TBS soluble and insoluble human A β 38, A β 40 and A β 42 pe	ptides.193
4.2.	.10 Analysis of inflammatory mediators	
4.2.	.11 Western blotting	
4.2.	.12 McSA1 immunostaining and Thioflavin-S staining	195
4.2.	.13 Immunofluorescence (IF)	195
4.2.	.14 Confocal imaging and analyses	196
4.2.	.15 Statistical analysis	197
4.3	Results	198
4.3	AF710B prevents cognitive decline in McGill-APP rats	198
4.3	AF710B prevents extracellular Aβ deposition in McGill-APP rats	203
4.3	AF710B reduces microglia and astrocyte recruitment towards neuro	ons in the
hip	pocampus	
4.3.	AF710B rescues microglia morphological changes and the profile of inf	lammatory
me		
13	5 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNE/mBDNE	212
4.3	AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF	
4.3 4.4	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion	
4.3 4.4 4.4	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of A6 pathology 	
4.3 4.4 4.4 4.4	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Paduation of neuroinflammation 	
4.3. 4.4 4.4. 4.4. 4.4.	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig 1Ps activation be responsible for cognitive impeirment reduct 	
4.3. 4.4 4.4. 4.4. 4.4. 4.4. 4.4.	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduct 	
4.3 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.5	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduct Acknowledgments	
4.3 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.6	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduct Acknowledgments Supplemental figures 	
4.3. 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.6 Summan	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduct Acknowledgments Supplemental figures 	
4.3. 4.4 4.4. 4.4. 4.4. 4.5 4.6 Summar 5 CH	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduct Acknowledgments Supplemental figures IAPTER 5 - General discussion 	
4.3. 4.4 4.4. 4.4. 4.4. 4.5 4.6 Summar 5 CH 5.1	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduct Acknowledgments Supplemental figures IAPTER 5 - General discussion Hypotheses of cholinergic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease	
4.3. 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.6 Summar 5 CH 5.1 5.1 neu	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduct Acknowledgments Supplemental figures IAPTER 5 - General discussion	
4.3. 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.6 Summar 5 CH 5.1 5.1 5.1 neu 5.1 and	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF Discussion Decreased cognitive decline Reduction of Aβ pathology Reduction of neuroinflammation Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduct Acknowledgments Supplemental figures	
4.3. 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.4 4.5 4.6 Summan 5 CH 5.1 5.1 5.1 neu 5.1 and 5.2	 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF	

5.4 History of NGF as a therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease
5.5 BFCNs immunolesion affects BDNF and neurotransmitter markers
5.6 Could BDNF in the body fluids be a suitable biomarker of Alzheimer's disease? 239
5.7 BDNF as a possible therapeutic strategy for Alzheimer's disease
5.8 Differences between BDNF and NGF in the context of human mutations
5.9 Are the studies on cholinergic neurons relevant for other dementias?
5.10 Could the vascular-cholinergic hypothesis explain the "non-responders" to AChEIs? 242
5.11 Novel vascular biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease
5.11.1 Vessels diameter following BFCNs depletion and a possible biomarker in Alzheimer's disease
5.11.2 VEGF following BFCNs depletion and a possible biomarker for Alzheimer's disease 244
5.12 Other experimental approaches to study the neurovascular unit
5.13 Cholinergic experimental therapeutics
5.13.1 Targeting cholinergic neurons
5.13.2 Targeting ACh receptors
5.14 Why is the M1 receptor considered the best therapeutic target amongst the mAChRs ? 247
5.15 M1-agonists from the "AF series"
5.16 AF710B prevents cognitive decline and amyloid-like pathology
5.17 AF710B has an affinity for the sigma-1 receptor
5.18 AF710B has anti-amnesic and anti-inflammatory effects mediated by the Sigma 1 receptor
5.19 Agonists of muscarinic receptors in clinical trials: the past and the present
5.20 The way forward
Original contributions
References

Abstract (English)

Basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (BFCNs) represent the main source of cholinergic innervation to the cortex and hippocampus. They are essential for learning, memory and attention and degenerate early in Alzheimer's disease (AD), contributing to initial cognitive deficits. Consistently with the above, acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEIs), improving the remaining cholinergic signalling, provide a transient relief from cognitive decline, albeit without modifying disease progression.

Several studies have recently shown that AChEIs administration reduced the rate of atrophy of the hippocampus, cortex, and basal forebrain, while patients taking medications with anticholinergic effects have more probability of developing AD. This suggests that BFCN degeneration may play a significant role in aggravating AD pathology. Consequently, basic science research on the pathological mechanisms ensured by the loss of BFCN and the investigation of novel cholinergic therapies would be of value in preventing or delaying AD pathology.

This Thesis focused on investigations into the relationship between BFCNs and neurotrophins. The phenotypic maintenance of BFCNs depends on levels of mature nerve growth factor (mNGF) and, to a lesser extent, on the mature brain-derived neurotrophic factor (mBDNF). These trophic factors are generated in target neurons and retrogradely transported to cell bodies of BFCNs. Whether BFCNs inputs impact neurotrophin availability at BFCNS synapses was not previously investigated. Our studies revealed that following a 6 month-immunolesion in Wistar rats of the nucleus basalis (nb), a basal forebrain cholinergic nuclei projecting mainly to the cortex, produced an attentional deficit accompanied by a reduction of cortical markers of glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons. Additionally, the cholinergic nb loss produced differential effects on neurotrophin availability, decreasing BDNF expression and mBDNF levels without noticeable changes in NGF levels.

Secondly, we explored the effect of cholinergic nb loss on the cortical vasculature. BFCNs synapses are known to regulate vascular tone and cerebral blood flow establishing contacts with different cell types (such as vascular smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, and astrocytic end-

feet), which constitute the neurovascular unit (NVU). Our investigations demonstrated that losses of cholinergic nb reduced the average diameter of cortical vessels and the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor A. In addition, in such conditions, the density of astrocytes and microglia cells was increased in the cerebral cortex, showing higher colocalization of astrocytic end-feet on arterioles. Furthermore, microglia cells in the parietal cortex displayed morphological alterations indicative of an intermediate activation state.

Finally, I investigated whether a new cholinergic therapy has the potential to prevent the AD-like amyloid pathology in a transgenic rat model at early pathological stages. For that, we tested whether the selective allosteric M1 muscarinic and sigma-1 receptor agonist AF710B, administered daily (10 μ g/kg) for seven months, followed by one month of drug interruption (wash-out), attenuated AD-like pathology in transgenic rats. Our studies demonstrated that AF710B prevented cognitive decline, reduced plaque deposition, neuroinflammation and facilitated conversion from BDNF precursor to mBDNF. These results would indicate some preventative, disease-modifying, properties of this compound over disease-aggravating components of the brain's amyloid pathology.

Overall, these studies reinforce the relevance of the BFCNs system in the maintenance of cerebral cortex higher functions. Additionally, they provide a foundation for further studies regarding a preventative strategy to halt or slow down the impact of brain amyloidosis at preclinical AD stages.

Résumé (Français)

Les neurones cholinergiques du cerveau antérieur basal (NCCAB) composent principalement l'innervation du cortex et de l'hippocampe. Ils sont essentiels à l'apprentissage, à la mémoire et à l'attention, et sont parmi les premiers à dégénérer dans la maladie d'Alzheimer (MA) contribuant aux premiers déficits cognitifs. Les inhibiteurs de l'acetylcholinesterase (IAchE), qui améliorent la signalisation cholinergique, peuvent adoucir le déclin cognitif sans toutefois affecter la progression de la maladie.

Plusieurs études récentes ont démontré qu'un traitement IAchE retarde l'atrophie de l'hippocampe, du cortex et du cerveau antérieur, alors que les patients suivant un traitement anticholinergiques sont plus probables à développer la MA, indiquant que la dégénération des NCCAB jouerait un rôle important dans la progression de la pathologie de la MA. Conséquemment, la recherche fondamentale sur les mécanismes pathologiques entamés par la perte des NCCAB ainsi que le développement de thérapies cholinergiques seraient pertinents à prévenir ou retarder la pathologie de la MA.

Ici, nous examinons l'interdépendance entre les NCCAB et les neurotrophines. Le phénotype des NCCAB dépend des quantités du facteur de croissance neuronal mature (mNGF) et du facteur neurotrophique mature dérivé du cerveau (mBDNF). Ces facteurs trophiques produits dans les neurones cibles et transportés de façon rétrograde au soma des NCCAB. Il demeure inconnu si les entrées des NCCAB ont un impact sur la disponibilité des neurotrophines aux synapses des NCCAB. Nos études révèlent qu'après une lésion de 6 mois du noyau basal (NB), un noyau cholinergique du cerveau antérieur basal dont les projections atteignent principalement le cortex, les rats Wistar sont atteints d'un déficit d'attention accompagné d'une réduction de marqueurs neuronaux corticaux glutamatergiques et GABAergiques. De plus, une lésion au NB modifiait la disponibilité de neurotrophines, réduisant l'expression de BDNF (et mBDNF) sans visiblement influencer les niveaux de NGF.

Ensuite, nous avons exploré l'effet d'une lésion au NB sur la vascularisation du cortex. Les synapses des NCCAB régulent le tonus vasculaire et le débit sanguin cérébral et se connectent à divers types cellulaires, comme les cellules musculaires lisses vasculaires, les cellules endothéliales, et les astrocytes composant l'unité neurovasculaire (NVU). Nos résultats

démontrent qu'une lésion au NB réduit le diamètre moyen des vaisseaux corticaux ainsi que l'expression du facteur de croissance vasculaire endothélial. De plus, suite à cette lésion du NB, la densité des astrocytes et cellules microgliales étaient enrichie dans le cortex, avec les pieds astrocytaires ayant une plus grande colocalisation avec les artérioles. Puis, les cellules microgliales du cortex pariétal ont subi un changement morphologique indiquant un état immédiat d'activation.

Finalement, nous avons examiné le potentiel d'une nouvelle thérapie cholinergique dans un modèle animal de la MA dans des rats transgéniques au stade pathologique amyloïde précoce. Pour ce faire, nous avons testé si un agoniste allostérique au récepteur muscarinique M1 et sigma-1, AF710B, administré quotidiennement ($10 \mu g/kg$) durant sept mois, suivi d'un mois d'arrêt de traitement, réduisait la pathologie de la MA dans le modèle de rats transgéniques. Nous démontrons que le traitement AF710B réduit le déclin cognitif, en réduisant la déposition de plaque et l'inflammation et en facilitant la conversion du précurseur BDNF en mBDNF. Ces résultats indiquent que AF710B aurait des propriétés préventives et modifiantes face aux composantes aggravantes de la pathologie amyloïde du cerveau.

En somme, nos résultats supportent l'importance des NCCAB pour le maintien des fonctions corticales supérieures, et ouvrent une avenue d'étude sur une stratégie préventive pour ralentir or freiner l'impact de l'amylose du cerveau au stade préclinique de la MA.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank many people on this amazing journey.

First, I want to thank my supervisor, **Dr. A. Claudio Cuello**, who allowed me to join his Lab and McGill University. He contributed to my personal and scientific growth over these years, changing my view on many subjects. I thank him for sharing his dedication, motivation and passion for science and for always pushing me to do better. He challenged me, and I discovered I had the strength and the ability to overcome many scientific difficulties. He was right.. a student during the PhD journey has a whole evolution, and now I understand what he meant. I also want to thank him for giving me a chance to meet many brightest scientists working in the Alzheimer's field who came to visit the lab. Finally, and not less importantly, he introduced me to Piera Levi-Montalcini.

I am grateful to **Piera Levi-Montalcini** and **Associazione Levi-Montalcini** for supporting my PhD studies, showing interest in the NGF-related project we proposed, and believing in young scientists' enthusiasm.

I appreciated the help of my advisory committee, **Dr. Alfredo Ribeiro-Da-Silva** and **Dr. Lisa Munter,** who guided me over these years and much more. **Dr. Alfredo Ribeiro-Da-Silva** gave me academic support and suggestions during my academic and future post-graduation life. I am very grateful to **Dr. Lisa Munter** for all the academic and moral support she gave me. She is one of the greatest examples of a woman in science, which all of us admire.

I want to thank the member of the Cuello lab, starting with the past members. **Dr. Helene Hall** was the dedicated scientist who co-supervised me in the first three years of my Ph.D. She challenged me and tried to transmit her passion and excellence for science. **Dr. Lisi Flores Aguilar** gave me academic guidance, enriching scientific discussions, and she encouraged me in difficult moments. I am very grateful to **Dr. Rowan Pentz**, who guided me in my first project since I joined the lab until he graduated. **Dr. Morgan K Foret**, introduced me to the microscopy world and during the days of covid, she transformed the lab in a warmer and more fun place. We engaged in many discussions... scientific and not, and I am hugely grateful for her contribution to this Thesis. Finally, I thank **Dr. Chunwei Wuang** for her patience in handling all my requests about rats.

To the current members of the lab, I want to thank **Dr. Sonia Do Carmo**, who co-supervised my projects, gave academic guidance and helped in the final years of my Ph.D. I thank **Josh Emmerson** for always smiling and having scientific and post-graduation life discussions. I thank **Adriana Ducatenzeiler** for helping me in every possible way, **Agustina Lavagna** for making me more organized and assisting with my crazy requests. I thank **Ludmilla Boyer** for always having a nice word whenever I approached the office. Finally, I am very grateful to the three amazing graduate students that recently joined the lab, **Quentin Bonomo, Ai Liu, Ben Kannel**; they all taught me something new.

I want to thank the people that helped me to complete my thesis with scientific discussions, in particular, **Dr. Noosha Yousefpour**, who always gave me wise recommendations; **Dr. Samantha Locke**, who made possible an impossible NGF measurement; **Dr. Joel Ryan**, who had the patience to help me with many analyses and translate my abstract in French.

To the people that made Montreal a warmer place: Patrizia Villotti, Alejandro Fonseca, Maria Da Silva Martins, Elena Lombardo, Simone Raschia, Celia Aceae, Giorgio Balbinot, Riccardo Romano, Elena Corella-Puertas, Roberta Maffettone, Martina D'Antoni, Sara Bianco, Andrea Gragnano, Antonio Farina, Anthony Andreoli, Morgan K Foret, Lisi Flores Aguilar, and many others I have met during this adventure.

A special thanks to **Bismack Navarro** for supporting me during these years since my PhD began, always encouraging me not to give up and pursue my dreams. He taught me to be strong and how to face problems. This would not have been the same without you.

To Elisa, Sara, Ludovica, Claudia, Pamela, Carmen, Elisa and Martina, the best girls with whom I shared the most significant moment of my life and who are always waiting for me to return. To the guys that have always been on my side, Lorenzo, Matteo and Ruggero. Finally, I am very grateful to all my friends and relatives who have always been on my side and supported me in any possible way.

Last to my parents **Cinzia** and **Enrico**, che mi siete stati sempre vicini. Continuo a dedicarvi ogni tesi del mio percorso academico. Mi avete supportato in tutte le mie decisioni e mi avete dato la libertà di seguire i miei sogni. Mi avete insegnato l'importanza di lavorare duro, di imparare qualcosa da tutte le persone che incontro e a rispettare chi ti da una occasione.

Contributions of Authors

Chiara Orciani (CO) was the lead investigator and first author of the manuscripts in this thesis, and of this dissertation. CO designed experiments in collaboration with A. Claudio Cuello (ACC), in addition to Sonia Do Carmo (SDC), Helene Hall (HH) and Rowan Pentz (RP) for specific manuscripts. CO troubleshooted and optimized protocols, collected data, and analyzed results. CO wrote initial drafts of all manuscripts and generated figures.

ACC was the corresponding author for the manuscripts and contributed original ideas for the academic direction of this thesis, providing intellectual guidance. ACC revised and contributed to all manuscripts.

CHAPTER 2 - Long-term nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion induces attentional deficits and impacts cortical neurons and BDNF levels without affecting the NGF synthesis.

CO, HH, RP, SDC and ACC contributed to the conception and design of the study.

CO performed behaviour, western blots, qPCR and immunohistochemistry.

CO and Morgan K Foret (MKF) contributed to the immunofluorescence.

CO, HH and MKF contributed to the macros for image data analysis.

CO drafted the initial manuscript and prepared the figures.

CO, HH, RP, MKF, SDC and ACC significantly edited the final manuscript.

All authors revised and approved the final manuscript.

CHAPTER 3 - Long-term nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion affects cortical vessels, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A and glial cells in Wistar rats.

CO, SDC and ACC contributed to the conception and design of the study.

CO performed qPCR, western blots and data analysis.

CO and MKF contributed to the immunofluorescence.

CO drafted the initial manuscript and prepared the figures.

CO, SDC, MKF and ACC significantly edited the final manuscript.

All authors revised and approved the final manuscript.

CHAPTER 4 - An M1 and sigma-1 receptor agonist prevents cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease-like hallmarks in a transgenic rat model.

CO, SDC, HH, and ACC contributed to the conception and design of the study.

Chunwei Wang (CW) performed the animal breeding and genotyping.

CO, SDC, Quentin Bonomo (QB), Agustina Lavagna (AL) and MKF delivered the drug.

CO and MKF perfused and collected the brains.

CO performed behaviour, western blots, immunofluorescence, microscope imaging and data analysis.

SDC processed the samples for the Mesoscale Discovery analyses and conducted the Mesoscale Discovery assays.

MKF performed the GFAP/Iba1 immunofluorescence and microscope GFAP/Iba1 imaging.

AL realized the schematic illustrating our proposed mechanism.

CO drafted the initial manuscript and prepared the figures.

CO, SDC, MKF and ACC significantly edited the final manuscript.

All authors revised and approved the final manuscript.

Other Contributions

Papers published:

- Orciani, C., Hall, H., Pentz, R., Foret, M.K.*, Do Carmo*, S. and Cuello, A.C., 2022. Longterm nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion induces attentional deficits and impacts cortical neurons and BDNF levels without affecting the NGF synthesis. *Journal of Neurochemistry*.
- Flores-Aguilar, L., Hall, H., Orciani, C., Foret, M.K., Kovecses, O., Ducatenzeiler, A. and Cuello, A.C., 2022. Early loss of locus coeruleus innervation promotes cognitive and neuropathological changes before amyloid plaque deposition in a transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*.
- Flores-Aguilar, L., Iulita, M.F., Orciani, C., Tanna, N., Yang, J., Bennett, D.A. and Cuello, A.C., 2021. Cognitive and brain cytokine profile of non-demented individuals with cerebral amyloid-beta deposition. *Journal of neuroinflammation*.
- Caraci, F., Iulita, M.F., Pentz, R., Aguilar, L.F., Orciani, C., Barone, C., Romano, C., Drago, F. and Cuello, A.C., 2017. Searching for new pharmacological targets for the treatment of Alzheimer's disease in Down syndrome. *European journal of pharmacology*.

* indicates equal contribution

Papers to be submitted:

 Orciani, C., Do Carmo, S., Foret, M.K., Hall, H., Bonomo, Q., Lavagna A., Huang C. and Cuello, A.C. An M1/sigma-1 receptor agonist prevents cognitive deficits and reduces amyloid plaques and neuroinflammation in a transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's amyloid pathology. *To be submitted.*

- Orciani, C., Do Carmo, S., Foret, M.K., and Cuello, A.C., 2022. Long-term nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion affects cortical vessels, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A and glial cells in Wistar rats. *In preparation*.
- Foret, M.K.; Do Carmo, S.; Orciani, C.; Welikovitch, L.; Huang, C.; Cuello, A.C. Oxidative Stress-Related Genes are Dysregulated in Aβ burdened Neurons of a Rat Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *To be submitted*.

List of Figures

Figure 1-1. Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of preclinical and clinical Alzheimer's
disease
Figure 1-2. Schematic representation of amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing
Figure 1-3. Schematic representation of the neurotransmitter-specific involvement of presynaptic
boutons across progressive stages of the AD-like amyloid pathology
Figure 1-4. Schematic representation of a typical CNS cholinergic synapsis
Figure 1-5. Parasagittal section of a rat brain with a schematic representation of the cholinergic
system
Figure 1-6. Coronal sections of the nucleus basalis in the rat brain
Figure 1-7. M1-Agonist binding modulates pathways of APP processing and tau
phosphorylation
Figure 1-8. Schematic rapresentation of the NGF metabolic pathway
Figure 1-9. A model of BDNF functions in learning and memory
Figure 1-10. Major TrkB-signalling-activated pathways
Figure 1-11. Representation of a capillary cross-section within a single NVU 100
Figure 1-12. Heterogeneity of cerebral arteries
Figure 1-13. Cellular mechanisms for the propagation of vasodilation in the vessels from the
activated site
Figure 1-14. Schematic representation of how glutamate, GABA and astrocytes may interact in
response to basal forebrain stimulation
Figure 1-15. The VEGF family of growth factors
Figure 2-1. Decreased number of cholinergic neurons in the nb following immunolesion with
192-IgG-Saporin
Figure 2-2. Long-term nb cholinergic neuron depletion induced cognitive deficits in the 5-choice
task
Figure 2-3. Cortical VAChT-IR terminals were reduced and showed morphological changes
following nb demise
Figure 2-4. Nb immunolesion did not impact cortical gene expression and protein levels of NGF.

Figure 2-5. Expression of BDNF and mBDNF protein levels were downregulated followi	ing nb
depletion	134
Figure 2-6. Nb cholinergic immunolesion impacted cortical glutamatergic and GABAerg	ic
markers	136
Figure 2-7. Correlation between VAChT-IR synapses and ChAT-IR neurons with global	score
and mBDNF	139
Figure 2-8. Schematic of the BDNF mechanism in wild-type and with nb cholinergic dep	letion.
	144
Figure 3-1. VAChT-IR terminals were reduced in frontal and parietal cortices following a	nb
demise	167
Figure 3-2. Loss of VAChT-IR terminals affects arterioles and capillaries in the parietal c	cortex.
	169
Figure 3-3. mRNA and protein levels of VEGF-A were down-regulated following nb dep	oletion.
	172
Figure 3-4. Nb cholinergic immunolesion promoted increase of cortical astrocytic cells an	nd
increased colocalization of astrocytic end-feet in arteries.	174
Figure 3-5. Loss of cholinergic synapses promoted microglia cells recruitment, correlated	1 and
showed morphological changes in the parietal cortex.	177
Figure 4-1. Schematic representation of the experimental design	200
Figure 4-2. AF710B prevented cognitive impairment in McGill-APP rats	201
Figure 4-3. AF710B reduced amyloid pathology in McGill-APP rats.	204
Figure 4-4. AF710B reduced microglia and astrocyte recruitment toward hippocampal ne	urons
	207
Figure 4-5. AF710B rescued morphological changes of microglia recruited towards hippo	ocampal
neurons and altered the cytokines profile.	209
Figure 4-6. AF710B rescued proBDNF conversion to mBDNF.	213
Figure 4-7. Schematic of the pathological mechanisms affecting cognitive impairment in	the
transgenic rats and the preventive effect of AF710B	216

List of Supplemental Figures

Supplemental figure 2-1. Cholinergic cells of the Ms/VDB were not affected following
immunolesion of the nb
Supplemental figure 2-2. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of
VAChT, TrkA and proNGF152
Supplemental figure 2-3. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of
TrkB, vGluT1, GAD65, TH
Supplemental figure 3-1. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of
VAChT-IR, COL-IV-IR and αSMA-IR
Supplemental figure 3-2. The diameter of capillaries assessed with Object J 184
Supplemental figure 3-3. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of
GFAP-and Iba1-IR cells
Supplemental figure 4-1. AF710B and effect on the rat weight
Supplemental figure 4-2. Open field, NOL performances and SP habituation
Supplemental figure 4-3. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of
McSA1 and Thiof-S
Supplemental figure 4-4. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of
Iba1 and GFAP-IR cells
Supplemental figure 4-5. Inflammatory mediators
Supplemental figure 4-6. Representative images of vGluT1 and TrkA in CA1 and Flowchart
illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of VAChT, vGluT1 and TrkA 229

List of Tables

Table 1-1. Relative proportions of M1-M4 muscar	nic receptors (mAChRs) in the different brain
areas.	

List of Supplemental Tables

Supplemental table 2-1.	Testing stages	of 5-choice task	0
Suppremental actor 2 1.	resting stuges		v

Supplemental table 2-2. Correlation between cholinergic markers, global score and BDNF. ... 154

List of Abbreviations

192-IgG-SAP	192-IgG-saporin
3'-UTR	3'-untranslated regions
5-choice task	5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task
Αβ	Amyloid beta
ACh	Acetylcholine
AChE	Acetylcholinesterase
AChEI	Acetylcholinesterase inhibitors
AD	Alzheimer's disease
ADRDA	Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association
ADAM17	Metalloproteinase domain 17
AICD	APP (amyloid precursor protein) intracellular domain
AKT	Protein kinase B
ALS	Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis
AMPA-r	α-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
APH1	Anterior pharynx defective
APP	Amyloid precursor protein
APP/PS1 Tg	Amyloid precursor protein transgenic mouse (APP K670N/M671L; PSEN1 L166P mutations)
APPs	Amyloid precursor protein-derived peptides
AQP-4	Aquaporin-4

BACE-1	β-secretase 1
BBB	Blood-brain barrier
BChE	Butyrylcholinesterase
BDNF	Brain-derived neurotrophic factor
BFCNs	Basal forebrain cholinergic neurons
BLA	Basolateral amygdala
C99 or βCTF	Carboxy-terminal fragment
CA1	Cornu ammonis 1
CAA	Cerebral amyloid angiopathy
CaMKIs	Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases
cAMP	Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
CBF	Cerebral blood flow
ChAT	Choline acetyltransferase
CHT1	High-affinity choline transporter
CNS	Central nervous system
COX-2	Cyclooxygenase-2
CRDs	Extracellular cysteine-rich domains
CREB	cAMP response element-binding protein
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
COL-IV	Collagen IV
СРТ	Continuous Performance Test
Сри	Caudate-putament
CVBM	Cerebrovascular basement membrane

DAG	Diacylglycerol
DBH	Dopamine b-hydroxylase
DLB	Dementia with Lewy bodies
DOPAC	Primary metabolite of dopamine
DR	Dorsal raphe
DS	Down syndrome
EC	Entorhinal cortex
EETs	Epoxyeicosatrienoic acids
E-LTP	Early phase of long-term potentiation (LTP)
EM	Electron microscopy
eNOS	endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FA85	[18F]-F-A-85380
FDG	Fluorodeoxyglucose
FDG-PET	Fluorodeoxyglucose 18F-PET
FEOBV	18F-fluoroethoxybenzovesamicol
Fr1	Frontal cortex 1
Fr2	Frontal cortex 2
FTLD	Frontotemporal lobe dementia
GABA	γ-aminobutyric acid
GAD65	Glutamic acid decarboxylase 65
GAPDH	Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase

GFAP	Glial fibrillary acidic protein
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GP	Globus pallidus
GSK-3	Glycogen synthase kinase 3
HDB	Horizontal band of Broca
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
HSAN IV	Human sensory and autonomic neuropathy type IV
HSAN V	Human sensory and autonomic neuropathy type V
Iba1	Ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1
Ic	internal capsule
ICA	Internal carotid artery
ICV	Intracerebroventricular
IDE	Insulin degrading enzyme
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
Ins(1,4,5)P3	Inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate
IP3Rs type 3	Inositol triphosphate receptors
IPN	Interpeduncular nucleus
IR	Immunoreactive
ITI	Inter-trial interval
LC	Locus coeruleus
LDL	Low-density lipoprotein

LH	Limited hold
L-LTP	Late phase of long-term potentiation (LTP)
LOAD	Late-onset Alzheimer's disease
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
LRP	Lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1
ldt	laterodorsal tegmental nucleus
LTD	Long-term depression
LTP	Long-term potentiation
mAChRs	muscarinic acetylcholine receptors
МАРК	Mitogen-activated protein kinase
mBDNF	mature BDNF
M1 mAChR	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor type 1
M2 mAChR	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor type 2
M3 mAChR	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor type 3
M4 mAChR	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor type 4
M5 mAChR	Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor type 5
MBI	Mild behavioural impairment
MCA	Middle cerebral artery
MCI	Mild cognitive impairment
МСРО	Magnocellular preoptic field
MEK	MAPK/ERK kinase
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MIP	Maximum intensity projection

MMP	Matrix metalloprotease
MMP-1	Matrix metalloprotease-1
MMP-3	Matrix metalloprotease-3
MMP-9	Matrix metalloprotease-9
MMSE	Mini-Mental State Examination
mNGF	mature NGF
MRI	Magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	messenger RNA
Ms	Medial septum
MSD	Mesoscale Discovery
MWM	Morris water maze
nAcc	nucleus accumbens
nAChRs	nicotinic receptors
nb	nucleus basalis
NBM	Nucleus basalis of Meynert
NCI	Non cognitive impairment
NDS	Normal donkey serum
NEP	Neprilysin
NeuN	Neuronal nuclei
NFTs	Neurofibrillary tangles
ΝFκB	Nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated
NGF	Nerve growth factor
NGS	Normal goat serum

NIA-AA	National Institute on Aging Alzheimer's Association
NINCDS	National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke
NMDA	N-methyl-D-aspartate
NMDA-r	N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor
NMPB	[11C]N-methyl-4-piperidyl benzilate
NO	Nitric oxide
nNO	neuronal nitric oxide
NOL	Novel object location
NOR	Novel object recognition
NRP	Neuropilin
NSAIDs	Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
NVU	Neurovascular unit
OF	Open field
P2RY12	Purinergic receptor P2Y12
p75ntr	p75 neurotrophin receptor
Par	Parietal cortex
PBS	Phosphate saline buffer
PET	Positron emission tomography
PI	Phosphatidylinositol
РІЗК	Phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
РКС	Protein kinase C
PLCy1	Phospholipase Cy1

PIGF	Placental growth factor
ppt	pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus
pre-MMP	precursor form of MMP
pre-proBDNF	precursor form of proBDNF
proBDNF	precursor BDNF
proNGF	precursor NGF
PS	Presenilin
PSD95	Postsynaptic density 95
PSEN1	Presenilin 1
PSEN2	Presenilin 2
p-Tau	Phosphorylated tau
PVMs	Perivascular macrophages
QNB	123I-iodo-quinuclidinylbenzilate
RAGE	Receptor for advanced glycation end products
RFP	Red fluorescent
ROI	Region of interest
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RT-qPCR	Real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction
Sal	Saline injected
SAP	192-IgG Saporin injected
sAPPα	Soluble amyloid precursor protein α
sAPPβ	Soluble amyloid precursor protein β
SART	Sustained Attention to Respond Task

SD	Stimulus duration
SI	Substantia innominata
Sig-1R	Sigma-1 receptor
SIVD	Subcortical ischemic vascular dementia
sLRP1	soluble form of LRP1
SMCs	Smooth muscle cells
SORL1	Sortilin-related receptor 1 gene
SN	Substantia nigra
SNPs	Single nucleotide polymorphisms
SP	Social preference
Tg	Transgenic
Tg-sal	Transgenic treated with saline
Tg-AF710B	Transgenic treated with AF710B
TH	Tyrosine hydroxylase
THA	Tacrine
Thiof-S	Thioflavin-S
TIMP1	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1
TNFR	Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor
tPA	tissue plasminogen activator
TREM2	Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells
TrkA	Tropomyosin receptor kinase A
TrkB	Tropomyosin receptor kinase B
ТО	Time-out

V66M	Acid substitution (valine to methionine) at codon 66
VAChT	Vesicular acetylcholine transporter
VBB	Vertical band of Broca
VDB	Vertical diagonal band
VEGF-A	Vascular endothelial growth factor A
VEGFR-2	Vascular endothelial cell growth factor receptor 2
vGluT1	Vesicular glutamate transporter 1
VTA	Ventral tegmental area
VIP	Vasoactive intestinal peptide
WB	Western blot
Wt-sal	Wild-type treated with saline
Wt-AF710B	Wild-type treated with AF710B
αSMA	α-Smooth muscle actin
α-CTF or C83	C-terminal fragment known as the APP-CTF fragment
α7-nAChR	α-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor

CHAPTER 1 – Introduction

1.1 <u>History of Alzheimer's disease</u>

The German neuropathologist Alois Alzheimer described the first case of "presenile dementia" in 1907, with the publication of a report entitled "On an unusual illness of the cerebral cortex" ((Alzheimer, 1907); English translation (Stelzmann et al., 1995)). In this study, he described the case of a 51-year-old woman placed in an insane asylum in Frankfurt. Alzheimer reported that the woman's symptoms were extreme jealousy towards her husband, followed by progressive memory loss, disorientation, visual hallucinations, aggressiveness, and paranoia. After her death, four and half years after her admission to the asylum, Alzheimer performed a post-mortem neuropathological analysis of the brain. The brain was highly atrophic with vascular arteriosclerotic changes. In addition, histological analyses revealed "striking changes of the neurofibrils" characterized by their "unique thickness and capacity for impregnation" using Bielschowsky's silver stain. One-third of neurons in the cerebral cortex displayed these neurofibrillary pathological changes accompanied by the disappearance of the upper neuronal layer. He further proposed that fibrillar changes were the result of the deposition of a "metabolic substance" inside neurons and the occurrence of "minute miliary foci" (currently defined as amyloid plaques) in the cerebral cortex (Alzheimer, 1907).

The work that supported Alzheimer's conclusion was driven by reports of other contemporary brilliant neuroscientists such as Kraepelin, Nissl, Lewy, Cerletti, Perusini and Bonfiglio, which contributed to this discovery (Boller and Forbes, 1998). As a matter of fact, the group led by Arnold Pick had described "lobar atrophy" 15 years before Alzheimer's paper (Pick, 1892). In the same year of Pick's publication, the presence of brain "foci" was noticed by Paul Blocq and Georges Marinesco in the brain of an old individual with epilepsy (Blocq and Marinescu, 1892). Furthermore, Emil Redlich described the presence of "miliary sclerosis" in two cases of senile dementia and referred to them as plaques (Redlich, 1898). Blocq, Marinesco and Redlich did not further investigate the relevance of these aggregates as they believed that the plaques represented a modified glial cell (Blocq and Marinescu, 1892, Redlich, 1898).

In the same year that Alzheimer communicated his observations, Oskar Fischer described the presence of plaques in 12 of 16 cases of senile dementia, and for the first time, he described the

neuritic plaque (FISCHER, 1907). He proposed that the presence of plaques and neuritic plaques was associated with a clinical condition named "presbyophrenia", a dementia subtype characterized by disorientation, short-memory impairment and euphoria (reviewed in (Goedert, 2009)). Following Perusini's work (Perusini, 1911) which confirmed that senile plaque represented a specific finding in senile dementia cases, the name "Fisher's plaques" began to appear in the literature (reviewed in (Boller and Forbes, 1998)).

While the work of Nissl and Perusini was important (Macchi et al., 1997), Alois Alzheimer was the driving force of the group, and it was considered legitimate to name this dementia Alzheimer's Disease (AD) (Boller and Forbes, 1998).

1.2 The burden of Alzheimer's disease

Globally, 47 million people are estimated to be affected by dementia, and it is projected to rise to 135 million by 2050 (Prince et al., 2013). In Canada, dementia afflicts around half a million people, and this number will double by 2031 (Wong et al., 2016, Nichols et al., 2019). This increased number of people affected with dementia is mostly driven by the demographic shift toward an older population (Manuel et al., 2016). As such, the true cost of AD must include not only the death toll but also the burden placed on families and institutional caretakers. Furthermore, this rising number of individuals suffering from AD will double the cost of the Canadian healthcare system, from 9.2 to 18.2 billion dollars, by 2031 (Manuel et al., 2016).

The heterogeneity of disease manifestation and progression among patients has been identified as a critical issue (Ferretti et al., 2018). Not all individuals are affected by AD in the same proportion: twice as many females than males die of dementia each year, and the extent to which this effect is maintained after correcting for the longer lifespans of females is controversial (Ferretti et al., 2018). In addition to sex differences, racial disparities are understudied in Canada, and data from the United States shows that African and Hispanic Americans have a greater risk for AD, while Asian Americans may be protected; meanwhile, conflicting data exist for Indigenous North Americans (Matthews et al., 2019, Wong and Amano, 2019).

Overall, these numbers highlight the urgent need for new AD therapeutics, even symptomatic ones, and the essential nature of the investigations into AD pathobiology that will render them possible. Phenotypic and genetic factors can guide patient selection, stratification and clustering for AD diagnosis (Ferretti et al., 2018). Future research studies aim to account for sex differences, ethnoracial factors and other disparities markedly understudied (Babulal et al., 2019).

1.3 Genetic and sporadic Alzheimer's disease

AD can be divided into different types based on the age of onset and genetic predisposition. Early onset (EOAD) or familial AD is rare and usually manifests by age 60 and presents a genetic etiology of up to 100% (Cacace et al., 2016, Hoogmartens et al., 2021).

Sporadic or late-onset AD (LOAD) accounts for over 95% of cases and begins after the age of 65 years. Key genetic and environmental risk factors seem to trigger sporadic cases, and in LOAD patients, the genetic etiology is responsible for up to 82% (Cacace et al., 2016).

Although EOAD and LOAD patients develop AD at different ages, they show similar clinical symptoms, and neuropathological features and both occur in familial and sporadic patients, with aging as the most important risk factor.

1.3.1 Early-Onset Alzheimer's disease

Autosomal dominant EOAD families were essential for the identification of the three genes responsible for AD: amyloid precursor protein (APP) and presenilin 1 and 2 (PSEN1 and PSEN2), which are key players in the A β pathology further discussed (reviewed in (Hoogmartens et al., 2021, Selkoe and Hardy, 2016)).

The pathogenic missense mutations and whole gene duplications have been identified in APP. They are mostly located near the β - or γ -secretase cleavage sites or in the A β sequence of the APP protein (Dai et al., 2018), resulting in the overproduction of either total A β or shifting towards the production of the more toxic A β 1-42 peptide (Hoogmartens et al., 2021). Relevant APP mutations are: the London mutation, which was the first to be discovered (V171I, increased A β 42/40 ratio and A β 42)(Goate et al., 1991), Indiana mutation (V717F, increased A β 42/40 ratio)(Murrell et al., 1991), Florida mutation (I716V, increased A β 42/40 ratio and A β 42)(Eckman et al., 1997), and the Swedish mutation (a double mutation, KM670/671NL, increased total A β , increased A β 42 and A β 40)(Mullan et al., 1992). Other mutations are located within the A β sequence where they enhance self-aggregation of A β peptides as in the Dutch mutation (E693Q) (Levy et al., 1990, Van Broeckhoven et al., 1990, Wisniewski et al., 1991).

Another example of a population with EOAD is individuals with Down Syndrome (DS), who, given triplication of chromosome 21 and hence triplication of APP, will develop AD neuropathology and dementia by age 40-60 (reviewed in (Lott and Head, 2019, Fortea et al., 2021)). Individuals with DS display A β accumulation early in their lifespan, followed by the appearance of NFT by age 30-40. For this reason, DS individuals represent a significant population to study the long asymptomatic phase of AD (Fortea et al., 2021). Individuals with DS without full triplication of APP do not develop AD but display the DS phenotype (Doran et al., 2017, Prasher et al., 1998). On the other hand, individuals with mini-duplications of the APP gene do not have DS but develop AD in their 50's (Rovelet-Lecrux et al., 2006).

Interestingly, the protective A673T mutation in the second A β amino acid decreases APP cleavage by β -secretase (Jonsson et al., 2012). Carriers of this protective mutation have a lower risk of developing AD as well as age-related cognitive decline (Jonsson et al., 2012).

In addition to these three causal AD genes, other variants are present in familial AD. Genomewide association studies (GWAS) led to the identification of common genetic variants with reduced penetrance associated with AD risk. One example of a mutation with reduced penetrance is a common variant in the sortilin-related receptor 1 gene (SORL1) (Reitz et al., 2011) associated with EOAD (Pottier et al., 2012). SORL1, present on the endosomes, sorts APP receptors and avoids redirecting APP toward the β -secretase cleavage pathway (Rogaeva et al., 2007).

1.3.2 Late-Onset Alzheimer's disease

The ε allele of the apolipoprotein E (APOE) gene is a genetic modifier identified as a major genetic risk factor for LOAD. The first study to uncover the APOE role came from the cardiovascular field. Plasma concentration of ApoE of healthy control subjects was reported to depend on the APOE isoform carried by the subject. Humans with two alleles ε 2 (APOE2/2 genotype) express the highest levels of plasma ApoE and humans with two alleles ε 4 (APOE4/4 genotype) express the lowest plasma ApoE levels (Utermann et al., 1980). At the same time, individuals with APOE2/2 also exhibit the lowest risk of developing AD and individuals with APOE4/4 have a higher risk of AD (Corder et al., 1994). These results were confirmed in both plasma and brain tissue of AD cases (Poirier, 2005, Bertrand et al., 1995).
In addition to $\varepsilon 3$ and $\varepsilon 4$ alleles, $\varepsilon 3$ carriers, representing the most common APOE genotype, have neutral outcomes concerning AD risk (Arboleda-Velasquez et al., 2019). ApoE is the main component of lipoproteins in plasma (reviewed in (Hatters et al., 2006)). In carriers of $\varepsilon 3$ and $\varepsilon 4$ alleles, ApoE binds to low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptors with high affinity, and in carrier $\varepsilon 2$, this binding is 50- to 100- times weaker, inducing increased plasma cholesterol levels and premature cardiovascular disease (Hatters et al., 2006, Mahley, 1995). $\varepsilon 4$ allele is present in more than half of sporadic AD cases. This isoform leads to A β aggregation and impaired clearance, leading to an increase in A β toxic effects (for a detailed review (Liu et al., 2013)). Although APOE $\varepsilon 4$ allele is associated with LOAD (Farrer et al., 1997), in comparison to APP, PSEN1, and PSEN2 mutations, it is not considered necessary nor sufficient to cause the disease and was therefore categorized as a risk allele for AD (Cacace et al., 2016).

Other isolated mutations were associated with the inflammatory response (Guerreiro et al., 2013a, Karch and Goate, 2015). In particular, mutations have been found associated with CD33, a receptor expressed on myeloid and microglial cells, which activation leads to monocytic inhibition and decreases phagocytosis (Crocker et al., 1997). Increased CD33 levels have been detected in AD brains and positively correlate with cognitive decline (Karch et al., 2012). In addition, missense mutations in the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) lead to impaired microglial phagocytosis and an increased risk of developing LOAD (Guerreiro et al., 2013b, Jonsson et al., 2013).

1.4 <u>Clinical progression of Alzheimer's disease</u>

1.4.1 Subjective Cognitive Impairment

Subjective cognitive impairment (SCI) is a cognitive decline reported by a patient's subjective report. In this report, the patient usually describes deficits in remembering names and recalling where things were placed. However, these patients perform well in psychometric and mental status tests such as the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) (reviewed in (Reisberg et al., 2008)).

The term SCI has been suggested as the stage that preceded mild cognitive impairment (MCI) in the evolution of AD (Reisberg, 1986, Reisberg and Gauthier, 2008), and it was estimated to last approximately 15 years before the subsequent MCI stage in the evolution of AD (Reisberg et al., 2008).

Although some studies have cast doubt on the validity of SCI as a predictor of detectable cognitive impairments, cognitive decline, or dementia (Hollands et al., 2015, Thompson et al., 2015), the emerging classification of Mild Behavioural Impairment (MBI) proposes that a precursor state to MCI; delineated by the presence of anxiety, depression, and other mild neuropsychiatric symptoms (Gallagher et al., 2011, Ismail et al., 2017, Yokoi et al., 2019).

1.4.2 Mild Cognitive Impairment

MCI is the stage that precedes dementia in the most widely used classifications (Gauthier et al., 2006).

MCI individuals have a cognitive decline which does not interfere with daily activities (Petersen et al., 1999). However, individuals with MCI have a 3 to 7-fold increased risk of developing dementia, particularly of the Alzheimer's type (Gauthier et al., 2006, Petersen, 2004, Bennett et al., 2002). Indeed, MCI patients exhibit a faster rate of cognitive decline in episodic memory, semantic memory, and processing speed, while working memory is relatively spared (Bennett et al., 2002).

Several conditions can lead to the MCI condition, such as vascular, traumatic brain injury and medical causes of cognitive decline (Albert et al., 2011).

1.4.3 Dementia

After MCI, when individuals enter the moderate stage of dementia (the longest phase), they have difficulties communicating and performing daily tasks. Behavioral and personality changes, such as agitation, apathy, depression, hallucinations, and suspiciousness, are common at these stages (Albert et al., 2011, Mega et al., 1996). The late stages of AD are characterized by neuropsychiatric symptoms such as dysphoria, delusions and paranoia (Mega et al., 1996). As the disease progresses, motor impairments affecting speech, walking, and swallowing make the patient bedbound (Association, 2019).

Generally, life expectancy after AD dementia diagnosis is 4 to 8 years. However, in some cases, certain individuals can live 20 years or more (Association, 2019).

The National Institute of Neurological and Communicative Disorders and Stroke (NINCDS) and the Alzheimer's Disease and Related Disorders Association (ADRDA) established the clinical diagnosis of AD in 1984. It was later revised in 2011 by the National Institute on Aging Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA), which introduced three terminologies to classify individuals with AD (reviewed in (McKhann et al., 2011, Jack Jr et al., 2011)).

The first classification is probable AD with amnestic dementia, in which individuals display learning and recall impairments. The second one is probable AD with non-amnestic dementia, characterized by visuospatial, language and executive deficits. The third one is probable or possible AD dementia with evidence of the AD pathophysiological process, used only for research purposes.

Besides the recent developments that allow early detection of possible or probable AD, a definite diagnosis depends on histological post-mortem confirmation.

1.5 <u>Preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease</u>

The preclinical stage of AD, which precedes the clinical stage, gained much importance in research since it could be fundamental for the early detection and prevent AD progression. Unfortunately, the time between the detection of A β abnormalities and the onset of cognitive decline has not been established yet; but it has been suggested to have a duration of 15-30 years (Sperling et al., 2014, Wang et al., 2019, Villemagne et al., 2013).

Based on the hypothetical model discussed below and illustrated in **Figure 1-1** (Jack Jr et al., 2013) the NIA-AA has proposed some guidelines to describe the preclinical AD stage in research settings (Sperling et al., 2011).

The first detectable abnormality in AD preclinical stages is a drop in A β 42 levels in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) (Tapiola et al., 2009, Skoog et al., 2003); and an increased A β binding in the brain as revealed by positron emission tomography (PET) (Jack Jr et al., 2008, Jack Jr et al., 2009). In fact, as amyloid accumulates in the brain, its amyloid levels decrease in the CSF. Following changes in A β , increased tau and p-tau levels in the CSF become detectable (Tapiola et al., 2009, Buerger et al., 2006); and correlate to neuronal loss and NFT formation (Jack Jr et al., 2013).

Subsequently, a reduction of cerebral glucose metabolism in the posterior cingulate, precuneus, and temporoparietal cortices has been measured in vivo by fluorodeoxyglucose 18F-PET (FDG-

PET) uptake (Sperling et al., 2011, Iturria-Medina et al., 2016). At the same time, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) studies showed brain atrophy, affecting mostly the lateral temporal, posterior cingulate, medial parietal cortices and hippocampus (Sperling et al., 2011).

Today, it is not possible to predict whether an individual will develop AD with the current preclinical CSF AD biomarker signature. Interestingly, deregulation in pre and post-synaptic proteins (Scheff et al., 2016, Zolochevska et al., 2018), in the nerve growth factor (NGF) metabolic pathway (Pentz et al., 2020), in brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) (Boots et al., 2017), in oxidative stress (Scheff et al., 2016) and inflammation (Flores-Aguilar et al., 2021) have been observed in cognitively normal individuals with AD pathology.

For this reason, developing more sensitive assays and including other biomarkers could allow the identification of earlier pathological changes in the AD continuum.



Figure 1-1. Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of preclinical and clinical Alzheimer's disease.

First, A β measured in CSF, or PET amyloid imaging becomes abnormal. This is followed by CSF tau abnormalities. FDG PET and MRI are the last biomarkers to be altered shortly before the appearance of cognitive impairment. Abbreviations: A β , amyloid- β ; CSF, cerebrospinal fluid; PET, positron emission tomography; FDG, fluorodeoxyglucose; MCI, mild cognitive impairment. Image reprinted from (Jack Jr et al., 2013), Journal The Lancet Neurology, with permission from Elsevier.

1.6 <u>Neuropathological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease</u>

The major neuropathological hallmarks of AD brains are the deposition of amyloid plaques in the parenchyma and neurofibrillary tangles inside the neurons. In addition, the AD brain is characterized by the presence of brain atrophy, synaptic loss, inflammation, vascular pathology and neurotransmitter dysfunction.

1.6.1 Amyloid pathology

The plaques, previously described by Alzheimer (Alzheimer, 1907), were much later studied by Robert Terry and Michael Kidd with electron microscopy techniques, and they demonstrated that they are composed of an amyloid protein (Kidd, 1964, Terry et al., 1964). Almost 20 years later, Glenner and Wong isolated the amyloid protein from the cerebrovasculature of AD (Glenner and Wong, 1984a, Glenner and Wong, 1984b). This 4 kDa protein, nowadays, is known as the "amyloid-beta" (A β) peptide and is composed of 40-42 amino acids A β fragments. The A β 42 fragments, more prone to form aggregates, are widespread in the cortex throughout the six layers (Serrano-Pozo et al., 2011), and they are also present in the hippocampus (Miller et al., 1993).

Two types of amyloid plaques exist. The first type (1) are diffuse amyloid plaques lacking distinct edges, Congo Red and Thioflavine-S negative and not commonly surrounded by astroglia, microglia or dystrophic neurites. These plaques are more abundant in preclinical stages of AD (Dickson and Vickers, 2001). Nevertheless, the presence of diffuse amyloid plaques does not guarantee the occurrence of AD.

The second type (2) is dense core or mature amyloid plaques, CongoRed and Thioflavin-S dyes positive and commonly surrounded by activated glia and dystrophic neurites are generally present (Serrano-Pozo et al., 2011).

Although the deposition of amyloid plaques in the AD brain follows an unpredictable progression, researchers have conducted histological studies aiming to stage AD progression by amyloid plaque deposition. Heiko Braak and Eva Braak were the first to propose a three stages classification criteria following amyloid deposition (Braak and Braak, 1991). In the first stage (stage A), they detected amyloid deposits in the frontal, temporal and occipital lobes. Subsequently, amyloid plaques appear in the isocortical association areas with a mild involvement of the hippocampus

(stage B). In the third stage (stage C), amyloid deposits spread to all cortical areas, to the molecular layer of the cerebellum and to subcortical nuclei.

A second, more detailed criteria that followed the amyloid deposition was proposed by Thal and collaborators (Thal et al., 2002). This five-stage classification started with amyloid plaque deposition in isocortical areas (stage 1), followed by deposits in allocortical areas such as the entorhinal cortex, hippocampus, amygdala and the insular and cingulate cortices (stage 2). Subsequently, the amyloid plaques appear in the striatum, basal forebrain cholinergic nuclei, thalamus, hypothalamus and white matter (stage 3) and after in some structures in the brainstem such as the substantia nigra, reticular formation of the medulla oblongata, superior and inferior colliculi and the red nucleus (stage 4). In the end, amyloid plaques spread to other areas in the brainstem, such as the raphe nuclei, locus coeruleus and the molecular layer of the cerebellum (stage 5).

1.6.1.1 APP processing and Aβ generation

In the late 1980s, Robakis and colleagues found that the β -amyloid identified by Glenner and Masters was cleaved post-translationally from a larger precursor: the amyloid precursor protein (APP) (Robakis et al., 1987a, Robakis et al., 1987b). This finding was supported by the studies of Tanzi and Kang (Tanzi et al., 1987, Kang et al., 1987). In the same year, Kang and Goldgaber discovered that the APP protein was a product of a gene mapped to chromosome 21 (Kang et al., 1987, Goldgaber et al., 1987). The APP gene structure was later identified by Yoshikai and colleagues (Yoshikai et al., 1990).

APP codifies for a transmembrane type I glycoprotein, and it is evolutionary conserved across different species indicating a common but presently unresolved physiological role (reviewed in (Nhan et al., 2015)). APP undergoes alternative splicing, and three isoforms (APP751, APP770, and APP695) are produced, with APP695 expressed mainly in neurons. Two main pathways are responsible for APP processing: the amyloidogenic pathway, in which toxic and more likely to aggregate A β peptides are generated, and the non-amyloidogenic pathway, where not toxic A β peptides are produced (**Figure 1-2**) (Nhan et al., 2015).



Figure 1-2. Schematic representation of amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing.

APP proteolysis through the amyloidogenic and non-amyloidogenic pathways is shown on the left. Sites of cellular A β production are shown on the right. Abbreviations: A β , Amyloid beta; α 7nAChR, α -7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor; APP, Amyloid precursor protein; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; BACE-1, β -secretase 1; SORL1, Sortilin-related receptor 1 gene; RAGE, Receptor for advanced glycation end products; LRP, Lipoprotein receptor-related protein 1; sAPP α , Soluble amyloid precursor protein α ; sAPP β , Soluble amyloid precursor protein β . Images reprinted and adapted from (LaFerla et al., 2007), Journal Nature Reviews Neuroscience, with permission from Springer Nature. The non-amyloidogenic pathway involves APP sequential cleavage by α and γ -secretases. A Member of the α -secretases is the ADAM (disintegrin and metalloprotease) family, such as ADAM9, ADAM10 and ADAM17 (also known as tumour necrosis factor α -converting enzyme, TACE) (Lammich et al., 1999). α -secretase cleaves APP in the middle of the A β region, releasing the soluble ectodomain named soluble-APP α (sAPP α) and a membrane-bound intracellular C-terminal fragment known as the APP-CTF fragment (α -CTF or C83) and therefore preventing the formation of toxic amyloid-beta peptides and favouring synaptogenesis (Bell et al., 2008, Kojro and Fahrenholz, 2005). Subsequently, γ -secretase, a macromolecular protein complex consisting of presenilin (PS), presenilin enhancer (PEN2), nicastrin, and anterior pharynx defective (APH1), cleaves the carboxyl-terminal fragment generating the p3 peptide and the APP intracellular domain (AICD or C59) (Nhan et al., 2015).

On the other hand, the amyloidogenic pathway involves sequential cleavage by β and γ -secretases. β -secretase is the only enzyme involved in APP processing (Vassar et al., 1999) and is represented by BACE-1 (β -site APP cleaving enzyme also known as Asp-2 and memapsin-2). First, BACE-1 cleaves between residues 671 and 672, generating the N-terminus of A β and releasing a part of the APP ectodomain (sAPP β). The generated carboxy-terminal fragment (C99 or β CTF) is then cleaved by γ -secretase; this last step generates the A β peptide and the AICD fragment (Nhan et al., 2015). Secreted forms of A β tend to aggregate and form oligomers and then the fibrils, called amyloid plaques.

1.6.1.2 Intraneuronal Aβ

Evidence from AD-vulnerable brain regions, along with transgenic animal models of the amyloidlike pathology, indicates that the accumulation of intraneuronal A β precedes its extracellular deposition and plaques formation (Gouras et al., 2010, Gouras et al., 2000, LaFerla et al., 2007).

In neurons, the production of A β typically occurs on membranes of subcellular compartments (LaFerla et al., 2007), where APP, BACE-1 and γ -secretase are expressed. In particular, A β 40 primarily localizes to the trans-Golgi network, while A β 42 localizes to the endoplasmic reticulum (Hartmann et al., 1997). Various A β peptides are also observed in endosomes (Koo and Squazzo, 1994), in multivesicular bodies (Takahashi et al., 2002) and within exosomes (Rajendran et al., 2006).

An enormous plurality of roles has been suggested for the physiological role of the various Aß peptides. For example, APP peptides have been shown to regulate synaptic plasticity (Priller et al., 2006, Bell et al., 2008); and interestingly, conservation analysis of APP proteins revealed that the cell-adhesion motifs of APP are highly conserved, indicating that this might be central to their functions (EJ, 2000). However, whether this function represents a central one remains to be determined.

1.6.1.3 *Aβ Clearance*

In the brain, A β clearance is mediated by different systems, cell types and enzymes (reviewed in (Zuroff et al., 2017)). Some examples are intracellular degradation within lysosomes, the ubiquitin-proteasome system and autophagy (Zuroff et al., 2017). The insulin-degrading enzyme (IDE) (Mukherjee et al., 2000) and neprilysin (NEP) (Kanemitsu et al., 2003) can degrade soluble A β 40, and A β 42 in the extracellular space or they can be phagocytized and catabolized by monocytic cells (Koronyo-Hamaoui et al., 2009, Simard et al., 2006).

A mechanism of A β clearance in the brain is mediated by the BBB. This mechanism's clearance from the brain to blood is mediated by the low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein-1 (LRP1). In the opposite direction (from the blood to the brain) operates the receptor for advanced glycation end products (RAGE) (reviewed in (Deane et al., 2009)). Interestingly in AD, at the BBB, RAGE levels are increased, and the soluble form of LRP1 (sLRP1) binding of peripheral A β is reduced, therefore preventing A β clearance from the brain (Deane et al., 2009). In addition to clearance across the BBB, clearance by the glymphatic system might be an alternate mechanism to clear A β from the brain to the periphery (Iliff et al., 2012). Experimental evidence from mice suggests that CSF enters the brain from the subarachnoid space along the periarterial space surrounding penetrating arteries (Iliff et al., 2013). A β contained within the CSF is removed from the brain along paravenous spaces and is returned to the blood. This depends on glial water influx mediated through the astrocyte aquaporin 4 (AQP4) water channel (Iliff et al., 2012, Jessen et al., 2015).

Failure in any of the above mechanisms and the rate of A β clearance (Zlokovic et al., 2000) may contribute to amyloid deposition and development and/or progression of AD.

1.6.1.4 Cerebral amyloid angiopathy

The majority of AD brains (80%) display mild cerebral amyloid angiopathy (CAA) at autopsy (Serrano-Pozo et al., 2011), which represents the deposition of AB on and within the walls of cerebral blood vessels (Joachim et al., 1988, Jellinger, 2002). CAA is typically produced from deposited AB40 peptides rather than AB42 (Herzig et al., 2004), and parietal and occipital cortices are mainly affected (Serrano-Pozo et al., 2011).

Post-mortem brain analyses revealed that amyloid deposition begins in the basement membrane and subsequently is observed in the tunica media, inducing a morphological change of the vessels to a double-barrel (Vonsattel et al., 1991). Vessels afflicted with CAA are also more prone to microhemorrhages (Vinters, 1987), and show a reduced ability to respond to the demands of local tissues (Christie et al., 2001).

1.6.1.5 The amyloid hypothesis

The hypothesis that the A4 peptide (or A β) could be the trigger cause of AD was suggested by Glenner and Wong (Glenner and Wong, 1984a, Glenner and Wong, 1984b). However, it was not until the discovery that certain mutations favoured the development of AD in APP that the so-called "amyloid hypothesis" was proposed by John Hardy (Hardy and Higgins, 1992) and revisited 10 years later by Hardy and Selkoe (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002). It was also hypothesized that this abnormal accumulation arises from an improper balance between the production and clearance of A β (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002, Kang et al., 2000).

The amyloid hypothesis poses A β pathological accumulation as the etiological factor that drives a cascade of events, such as synaptic loss, neurofibrillary tangles formation, and inflammation, eventually leading to AD development. The rationale behind the amyloid hypothesis is based on distinct scenarios where A β overproduction causes genetic or sporadic AD along with the chronological neuropathological hallmarks presentation (A β deposition precedes neurofibrillary tangles formation). In addition, experimental injection of A β oligomers in non-human primates can promote tau hyperphosphorylation (Wakeman et al., 2022, Forny-Germano et al., 2014, Geula et al., 1996).

Almost 30 years have passed since the formulation of the amyloid hypothesis, and it is not universally accepted. The main critique is that neurofibrillary tangles pathology correlates better with cognitive impairment than the number of amyloid plaques.

The amyloid hypothesis was revisited since a large body of literature showed that the most toxic amyloid species are $A\beta$ oligomers rather than plaques (Hardy and Selkoe, 2002). Many studies supported this concept and found a strong correlation between soluble cortical $A\beta$ levels and cognitive impairment (McLean et al., 1999). Multiple hypotheses have been proposed to explain how $A\beta$ oligomers promote cognitive deficits. One hypothesis proposed that $A\beta$ oligomers can cause disruption of long-term potentiation (LTP) formation, promoting cognitive deficiencies in AD-like transgenic models (Selkoe, 2002).

1.6.2 Neurofibrillary tangles

Alzheimer was the first to identify neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) in AD brains (Alzheimer, 1907). NFTs are formed by paired helical filaments (Kidd, 1963, Terry et al., 1964) of abnormally misfolded and hyperphosphorylated tau protein (Goedert et al., 1988, Grundke-Iqbal et al., 1986).

Tau is a microtubule-binding protein normally located within neurons (Weingarten et al., 1975). Tau is important for microtubule assembly and stabilization and plays a physiological role in intracellular transport, neurite development and cell polarity (Mandelkow and Mandelkow, 1998). There are six tau isoforms in the adult human Central Nervous System (CNS), including three isoforms that have four microtubule-binding repeats (4R tau) and three isoforms that lack the second repeat (3R tau) (Goedert et al., 1989b). These isoforms are derived from alternative splicing of exons 2, 3, and 10 of the MAPT gene (Wang and Mandelkow, 2016).

In AD, both 3R and 4R tau species are implicated in AD (Goedert et al., 1992), and the hyperphosphorylation of tau could be the consequence of increased kinase activity and deficiencies in phosphatase activation (Wang and Mandelkow, 2016). In AD, in addition to phosphorylation, tau undergoes other modifications (such as N-truncation, ubiquitination, glycation or oxidation) that can decrease the affinity of tau for microtubules, increasing the propensity of tau to become insoluble and aggregate (Garcia-Sierra et al., 2008, Abraha et al., 2000, Bramblett et al., 1993). For this reason, tau can impair neural functions through loss of normal function as well as pathological gain-of-function, forming toxic tau aggregates. At advanced AD stages, following the death of NFT-bearing neurons appear tau "ghost" tangles (Mena et al., 1991).

NFT formation follows a predictable spatiotemporal pattern in AD, which Braak characterized into six stages (Braak and Braak, 1991). In stage 1, NFTs appear in the perirhinal region; in stage II, they are present in the entorhinal cortex, the cornu ammonis 1 (CA1) region of the hippocampus and the anterodorsal nucleus of the thalamus. Stage III is characterized by the accumulation of NFTs in limbic regions such as the hippocampal subiculum. During stage IV, NFTs appear in the amygdala, thalamus, claustrum and, to a small extent, in isocortical association areas. In stage VI, NFTs spreads to all isocortical areas involving motor, visual, and sensory areas in the final stage VI.

The extent of NFT deposition correlates with the degree of cognitive impairment in AD, unlike amyloid plaque deposition (Arriagada et al., 1992, Giannakopoulos et al., 2003). For this reason, NFT formation was suggested to reflect better the ongoing neurodegeneration in the AD brain.

1.6.3 Brain atrophy and synaptic loss

AD brain atrophy is well-established; in particular hippocampal atrophy is among the core biomarkers used in research studies to study the progression of AD pathology (Pini et al., 2016, Jack Jr, 2011). Hippocampal volume was shown to be reduced by 10-15 % in mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (Shi et al., 2009) and by 15-30% in mild AD (van der Flier et al., 2005). On the other hand, hippocampal atrophy lack specificity for AD as it can be present in other dementias, such as vascular dementia, Parkinson's dementia and frontotemporal lobar degeneration (Pini et al., 2016).

Cortical atrophy seems to closely recapitulate the neuropathological staging of NTF pathology (Braak and Braak, 1991). Indeed, the medial temporal lobe, including the entorhinal cortex, is affected earlier, and it extends to the cortex following a temporal–parietal–frontal trajectory; meanwhile, the motor areas are generally spared until the late stages of the disease (Apostolova et al., 2007, Dickerson et al., 2009, Frisoni et al., 2009, Lerch et al., 2005). Moreover, this topographical progression correlates with disease severity and the appearance of clinical symptoms (Pini et al., 2016).

Atrophy also affects subcortical areas and, in particular, early atrophy of basal forebrain cholinergic nuclei could represent an early biomarker for AD diagnosis, highlighting the potential disease-modifying properties of cholinergic treatments, further discussed.

The gross and obvious atrophy of the AD brain is accompanied by synaptic loss. Synapses loss was revealed by electron microscopy studies in biopsies from the frontal, temporal entorhinal cortices and hippocampus of AD brains (Scheff et al., 1990, Davies and Maloney, 1976, Scheff and Price, 1993, Scheff et al., 1993, Scheff et al., 1996). Such synaptic loss correlated strongly with cognitive impairment (Terry et al., 1991).

Immunohistochemical techniques allowed the quantification of pre and post-synaptic markers. The presynaptic protein synaptophysin was reported to be decreased in the hippocampus and cortices of mild AD brains since stages of MCI (Masliah et al., 1991, Masliah et al., 2001, Scheff et al., 2007).

The occurrence of synaptic loss has been attributed to amyloid and tau toxicity. Transgenic models overexpressing APP display a decrease in synaptic proteins even before the accumulation of amyloid plaques (for a review (Bell et al., 2006)). Similarly, pathological tau has been shown to promote synapse loss before the formation of tau aggregates in a transgenic tau rodent model (Yoshiyama et al., 2007). Moreover, synaptic pruning by microglial cells has been acknowledged as a possible mechanism contributing to synapse loss in transgenic models of amyloid-like pathology (Hong et al., 2016).

1.6.4 Inflammation

The relative immune privilege of the brain is given by three anatomical protective barriers surrounding the adult CNS (Abbott et al., 2010, Engelhardt et al., 2017). The arachnoid barrier (1),

located at the brain surface between the dura mater and the CSF drained subarachnoid space (SAS), is impermeable to fluids and separates the vessels and lymphatics in the dura from the SAS. The blood-CSF barrier (2) separates the CSF from fenestrated microvessels. It limits the passage of molecules between the cells; however, the fenestrated endothelium allows for a rapid flow of water to aid the production of CSF. Lastly, the Blood Brain Barrier (BBB) (3) is located at the level of cerebral blood capillaries. Such endothelial cells are connected by tight junctions and form a barrier that regulates the transfer of molecules from the blood to the brain parenchyma. The BBB will be further discussed with the concept of the neurovascular unit.

In AD, the presence of inflammation was first proposed by Oskar Fischer, who observed that the deposition of a "foreign substance" in the cerebral cortex induced a local inflammatory response leading to amyloid plaque formation and nerve degeneration (FISCHER, 1907, Fischer, 1912). Subsequently, the presence of an inflammatory component in AD brains was strongly suggested by the presence of complement proteins (C1q, C3 and C4) (Eikelenboom and Stam, 1982) and activated microglia, expressing IL-1 β and surrounding amyloid plaques (McGeer et al., 1987, McGeer et al., 1988, Griffin et al., 1989, Rogers et al., 1999).

Today, we know that deposition of amyloid plaques and NFT is accompanied by a chronic neuroinflammatory process characterized by the activation of astrocytes, microglia and immune complexes (Akiyama et al., 2000, Heneka et al., 2015, Wyss-Coray and Rogers, 2012). A few examples of the well-known inflammatory reaction in AD brains are the upregulation of inflammatory cytokine pathways, activation of the complement cascade, protein nitration, and oxidative stress (reviewed in (Akiyama et al., 2000)). Furthermore, neurons express several receptors for chemokines and cytokines, suggesting that they possess the necessary machinery to orchestrate an immune response (Bajetto et al., 2002).

The presence of chronic inflammation in AD is indicative of a failed resolving inflammation response (Wang et al., 2015). A loop between A β production and inflammatory responses could lead to altered microglial activation and possible dysfunction of its phagocytic properties. It has been proposed that the extravasation of peripheral immune cells, such as macrophages, might play a role in effectively phagocytizing pathological protein aggregates and, therefore, halting the inflammatory response (Simard et al., 2006, Naert and Rivest, 2011, Thériault et al., 2015).

Epidemiological studies revealed that cognitively healthy individuals who underwent a long treatment with non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs) had a reduced risk of developing AD (Etminan et al., 2003, McGeer and McGeer, 2013, Szekely et al., 2004). Unfortunately, the majority of anti-inflammatory clinical trials administered at clinical AD stages failed to demonstrate significant changes in cognitive outcomes and in some cases, induced a worsening of the disease (Rogers et al., 1993, Scharf et al., 1999, Aisen, 2000, Group, 2007, Group, 2008). This apparent contradiction can be explained by the existence of two phases of CNS inflammation in the continuum of AD pathology. The first phase is an early proinflammatory and disease-aggravating process. The second phase is a late chronic stage with fully activated microglia and invasion of peripheral monocytes with some phagocytic activity (Cuello, 2017, Rogers, 2018). Furthermore, it is unlikely that any anti-inflammatory treatment could elicit a beneficial outcome when severe brain damage is already well established.

1.6.5 Neurotransmitter dysfunction

Some evidence suggests that NFT pathology might start in the locus coeruleus (LC) (Braak and Del Tredici, 2011). The LC is a small nucleus located deep in the pons lining the fourth ventricle in the human (Baker et al., 1989, German et al., 1988). LC represents the only source of noradrenaline to the hippocampus and cortex (Schwarz and Luo, 2015). Given the extensive innervation of the LC, it regulates several physiological mechanisms such as arousal, response to stress, attention, memory and learning (Berridge and Waterhouse, 2003, Sara, 2009). In addition, noradrenaline has been shown to act as an anti-inflammatory molecule in the CNS (reviewed in (Feinstein et al., 2016)).

In AD, a loss of LC neurons (Forno, 1978, Bondareff et al., 1982) along with a drop in noradrenalin levels (Iversen et al., 1983) is present since preclinical AD stages (Kelly et al., 2017). Moreover, while LC neuronal loss occurs during MCI, volumetric shrinkage is already detectable before the appearance of cognitive impairments, starting at Braak score 0 (Theofilas et al., 2017).

In AD, an extensive loss of pyramidal neurons is also present as the glutamatergic system is severely compromised (Butterfield and Pocernich, 2003). Glutamate, the main excitatory neurotransmitter in the CNS, is highly involved in learning and memory (Greenamyre and Porter, 1994, Morris, 2013). In AD brains, a reduction in glutamate concentration (Ellison et al., 1986,

Rupsingh et al., 2011, Sasaki et al., 1986), N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (NMDA-r) levels (Greenamyre et al., 1987), and a loss of cortical and hippocampal glutamatergic uptake sites, interpreted as nerve terminal loss (Procter et al., 1988, Cowburn et al., 1988) were observed.

A study by Bell and colleagues proposed that glutamatergic deregulation begins with a paradoxical upregulation of glutamatergic synaptic boutons reported in the cortex of MCI individuals, followed by a depletion of such boutons after clinical AD presentation (Bell et al., 2007). Further studies suggest that glutamate clearance is affected in AD and results in excitotoxicity (Francis, 2003). Memantine, a non-competitive NMDA-r antagonist, is thought to alleviate the toxicity of glutamate release.

In addition to the glutamatergic, GABAergic neurons are affected with a large loss (70%) of GABAergic terminals in cortical and hippocampal AD brains (Hardy et al., 1987). However, other studies found no changes in GABA and GABA receptor levels in the cingulate or cerebellar cortex but a reduction in the superior, frontal and temporal cortex (Simpson et al., 1988, Chu et al., 1987, Rossor et al., 1982).

In addition to the mentioned systems, the cholinergic system, involved in higher brain functions such as learning, memory, and attention (Drachman, 1977, Everitt and Robbins, 1997), was proposed to be one of the earliest to fail in AD as demonstrated by simultaneously by Bowen and by Davies and Maloney in 1976 (Davies and Maloney, 1976, Bowen et al., 1976) and reviewed by (Giacobini et al., 2022)). Interestingly, in the initial stages of the pathology and upregulation of cholinergic presynapses is present. This upregulation is preceded by an upregulation of glutamatergic and GABAergic terminals followed by their sharp decline (Bell and Cuello, 2006, Bell et al., 2003, Bell et al., 2006) (as shown in **Figure 1-3**. This phenomenon of synaptic upregulation has been interpreted as a compensatory mechanism balancing increasingly toxic amyloid β protein levels (Bell et al., 2006) as it has been reported in APP transgenic animal models before plaque formation (Wong et al., 1999, Mucke et al., 1994, Hernandez et al., 2001).



Figure 1-3. Schematic representation of the neurotransmitter-specific involvement of presynaptic boutons across progressive stages of the AD-like amyloid pathology.

Image reprinted from (Bell and Cuello, 2006), European Journal of Pharmacology, with permission from Elsevier.

Less studied is the contribution of monoaminergic systems to the development of AD. However, deficits in serotonergic, dopaminergic, histaminergic, and melatonergic system metabolites have been reported to occur in AD (reviewed in (Šimić et al., 2017, Trillo et al., 2013)).

It has been very debated whether cholinergic or noradrenergic degeneration appears first. A subgroup of individuals with AD, without major cholinergic degeneration, already displayed LC neuronal loss (Wilcock et al., 1988). However, this view has been challenged by a series of investigations reporting that the LC and nucleus basalis of Meynert, a main basal forebrain cholinergic nucleus, display the same extent of neuronal loss (Arendt et al., 2015, Lyness et al., 2003).

1.7 Is the basal forebrain relevant in Alzhimer's disease pathology?

We previously described the presence of several neuropathological hallmarks of AD. The neurotransmitter dysregulation, particularly acetylcholine (ACh), appears early in the disease progression.

Interestingly, four of six FDA-approved drugs to treat symptomatic AD are acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEI). These drugs improve the telencephalic cholinergic tone by blocking extracellular acetylcholine degradation (Giacobini, 1987).

The rationale behind using these drugs in AD is the gradual atrophy and later loss of the major source of cholinergic innervation to the forebrain (Bowen et al., 1976, Davies and Maloney, 1976, Whitehouse et al., 1981). These neurons, named basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (Mesulam et al., 1983b, Mesulam et al., 1983a, Bigl et al., 1982, Struble et al., 1986) have a crucial role in learning, memory and attention mechanisms (Drachman and Leavitt, 1974, Bartus, 1979, Everitt and Robbins, 1997, Ballinger et al., 2016, Zaborszky et al., 1999).

Even though AChEIs still represent a breakthrough in the clinical treatment of AD (Giacobini, 2003), as they are valuable drugs in ameliorating symptoms of patients with mild to moderate dementia, they cannot significantly delay AD onset.

The cholinergic system will be the main focus of this thesis and several studies will report how this system is gaining popularity again as one of the earliest players in AD pathology. Its insight may provide new therapeutic avenues.

1.8 Acetylcholine in the Central Nervous System

ACh was indirectly discovered in the periphery by Otto Loewi in 1926, who used various perfusates to stimulate frog hearts. The released substance in the perfusates was named "vagustoff" (Loewi and Navratil, 1926) and identified as ACh by Sir Henry Dale (Dale, 1914). It was later demonstrated in the 1930s that ACh was released from parasympathetic, preganglionic and motor neuron fibers (Feldberg and Gaddum, 1934, Feldberg, 1945, Dale et al., 1936) and its presence in the brain was first reported in the same years (Chang and Gaddum, 1933). However, it took additional work to understand the presence of ACh in the CNS fully, and many years following Loewi's discovery, the cholinergic innervation of the cerebral cortex was poorly known.

Presently, it is well known that ACh is a neurotransmitter in the brain that induces facilitatory effects on the principal excitatory cells of the neocortex, the pyramidal neurons (Picciotto et al., 2012). The function of ACh is to bring neurons closer to the firing threshold, which ensures efficient synaptic transmission and quick responses to signals during wake and sleep (Jones, 2004).

In the subsequent sections, I will describe how ACh is synthesized in neurons, outlining the CNS cholinergic markers, the historical context of their discovery, and its role in the central cholinergic system in health and AD.

1.8.1 Cholinergic markers

1.8.1.1 Choline acetyltransferase (ChAT)

ACh is synthesized in the neuronal soma from its precursors, choline and glucose, taken up by neuronal terminals after crossing the Blood-Brain Barrier (BBB) (Freeman and Jenden, 1976). Following uptake, glucose is converted to Acetyl CoA, and then to ACh when choline acetyltransferase (ChAT) (Nachmansohn and Machado, 1943) transfers an acetyl door group from the Acetyl CoA to choline in an O-acetylation reaction (Potter et al., 1968, White and Wu, 1973). ACh from the cell soma is subsequently transported to the neuronal processes (reviewed in (Dahlström, 1983)). Eighty percent of ChAT activity is localized in the cytoplasm, while the remaining 20% is associated with membranes (Benishin and Carroll, 1983). Although the functional significance of its localization is still unclear, the membrane-bound ChAT seems critical to supply ACh synthesis when choline uptake is decreased (Cooke and Rylett, 1997). ChAT is

considered a reliable, widely used marker of cholinergic neurons since the production of an anti-ChAT monoclonal antibody (Eckenstein and Thoenen, 1982). A schematic representation of ACh synthesis in **Figure 1-4**.



Figure 1-4. Schematic representation of a typical CNS cholinergic synapsis.

Abbreviations: ACh, acetylcholine; ACh, acetylcholinesterase; ChAT, choline acetyltransferase; CHT1, choline transporter 1; VAChT, vesicular acetylcholine transporter; AChE, acetylcholinesterase; M1–M5, muscarinic receptors. Image reprinted from (Cuello, 2009), Encyclopedia of Neuroscience, with permission from Elsevier.

1.8.1.2 Vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VAChT)

In neurons, ACh exists as both "free" and "bound" forms (Hebb and Whittaker, 1958), corresponding to cytoplasmic and vesicular pools. Basal release of ACh, occurring at rest, derives from cytoplasmic stores. On the other hand, the stimulated release of ACh concentrated in the presynaptic vesicles requires extracellular calcium (reviewed in (Parsons et al., 1993)). The transmembrane protein, expressed in synaptic vesicles and responsible for storing ACh displaying an active proton-driven uptake (Parsons and Koenigsberger, 1980, Michaelson and Angel, 1981), has been named vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VAChT). The cDNA encoding VAChT was cloned in the early 1990s in mice, rats, and humans (Bejanin et al., 1994, Erickson et al., 1994, Roghani et al., 1994). Interestingly, the sequence encoding VAChT is located downstream of the gene encoding ChAT (Bejanin et al., 1994, Erickson et al., 1994), and generally, the expression of ChAT and VAChT is coordinated.

1.8.1.3 Acetylcholinesterase (AChE)

Once released, ACh binds with post-synaptic receptors on cholinoceptive cells (such as glutamatergic neurons and GABAergic interneurons). To terminate cholinergic neurotransmission, acetylcholinesterase (AChE) enzymatically causes the rapid hydrolysis of ACh into acetate and choline (reviewed in (Brimijoin, 1983)). Histochemical techniques to measure AChE represented the first opportunity to identify cholinergic neurons and significantly improve the mapping of cholinergic pathways (Koelle and Friedenwald, 1949, KARNOVSKY and Roots, 1964). However, because of AChE presence either in cholinergic and cholinoceptive neurons (Mesulam and Geula, 1988), this enzyme is not considered a reliable cholinergic marker as compared with ChAT or VAChT.

1.8.1.4 High-affinity choline transporter (CHT1)

The amount of ACh synthesized *de novo* in presynaptic terminals is largely controlled by the capacity of a transporter to import choline since inhibition of this transporter depletes brain ACh levels (Happe and Murrin, 1993). Therefore, CHT1 represents a rate-limiting step in ACh synthesis and is responsible for the choline transport into the presynaptic vesicles (Okuda and Haga, 2003). cDNA clones encoding for this high-affinity choline transporter (CHT1) were isolated from the nematode *Caenorhabditis elegans*, rats and humans (Okuda et al., 2000, Okuda and Haga, 2000, Apparsundaram et al., 2000). In rats and primates, CHT1 cellular distribution showed strong

immunoreactivity in the cholinergic neuron terminals and cell bodies, resembling the VAChT distribution pattern (Okuda and Haga, 2003).

1.8.1.5 Butyrylcholinesterase (BChE)

Although homozygous knock-out mice for ChAT, CHT1, or VAChT die at birth (Brandon et al., 2003, de Castro et al., 2009, Ferguson et al., 2004), AChE knock-out –/– mice (strain 129Sv) lived for an average of 4 months, with a characteristic phenotype hypothesized to depend on ACh buildup (Duysen et al., 2002). Indeed, these mice showed weak muscles, no mounting behaviour, pinpoint pupils, deafness, seizures and lack of housekeeping behaviour, suggesting an absence of higher cognitive functions (Duysen et al., 2002). The capability of the mice to live despite the complete absence of AChE suggested the existence of an enzyme with a partially redundant function, thus compensating for the lack of AChE activity. This enzyme is known as Butyrylcholinesterase (BChE).

BChE represents a very small percentage of the total cholinesterase activity in different tissues, and humans lacking BChE activity are healthy (Primo-Parmo et al., 1996, Darvesh et al., 2003). Even though BChE did not undergo compensatory increases in the AChE knock-out –/– mice (Li et al., 2000); inhibition of BChE in these mice was lethal (Xie et al., 2000), suggesting that BChE partly substitutes AChE by hydrolyzing acetylcholine (Mesulam et al., 2002).

1.8.2 The cholinergic system: The Basal Forebrain Cholinergic nuclei

There are two large groups of cholinergic neurons in the brain. The largest group is located within the laterodorsal and pedunculopontine tegmental nuclei. The laterodorsal tegmental nucleus targets medially placed limbic regions of the diencephalon and brainstem (reviewed in (Woolf, 1991)). The pedunculopontine cholinergic neurons project to almost every subcortical brain region such as to the thalamus, tectum, substantia nigra, basal forebrain, basal ganglia, reticular formation, raphe nuclei, locus coeruleus, cranial nerve nuclei, pons, and deep cerebellar nuclei (Woolf, 1991). The second group of cholinergic neurons in the brain represents the major source of cholinergic innervation to the forebrain and it will be the main focus of this thesis. The two groups of cholinergic neurons are illustrated in **Figure 1-5**.



Figure 1-5. Parasagittal section of a rat brain with a schematic representation of the cholinergic system.

Abbreviations: BLA, Basolateral amygdala; ms, medial septum; vdb, ventral diagonal band; hdb, horizontal diagonal band; si, substantia innominata; bas, nucleus basalis; EC, entorhinal cortex; LH, lateral hypothalamus; SN, substantia nigra; IPN, interpeduncular nucleus; ppt, pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus; ldt, laterodorsal tegmental nucleus; DR, dorsal raphe. Image from (Perez-Lloret and Barrantes, 2016) adapted from (Woolf, 1991)).

The basal forebrain cholinergic nuclei were initially identified by Meynert (1872), and Kolliker and were named after observing the aggregation of large neurons at the basal nucleus (1896). Studies conducted by Mesulam and colleagues in primate brains (Mesulam et al., 1983a) and rat brains (Mesulam et al., 1983b) suggested a subdivision of the basal forebrain nuclear complex into four areas. This classification is currently still in use and comprises: the medial septal nucleus (MS, Ch1) and the vertical band of Broca (VBB, Ch2), which innervate the hippocampus; the horizontal band of Broca (HDB, Ch3), which projects to the olfactory bulb as well as to the medial and mostly limbic cortex; and the nucleus basalis (nb), substantia innominata (SI) and magnocellular preoptic field (MCPO) (cumulatively referred to as Ch4), whose axons project respectively to the cerebral cortex, amygdala/limbic cortex and limbic cortex. In primates, the delineation of the SI is relatively straightforward, and the nb, named nucleus basalis of Meynert (NbM) after its discoverer, is localized under the anterior commissure in the SI.

The human nucleus basalis, which contains 200,000 neurons in each hemisphere (Arendt et al., 1985), can be subdivided into neuronal clusters or sectors called anteromedial (am), anterolateral (al), anterointermediate (ai), intermediodorsal (id), intermedioventral (iv), and posterior (p) (Mesulam and Geula, 1988). The topography of these nuclei is not as clear for rats (Lehmann et al., 1980), and investigators have often used this term to include neurons of SI. Studies of SI-specific lesions (Heckers et al., 1994) and more recent studies with a Cre-Mice-mCherry (Agostinelli et al., 2019), with Cre-Recombinase injected in the SI, showed cholinergic projections to the basolateral amygdala (BLA). For this thesis, we adopted for rodents the same division proposed by Mesulam. The term nb was used to refer to the large group of cholinergic neurons in the innermost region of the internal globus pallidus (as in **Figure 1-6**).



Figure 1-6. Coronal sections of the nucleus basalis in the rat brain.

The nucleus basalis is represented in red. The anteroposterior coordinates are reported from the Bregma (from -1.30 mm to -2.80 mm) according to the Paxinos and Watson Atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2006). Abbreviations: Cpu, caudate-putament; GP, globus pallidus; ic, internal capsule; SI, substantia innominata. Figure adapted from (Paxinos and Watson, 2006).

1.8.2.1 Anatomy of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (BFCNs) in rats and primates

Studies conducted using retrogradely labelled tracers (e.g. Horseradish peroxidase), AChE histochemistry, and ChAT immunohistochemistry in rhesus monkeys were able to show the topographical arrangments of the BFCNs projections and the proportion of cholinergic neurons for each area (Mesulam et al., 1983a), which resembled the human anatomy (Saper and Chelimsky, 1984). In rhesus monkeys, hDBB represents the region with the lower representation of cholinergic neurons (only 1%). The proportion of cholinergic neurons rises in MS (10%), reaching 70% in the vDBB and 90% in the nb (Mesulam et al., 1983a).

Another study conducted in the same year identified the proportion of cholinergic neurons in rats, which is lowest in the hDBB (20-25%); in MS is 40-50%, rising to 50-75% in the vDBB and reaching 90% in the nb as in monkeys (Mesulam et al., 1983b).

The non-cholinergic component of the basal forebrain nuclei of the rodent brain is mostly represented by g-aminobutyric acid (GABA)-ergic, glutamatergic, peptidergic, and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-positive neurons (reviewed in (Mesulam, 2013)). Some non-cholinergic neurons are interneurons; others project to the cerebral cortex (Freund and Meskenaite, 1992, Gritti et al., 1993). In addition, a neuronal population of "cholino-GABAergic" neurons that showed a co-release of the two neurotransmitters ACh and GABA (Saunders et al., 2015), have been identified, but their role has not been fully investigated.

1.8.2.2 Basalocortical pathway and nucleus basalis afferents

The first studies that investigated the basalocortical pathway, consisting of the nb innervation to the cortex, were conducted using horseradish peroxidase (HRP) injected into the cortex (Lehmann et al., 1980, Divac, 1975, McKINNEY et al., 1983). As previously mentioned, approximately 90-95% of neurons projecting from the nb of rats and monkeys are cholinergic (Rye et al., 1984, Mesulam et al., 1986). These projections are highly topographically organized. Particularly, cholinergic neurons in the anterior portion of the nb project to the frontal cortex, while the ones in the central and posterior area project to parietal and occipital cortices in monkeys (Mesulam et al., 1986). The topographic organization was confirmed in rats following injections of the anterograde tracer *Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin* (Luiten et al., 1987). Conversely, GABAergic neurons represent the majority of the non-cholinergic component, and in the rat, some of these project to the cerebral cortex, innervating cortical inhibitory interneurons (Gritti et al., 1993, Freund and

Meskenaite, 1992). The importance of the non-cholinergic neurons in the nb has been highlighted by showing that selective immunotoxic lesions of cholinergic neurons in the nb yield behavioural and physiological impairments less severe than those obtained by excitotoxic lesions, which destroy all cell types (Berger-Sweeney et al., 1994, Wenk et al., 1994).

The human nb contains numerous varicose axons that are TH-positive, serotonergic, and dopamine b-hydroxylase (DBH) positive (noradrenergic) (Smiley and Mesulam, 1999). In rats, these axons likely represent afferents from the TH-neurons of the ventral tegmental area (VTA)/substantia nigra and the noradrenergic neurons of the locus coeruleus (25%) (Martinez-Murillo et al., 1988) as well as the serotonergic neurons of the midbrain raphe (10 %) (Jones and Cuello, 1989). In addition, a very small proportion (less than 1%) of the pedunculopontine and lateral tegmental neurons have been shown to project to the nb (Jones and Cuello, 1989).

The nb also receives inputs from the hypothalamus and amygdala (Mufson and Mesulam, 1984, Price and Amaral, 1981). Through this circuitry, the nb cell group can influence cholinergic transmission in all parts of the cerebral cortex in a manner that is selectively sensitive to neural activity within components of the limbic system.

1.8.2.3 Septohippocampal pathway and MS/VDB afferent

The hippocampus consists of four interconnected subdivisions comprising the dentate gyrus, CA1, CA2 and CA3 regions, while the retrohippocampal region consists of the subicular and entorhinal subdivisions (Swanson, 1978).

The septohippocampal pathway, consisting of projections from the MS to the hippocampus, was extensively studied using retrograde labelling with HRP injected into the hippocampus and alternative tracers that combined ChAT and AChE immunohistochemistry (Alonso and Köhler, 1984, Rye et al., 1984, Woolf et al., 1984). The septohippocampal pathway consists of four routes (Swanson, 1978). One of the three routes ascending dorsally is the fimbria-fornix, representing 60% of hippocampus innervation and projecting to the dorsal hippocampal region. The second dorsal route is the fimbria, which innervates the hippocampus diffusely, and a third is the supracallosal, constituting 30% of innervation targeting the more caudal region of the hippocampus (Swanson, 1978). Finally, a fourth ventral route sends projections from the ventral

part of the vDBB to the hippocampus temporal lobe and constitutes 10% of hippocampal innervation (Gage et al., 1984).

The cholinergic projection from the MS/VDB predominantly innervates the hilar region of the dentate gyrus, while the other population of noncholinergic GABAergic neurons project to the hippocampus (Źborszky et al., 1986). Along with the septohippocampal pathway, the dentate gyrus receives input, mostly glutamatergic, from the entorhinal cortex through the perforant pathway (Swanson, 1978).

Cholinergic neurons of MS/VDB receive afferents from cholinergic neurons of VTA and catecholaminergic input from LC (Swanson, 1978). In addition, the pathway from HDB, medial habenula and paraventricular hypothalamic nuclei and to the hippocampus to the MS has been noted (Swanson, 1978, Źborszky et al., 1986).

1.8.2.4 Cholinergic projection from HDB to the olfactory bulb and afferents

Cholinergic neurons in the rostral portion of HDB project to the olfactory bulb (Źborszky et al., 1986, Woolf et al., 1984, Gaykema et al., 1990) while neurons in the medial region project mostly to the cortex (cingulate, retrosplenial, entorhinal, perirhinal cortices) and interpeduncular nucleus (Woolf et al., 1984). The remaining neurons of the HDB project to the basolateral amygdala (Woolf et al., 1984, Woolf and Butcher, 1982).

In turn, the afferents received by the HDB come from the olfactory nucleus, basolateral amygdala, different cortical regions (orbitofrontal, cingulate, entorhinal, insular and piriform cortices), VTA, dorsal and median raphe, pedunculopontine and laterodorsal tegmental nuclei (reviewed in (Woolf, 1991)).

1.8.3 Acetylcholine receptors

ACh signals through two classes of receptors: metabotropic muscarinic receptors (mAChRs) and ionotropic nicotinic receptors (nAChRs), which will be discussed below.

1.8.3.1 Muscarinic receptors

The action of ACh is in part mediated by a class of G-protein-coupled receptors termed muscarinic ACh receptors (mAChRs) (reviewed in (Caulfield, 1993, Caulfield and Birdsall, 1998, Wess, 1993)). This receptor family consists of 5 different subtypes referred to as M1-M5 mAChRs. ACh

binding to M1, M3 and M5 induces G-protein activation, which stimulates the breakdown of phosphatidylinositol (PI), generating second messengers (diacylglycerol and inositol-1,4,5-triphosphate). On the other hand, ACh binding to M2 and M4 leads to a G-protein activation that inhibits the accumulation of intracellular cAMP by reducing the activity of adenylyl cyclase. Moreover, mAChRs are located both pre- and postsynaptically throughout the brain, producing diverse consequences for brain activity (Wess et al., 2003).

In the body periphery, mAChRs mediate functions such as slowing the heartbeat, contracting smooth muscles and stimulating glandular secretion (Caulfield, 1993, Caulfield and Birdsall, 1998, Wess, 1993). In addition, members of the mAChR family are widely expressed throughout the brain and spinal cord (Levey, 1993) (for detailed distribution, see <u>Table 1-1</u>). Knock-out mouse models of each mAChR offered insight into each receptor function. Interestingly, all knock-out models were viable and fertile, although they each displayed deficits specific to each receptor knock-out (Wess, 2004).

Tissue	Receptor subtype	Protein levels	
		Rat (%)	Human (%)
Cortex	M1	34-40	35-60
	M2	19-37	25-30
	M3	10	5-10
	M4	15	20
hippocampus	M1	47	60
	M2	17	25
	M3	10	5
	M4	15	20
Striatum	M1	29	37
	M2	12-29	16
	M3	6	0
	M4	29	50
Thalamus	M1	6-14	
	M2	42-49	
	M3	6	-
	M4	15	
Brainstem and Cerebellum	M1	2-5	
	M2	70-84	
	M3	5	-
	M4	1	

Table 1-1. Relative proportions of M1-M4 muscarinic receptors (mAChRs) in the different brain areas.

Protein levels of the muscarinic receptor subtypes measured in rat (Levey, 1993) and human brains (Flynn et al., 1995). The subtype with the larger expression in each brain area is in bold. "–" indicates not reported.

The M1 subtype is widely expressed in rats and humans in the pyramidal neurons at all cortical layers, in the hippocampus and the striatum (Caulfield, 1993, Caulfield and Birdsall, 1998, Flynn et al., 1995). The possibility that ACh may modulate excitatory neurotransmission in cortical neurons via M1 receptors (Mrzljak et al., 1993) was raised since M1-immunoreactivity was found to be associated with symmetrical synapses (in which the postsynaptic density is similar in width with the presynaptic membrane), characteristic of cortical cholinergic pathways, and asymmetrical synapses (in which the postsynaptic density is thicker than the presynaptic membrane), typical of excitatory amino acid pathways (Peters and Folger, 2013). In agreement with the M1-subtype distribution, M1 -/- mice showed impairments in learning and memory (Anagnostaras et al., 2003) as well as signs of hyperactivity (Miyakawa et al., 2001). Interestingly, pharmacological manipulation with selective M1 agonists has been proposed as a therapeutic approach to improve cognitive outcomes in AD (Fisher et al., 2003) and will be further discussed.

M2 and M3 receptor subtypes are moderately expressed through the brain, with lower expression in the cortex, hippocampus and striatum when compared to the M1-type receptors. In particular, the M2 subtype has the highest expression in the thalamus, cerebellum and brainstem, basal forebrain and septum in rats and monkeys (Caulfield, 1993, Smiley et al., 1999). The M2 subtype is also associated with non-cholinergic terminals suggesting that it may act as a presynaptic receptor through which ACh may modulate the release of other transmitters (Mrzljak et al., 1993). M2 -/- knock-out mice showed memory deficits, reduction in LTP (Seeger et al., 2004), alteration of ACh release possibly mediated by presynaptic M2 autoreceptors (Tzavara et al., 2003) and altered analgesic response (Gomeza et al., 1999a) compared to the controls.

The less expressed M3 subtype is mostly implicated in appetite regulation. Indeed, M3-/- mice displayed a decrease in body weight and fat mass (Yamada et al., 2001b). This effect has been attributed to the abundant expression of this receptor in the hypothalamus, playing a central role in food intake regulation and energy homeostasis (Yamada et al., 2001b).

The M4 subtype is most expressed in the striatum in rats and humans (Flynn et al., 1995, Levey, 1993). M4 -/- mice showed locomotor hyperactivity, but less pronounced than M1-/- mice (Gomeza et al., 1999b). As M4 mAChRs are co-expressed with D1 dopamine receptors in striatal

projection neurons, it was proposed that the activation of M4 receptors inhibits the D1 dopamine receptors responsible for promoting locomotor activity (Gomeza et al., 1999b).

The M5 receptor subtype is primarily expressed in dopaminergic neurons of the midbrain ventral tegmental area (VTA) (Vilaró et al., 1990), which project to the nucleus accumbens (nAcc) and prefrontal cortex, playing a role in mediating response to rewarding stimuli (Carlezon Jr et al., 1996). Moreover, these receptors are present in the vascular endothelial cells (Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980). Interestingly, M5 -/- mice showed reduced sensitivity to the rewarding effect of morphine (Basile et al., 2002) and an alteration in the diameter of cerebral arteries and arterioles (Yamada et al., 2001a).

1.8.3.2 Nicotinic receptors

Neuronal nicotinic receptors (nAChRs) are ionotropic channels composed of five out of the twelve different existing subunits: $\alpha 2$ to $\alpha 10$ and $\beta 2$, $\beta 3$, $\beta 4$. When the channels are constituted from five identical subunits, these receptors are called homomeric, and when they have at least one α and one β subtype, they are defined as heteromeric (reviewed in (Picciotto et al., 2012, Colangelo et al., 2019)).

These receptors are not clustered at postsynaptic membranes opposed to sites of ACh release, but they are dispersed along intracellular compartments and on the surface of neurons, including presynaptic terminals (McGehee et al., 1995), cell bodies, and axons (Hill et al., 1993, Colangelo et al., 2019). In addition, stimulation of nAChRs can increase the release of glutamate, GABA, dopamine, ACh, norepinephrine, and serotonin (McGehee et al., 1995, Wonnacott, 1997).

Five α subunits (3–7) and three β subunits (2–4) are expressed in the human brain. The most abundant receptor subtypes in the neocortex are the receptor α 7, specifically associated with regulating glutamate neurotransmission (Jones and Wonnacott, 2004), and the α 4 β 2 channel (reviewed in (Colangelo et al., 2019)).

Although mouse knock-out models for $\alpha 4$, $\beta 2$ or $\alpha 7$ are viable and do not show a marked phenotype (Picciotto et al., 2001, Paylor et al., 1998, Franceschini et al., 2002), aged $\beta 2$ knock-out mice showed loss of neurons and an increase of glial cells in the hippocampal region (Zoli et al., 1999). In addition, $\alpha 7$ knock-out mice showed cognitive deficits only in a task that required sustained

attention (Young et al., 2004). α 7 nAChRs are involved in inflammation in the peripheral nervous system, as signalling from the Vagus nerve inhibits cytokine production by releasing ACh, which binds the α 7 receptors in macrophages (Pavlov and Tracey, 2005). Since α 7 nAChRs are expressed in neurons, astrocytes and microglia, it was proposed that ACh could play a role also in the CNS inflammation (Conejero-Goldberg et al., 2008).

Interestingly, nicotine improves memory performance and learning in rodents, vigilance, and rapid information processing in humans (Rezvani and Levin, 2001, Buccafusco et al., 2005). In addition, nicotine restores cognitive deficits caused by a lesion in the cholinergic system (Picciotto and Zoli, 2002).

1.8.4 The physiological function of Basal Forebrain Cholinergic neurons

Along with lesions of BFCNs, microdialysis was applied to understand which cognitive processes are associated with the activation of cholinergic neurons (reviewed in (Pepeu and Giovannini, 2004)). In this technique, dialysis tubing is implanted in the brain area of interest in rats performing different behavioural tasks. Perfusates are collected at regular intervals and ACh levels are tested. Microdialysis represented a powerful tool for studying the physiological role of ACh in certain cognitive tasks and the specific brain regions involved (Pepeu and Giovannini, 2004). As such, cholinergic input was implicated in a wide variety of cognitive processes.

Cortical ACh function has been linked to the control of circuits underlying attention (Lehmann et al., 2003, Dalley et al., 2004, Robbins et al., 1989, Baxter and Chiba, 1999, McGaughy et al., 2002, McGaughy and Sarter, 1998, Harati et al., 2008, Ljubojevic et al., 2018) and cue detection (Parikh et al., 2007). ACh may increase the "signal-to-noise" ratio in cortical networks, making neurons more sensitive to external stimuli (Hasselmo and Sarter, 2011).

In the hippocampus, ACh can induce spatial-memory-critical theta rhythms (Mitchell et al., 1982) and is involved in neuronal plasticity (Sugisaki et al., 2011, Yun et al., 2000).

Several studies have shown that ACh is associated with stress responses (Picciotto et al., 2012) as stress increases ACh release in a brain region-specific manner (Mark et al., 1996). For instance, hippocampal and cortical ACh levels can increase following restraint stress in rats, while ACh levels in the amygdala are unchanged, although an increase in cholinergic tone can also reduce BLA activity through activation of mAChRs (Power and Sah, 2008).
In addition, BFCNs constitute an important component of the neuromodulatory system controlling brain states.

Indeed, cholinergic projections to the thalamus and neocortex are implicated in the generation of the fast β and γ oscillations, characterizing brain states of waking and REM sleep, and in the blockage of low-frequency oscillations (spindles), defining the slow-wave sleep (reviewed in (Steriade and Descarries, 2006, Jones, 1993)).

1.9 Cholinergic deficits in Alzheimer's disease

The first studies associating the hippocampus with memory came from Scoville, Penfield and Milner, who observed that human patients with bilateral lesions in the hippocampus presented memory deficits (Scoville and Milner, 1957, Penfield and Milner, 1958). A few years later, pharmacological approaches attributed the amnestic effects to ACh. Indeed, rats injected with scopolamine, an antagonist of mAChRs, which acted in the central and peripheral nervous system, performed significantly poorly in a running maze test compared to controls (Pazzagli and Pepeu, 1965).

The central cholinergic system was suggested to be impaired in aging, starting with the pioneering work of Drachman. Drachman and his collaborator Leavitt demonstrated that volunteer subjects receiving scopolamine showed memory impairment similar to impairment present in aged individuals, while peripheral cholinergic antagonists and central agonists did not (Drachman and Leavitt, 1974). Furthermore, he showed that the impairments induced by scopolamine were reversed by physostigmine, a cholinesterase inhibitor (Drachman, 1977). In a later study, he also showed that when scopolamine was given to cognitively normal young subjects, it resulted in impairments during a dichotic listening task in a similar way to untreated aged subjects (Drachman et al., 1980). Studies conducted in the same years on rats (Heise et al., 1976) and monkeys (Bartus, 1978, Bartus and Johnson, 1976) confirmed the amnesic effect of scopolamine.

Bowen and collaborators made progress investigating cholinergic neurons by showing that ChAT activity was reduced in dementia and correlated with brain morphological changes (White et al., 1977), memory impairment and plaque load (Perry et al., 1978b). Simultaneously, a reduction of ChAT activity levels in the cortex and hippocampus of AD brains was observed by Perry (Perry

et al., 1977b, Perry et al., 1977a) and by Davies and Maloney, along with a reduction in AChE activity levels (Davies and Maloney, 1976, PERRY et al., 1978a).

Subsequently, it was shown that levels of ACh (Richter et al., 1980) and the CHT1 (Bowen and Davison, 1978) were also lower in AD patients. However, mAChR density was not generally affected, indicating that cholinergic pathology may be largely presynaptic (White et al., 1977, Perry et al., 1977a, Perry et al., 1978b).

A loss of cortical cholinergic innervation in AD has been extensively reported in the literature (Mesulam and Geula, 1994, Geula and Mesulam, 1996, Geula and Mesulam, 1989), and it tends to be the most accentuated (76–85%) within the temporal lobe, including areas 20, 21, 22, and 28 of Brodmann (Geula and Mesulam, 1996). An intermediate loss (45%–75%) has been shown to be present in the frontal and parietal association areas, in the insula and temporal pole; whereas the anterior cingulate gyrus, primary motor, primary somatosensory, and primary visual cortex displayed less accentuated (4–28%) loss of cholinergic fibers. In the hippocampus, fiber density was reduced in all sectors, and in the amygdala, ChAT-IR varicosities showed a marked depletion in the cortical, accessory basal, and lateral nuclei (Emre et al., 1993).

The most obvious explanation for the ChAT activity reduction was the loss of cholinergic neurons (Terry and Davies, 1980), but other possibilities were suggested. In this debate, Whitehouse and collaborators demonstrated with a Nissl-staining a reduction of the "magnocellular" neurons in the nucleus basalis of Meynert of AD patients compared to aged controls; however, they could not differentiate between cholinergic and non-cholinergic neurons nor could they differentiate neuronal atrophy from neuronal loss (Whitehouse et al., 1981, Whitehouse et al., 1982). A similar study on the MS and DBB in an autopsy case of AD confirmed a similar reduction of these magnocellular neurons (Nakano, 1982). Later investigations using a monoclonal antibody against ChAT and staining for AChE confirmed that cholinergic cells were affected, though they did not die. Rather, they had significant shrinkage of their cell bodies (Pearson et al., 1983), similar to the shrinkage of the nb cell bodies resulting from extended stroke lesions in the rat (Sofroniew et al., 1983). These observations led Cuello and Sofroniew to propose that the pathological involvement of the nb in AD results from retrograde atrophy following a cortical lesion (Cuello and Sofroniew, 1984).

1.9.1 The Cholinergic Hypothesis

The above foundational studies on the cholinergic system led Bartus to propose "The Cholinergic Hypothesis of Geriatric Memory Dysfunction", which supported the role of cholinergic dysfunction in memory decline during aging (Bartus et al., 1982). This influential theory, nowadays cited as "The Cholinergic Hypothesis", proposed to explain the cognitive decline symptoms of aging rather than being an aetiological theory of AD. One year later, Coyle formulated the "Cholinergic Hypothesis of AD", highlighting the significant involvement of the cholinergic system in AD pathology (Coyle et al., 1983). Of note, as age is the greatest risk factor for AD (Raji et al., 2009), cholinergic involvement in aging served as a foundational understanding for applying this hypothesis to the context of AD.

1.9.2 Cholinergic drugs in Alzheimer's disease

Following the formulation of the cholinergic hypothesis, many studies focused on compensating for the reduced synaptic availability of ACh. This led to the development of inhibitors of AChE (AChEI), which prolong the presence of Ach released in the synaptic cleft.

Initial studies in the 1970s suggested that physostigmine could improve memory in normal subjects (Davis et al., 1978, Drachman, 1977). However subsequent clinical trials in AD patients showed that the cognitive improvement was short-lasting, the results were not consistent across all the studies, and adverse effects (gastrointestinal, including nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, as well as dizziness and headache) remained common reasons for withdrawal from the clinical trials (reviewed in (Coelho and Birks, 2001)).

Physostigmine was followed by Tacrine (tetrahydroaminoacridine), a drug developed earlier for agitation and postoperative delirium. A 1986 clinical study with Tacrine, treating moderate to severe AD patients for a year, showed symptomatic improvement and alleviation of peripheral side effects (Summers et al., 1986). Tacrine was approved in the U.S. by the FDA in 1993, though liver toxicity issues led to its discontinuation in 2013. However, the results with Tacrine enabled the development of subsequent generations of AChEI (Giacobini et al., 1991).

Three AChEIs, donepezil, rivastigmine and galantamine, were approved by the FDA and have been widely used for years for the symptomatic management of AD. In 1996, donepezil was shown to be effective for AD cognitive symptoms (with a reduced decline on the ADAS and MMSE tests)

without any sign of hepatotoxicity (Rogers and Friedhoff, 1996). Rivastigmine, which irreversibly inhibits AChE as well as butyrylcholinesterase (Sugimoto et al., 1995), was shown to be clinically applicable in 1999 with an improvement of cognitive symptoms and reduced peripheral cholinergic side effects (Gottwald and Rozanski, 1999).

The latest to be introduced (Raskind et al., 2000), galantamine, is both AChEI (Bores et al., 1996) and an allosteric modulator of nicotinic receptors (Schrattenholz et al., 1996, Albuquerque et al., 1997). Because it binds to nicotinic receptors, it has been proposed to have additional mechanisms that may activate non-cholinergic pathways impaired in AD (Francis et al., 1999).

Even though AChEIs are valuable drugs in alleviating symptoms of patients with mild to moderate dementia (Giacobini, 2003), they cannot significantly delay AD onset.

1.9.3 New clinical evidence supporting the Cholinergic Hypothesis

New methodologies have allowed the study of cholinergic deficits during the early and prodromal stages of AD (reviewed in (Hampel et al., 2018)) reinforcing the cholinergic hypothesis and the early contribution of the basal forebrain in AD pathology. These new strategies included structural MRI, the clinical use of cholinergic PET ligands, and follow-up on prolonged use of cholinergic and anticholinergic drugs.

1.9.3.1 Evidence from MRI clinical studies

Studies with high-resolution structural MRI revealed that the basal forebrain cholinergic system declines in volume in early adult life, with atrophy that affects the nucleus basalis of Meynert in MCI and mild AD and the whole basal forebrain with the onset of cognitive symptoms in AD (Grothe et al., 2012, Teipel et al., 2011). In MCI, basal forebrain volume reduction predicts conversion to AD (Brüggen et al., 2015) and has a similar or superior diagnostic accuracy to the hippocampal volume (Grothe et al., 2012, Kilimann et al., 2014, Teipel et al., 2014).

Because cholinergic hypofunction affects amyloid pathology and tau hyperphosphorylation (Fisher, 2012), the relationship between the basal forebrain and these neuropathological markers has been investigated. In pre-symptomatic AD subjects, basal forebrain atrophy correlates with amyloid deposition (Grothe et al., 2014) better than hippocampal atrophy (Teipel et al., 2014). It is detectable at least 4.5 years prior to the onset of clinical symptoms (Hall et al., 2008). In addition,

basal forebrain atrophy has been shown to predict and precede the degeneration of the entorhinal cortex (Schmitz et al., 2016).

Basal forebrain atrophy also predicts cortical degeneration topographically, following basal forebrain projections (Schmitz et al., 2018). It is also accompanied by CSF biomarkers of pTau, amyloid-beta (Schmitz et al., 2018, Fernández-Cabello et al., 2020) and of neuroinflammatory markers (Schmitz et al., 2020).

1.9.3.2 Evidence from Cholinergic PET ligands

Cholinergic positron emission tomography (PET) ligands permit the observation of cholinergic degeneration *in vivo*. [11C]-MP4A PET, a marker for AChE activity, revealed reduced activity in AD brains (Iyo et al., 1997) starting during the MCI stage (Rinne et al., 2003) and predicted conversion to AD (Marcone et al., 2012). In addition, [11C]-MP4A PET revealed a reduction of the ascending cholinergic system from the nucleus basalis of Meynert in AD, which correlated with the scores on the Mini-Mental State Exam (MMSE) (Shinotoh et al., 2000).

VAChT PET tracer 18F-fluoroethoxybenzovesamicol (FEOBV) is largely used in current clinical studies to follow the cholinergic degeneration *in vivo* (Petrou et al., 2014, Aghourian et al., 2017, Albin et al., 2018), and it is considered a possible biomarker of early AD that could be used in diagnosis. Indeed, FEOBV prevailed over an amyloid-beta (18F-NAV4694) and a glucose metabolism tracer (18FFluorodeoxyglucose), to distinguish AD patients from controls and showed significant correlations with cognitive scores (Aghourian et al., 2017). In agreement with this study, our laboratory reported a reduction of VAChT levels in post-mortem brain samples in non-cognitively impaired individuals, which correlated with cognitive scores (Pentz et al., 2020). Other VAChT tracers have shown a reduction in AD but are unsuited for widespread use in humans due to poor selectivity over receptors, slow brain kinetics or fast metabolism (Giboureau et al., 2010).

Muscarinic PET tracers have been studied in both monkeys and humans. [¹¹C]N-methyl-4piperidyl benzilate (NMPB), a nonselective muscarinic receptor ligand, showed no regional changes in muscarinic receptor concentrations in AD (Zubieta et al., 2001). Attempts have been made to develop more selective muscarinic agonists. More recently, another tracer specific for M1/M4 receptors, 123I-iodo-quinuclidinylbenzilate (QNB), showed subunit- and-region-specific changes in AD (Colloby et al., 2015). Tracers for nicotinic ACh receptors have yielded conflicting results. Indeed, [18F]-F-A-85380 (FA85), showed a reduction of FA85-binding sites globally in aging and in the hippocampus of AD patients but no changes in the cortex despite the significant loss of volume (Lagarde et al., 2017). On the contrary, 11C-nicotine binding was reduced in AD in the temporal cortex, frontal cortex, and hippocampus, and this decrease correlated with the MMSE score (Nordberg et al., 1995). However, 2-[18F]fluoro-A-85380 (2-FA), used to measure the $\alpha4\beta2$ nicotinic subtype, revealed no change in early AD and no correlation with cognitive scores in one study (Ellis et al., 2008), while in another study, a reduction of this receptor was measured in AD and MCI that converted to AD in the later course (Kendziorra et al., 2011). Another tracer specific for the $\alpha4\beta2$ nicotinic subtype, (-)-[¹⁸F]Flubatine PET, showed a reduction of this receptor in AD patients, which correlated with tests of executive function and attention (Meyer et al., 2018). Finally, tracers specific to $\alpha7$ nicotinic receptors showed reduced binding in AD and correlated with memory and frontal function scores (Nakaizumi et al., 2018).

While methods still need to be refined to create more selective compounds capable of targeting receptor subtypes, cholinergic changes can be tracked in AD, with important implications for AD pathogenesis.

1.9.3.3 Evidence from the use of cholinergic and anticholinergic drugs

Treatment with AChEIs can reduce hippocampal atrophy (Dubois et al., 2015), cerebral cortex thinning (Cavedo et al., 2016), and basal forebrain atrophy (Cavedo et al., 2017), though this did not show any significant difference in neuropsychological performance.

Conversely, elderly individuals taking common anticholinergic medications such as tricyclic antidepressants, first-generation antihistamines, and bladder antimuscarinics showed an increased risk of MCI and AD (Gray et al., 2015). In addition, anticholinergic drugs are associated with increased brain atrophy and cognitive decline in otherwise healthy-aged adults (Risacher et al., 2016).

Interestingly, microdoses of the antimuscarinic agent scopolamine (0.20 mg) could represent an accurate diagnostic test for prodromal AD (Snyder et al., 2014). This cognitive stress test was preliminarily tested in adults with elevated brain amyloid loads, and it led to cognitive impairment detection at 3 hours post-dose, followed by a full cognitive recovery within 5 hours (Snyder et al., 2014).

The evidence above suggests that cholinergic degeneration in AD might constitute an early disease-aggravating response and that a more sophisticated cholinergic therapy could modify the course of AD.

1.9.4 Acetylcholine modulates Amyloid Precursor Protein processing

A relationship between ACh and amyloid pathology has been largely investigated and could explain the correlation between decrease in basal forebrain volume and the increase in cortical amyloid deposition (Grothe et al., 2014).

In a study by Nitsch and colleagues (Nitsch et al., 1992), the connection between muscarinic receptors and APP production was demonstrated. This study used human embryonic kidney cell lines transfected with the human M1 and M3 mAChR genes and stimulation of these receptors with carbachol increased the production of APP a few minutes post-stimulation (Nitsch et al., 1992).

In another study, M1 stimulation (carbachol and AF102B) in PC12 cells activated two transduction pathways: the protein kinase C (PKC)-dependent and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-dependent pathways. These pathways operate in parallel and converge with transduction pathways of NGF and bFGF (MAPK-dependent pathways), stimulating α -secretase and enhancement of α APP secretion (Haring et al., 1998).

Other studies were conducted in cell cultures transfected with M1 mAChR and treated with nonselective muscarinic, M1-selective orthosteric agonists, and M1-selective allosteric agonists (Jones et al., 2008, Müller et al., 1997, Shirey et al., 2009) supported α APPs secretion.

In line with this evidence, interfering with mAChR signalling resulted in a decrease in α APPs production. For example, injection of 192 IgG-saporin into the medial septum or an M1 selective agonist Pirenzepine, caused uncoupling of the M1 muscarinic receptor with its G-protein complex, decreasing the responsiveness of M1 to stimulation (Potter et al., 1999).

Chronic treatment with the M1 agonist AF267B, an M1-selective muscarinic agonist, and physostigmine, following 192 IgG-saporin lesions in the nucleus basalis decreased the A β deposition in the cerebral cortex of rabbits (Beach et al., 2003) and 3xTg-AD mice (Caccamo et al., 2006).

To confirm the effect was mediated by the M1-receptor, in APP(Swe/Ind) transgenic mice knockout for M1 showed an increased amyloidogenic APP processing, with more production of the neurotoxic β APPs and increased amyloid pathology (Davis et al., 2010). Expression of M1 on the M1 knock-out was able to rescue this phenotype (Davis et al., 2010). The pathways activated by a muscarinic agonist are shown in **Figure 1-7**.

Muscarinic agonists have also been shown to impact hyperphorylated tau *in vitro* (Sadot et al., 1996a) and *in vivo* (Caccamo et al., 2006) with a mechanism mediated by the activation of PKC and inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) (Caccamo et al., 2006, Forlenza et al., 2000) which will be further highlighted in the Discussion.



Figure 1-7. M1-Agonist binding modulates pathways of APP processing and tau phosphorylation.

Stimulation of M1 could activate pathways of protein kinase C (PKC), inducing the (a) activation of α -secretase (ADAM17) and blockage of β -secretase (BACE1), favouring the non-amyloidogenic pathway and the α APP secretion. In addition, (b) it would block glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK-3 β), responsible for tau hyperphosphorylation, and activate (c) the mitogenactivated protein kinase (MAPK)-dependant responsible for the restoration of cognitive and behavioural function. Image reprinted from (Fisher, 2008), Neurodegenerative Diseases, with permission from Karger.

1.10 Nerve Growth Factor (NGF)

The discovery of the Nerve Growth Factor (NGF) is the result of the studies of Rita Levi-Montalcini. Levi-Montalcini received her medical degree in 1936 at the University of Turin and then became a postgraduate student in the laboratory of Giuseppe Levi, an anatomist tutor of two other future Nobel Prize winners (Salvatore Luria and Renato Dulbecco). In this laboratory, Levi-Montalcini investigated the relationship between the developing CNS and its peripheral targets. The results led her to suggest that the failure of neurons to grow in the absence of peripheral target tissue was because of a degenerative process (Levi-Montalcini, 1997, Levi-Montalcini and Levi, 1944). In the meantime, the neuroembryologist Victor Hamburger at the Washington University in St Louis arrived at a different conclusion. Removing the developing limbs of chick embryos, he concluded that the differentiation of nerve cells depends largely on their destination (Hamburger, 1934). To resolve their scientific disagreements, Levi-Montalcini joined Victor Hamburger's group. Working together, they confirmed the original hypothesis proposed years earlier by Levi-Montalcini (Hamburger and Levi-Montalcini, 1949).

In her subsequent studies, Levi-Montalcini showed that size differences of ganglia in different spinal cord segments could depend on the regulation of neuronal degeneration. Indeed, she proposed that the sensory ganglia of the neck are small because they send out more neurites than the periphery can support, whereas brachial ganglia are larger because they innervate the additional mass of the limb. Based on these findings, Levi-Montalcini hypothesized that the lack of a specific endogenous biological mediator could cause cell death (apoptosis) (Levi-Montalcini, 1950)

In 1949, one of the postgraduate students of Victor Hamburger showed that a transplanted tumour grew well in chick embryos and nearby peripheral nerves invaded the tumour mass. Levi-Montalcini followed up on these studies and hypothesized that the transplanted tissues released a diffusible agent that stimulated the growth and differentiation of the developing neurons inducing the hyperinnervation of internal organs (Levi-Montalcini, 1952). This endogenous biological mediator was named Nerve Growth Factor (NGF) (Levi-Montalcini, 1987).

In the early 1950s, Levi-Montalcini collaborated with biochemist Stanley Cohen to characterize the biochemical properties of NGF. They performed experiments using snake venom, which would destroy any nucleic acid to determine whether NGF was a nucleic acid or a protein. Unexpectedly, they observed that snake venom produced more neural outgrowth than they saw with neurons

incubated with tumour extract. Since NGF was present in the snake venom, Cohen realized that it might be worthwhile to look at the mammalian analog of the snake venom gland. When they looked at the mouse salivary gland, they discovered it was a rich source of NGF (Levi-Montalcini and Cohen, 1956).

In 1960, Levi-Montalcini and Cohen successfully isolated and purified the NGF from the mouse salivary gland and demonstrated that it was a protein (Levi-Montalcini, 1964, Cohen, 1960). Together, they won the Nobel Prize in 1986, and their discovery was described as a fascinating example of how a skilled observer can create a concept out of apparent chaos' (Aloe, 2004).

1.10.1 Trophic dependency of Basal Forebrain Cholinergic neurons

In the adult CNS, NGF expression diminishes to basal levels and is no longer essential for the survival of neurons, including BFCNs. Indeed, cortical excitotoxins applied to the hippocampus, a BFCN target and the brain area providing NGF, induce BFCN atrophy but not neuronal death (Sofroniew et al., 1990).

The continuous supply of NGF to BFCNs is critical in maintaining their cholinergic phenotype and function (Gibbs and Pfaff, 1994, Holtzman et al., 1992, Pioro and Cuello, 1990, Sobreviela et al., 1994). Following CNS injuries, such as stroke or fimbria transaction, the application of NGF was able to recover ChAT activity and cholinergic synapses, preserving the morphological integrity of basal forebrain cholinergic cell bodies and preventing behavioural deficits (Williams et al., 1986, Kromer, 1987, Venero et al., 1994, Figueiredo et al., 1996, Garofalo et al., 1992, Kolb et al., 1997, Cuello, 1996). The same effect was obtained using a selective partial agonist of NGF receptors (Bruno et al., 2004). Endogenous NGF is also critical for the proper maintenance of the cholinergic synapses, as blocking the NGF function with NGF immunization or TrkA receptor blockade reduced the number of the pre-existing cortical cholinergic synaptic terminals (Debeir et al., 1999). Further research confirmed the previous points, demonstrating that mice with one mutant NGF allele alongside a single working copy have decreased BFCNs numbers and cholinergic terminals in target tissues (Chen et al., 1997).

This strong experimental evidence reinforces the idea that NGF is crucial in regulating the cholinergic phenotype and is responsible for maintaining and remodelling cortical synaptic contacts.

1.10.2 Molecular biology of NGF

In humans, the NGF gene spans 45 Kbp and four introns on chromosome 1 (Francke et al., 1983). The transcription from two different promoters and alternative splicing leads to two major and two minor pre-proNGF molecules. The major forms of pre-proNGF, 34 and 27 kDa, are cleaved respectively to 32 kDa and 25 kDa (by removing a signal sequence in the Golgi apparatus), representing the proNGF isoforms (Edwards et al., 1988).

Of these two isoforms, the 25 kDa predominates, constituting 70-80% in most tissues, and the 32 kDa isoform makes up for the remaining 20-30% (Selby et al., 1987). In addition, proNGF is subjected to post-translational modification at three potential sites for N-linked glycosylation (Seidah et al., 1996b), which seems to play a role in proNGF secretion and stability (Suter et al., 1991). ProNGF is known to form dimers (Paoletti et al., 2006), and complexes with several proteins, including mature NGF (mNGF) (Kliemannel et al., 2004), transport molecules such as the soluble protein α_2 -macroglobulin (Barcelona and Saragovi, 2015) and receptor complexes (Nykjaer et al., 2004). For these reasons, proNGF-immunoreactive species exist in most tissues as unprocessed forms of 27 kDa and 32 kDa, as well as 41 (Seidah et al., 1996b, Bruno and Cuello, 2006) and 53 (Pedraza et al., 2005, Lakshmanan et al., 1989) kDa forms commonly reported in human and rat brains. Higher molecular weight forms were also reported, but their significance is unclear.

1.10.3 Nerve Growth Factor Metabolism

For decades following the discovery of NGF in the human and rat brain, it was assumed from cell culture experiments that proNGF was only cleaved intracellularly by furin and released as mNGF (Seidah et al., 1996b, Blöchl and Thoenen, 1995). This principle was turned over by Bruno and Cuello using an *ex vivo* superfusion approach based on Otto Loewi's experiment, in which they showed that proNGF (a 41 kDa), and not mature NGF, was secreted from rat cortex cells in response to cholinergic stimulation with carbachol, glutamate and KCl (Bruno and Cuello, 2006). This secretion of proNGF was dependent on intracellular calcium mobilization as adding a calcium chelator cell permanent (BAPTA-AM) abrogated proNGF release in response to carbachol (Bruno and Cuello, 2006). In addition, alongside proNGF, all the proteins and zymogens responsible for its conversion to mNGF and subsequent degradation (Bruno and Cuello, 2006) were also secreted, as shown in **Figure 1-8**. In summary, mNGF derives from the extracellular maturation of proNGF

by the action of plasmin, which is derived from the inactive zymogen, plasminogen, by the action of tissue plasminogen activator (tPA). This maturation step is regulated by the endogenous tPA inhibitor, neuroserpin. mNGF is a transient molecule in the synaptic cleft, and receptors rapidly take it up; meanwhile, unbound mNGF is quickly degraded by the metalloprotease 9 (MMP-9) (Bruno and Cuello, 2006) and metalloprotease 3 (MMP-3) (Pentz et al., 2021b). This explains the predominance of proNGF over NGF in the brain (Fahnestock et al., 2001). MMP-9 is derived from the precursor form (pre-MMP) by the action of plasmin and regulated by the non-specific metalloproteinase inhibitor, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP1). MMP-3 can be released in response to cholinergic stimulation (Reina et al., 2011, Pentz et al., 2021b) and its consensus cleavage sequences overlap significantly with MMP-9 sequences, which are observed in the mNGF molecule (Eckhard et al., 2016). MMP-3 could play an indirect role by activating MMP-9 (Ogata et al., 1992). In addition, *in vitro* processing of proNGF to mNGF is also mediated by Furin and MMP-7 (Seidah et al., 1996b, Lee et al., 2001), though whether this occurs *in vivo* is not clear (Bruno and Cuello, 2006).



Figure 1-8. Schematic rapresentation of the NGF metabolic pathway.

Abbreviations: NGF, Nerve growth factor; proNGF, precursor NGF; tPA, tissue plasminogen activator; TIMP1, Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1; MMP-9, Matrix metalloprotease-9; TrkA, Tropomyosin receptor kinase A; p75ntr, p75 neurotrophin receptor. Image from (Bruno and Cuello, 2006), PNAS.

1.10.4 NGF and proNGF signalling

mNGF binds with higher affinity (Kd = 10^{-11} M (Hempstead et al., 1991, Cordon-Cardo et al., 1991)) the Tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TrkA), and induces the dimerization (Jing et al., 1992) and autophosphorylation (Cunningham et al., 1997) of adjacent TrkA monomers within their cytoplasmic domains. This causes the activation of four major signal transduction pathways: PI3K–AKT, ERK, MAPK, and PLC γ , implicated in growth, survival and synaptic plasticity (Kaplan and Miller, 1997). TrkA signalling is required for the health of BFCNs and for the maintenance of their cholinergic character (expression of TrkA, VAChT and ChAT) (Venero et al., 1994, Gibbs and Pfaff, 1994, BERSE et al., 1999). Conversely, mNGF has a much lower affinity for the p75 neurotrophin receptor (p75ntr; Kd = 10^{-9} M) (Chao et al., 1986, Johnson et al., 1986).

In contrast, proNGF has a high affinity for p75ntr and a low affinity for TrkA. p75ntr is part of the Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor (TNFR) family characterized by extracellular cysteine-rich domains (CRDs) and intracellular death domains where proNGF binds to the third CRD (Kd = 1.6×10^{-10}) (Yan and Chao, 1991). In contrast to other members of the TNFR family, the intracellular "death" domain does not recruit caspase-9 in response to proNGF binding, rather its effects depend on the presence of coreceptors. Indeed, when proNGF binds with p75ntr complexed with the sortilin, they form a ternary complex shown to induce apoptosis *in vitro* (Lee et al., 2001; Nykjaer et al., 2004). This effect depends on the p53, ceramide, and c-Jun N-terminal kinase pathways (Roux and Barker, 2002).

Impairment of proNGF cleavage with α 2-antiplasmin or the presence of the furin cleavageresistant form of proNGF directly impacts the cholinergic phenotype and cognition (Allard et al., 2012, Allard et al., 2018). These results suggest that the effect on the cholinergic phenotype could be due to a lack of mNGF signalling.

In addition, some groups have reported proNGF to have (pseudo)trophic effects (Fahnestock et al., 2004), when it binds to the p75ntr in the absence of sortilin, subsequently activating nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) and Rho (Hamanoue et al., 1999, Bibel et al., 1999). The trophic versus apoptotic effects of proNGF could depend on the relative abundance of TrkA and sortilin (Ioannou and Fahnestock, 2017), and even if proNGF could exhibit trophic effects on BFCNs, it would be five-fold less trophic compared to mNGF (Fahnestock et al., 2004). For this reason, the relative levels of proNGF and mNGF reflecting the status of the

NGF metabolic pathway could play a critical role in determining the phenotypic maintenance of BFCNs.

1.10.5 NGF in Alzheimer's disease

Given that the cholinergic neurons of nb are highly dependent on NGF supply, it was initially hypothesized that in AD, there is an NGF trophic failure (Appel, 1981). Initial studies demonstrated that NGF mRNA was unchanged in AD (Goedert et al., 1986, Goedert et al., 1989a, Fahnestock et al., 1996) and that levels of overall NGF were elevated (Scott et al., 1995, Crutcher et al., 1993) but since the notion of the existence of a precursor and mature NGF isoforms was unknown at the time, detection methods rendered a combined read-out of the two.

It was later demonstrated that proNGF was predominant over mNGF in the brain (Fahnestock et al., 2001), and proNGF was upregulated in AD starting at stages of MCI (Fahnestock et al., 2001, Bruno et al., 2009a, Peng et al., 2004, Cuello et al., 2019). AD and MCI brains showed a reduction in mNGF protein levels (Pentz et al., 2020) along with its receptor TrkA (Pentz et al., 2020, Boissière et al., 1997, Mufson et al., 1996, Mufson et al., 2000).

In AD, there is diminished conversion of pro-NGF to mNGF mediated by increased neuroserpin activity and enhanced mNGF degradation depending on MMP9 activity (Bruno et al., 2009a, Bruno et al., 2009b). Indeed, in AD, a reduction in tPA, plasminogen and plasmin protein levels and increased neuroserpin levels have been revealed (Fabbro and Seeds, 2009, Bruno et al., 2009a, Pentz et al., 2020). In addition, a strong upregulation of MMP-9 activity and increased levels of MMP-3 and TIMP-1 in CSF of AD patients was found (Hanzel et al., 2014a). In particular, MMP-3 is significantly increased in AD brains and plasma compared to control subjects, and in close proximity to amyloid plaques (Yoshiyama et al., 2000, Horstmann et al., 2010).

The following sections will discuss how this NGF metabolic dysregulation in AD could depend on the two main pathological hallmarks in AD: $A\beta$ and tau.

1.10.6 NGF dysmetabolism and amyloid pathology

An important role of amyloid beta $(A\beta)$ in regulating NGF metabolism was supported by studies demonstrating that NGF dysmetabolism can be induced in wildtype rats by infusing A β oligomers (Bruno et al., 2009a). Similarly, in a rat model of AD-like amyloidosis, NGF dysmetabolism started concomitantly with the onset of cognitive deficits recapitulating the human AD pathology (Iulita et al., 2017).

Individuals with Down syndrome (DS), a condition characterized by lifelong amyloidosis (Head and Lott, 2004), showed dysregulation of NGF metabolism in the frontal cortex, which correlated with Aβ pathology (Iulita et al., 2014b). The dysregulation of NGF metabolism was also found in the periphery with proNGF upregulation in plasma (Iulita et al., 2016), and proNGF upregulation in CSF of asymptomatic people with DS compared to non-trisomic controls (Pentz et al., 2021a). The increase in cortical proNGF in AD is accompanied by alterations in plasminogen, tPA and neuroserpin (Iulita et al., 2014b), and a similar pattern of NGF-metabolic alterations was revealed in the hippocampus of aged trisomic mice from the Ts65Dn line (Iulita et al., 2014b).

In addition, NGF dysmetabolism was observed during MCI stages, as wall as in individuals who were non-cognitively impaired but had high amyloid load (Pentz et al., 2020, Bruno et al., 2009b) and proNGF unpregulation correlated with A β pathology (Pentz et al., 2020).

A connection between Aβ pathology, NGF dysregulation and atrophy of BFCNs has been proposed in the *feed-forward pathological cycle* hypothesis (Florencia Iulita and Claudio Cuello, 2016). Amyloidosis could induce NGF dysmetabolism, depriving BFCNs of trophic support (Bruno et al., 2009a). Consequently, atrophic BFCNs would produce and release less ACh onto cortical neurons (Schliebs and Arendt, 2011). Since cholinergic signalling through M1 receptors reduces the amyloidogenic processing of APP (Nitsch et al., 1992), by depleting M1 signalling, this feedback loop could accelerate amyloidosis and, therefore, the course of AD. In addition to the signalling to M1-mAChRs, cholinergic signalling regulates functional hyperperfusion (Claassen and Jansen, 2006), which will be further discussed, and though nicotinic receptors could have an anti-inflammatory role (Nizri et al., 2006).

1.10.7 NGF dysmetabolism and tau pathology

BFCNs develop tau pathology relatively early in disease progression, and the impairment of retrograde transport has been proposed as a mechanism responsible for BFCNs vulnerability. Indeed, pre-tangle pathology appears to coincide with the downregulation of trkA and other cholinergic genes (Tiernan et al., 2018a) as well as the alteration of BFCN morphology prior to cell death (Tiernan et al., 2018b).

It is unclear whether diminished trophic support or impairment of retrograde transport would happen first in the context of tau pathology. In support of the hypothesis that trophic withdrawal causes aged BFCNs to be more at risk for tau pathology, it has been shown that NGF deprivation can increase tau expression (Sadot et al., 1996b) and phosphorylation (Nuydens et al., 1997) in cholinergic cells while proNGF/p75 signalling can induce tau hyperphosphorylation (Shen et al., 2018). Interestingly, the reduction of NGF maturation induces an impairment of retrograde transport and loss of cholinergic markers (Allard et al., 2018).

The second hypothesis is that some mechanism causing tau pathology would reduce the capacity to receive trophic support. Indeed, TrkA-NGF complexes are internalized by clathrin-dependent mechanisms to form a signalling endosome (Howe et al., 2001) and transported along microtubules by dynein (Heerssen et al., 2004), in several types of vesicles (Bhattacharyya et al., 2002). Tau is a microtubule-stabilizing protein, and tauopathy is associated with the disruption of axonal transport (Ishihara et al., 1999). As such, tau-mediated disruptions of axonal transport could underlie disruptions of trophic support, and such deficits have been associated with cholinergic degeneration in a mouse model of Down Syndrome (Cooper et al., 2001). However, these deficits have not been investigated early in the disease progression and could be consequential to a lack of trophic support.

1.11 Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF)

BDNF was originally isolated from the pig brain by Yves Barde and colleagues in 1982 (Barde et al., 1982). It was able to support the survival of cultured sensory neurons and, combined with NGF, their effect was additive (Barde et al., 1982). Many follow-up studies in the early 1990s demonstrated that BDNF was involved in memory-related modifications of synaptic transmission and long-term potentiation (LTP), in the morphological maintenance of pyramidal neurons and other neurons. BDNF was also found to enhance learning, memory and neurogenesis. A model of its function was proposed in **Figure 1-9**. However, most initial studies were conducted on BDNF without distinguishing between the two isoforms and only later the BDNF precursor and mature forms were discovered.



Figure 1-9. A model of BDNF functions in learning and memory.

Neuronal activity increases BDNF gene expression and releases BDNF from presynaptic and postsynaptic sites in an activity-dependent manner. BDNF binds to TrkB receptors located on presynaptic axons facilitating the neurotransmitter release via synapsin phosphorylation (1). BDNF also binds to postsynaptic TrkB, which leads to the activation of NMDA and non-NMDA receptors (2). BDNF increases the phosphorylation of the NMDA receptor subunits and the expression of AMPA receptor subunits (3). In addition, the modulation of growth and complexity of dendrites (4) could contribute to BDNF-dependent learning and memory processes. Abbreviations: BDNF, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; TrkB, Tropomyosin receptor kinase B; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartate; AMPA-r, α -amino-3-hydroxy-5-methyl-4-isoxazolepropionic acid receptors. Image from (Yamada et al., 2002), Life Sciences, with permission from Elsevier.

1.11.1 BDNF, LTP and synaptic plasticity

BDNF is involved in both the early and late phases of LTP (respectively E-LTP and L-LTP) (reviewed in (Lu and Gottschalk, 2000)). In the early phase of LTP, intracellular calcium concentrations increase rapidly, which induces the activation of protein kinases (Bliss and Collingridge, 1993). BDNF application facilitates E-LTP while the reduction of BDNF levels attenuates it (Figurov et al., 1996, Korte et al., 1995). BDNF enhances synaptic transmission by facilitating synaptic vesicle docking, acting on synaptophysin and synaptobrevin at the presynaptic level (Pozzo-Miller et al., 1999) and eliciting rapid postsynaptic through activation of protein kinases. Indeed, postsynaptic transmission is blocked by a tyrosine kinase receptor (TrkB) inhibitor (Levine et al., 1995). In a second L-LTP phase, the cAMP and cAMP response element-binding protein (CREB) signalling pathways are recruited to synthesize proteins involved in structural changes of hippocampal synapses (Kandel, 2001). L-LTP can never be induced in BDNF mutant mice (Korte et al., 1998, Tartaglia et al., 2001), and it requires conversion from the precursor to the mature BDNF form (Pang et al., 2004).

1.11.2 BDNF and phenotypic neurons maintenance

Neuronal morphology, given by the complexity, shape and size of the dendritic arbour, influences the functional properties of neuronal circuits. BDNF is well-known to affect the dendritic morphology and spine density of neurons (reviewed in (Horch, 2004)). BDNF acts preferentially on active neurons, as demonstrated in ferret cortical brain slices, in which inhibition of spontaneous electrical activity and synaptic transmission prevented dendritic arborizations increase (McAllister et al., 1996).

Autocrine BDNF produced by cortical pyramidal neurons expressing green fluorescent protein (GFP) elicited dramatic sprouting of basal dendrites and decreased dendritic spines (Horch et al., 1999). On the other hand, the effect of paracrine BDNF was studied with 'donor neurons' of ferret cortex brain slices expressing red fluorescent (RFP) BDNF, co-cultured with 'recipient neurons' expressing GFP. BDNF from 'donor neurons' increased dendritic branching of 'recipient neurons' in a distance-dependent manner (Horch and Katz, 2002).

Furthermore, in cultured rat hippocampal neurons, acute and gradual increases in BDNF promoted neurite elongation and spine head enlargement. In contrast, a sustained increase in BDNF facilitated neurite branching and spine-neck elongation (Ji et al., 2010).

1.11.3 BDNF, learning and Memory

As expected from the important role of BDNF in synaptic plasticity (Kang and Schuman, 1995), inhibition of BDNF signalling in rodents by gene knock-out impaired spatial learning and memory assessed by the Morris water maze task in young and aged wild-type mice (Linnarsson et al., 1997). An impairment in fear conditioning was demonstrated in inducible BDNF knock-out mice generated by crossing a floxed BDNF mouse with a Cre recombinase mouse combining the doxycycline-inducible system (Monteggia et al., 2004). These mice were bred in the presence of doxycycline, which was removed when the mice were 3 months of age, inducing a deletion of BDNF in the hippocampus (Monteggia et al., 2004). Furthermore, a continuous intracerebroventricular infusion of antisense BDNF oligonucleotide resulted in an impairment of spatial learning assessed by radial arm maze, and rats that had previously acquired spatial memory, treated with the oligonucleotide, showed impairment in both reference and working memory (Mizuno et al., 2000). In addition, BDNF receptor knock-out mice exhibited a severe impairment in spatial learning tasks (Minichiello et al., 1999).

1.11.4 BDNF and non-glutamatergic neurons

BDNF is critical not only for pyramidal neurons but also for neuronal growth and differentiation of BFCNs (Alderson et al., 1990, Morse et al., 1993). In addition, it regulates GABAergic synaptic transmission (Porcher et al., 2018, Elmariah et al., 2004, Sakata et al., 2009) by the expression of presynaptic GABA synthetic enzyme GAD65 (Sanchez-Huertas and Rico, 2011). Moreover, it seems to be a critical factor for neurogenesis (Rossi et al., 2006, Chan et al., 2008).

1.11.5 Molecular biology of BDNF

In adult brains, BDNF levels are dynamically regulated mostly by neuronal activity-dependent mechanisms (Poo, 2001). At the transcriptional level, Bdnf has eight distinct promoters that initiate the transcription of multiple different mRNA transcripts, but each encodes for an identical BDNF protein (Timmusk et al., 1993, Greenberg et al., 2009). In the cortex, most of the neuronal activity inducing Bdnf expression depends on promoter IV transcription (Timmusk et al., 1994). It is not clear why multiple RNA transcripts exist, but it may be essential to obtain mRNAs with different stability or subcellular localization of either mRNA or protein (Greenberg et al., 2009). Additionally, Bdnf transcripts are polyadenylated at either of two alternative sites, leading to a

population of mRNAs with short 3'-untranslated regions (3'-UTR) and others with a long 3'-UTR (Timmusk et al., 1993). As demonstrated with disruption of the long 3'-UTR in a mouse strain (Bdnf flox/flox), the short 3'-UTR Bdnf mRNA was restricted to the soma, whereas the long 3'-UTR Bdnf mRNA was localized in the dendrites for local translation (An et al., 2008).

BDNF mRNA is transcribed into a precursor (pre-proBDNF) in the endoplasmic reticulum. Following cleavage of the signal peptide, proBDNF (32-kDa) is transported to the Golgi and packed into vesicles (Mowla et al., 2001). Most proBDNF is not constitutively released (Mowla et al., 1999), but is directed towards the regulated pathway, in which it is secreted in response to neuronal activity (Mowla et al., 1999, Poo, 2001). In the extracellular space, proBDNF is converted into mBDNF (14-kDa) by plasmin through the tPA-dependent activation of plasminogen (Lee et al., 2001, Seidah et al., 1996a). Other studies have shown that proBDNF is proteolytically cleaved intracellularly by enzymes such as furin and secreted as the mBDNF, but to which extent intracellular and extracellular processing happen is unclear (reviewed in (Lessmann et al., 2003)).

1.11.6 BDNF and proBDNF signalling

As discussed for mNGF, mBDNF binds two receptors with different affinities: with higher affinity to the tropomyosin-related kinase receptor type B (TrkB), and lower affinity to the p75NTR (Lessmann et al., 2003). ProBDNF, like proNGF, binds with higher affinity the p75NTR receptor, sortilin and with lower affinity TrkB (Teng et al., 2005, Fayard et al., 2005). The interaction of proBDNF with sortilin is important in intracellular trafficking since the lack of binding redirects BDNF from the regulated secretory pathway to the constitutive secretory pathway (Chen et al., 2005). The molecular pathways which were activated by the binding of neurotrophins to p75NTR and sortilin were previously discussed for NGF, while those activated by the binding of mBDNF to TrkB are illustrated in **Figure 1-10**.

In light of the discovery of two different BDNF forms, some studies aimed to clarify how each isoform impacts LTP and long-term depression (LTD). In electrophysiological studies, mBDNF, but not the uncleavable proBDNF in tPA and plasminogen knock-out mice, rescued L-LTP (Pang et al., 2004). As well, when the neurons were subjected to high-frequency stimulation (a condition that induces LTP), a substantial amount of mBDNF was detected (Nagappan et al., 2009). On the

other hand, in conditions that induce LTD, it was secreted mostly proBDNF (Nagappan et al., 2009). These results demonstrate how high-frequency neuronal activity could regulate opposing functions of BDNF isoforms. Furthermore, to determine if proBDNF alters synaptic activity *in vivo*, it was infused in wild-type and p75NTR mutant mice. ProBDNF significantly enhanced LTD in wild-type, but did not show any effect on p75NTR knock-out animals (Woo et al., 2005). Interestingly, complete deletion of the Bdnf gene, did not impact LTD (Matsumoto et al., 2008), suggesting that complete deletion may annul these opposing functions.



Nature Reviews | Neuroscience

Figure 1-10. Major TrkB-signalling-activated pathways.

There are three main signalling pathways activated by binding of mBDNF to TrkB receptor: (1) Ras-mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) signalling cascade, which promotes neuronal differentiation and growth through MAPK/ERK kinase (MEK) and extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK). A second pathway (2) is the activation of the phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) cascade, which promotes the growth of neurons and other cells through protein kinase B (AKT). The third pathway is the activation of phospholipase $C\gamma 1$ (PLC $\gamma 1$) which results in the generation of inositol-1,4,5-trisphosphate (Ins(1,4,5)P3) and diacylglycerol (DAG). DAG activates protein kinase C (PKC) and Ins(1,4,5)P3 promotes the release of Ca2+ from internal stores and subsequent activation of Ca2+/calmodulin-dependent protein kinases (CaMKIs), cyclic AMP-responsive element-binding protein (CREB) and synaptic plasticity. Image from (Minichiello, 2009), Nature Reviews Neuroscience with permission from Springer Nature.

1.11.7 BDNF in Alzheimer's disease

Along with mood disorders such as depression, BDNF alterations are associated with neurological disorders, including AD. Patients with severe AD have decreased BDNF mRNA and protein levels in the hippocampus, frontal cortex, and parietal cortex (Holsinger et al., 2000, Phillips et al., 1991, Peng et al., 2005, Michalski and Fahnestock, 2003b, Hock et al., 2000, Garzon et al., 2002) and reduction in both pro- and mBDNF levels are present during earlier stages of MCI (Peng et al., 2005, Michalski and Fahnestock, 2003a). AD post-mortem studies suggest that mBDNF is present in lower amounts in the cortex than proBDNF and decreases more sharply than proBDNF in the prodromal stages of AD (Peng et al., 2005). AD animal models confirmed that BDNF expression alteration occurs early, before plaque deposition (Iulita et al., 2017, Francis et al., 2012). Furthermore, BDNF protein levels correlate strongly with cognitive abilities (Peng et al., 2005, Fahnestock et al., 2002), and it has been proposed to represent a candidate biomarker for early AD detection (Beeri and Sonnen, 2016).

On the other hand, cortical levels of TrkB are reported to be unchanged in AD (Savaskan et al., 2000, Michalski et al., 2015, Boissière et al., 1997). It is unclear why TrkB levels are not affected, but one explanation could be the lack of exclusivity of TrkB in binding BDNF, as it can also bind Neurotrophin 4/5 (NT-4/5) (Bothwell, 1995), which is not affected in AD. A case contrary to the TrkA receptor density, which is regulated by NGF (Venero et al., 1994, Gibbs and Pfaff, 1994, Figueiredo et al., 1995).

1.12 Vascular-cholinergic hypothesis

Regulation of cerebral blood flow is fundamental to the functional activity of the brain. When the activity of a certain brain region rises, it also increases the blood flow to that region, allowing substrate delivery and the removal of metabolic products in a mechanism called hyperemia (Iadecola, 2004). Pharmacological studies using cholinergic drugs brought to light an additional role for the cholinergic neurons: the regulation of cerebral perfusion. Indeed, anticholinergic drugs such as Scopolamine given to young people reduced cerebral perfusion by 20% in the frontal cortex (Honer et al., 1988). This vascular-cholinergic hypothesis proposed that the cholinergic deficit not only affects the innervation of cortical neurons but also the innervation of cerebral blood vessels and consequently regulates cerebral vasodilatation and cerebral blood flow. It was even

proposed 30 years ago that sporadic AD is a vascular disorder caused by impaired cerebral perfusion (De la Torre and Mussivan, 1993, de la Torre, 2004).

1.12.1 Evidence of vascular innervation by cholinergic neurons

1.12.1.1 Use of ChEIs in AD

Computed tomography using radionuclides has been an important tool in providing information on regional changes in cerebral blood flow in AD patients (Claassen and Jansen, 2006). ChEIs given to individuals with AD resulted in an increase in the posterior parietal-temporal and superior frontal perfusion (Geaney et al., 1990, Ebmeier et al., 1992). Interestingly, it was later confirmed that a regional increase in perfusion was not a consequence of increased regional metabolism produced by cortical neuron stimulation. Indeed, physostigmine increased the cerebral blood flow in the cerebral cortex and the subcortical structures in young and aged individuals. On the contrary, cerebral glucose consumption decreased significantly in most regions (Blin et al., 1997). In addition, AD patients receiving ChEIs had improved cerebral blood flow that preceded beneficial effects on glucose metabolism by months (Nordberg et al., 1998, Nordberg, 1999).

1.12.1.2 Biochemical and immunohistochemical studies

After the initial pharmacological studies, immunohistochemical and electron microscopy (EM) studies followed. The most important evidence that supported the vascular-cholinergic hypothesis was the presence of cholinergic terminals in the cortical cerebral blood vessels shown in rats by Hamel and colleagues (Vaucher and Hamel, 1995). Indeed, injection of the anterograde tracer *Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin* in the substantia innominata showed that neuronal terminals in all cortical subdivisions surrounded microvessels (Vaucher and Hamel, 1995). Further immunohistochemical studies showed a loss of cholinergic terminals in the arterioles in the temporal lobe of AD brains compared to the age-matched controls (Tong and Hamel, 1999). In addition, along with the initial studies of the effect of ACh on vessel vasodilatation (Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980), mAChRs were identified as components of the BBB. mAChRs were observed in perivascular astrocytes (subtypes M 1-5), smooth muscle cells (subtypes M 1,2,4,5), and endothelial cells (subtypes M 1,2,3,5) (Luiten et al., 1996, Garcia-Villalon et al., 1991, Elhusseiny et al., 1999, Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980) in the brains of animals and humans.

1.12.2 The Neurovascular unit (NVU)

The NVU is a structure composed of several cell types, including endothelial cells, pericytes, vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs), astrocytes, microglia, and neurons, which connect the brain parenchyma to the cerebral vasculature. The interactions among these NVU cell types are important for a variety of physiological processes such as angiogenesis, vessel maintenance and permeability, metabolic support, and regulation of blood flow (reviewed in (McConnell et al., 2017, Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021)). The composition of the NVU varies across capillaries, arteries and veins.

Capillaries are small vessels with a diameter under 10 µm containing a single layer of endothelial cells surrounding the vessel lumen, wrapped by a thin layer of cerebrovascular basement membrane (CVBM). This structure is irregularly surrounded by pericytes whose proposed contractile properties are still controversial (Fernández-Klett et al., 2010) and externally carpeted by a layer of astrocytic endfeet (McConnell et al., 2017) (**Figure 1-11**). Arteries are found on the brain surface and have extrinsic innervation (Hamel, 2006). They are wrapped by a layer of endothelial cells surrounded by multiple layers of SMCs, or a single layer in the case of arterioles, with contractile properties, and finally with a CVMB (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021). In addition, arteries are externally covered by astrocytic endfeet (Filosa et al., 2016) (**Figure 1-12**). Veins and venules are made up of endothelial cells wrapped by a thin layer of CVMB and carpeted by astrocytic endfeet. They occasionally have pericytes but lack SMCs (reviewed in (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021)).

In addition to that, capillaries and arteries mostly receive intrinsic innervation (Hamel, 2006). The cell bodies of these nerve fibres are mostly located in the BF (cholinergic fibers), the LC (noradrenergic fibers) and the raphe nucleus (serotoninergic system) (Hamel, 2006). At the NVU, nerve fiber terminals have been shown to be $<1.0 \mu$ m from the vessel walls (Tong and Hamel, 1999). They can regulate the vascular tone by either synapsing directly on SMA, endothelial cells, pericytes or via astrocytic endfeet (Mulligan and MacVicar, 2004, Toribatake et al., 1997, Hamilton et al., 2010).





The NVU shows the following features: 1) Brain endothelial cells lining cerebral vessels. 2) Tight junctions between endothelial cells "sealing" the vessels. 3) A continuous basal lamina/basement membrane encases endothelial cells with pericytes between endothelial cells and astroglial endfeet. 4) Astrocytic endfeet wrapping the lamina. 5) Resident microglia with long cellular processes to survey their microenvironment. 6) Local interneurons innervating cerebral vasculature and can induce vessels to change their tone. Image modified from (McConnell et al., 2017).



Figure 1-12. Heterogeneity of cerebral arteries.

Representation of different types of arteries present in the human brain. As the vessel becomes smaller (arterioles), the vascular basement membrane fuses with the glial basement membrane and perivascular nerves are replaced by nerve terminals from subcortical pathways (intrinsic innervation). In capillaries, SMCs are replaced by pericytes. Vascular diameters refer to the human cerebral circulation. Abbreviations: MCA, middle cerebral artery; PVMs, perivascular macrophages; SMCs, smooth muscle cells; ICA, internal carotid artery. Image from (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021), Nature Reviews Neuroscience, with permission from Springer Nature.

1.12.3 Coordinated vascular response

Far from the traditional view proposing that cerebral blood flow depends solely on the release of vasoactive agents from neurons, it is becoming clear that this cannot be attributed to a single cell type. The cerebral blood flow would result from multiple processes involving different cell types of the NVU (Iadecola, 2004). Indeed, synaptic activity generates vasoactive mediators in neurons and astrocytes, which act on local blood vessels to produce vasodilation of arterioles and possibly capillaries at the activated site. Furthermore, vasodilation in the activated area is propagated upstream by intramural vascular signalling to balance the pressure in the cerebrovascular tree. Variations in intravascular pressure induced by the changes in flow and resistance are compensated by adjustments of smooth muscle cells (Iadecola, 2004). This model is shown in **Figure 1-13**.



Nature Reviews | Neuroscience

Figure 1-13. Cellular mechanisms for the propagation of vasodilation in the vessels from the activated site.

Image from (Iadecola, 2004), Nature Reviews Neuroscience, with permission from Springer Nature.

1.12.4 BFCNs in the cerebral blood flow regulation

It is well-studied that glutamate induces an increase in Ca2+ in neurons and glia, activating the synthesis of powerful vasodilators, including nitric oxide (NO), metabolites of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) such as prostaglandins and cytochrome P450 epoxygenase products, epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs) (Iadecola, 2004)). In astrocyte endfeet, the increase of Ca2+ is produced by the activation of metabotropic glutamate receptors (mGluRs), and this response propagates to the neighbouring astrocytes through gap junctions (Iadecola, 2004).

ACh is known to induce vasodilation (Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980). Experiments of BFCNs immunolesion with 192 IgG-Saporin in rats showed a global decrease (24-40%) in cerebral blood flow in the parietal and temporal regions (Waite et al., 1999), while other studies utilizing muscarinic antagonists (Elhusseiny and Hamel, 2000) and muscarinic M5 knock-out mice (Yamada et al., 2001a) showed similar results.

In particular, BFCNs can directly regulate vasodilatation through the release of the potent vasodilator NO, from endothelial cells (eNO), but not from neurons (nNO) (Zhang et al., 1995). In addition, BFCNs stimulation has an indirect effect by inducing selective activation of Somatostatin and vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) neurons (Kocharyan et al., 2008, Cauli et al., 2004) as shown in **Figure 1-14**. A pharmacological study showed that blockade of mAChRs and either NMDA or GABA receptors had no additive attenuating effect, indicating that glutamate and GABA effects are downstream to ACh from BFCNs (Lecrux et al., 2012).

In addition, multiple mAChRs also exist on perivascular astrocytes and it cannot be excluded that these cells contribute to the cerebral blood flow response as demonstrated for glutamate (Hamel, 2006). Indeed, ACh is responsible for releasing EETs, a product of the P450 epoxygenase pathway, selective for astrocytes (Lecrux et al., 2012), and two specific gliotoxins were able to decrease the ACh-induced cerebral blood flow (Lecrux et al., 2012).



Figure 1-14. Schematic representation of how glutamate, GABA and astrocytes may interact in response to basal forebrain stimulation.

BF send input to pyramidal neurons (in green), somatostain (yellow), neuropeptide Y (pink), and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide (grey) neurons. Additionally BF can make synapses with astrocytes and vessels. Abbreviations: BF, Basal forebrain; ACh, Acetylcholine; GABA, γ -aminobutyric acid; Glu, glutammate; EETs, Epoxyeicosatrienoic acids; NO, Nitric oxide. Image from (Lecrux et al., 2012).

1.12.5 BFCN regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)

First identified in rodent tumour cell lines, the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) has been shown to increase vascular permeability (Senger et al., 1983) and, for this reason, is also referred to as vascular permeability factor. In mammals, the VEGF family comprises VEGF-A (named VEGF, which has received the most attention), VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, VEGF-E and placental growth factor (PIGF) (reviewed in (Koch and Claesson-Welsh, 2012, Lange et al., 2016) (**Figure 1-15**). Years after its discovery, VEGF was identified in the rat brain (Monacci et al., 1993) and was shown to be expressed by the vascular endothelium, astrocytes and neurons (reviewed in (Ruiz de Almodovar et al., 2009)).



Figure 1-15. The VEGF family of growth factors.

VEGF family members bind to cell surface receptors VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3. Several members also bind to non-tyrosine kinase receptors of the NRP family, which function as co-receptors for the VEGFRs. Abbreviations: VEGF, Vascular endothelial growth factor; VEGFR, Vascular endothelial cell growth factor receptor; NRP, Neuropilin. Image from (Lange et al., 2016), Nature Reviews Neurology, with permission from Springer Nature.

VEGF relevance in the context of the cholinergic hypothesis depends on its regulation by cholinergic input. Studies using organotypic hippocampal slice cultures showed that tacrine (THA) treatment rescued hippocampal neurons from excitotoxicity-induced long-lasting hippocampal cell damage possibly mediated by VEGF since the effect was significantly reduced by a selective inhibitor of vascular endothelial cell growth factor receptor 2 (VEGFR-2) (Inada et al., 2014). In addition, studies in primary neurons and primary astrocytic cultures from mice showed that different mechanisms regulate VEGF release. THA treatment increased VEGF mRNA expression in neurons in a manner that was reversed by mecamylamine, a nicotinic ACh receptor antagonist, whereas in primary astrocytes, carbachol, but not THA increased VEGF mRNA expression and secretion in a manner that was inhibited by scopolamine, a mAChR inhibitor (Kimura et al., 2018). The increase of VEGF in medial septal cholinergic neurons was confirmed *in vivo* by daily administration of THA (2.5 mg/kg, i.p.) for seven days (Kimura et al., 2001) and there exists a common signal transduction pathway between VEGF and NGF (reviewed by (Nico et al., 2008)).

VEGF seems to play several important functions: it is a (1) vascular factor that affects vascular tone by controlling the release of vasorelaxant nitric oxide by endothelial cells (eNOS) (Storkebaum and Carmeliet, 2004). The isoforms cooperate in an angiogenetic process (2) establishing chemoattractive gradients which promote blood vessel sprouts from pre-existing blood vessels (Ruhrberg et al., 2002). VEGF also plays a role (3) in regulating BBB permeability, increasing the leakiness of the microvascular wall (Mayhan, 1999). Moreover, it is a (4) neurotrophic factor which plays a role in hippocampal synaptic plasticity and memory consolidation in mice (Cao et al., 2004, Licht et al., 2011, De Rossi et al., 2016). Notably, VEGFR2 is expressed in hippocampal neurons *in vivo* (De Rossi et al., 2016, Luck et al., 2019).

VEGF family members exert their effects via downstream signalling pathways, such as the MEK– MAPK pathway (proliferation and migration), the PI3K–Akt pathway (survival), and the Src– eNOS pathway (permeability) (reviewed in (Koch and Claesson-Welsh, 2012)).
1.12.6 Neurovascular unit dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease

A full understanding of the underlying mechanisms for cerebral blood flow reduction in AD is unclear. Indeed, hypoperfusion could be consequential to several mechanisms, such as the constriction of brain arterioles (Niwa et al., 2001), loss of vascular density (Farkas and Luiten, 2001) and changes in the neurovascular coupling (Hamel, 2006).

In addition, $A\beta$ and tau play a key role in NVU dysfunction (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021). In particular, $A\beta$ induces a pro-inflammatory response by perivascular glia cells and the production of free radicals (Park et al., 2017). Furthermore, $A\beta$ showed to induce vasoconstriction of cerebral arteries (Niwa et al., 2001) and capillaries in a mouse model of AD and in AD human brains (Nortley et al., 2019). In addition, APP/PS1 mice showed transient occlusion of vessels by neutrophils adhesion to capillaries and blockage of blood flow (Cruz Hernández et al., 2019).

On the other hand, hyperphosphorylated tau affects the neurovascular coupling involving a tauinduced dissociation of neuronal nitric oxide synthase (nNOS) from postsynaptic density 95 (PSD95) and reducing the production of NO during glutamatergic synaptic activity (Park et al., 2020).

Thesis objective and rationale

Basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (BFCNs), essential for learning, memory and attention, represent the main source of cholinergic innervation to the cortex and hippocampus. These neurons degenerate early in Alzheimer's disease (AD), contributing to early cognitive deficits. Interestingly, Acetylcholinesterase Inhibitors (AChEIs), which potentiate any remaining cholinergic signalling, can provide temporary relief without modifying disease progression.

Some studies have shown that AChEIs reduce the rate of atrophy of the hippocampus, cortex, and basal forebrain, while patients taking anticholinergic medications have worse disease outcomes in AD. This suggests that BFCN degeneration may play a significant role in aggravating AD pathology. Therefore, the main goal of this thesis is to study the role of BFCNs in the function of neurotrophins, vasculature and experimental cholinergic therapeutics to prevent AD. Toward this objective, the following evidence has been taken into consideration:

- Rats represent a good model to study the interaction between BFCNs innervation and neurotrophins release, given the similarity of their basal forebrain cholinergic system to the humans and their superior cognitive abilities compared to mice. One side of the relationship between neurotrophins and BFCNs has been very well-studied. It was demonstrated that BFCNs depend on levels of mature nerve growth factor (mNGF) and, in less extent, on the mature brain-derived neurotrophic factor (mBDNF), produced by cortical and hippocampal neurons and retrogradely transported to the cell bodies.
- Synapses of BFCNs are localized in the proximity of cortical cerebral blood vessels and form synapses with different cell types, such as vascular smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, and astrocytic end-feet. Synapses of BFCNs represent a component of the neurovascular unit regulating vascular tone and cerebral blood flow.
- 3. The acetylcholine muscarinic receptor M1 is present mostly in the CNS, is not downregulated in AD brains and can modulate the amyloidogenic pathway. For these reasons, agonists that selectively target this receptor would avoid adverse effects, given by

stimulation of other muscarinic receptors outside the CNS. Additionally, some M1 receptor agonists have been shown to delay AD-like progression in preclinical trials.

Based on this evidence, we have generated the following hypotheses:

- I. Neurotrophins not only influence BFCNs, but the input of BFCNs influences the release of neurotrophins in a reciprocal interaction relationship.
- II. Synapses of BFCNs are part of the neurovascular unit and influence vessel diameters, vascular endothelial growth factor A, astrocytes and microglial cells.
- III. A new cholinergic treatment, a partial agonist of the M1 muscarinic receptor, with the additional property of modulating the sigma-1 receptor, prevents AD-like hallmarks in a transgenic rodent model of amyloid-like pathology.

Chapters 2,3, and 4 of this thesis will cover the testing and outcome of the above hypotheses.

CHAPTER 2

Long-term nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion induces attentional deficits and impacts cortical neurons and BDNF levels without affecting the NGF synthesis

<u>Chiara Orciani</u>, Helene Hall, Rowan Pentz, Morgan K Foret^{*}, Sonia Do Carmo^{*}, A. Claudio Cuello *these authors contributed equally to this work

Published in the Journal of Neurochemistry, 03 August 2022

Abstract

Basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (BFCNs) represent the main source of cholinergic innervation to the cortex and hippocampus and degenerate early in Alzheimer's disease (AD) progression. Phenotypic maintenance of BFCNs depends on levels of mature nerve growth factor (mNGF) and mature brain-derived neurotrophic factor (mBDNF), produced by target neurons and retrogradely transported to the cell body. Whether a reciprocal interaction where BFCN inputs impact neurotrophin availability and affect cortical neuronal markers is unknown. To address our hypothesis, we immunolesioned the nucleus basalis (nb), a basal forebrain cholinergic nuclei projecting mainly to the cortex, by bilateral stereotaxic injection of 192-IgG-Saporin (the cytotoxin Saporin binds p75ntr receptors expressed exclusively by BFCNs) in 2.5-month-old Wistar rats.

At six months post-lesion, Saporin-injected rats (SAP) showed an impairment in a modified version of the 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task (5-choice task). Post-mortem analyses of the brain revealed a reduction of Choline Acetyltransferase-immunoreactive neurons compared to wild-type controls. A diminished number of cortical vesicular acetylcholine transporter-immunoreactive boutons was accompanied by a reduction in BDNF mRNA, mBDNF protein levels, markers of glutamatergic (vGluT1) and GABAergic (GAD65) neurons in the SAP-group compared to the controls. NGF mRNA, NGF precursor and mNGF protein levels were not affected. Additionally, cholinergic markers correlated with the attentional deficit and BDNF levels. Our findings demonstrate that while cholinergic nb loss impairs cognition and reduces cortical neuron markers, it produces differential effects on neurotrophin availability, affecting BDNF but not NGF levels.

C. Orciani 2022

2.1 Introduction

Basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (BFCNs) provide the major source of cholinergic innervation to the forebrain (Mesulam et al., 1983b, Mesulam et al., 1983a, Bigl et al., 1982, Struble et al., 1986). It is well-established, in both humans and experimental animal models, that BFCNs play a crucial role in learning, memory and attention mechanisms (Drachman and Leavitt, 1974, Bartus, 1979, Everitt and Robbins, 1997, Ballinger et al., 2016, Zaborszky et al., 1999). The gradual degeneration of BFCNs in ageing, and their severe atrophy and loss in Alzheimer's disease (AD) pathology (Bowen et al., 1976, Davies and Maloney, 1976, Whitehouse et al., 1981), contribute significantly to cognitive impairment in this neurodegenerative condition. The involvement of BFCNs in AD cognitive impairment is further illustrated by the fact that four out of six FDAapproved drugs are acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEI). These drugs improve the telencephalic cholinergic tone by blocking extracellular acetylcholine degradation (Giacobini, 1987), thus offering transient cognitive relief even at advanced stages of AD (Giacobini et al., 2022). Accordingly, the cholinergic hypothesis suggests that dysfunction of BFCNs contributes considerably to the cognitive decline observed in the geriatric population (Bartus et al., 1982, Coyle et al., 1983, Cuello and Sofroniew, 1984, Francis et al., 1999); a hypothesis extended to AD and supported by the beneficial effects of AChEI.

New interest in the basal forebrain cholinergic system has been provoked by the evidence of basal forebrain atrophy at prodromal stages of AD (Teipel et al., 2011), which precedes and predicts atrophy of the entorhinal and cerebral cortices (Schmitz et al., 2016) as well as the cortical spread of the AD pathology (Fernández-Cabello et al., 2020). In addition, long-term use of anticholinergic drugs increases the risk of dementia and AD (Gray et al., 2015), and results in brain atrophy and cognitive decline (Risacher et al., 2016), further supporting the key role of BFCNs on brain health. In line with the above, AChEIs reduce the rate of hippocampal (Dubois et al., 2015), and basal forebrain atrophy (Cavedo et al., 2017) while eliciting an increased cortical thickness (Cavedo et al., 2016, Hampel et al., 2017, Hampel et al., 2018). The symptomatic benefits of AChEIs used in AD patients could be explained by the trophic effects exerted by acetylcholine (ACh) on cortical neurons. Indeed, stimulation of the M1 and M3 muscarinic ACh receptors (mAChRs) located in both pyramidal glutamatergic projections and local γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA)-ergic neurons modulates cellular excitability and network synchronization in the neocortex and hippocampus.

Further, this stimulation promotes the production of amyloid precursor protein-derived peptides (APPs) (Nitsch et al., 1992, Haring et al., 1998) through the alpha-secretase pathway (or non-amyloidogenic pathway) (Davis et al., 2010), therefore preventing the formation of toxic amyloid-beta peptides and favouring synaptogenesis (Bell et al., 2008, Kojro and Fahrenholz, 2005). Conversely, the loss of mAChRs promotes pathogenic amyloid processing (Davis et al., 2010, Medeiros et al., 2011).

The phenotypic maintenance of BFCNs is tightly dependent on the trophic support of endogenous nerve growth factor (NGF) (Sofroniew et al., 1990, Hefti, 1986, Cuello et al., 1992, Cuello, 1993) released by pyramidal neurons (Bruno and Cuello, 2006). Along with NGF, brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), is widely expressed in BFCN target areas (Phillips et al., 1990), supports BFCNs (Alderson et al., 1990, Morse et al., 1993, Boissière et al., 1997) and is essential for the phenotypic maintenance of pyramidal neurons (McAllister et al., 1996, Horch and Katz, 2002). In addition, BDNF sustains both early and late phase of long-term potentiation (LTP) (Figurov et al., 1996, Korte et al., 1995, Korte et al., 1998, Tartaglia et al., 2001) and is markedly involved in learning and memory (Kang and Schuman, 1995, Korte et al., 1998, Broad et al., 2002, Hariri et al., 2003). Both NGF and BDNF are secreted in an activity-dependent manner (Mowla et al., 1999, Bruno and Cuello, 2006) from cortical and hippocampal neurons as precursors, respectively proNGF and proBDNF and converted in the extracellular space into the bioactive mature NGF (mNGF) (Bruno and Cuello, 2006, Bruno et al., 2009a) and mature BDNF (mBDNF) (Lee et al., 2001, Seidah et al., 1996a, Pang et al., 2004).

These neurotrophins have been shown to be affected in AD. In particular, AD and mild cognitive impairment (MCI) brains showed a reduction in mNGF protein levels (Pentz et al., 2020) along with its receptor tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TrkA) (Pentz et al., 2020, Boissière et al., 1997, Mufson et al., 1996, Mufson et al., 2000) and increased proNGF levels (Fahnestock et al., 2001, Bruno et al., 2009a, Peng et al., 2004, Cuello et al., 2019). In addition, decreased BDNF mRNA levels (Holsinger et al., 2000, Phillips et al., 1991), proBDNF and mBDNF protein levels were reported in MCI and AD brains (Peng et al., 2005, Michalski and Fahnestock, 2003a, Hock et al., 2000). Neurotrophin dysregulation was also recapitulated by transgenic animal models during early stages of intraneuronal amyloid pathology (Iulita et al., 2017, Cuello et al., 2012, Francis et al., 2012, Peng et al., 2009).

As neurotrophins are released in response to neuronal activity, we hypothesized that the selective demise of cholinergic neurons of the nucleus basalis (nb), should have a significant effect on the cortical expression of either the precursor and mature NGF and BDNF forms.

Towards this goal, we selectively immuno-depleted BFCNs of the nb in wt rats with a stereotaxic injection of 192-IgG-saporin (192-IgG-SAP) consisting of an anti-p75ntr receptor monoclonal antibody conjugated to the cytotoxin saporin (Wiley 1991). After 6 months since the immunolesion, we assessed the effect of cholinergic neuron depletion on behaviour by performing a modified 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task (5-Choice task), which is extensively employed to measure sustained attention in rodents (Higgins and Silenieks, 2017, Robbins, 2002). Finally, we assessed levels of mRNA, pro and mature NGF and BDNF along with neuronal markers of the glutamatergic (vGluT1), GABAergic (GAD65) and catecholaminergic (TH) systems.

This study revealed that the long-term loss of BFCNs has significant consequences on the cortical expression and protein levels of BDNF as well as on the neurotransmitter systems beyond the cholinergic synaptic network.

2.2 <u>Methods</u>

2.2.1 Experimental design

One sex-balanced group of twelve 2.5 month-old Wistar rats (Charles River Laboratories; RRID:RGD_2312511) was stereotactically injected in the nb with 192-IgG-saporin (SAP), while nine were injected with PBS vehicle as a control (Sal). Six months post-lesion, rats were block randomized and housed in pairs then food-deprived to 85% of their weight in preparation for the 5-choice task (**Figure 2-1A**). Food deprivation was maintained during the testing period. After completing behavioural testing, the animals were sacrificed, and their brains were preserved for histological and biochemical analyses. One rat was excluded from the histological analyses as the post-fixation was not optimal (n=20), while the biochemical analyses were performed in all rats (n=21). We used an analogous sample size of previous studies in which the neurotrophins were altered ((Allard et al., 2012) n1=6, n2=6; (Iulita et al., 2017) n1=10, n2=7). In (Allard et al., 2012), proNGF was increased following treatment with α 2-antiplasmin (effect size, d=2.3) and in (Iulita et al., 2017), McGill-APP-transgenic rats showed decreased BDNF mRNA (effect size, d=1.7) compared to wild-type control. We have chosen the lower effect size between the two studies (d=

1.7) and we computed a post-hoc calculation obtaining a power (β -1) = 0.955 in a two tailed t-test (with n1=9, n2=12, α =0.05). The McGill University Animal Care Committee approved all experimental procedures (Ethical Approval Number: MCGL-3860).

2.2.2 Stereotaxic surgery

Surgical procedures were conducted under isoflurane anesthesia (isofluorane vaporizer was initially set at 4% and decreased to 2.5% for maintenance), and animals were mounted on a stereotaxic frame. The injections were performed with a 5- μ L microsyringe (cat. no. 7633-01, Hamilton, USA) fitted with a 32-gauge needle (cat. no. 7762-05, Hamilton, USA) through a burrhole drilled in the skull. Stereotaxic coordinates were measured from Bregma, according to the Paxinos and Watson Atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2006) and were anteroposterior (AP) -1.8; mediolateral (ML) ±3.2; dorsoventral (DV) -7.5. 192-IgG-Saporin (2.6 mg/ml, Advanced Targeting Systems, cat. no. IT-01) was injected at a concentration of 0.5 μ g/ μ l (1.0 μ l/hemisphere), while PBS was injected as a control. Following stereotaxic surgery rats were injected with carprofen (5 mg/ml, given 0.1 ml/100 g) for three days to minimize animal suffering.

2.2.3 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task

Training and testing were conducted in rat five-hole operant boxes (cat. no. 80600A-CP, Lafayette Instruments, Lafayette, USA), using the FiveChoice program (version 5.3, Cambridge, UK) and the Whisker control system (Cardinal and Aitken, 2010) under diurnal conditions (12 h light). In the training phase, the rats learned to receive a reward in the food magazine after a correct response (**Supplemental Methods**). The testing phase occurred over multiple stages, and whenever each rat reached a certain number of correct responses with only a few failures to respond (omissions) in a daily session, it was moved to the next stage (see the experimental design in **Figure 2-1A**, details in **Supplemental Table 2-1** and **Supplemental Methods**). The first trial was initiated when the rat pushed the food magazine panel to collect the pellet. Each session ended after 100 correct trials or a maximum of 200 total trials and not more than 30 min of testing time. The number of sessions (days) required to complete each stage was calculated for each animal in both groups. Some challenges introduced were: a variable delay of the stimulus initiation (inter-trial interval), a fixed period after the stimulus offset for a response (limited hole hold period) and a punishment (time-out) after an incorrect response, an omission, or a premature response. Once the food pellet was delivered, or the time-out was over, the next trial was initiated when the rat entered the food magazine. The global score was calculated for each animal as the sum for each stage ((average correct responses/average omissions+1)/total trials completed)). The +1 was added to avoid a denominator equal to 0. The experimenter was unaware of the animal's group during behavioral testing.

2.2.4 Brain tissue collection

Upon completion of the behavioural test, rats were deeply anesthetized with a mix of chloral hydrate and sodium pentobarbital (6.5 mg and 3 mg, respectively, per 100 g of body weight) delivered by intraperitoneal injection and perfused transcardially with chilled saline solution for 2 min. The brain was removed, and the cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum were dissected from one hemisphere. This tissue was flash-frozen and kept at -80 °C for qRT-PCR and Western blot. The other hemisphere was post-fixed in 4% PFA at 4°C for 24 hours and transferred to 30% sucrose in 0.1 M phosphate buffer for cryopreservation before being processed for immunohistochemical analysis. The fixed hemisphere was sectioned on a microtome (Leica SM 2000R; Germany) into 40-µm thick sections and stored at -20 °C in a cryoprotectant solution of ethylene glycol and sucrose in PBS (pH 7.4). All the following immunohistochemical analyses were performed on free-floating sections following cryoprotectant solution removal by washing in PBS.

2.2.5 Gene expression analysis

Messenger RNA (mRNA) expression was analyzed by reverse transcription–coupled real-time quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR). RNA was extracted from cortical tissue (15 mg) using the RNeasy Mini Kit (cat. no. 74104, Qiagen, USA). For reverse transcription, 500 ng total RNA was used to synthesize cDNA using iScript Reverse Transcription Supermix for RT-qPCR (cat. no. 1708840, Bio-Rad, USA). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed in a total volume of 10 µL using the SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix (cat. no. 1725270, Bio-Rad, USA) and using the CFX Connect Real-Time PCR Detection System (cat. no. 1855201, Bio-Rad, USA) and CFX Manager (cat. no. 1845000, Bio-Rad, USA). Fold changes in gene expression compared to PBS vehicle-treated rats were calculated, normalizing the values for each gene of

interest to housekeeping genes (GAPDH, Actin), using the 2 (Delta Delta C[T]) method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). PCR primer information is reported in the **Supplemental Methods**.

2.2.6 Western blotting (WB)

For all proteins besides mNGF (subjected to a chloroform/methanol protein extraction following (Locke et al., 2020); detailed in Supplemental Methods), 20 mg of frontoparietal cortical samples were manually homogenized in lysis buffer (cat. no. 9803, Cell Signaling, USA) containing a complete protease inhibitor cocktail (cat. no. 11836153001, Roche, USA). Manual homogenization was followed by two 5 s pulses of sonication. The homogenates were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm, for 45 min at 4 °C, the supernatants were collected, and the protein concentration was determined by Bradford assay (DCTM Protein Assay kit, cat. no. 5000111, BioRad, USA). The homogenates (50 µg) were mixed with Sample Buffer (Tris-HCl 250 mM, pH 6.8, 40% (v/v) glycerol, 10% (w/v) SDS, 10% (v/v) β-mercaptoethanol, 0.01% (w/v) bromophenol blue) and boiled for 5 minutes. The samples were loaded on SDS-polyacrylamide gels and were transferred (Trans-Blot SD Semi-Dry Electrophoretic Transfer Cell, cat. no. 1703940, BioRad, USA) to PVDF membranes (cat. no. 1620177, BioRad, USA) for 1 h at 350 mA. Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS-T) for 1 h at room temperature and incubated with the primary antibody in TBS-T overnight at 4 °C. Peroxidaseconjugated secondary antibody, dissolved in TBS-T, was applied for 1 h at room temperature. WB was developed with an enhanced chemiluminescence substrate (Western Lightning[®] Plus-ECL, cat. no. NEL111001EA, PerkinElmer Inc., USA) and imaged with Amersham Imager 600 (GE Healthcare, USA) and ChemiDocTMTouch system (cat. no. 12003154, Bio-Rad, Canada). Densitometry was quantified with TotalLab CLIQS Software (TotalLab, UK) and ImageLab (cat. no. 17006130, Bio-Rad, Canada), and the values were normalized to the loading control GAPDH. An additional sample was loaded in each gel as an internal loading control. The values were expressed as fold change relative to the control group.

2.2.7 Immunohistochemistry (IHC)

Antigen retrieval was performed in 10 mM citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 30 min at 80 °C, and sections were then cooled for 20 minutes at room temperature (RT). Endogenous peroxidase activity was quenched by incubating sections in 3% H₂O₂ and 10% methanol in PBS for 30 minutes. For ChAT

immunostaining, sections were blocked in 5% anti-horse serum for 1 hour and then incubated 48 hours at 4 °C with goat anti-ChAT antibody in 1% BSA-PBS-T. For VAChT immunostaining, sections were blocked in 5% anti-goat serum (NGS, RRID: AB_2336990) for 1 hour and incubated 48 hours at 4 °C, with rabbit anti-VAChT antibody in 5% NGS-PBS-T. Sections were incubated for 1 hour at room temperature with secondary biotinylated antibodies (in 1% BSA-PBS-T for ChAT labelling and 5% NGS-PBS-T for VAChT labelling). Providers and dilutions of antibodies are available in **Supplemental Methods**. Following washes, sections were then incubated with a VECTASTAIN Elite ABC HRP kit (cat. no. PK-6100, Vector Laboratories, Burlingame, CA, USA), and the staining was visualized using DAB (6 mg/mL) and 1% H₂O₂ as a chromogen. The sections were mounted on gelatin-coated slides and dehydrated in ascending ethanol concentrations, cleared in xylene and coverslipped using Entellan mounting medium (cat. no. 107961, EMD; Millipore) and #1 coverslips.

2.2.8 Immunofluorescence (IF)

Sections were incubated at 80 °C in 10 mM citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 30 minutes then cooled for 20 minutes at RT. They were then washed with PBS and permeabilized using 50% ethanol for 20 minutes, followed by washes with PBS-T (containing 0.2% Triton-X-100), and blocked for 1 hour at RT in 10% NGS. The sections were then incubated with primary antibodies for 48 hours at 4 °C: NeuN, proNGF and vGluT1. After primary antibody incubation, sections were washed in PBS-T and incubated with Alexa Fluor secondary antibody for 2 hours RT. Provider and dilutions of antibodies are available in **Supplemental Methods**. The antigen retrieval was omitted for GAD65, TH, and TrkB immunostaining: sections were blocked in 10% Donkey Serum (NDS, RRID: AB_2337258) and donkey Alexa Fluor secondary antibodies. Following washes, sections were incubated for 5 minutes with 0.3% Sudan black in 70% ethanol to reduce autofluorescence. Sections were then washed three times for 5 minutes in PBS-T, then three times for 5 minutes in PBS before mounting onto gelatin-coated slides and coverslipped with Aqua-Poly/Mount (cat. no. 18606-100, Polysciences) and #1.5 coverslips.

2.2.9 Brightfield imaging and analysis

The ChAT and VAChT stained sections were imaged by bright-field microscopy using a 10x and 40x oil objective, respectively. Sections were imaged using Z-stacks with a Zeiss AxioImager M2

Imaging microscope equipped with an AxioCam 506 colour digital camera (Zeiss, Canada) and using Zeiss ZenPro software v.2.3 (Zeiss, Canada). For the ChAT quantification, thirteen sections per animal were chosen through the anterioposterior extent of the nb (cholinergic neurons in the internal globus pallidus innermost region; bregma -1.80 / -2.80 mm) and five sections for the Medial Septum/Ventral Diagonal Band (MS/VDB, bregma +1.00 / +0.48 mm). The neurons were manually counted (Cell Counter, Fiji software, Image J). For the VAChT+ terminals, three images were collected for each region (Frontal cortex 2, Frontal cortex 1 and Parietal cortex; **Figure 2-3B**), in three technical replicates, for a total of twenty-seven images per animal. Each image was taken in lamina IV-V, with a field of $315 \times 252.44 \,\mu\text{m}$ (bregma $+2.70 / +3.20 \,\text{mm}$). The steps to count the cholinergic varicosities (Fiji software) are illustrated in the flowchart (**Supplemental Figure 2-2**, following (Iulita et al., 2017)). The average size was expressed by the VAChT-IR area/count of cholinergic varicosities, and the circularity was calculated as $4pi(\text{Area})/(\text{Perimeter}^2)$ with a value from 0 to 1, where 1 indicates a perfect circle.

2.2.10 Confocal imaging and analyses

Images were acquired using a 63x oil HC LP APO objective in the parietal cortex (layer V) with a confocal microscope, Leica TCS SP8 (Leica, Canada) using the LAS X Software (Leica, Canada). Eight images per animal were collected in Z-stacks with an optical section of 0.896 µm and an interval of 1 µm (184.71 x 184.71 µm; resolution 1024x1024 for TrkA, TrkB, vGluT1, TH, GAD65, and 512x512 for proNGF). Images were imported to Fiji software (ImageJ) and slices were merged into one stack (stack/Z projection/Maximum Intensity Projection) for each channel. Briefly, to quantify the immunolabelling of TrkA and TH, we converted each micrograph to a binary image and measured the immunoreactive-area. For vGluT1, GAD65 and TrkB the intensity value was divided by the immunoreactive area which was generated by converting the image to a binary mask. For proNGF, the immunoreactivity was quantified by measuring the intensity that colocalized with NeuN. A detailed imaging processing is showed in **Supplemental Figure 2-2 and Supplemental Figure 2-3**. Images were processed and analyzed after blinding to treatment.

2.2.11 Statistical analysis

The software GraphPad Prism v8 (La Jolla, CA, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Data were displayed in columns showing individual values, means and SEM. Data normality was verified

with the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. If data obey assumptions of parametric statistics, a two-tailed unpaired t-test was used for 2-group comparisons, and the Welch's correction was applied for unequal variances. Whenever the values were all the same within the group (case of sessions number equal to 1), we performed the one-sample t-test. For more than two group comparisons, we performed a 2-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons. We excluded outliers with the Grubbs's test. Pearson correlation analysis was used to investigate associations between variables. If data did not obey the assumption of parametric statistics, the analysis was performed with nonparametric tests (Mann-Whitney test and Spearman correlation coefficient). We did not apply a correction for in the correlation matrix, instead all the P values were reported. For each experiment, the statistical analysis is specified in the figure legends and tables. Significance was set at p < 0.05.

2.3 <u>Results</u>

2.3.1 Lesion of the nb with 192-IgG SAP induced a loss of ChAT-immunoreactive neurons The immunotoxin-induced selective depletion of cholinergic neurons of the nb was confirmed by immunohistochemical analysis. The stereotaxic injection of 192-IgG SAP directly in the nb resulted in a significant loss of ChAT-immunoreactive (IR) neurons across all nb regions 6 months post-injection, as illustrated in (Figure 2-1B). Quantification of ChAT-IR neurons showed that the loss of cholinergic neurons was in the order of 71% for the antero-medial region and 79% for the posterior region of the nb (Figure 2-1C). Importantly, the procedure did not significantly affect the density of ChAT-IR neurons in MS/VDB projecting to the hippocampus, indicating that the cholinergic depletion was restricted to the nb (Supplemental Figure 2-1).





(A) Schematic representation of the experimental design: 192-IgG-SAP was stereotactically injected in 2.5 month-old rats (n=9 controls, 4 males and 5 females; n=12 Saporin-injected, 5 males and 7 females). Following 6 months of ageing post-injection, rats were submitted to behavioural

testing before being sacrified at 10 months. (B) Photomicrographs display ChAT-IR in the anterior, medial and posterior nb from Sal-treated and SAP-treated rats. Low magnification scale bar is 500 μ m; high magnification scale bar is 50 μ m. (C) Table summarizing quantification of ChAT-IR neurons in the anteriormedial and posterior nb regions. Data analysis: Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=11. Anterior-medial region, unpaired t-test, t=11.67, df=18. Posterior region, unpaired t-test with Welch's correction, t=13.51, df=8.596; total quantification, Mann Whitney test , U = 0. The P values are reported in the table. Abbreviations: Sal, saline injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected; nb, Nucleus Basalis; ChAT, choline acetyltransferase.

2.3.2 Cognitive impairment following long-term lesion of the nb

Given the well-established participation of BFCNs in cognitive function, we then investigated the impact of significant cholinergic neuron loss induced by 192-IgG-SAP on sustained attention (Sarter et al., 2001) using the widely used 5-choice task (Robbins, 2002, Bari et al., 2008). In each daily session of the 5-choice task, animals performed a maximum of 200 trials in which they responded with a nose-poke to a brief visual stimulus presented randomly in one of the five apertures. In our test design, the animals were individually moved to a more difficult stage when they reached a defined number of correct responses and few missed trials in a daily session (the criteria were set as described in **Supplemental Table 2-1**). If the rats did not reach the criterion to pass, they would perform the session again on the following day. Therefore, a larger number of sessions in the same stage indicates an attentional impairment.

In the first two testing stages, with a light stimulus duration (SD) of 60 and 25 sec, respectively, both experimental groups required a similar number of sessions to reach the criterion and move to the next stage (**Figure 2-2A**). Subsequently, in stage 3, in conditions of increased attentional demand, when SD was reduced to 10 sec, along with variable intervals of light and reducing the response time limit to 5 sec, the SAP-immunolesioned group showed an attentional impairment requiring a significantly higher number of sessions to complete the test compared to the Sal-treated group (**Figure 2-2A**). In the following stage 4, in which the SD was reduced to 5 sec, the two experimental groups performed similarly (**Figure 2-2A**). However, the introduction of an extra challenge (a time-out of 5 sec following an incorrect response) in the last testing stage, required a significantly higher number of sessions to the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the Sal-treated a significantly higher number of sessions to the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the Sal-treated challenge (a time-out of 5 sec following an incorrect response) in the last testing stage, required a significantly higher number of sessions to the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the Sal-treated group to reach the criterion (**Figure 2-2A**) indicating again a deficit in tasks with high attentional demand.

To evaluate the overall attentional performance of the two groups, the correct responses and omissions for each stage were combined in a global score with a higher score indicating better performance. As expected, we found that the global score was significantly higher in the Saltreated group compared to the SAP-immunolesioned group (**Figure 2-2C**; representative image of the performance in **Figure 2-2B**).



Figure 2-2. Long-term nb cholinergic neuron depletion induced cognitive deficits in the 5choice task.

(A) Table showing the daily session number required by the rats in each stage to reach the criterion. The P values, mean and SEM are reported in the table. Data analysis: Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=12. Stage 1, unpaired t-test, t=0.6073, df=18; stage 2, one-sample t-test, t = 1.5000, df = 9. Stage 3, One sample t-test, t = 2.3905, df = 10. Stage 4, Mann Whitney test, U = 42.50. Stage 5, One sample t-test, t = 2.7530, df = 9. (B) Representative image of all 5-choice task stages. (C) The global score is a combination of the overall 5-choice task cognitive performance (see **Methods**); Mann Whitney test, P = 0.0339 *, U = 24.

2.3.3 Long-term lesion of the nb induced loss and morphological changes of VAChT-IR terminals in frontal and parietal cortices.

Given the significant loss of ChAT-IR neurons of the nb in the SAP-immunolesioned group and the resulting attentional deficits, we then assessed the number and morphology of cortical cholinergic VAChT-IR presynaptic boutons in the frontal and parietal cortices (**Figure 2-3B**). As expected, the number of cholinergic varicosities was reduced in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the Sal-treated group in frontal cortex 2 (Fr2), frontal cortex 1 (Fr1) with the highest loss in the parietal cortex (Par) (**Figure 2-3C**, **A**). On the other hand, the average size of the VAChT-IR varicosities increased in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the Sal-treated group in all three cortical areas (**Figure 2-3D**, **A**). In addition, the cholinergic pre-synaptic boutons in the Par cortex appeared significantly more round in SAP-immunolesioned as compared to the Saltreated group (**Figure 2-3E**, **A**).

Overall, the Par cortex was the most affected cortical area and displayed greater loss of VAChT-IR synaptic boutons as well as morphological changes in the remaining VAChT-IR synaptic boutons.



Figure 2-3. Cortical VAChT-IR terminals were reduced and showed morphological changes following nb demise.

(A) Micrographs illustrating VAChT-IR terminals at different cortical regions (scalebar 50 μ m); and the high magnifications showing morphological differences of cholinergic pre-synaptic boutons among experimental groups (scalebar 5 μ m). (B) Schematic representation of the investigated frontal (Fr2, Fr1) and parietal (Par) cortical regions. (C) The three cortical areas analysed in the SAP-immunolesioned group showed a reduction of VAChT-IR varicosities

compared to the Sal-treated group. 2-way-ANOVA: main effect cortical region (P<0.0001, F (1.734, 27.75) = 45.01; main effect immunolesion (P<0.0001, F (1, 17) = 118.7); interaction (P<0.0001, F (2, 32) = 51.99). Bonferroni's multiple comparisons; Fr2 P = 0.0006, t = 4.779, DF =15.96; Fr1 P<0.0001, t=14.30, DF=16.00; Par P<0.0001, t=15.00, DF=15.95. (D) A significant increase of cholinergic terminal size was reported in all three cortical regions. 2-way-ANOVA: main effect immunolesion (P<0.0001, F (1, 18) = 35.96, DF = 1); main effect cortical region (P= 0.111, F (1.250, 22.49) = 2.659, DF = 1); interaction (0.5278, F (2, 36) = 0.6505, DF = 2). Bonferroni's multiple comparisons: Fr2 P=0.003, t =3.981, DF =16.45; Fr1 P= 0.0004, t =5.122, DF = 14.96; Par P < 0.0001, t = 9.303, DF = 15.08. (E) Graph showing the roundness of the varicosities was affected only in the Par cortex of the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the control group. 2-way-ANOVA; main effect cortical region (P<0.0001, F (1.942, 34.96) = 26.08, DF = 2); interaction (P<0.0001, F (2, 36) = 11.98, DF = 2); main effect immunolesion (P= 0.064, F(1, 18) = 3.888, DF = 1). Bonferroni's multiple comparisons: Fr2 P>0.999, t = 0.6942, DF = 17.50; Fr1 P= 0.278, t = 1.777, DF = 17.83; Par P= 0.012, t = 3.303, DF = 17.12. For all the analyses Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=11. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected, VAChT, Vesicular acetylcholine transporter; Fr2, Frontal Cortex 2; Fr1, Frontal Cortex 1; Par, Parietal Cortex.

2.3.4 Long-term immunolesion of the nb did not impact the NGF metabolic pathway

We next examined the impact of a partial lesion of the nb on the cortical NGF metabolic pathway, and on the NGF receptor TrkA, as NGF is essential for BFCNs phenotypic maintenance.

As expected, the loss of cortical VAChT-IR in the SAP-immunolesioned group was accompanied by a loss of Par cortex TrkA receptors in the axonal terminals projecting from BFCNs (Holtzman et al., 1995) (**Figure 2-4A, F**). Since TrkA receptor density is regulated by NGF (Venero et al., 1994, Gibbs and Pfaff, 1994, Figueiredo et al., 1995), we measured expression and protein levels of precursor and mNGF. No differences in cortical NGF transcript expression were found between SAP-immunolesioned and Sal-treated groups (**Figure 2-4B**). The protein levels of mNGF were measured by WB with an extraction protocol (**see Supplemental Methods**) adapted to the low amount present in the brain (Bruno and Cuello, 2006) and no significant difference between SAPimmunolesioned and Sal-treated group was observed (**Figure 2-4C**).

Furthermore, we investigated levels of proNGF, and two proNGF-IR bands were detected (**Figure 2-4J**). We investigated whether the levels of the 32 kDa isoform, representing the post-translationally modified form (Reinshagen et al., 2000), and the 27 kDa band, corresponding to the unprocessed proNGF were different in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the controls and whether one isoform was more affected than the other. Neither the proNGF 27 and 32 kDa isoforms, showed differences in their levels in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the Saltreated group (**Figure 2-4D**). We confirmed our result measuring the overall levels of proNGF by IF in the Par cortex (**Figure 2-4E, F**). We also assessed whether Neuroserpin, a key enzyme of the NGF metabolic pathway, was impacted. Neuroserpin regulates the conversion of proNGF to mNGF (Bruno and Cuello, 2006). The native isoform at 55 kDa, the cleaved isoform at 45 kDa and the active isoform (Yepes and Lawrence, 2004) were measured by WB (**Figure 2-4J**). There were no differences in neuroserpin transcripts nor in the two protein isoforms between SAP-immunolesioned and Sal-treated groups (**Figure 2-4 G-I**).

Overall, we confirmed a loss of TrkA due to the immunolesion but in contrast to our expectations, there were no changes in proNGF and mNGF levels.

2.3.5 Long-term immunolesion of the nb impacted cortical BDNF RNA and protein levels. Since BFCNs show widespread expression of BDNF in their target cortical and hippocampal areas (Phillips et al., 1990) and regulate BDNF levels in the hippocampus (Gil-Bea et al., 2011, Kokaia et al., 1996), we investigated cortical BDNF gene expression and protein levels following nb immunolesion. BDNF gene expression was significantly decreased in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the Sal-treated group (**Figure 2-5A**). Then, we assessed protein levels of the two BDNF precursor isoforms and mature BDNF, detectable by WB in the human (Michalski and Fahnestock, 2003b) and rat brains (Iulita et al., 2017). The molecular bands at 40 and 32 kDa, representing the proBDNF, were unchanged between SAP-immunolesioned and control group (**Figure 2-5B, C**). However, the 14 kDa band, corresponding to mBDNF, was significantly reduced in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the BDNF receptor TrkB in the Par cortex were comparable in the two groups (**Figure 2-5E, F**).



Figure 2-4. Nb immunolesion did not impact cortical gene expression and protein levels of NGF.

(A) Cortical levels of TrkA showed a reduction in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the Saltreated group (P <0.0001, t=8.112, df=9.430). (B-E) mRNA cortical levels of NGF were not altered in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the controls (P = 0.4620, t=0.7517, df=18) nor protein levels assessed by western blot of mNGF (P = 0.3702, U = 37), proNGF 32 kDa (P = 0.5292, t=0.6409, df=19), proNGF 27 kDa (P = 0.1212, t=1.622, df=19), and proNGF measured by IF (P = 0.5543, t=0.6027, df=18. (F) Representative images of IF for proNGF (scale bar 50 μ m) and TrkA (scale bar 12 μ m). (G-J) No changes in mRNA levels of Neuroserpin (P = 0.1752, t=1.456, df=10.29) and protein levels of Neuroserpin 55 kDa and 45 kDa were found (respectively P =0.5348, t=0.6322, df=19; P =0.1127, t=1.663, df=19). Data analysis: For WB/PCR analyses

Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=12, for IF analyses Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=11. An unpaired t-test was performed for all comparisons, except for protein levels of mNGF in which the Mann Whitney test was performed. An unpaired t-test with Welch's correction was applied to compare TrkA and Neuroserpin mRNA levels. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected; mRNA, messenger RNA; WB, western blot; mNGF, mature Nerve Growth Factor; proNGF, precursor NGF; TrkA, Tropomyosin receptor kinase A.



Figure 2-5. Expression of BDNF and mBDNF protein levels were downregulated following nb depletion.

(A) Cortical mRNA levels of BDNF were reduced in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the controls (P = 0.014, t=2.707, df=19). (B) Levels of proBDNF 40 kDa and 32 kDa were not significantly different between the two groups (respectively, P = 0.178, t=1.398, df=19 and P = 0.153, t=1.488, df=19). (C) Representative WB images of proBDNF and mBDNF. (D) mBDNF protein levels were significantly reduced in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the controls (P = 0.0004, t=4.284, df=19) (E) Cortical levels of TrkB assessed by IF did not show any difference between SAP-immunolesioned and Sal-treated (P = 0.940, U = 48). (F) Representative images of IF for TrkB in the Par (scale bar 50 µm). Data analysis: For WB/PCR analyses Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=12, for IF TrkB, Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=11. An unpaired t-test was performed for all comparisons, except for TrkB protein levels which was assessed by Mann Whitney test. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected; WB, western blot; BDNF; Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; TrkB, Tropomyosin receptor kinase B.

2.3.6 Long-term immunolesion of the nb impacted expression of glutamatergic and GABAergic neuronal markers.

Similar to cholinergic neurons, glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons are dysregulated in the ADlike amyloid pathology showing an initial upregulation in presynaptic bouton density followed by a sharp decline (Wong et al., 1999). However, in an AD-like amyloidosis model, glutamatergic and GABAergic synaptic compromise appears later, after the cholinergic synaptic loss as the pathology progresses (Bell et al., 2003, Bell et al., 2006).

Aged rats exhibiting cognitive impairment revealed reduced cortical cholinergic synaptic bouton density and an altered ratio of excitatory/inhibitory inputs (Casu et al., 2002, Wong et al., 1998, Wong et al., 2006). To investigate whether 6-months post-cholinergic depletion decreases glutamatergic synapses, we measured levels of vesicular glutamate transporter 1 (vGluT1) in the rat cerebral Par cortex (Minelli et al., 2003) as this transporter is required for exocytic glutamate release at presynaptic terminals (Fremeau Jr et al., 2004). We also measured in the Par cortex levels of glutamate decarboxylase 65 (GAD65) which reveals GABAergic terminals (Esclapez et al., 1994). Additionally, as a primary metabolite of dopamine (DOPAC) was found to be upregulated 7 days after a cholinergic depletion (Waite et al., 1994), in agreement with the catecholaminergic–cholinergic balance hypothesis (reviewed in (van Enkhuizen et al., 2015)), we investigated the levels of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), a marker of catecholaminergic terminals and neurons. We found a significant reduction of vGluT1 (**Figure 2-6A, B**) and GAD65 (**Figure 2-6A, C**) in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the Sal-treated group and a trend toward upregulation of cortical TH terminals in the SAP-immunolesioned group (**Figure 2-6A, D**).



Figure 2-6. Nb cholinergic immunolesion impacted cortical glutamatergic and GABAergic markers.

(A) Representative micrographs of vGluT1, GAD65 and TH in the parietal cortex layer V (Scale bar 50 μ m for vGluT1 and GAD65, 25 μ m for TH). (B,C) Protein levels of vGluT1 (P=0.0158; t=2.665, df=18) and GAD65 (P=0.0441; t=2.174, df=17) were reduced in the SAP-immunolesioned as compared to the controls. (D) TH showed a trend towards increase (P=0.0624; t=1.986, df=18) following nb cholinergic immunolesion. Data analysis: Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=11. Unpaired t-tests were performed for all comparisons. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected; Par, Parietal cortex; vGluT1, Vesicular glutamate transporter 1;

GAD65, glutamic acid decarboxylase 65; TH, Tyrosine Hydroxylase; MIP, Maximum Intensity Projection; nb, Nucleus basalis.

2.3.7 Cholinergic markers correlate with global score and BDNF levels

We investigated whether the reduction of the global score and BDNF levels correlated with cholinergic depletion of the nb. Interestingly, the numbers of ChAT-IR neurons and VAChT-IR terminals in the most affected areas (Par and Fr1) showed significant positive correlations with the global score, and mBDNF, (**Figure 2-7, Supplemental Table 2-2**); as well with BDNF transcript expression (**Supplemental Table 2-2**). In addition, vGluT1, showed a trend towards a positive correlation with ChAT-IR neurons (P = 0.075) and with mBDNF (P = 0.082) (**Supplemental Table 2-2**).



Figure 2-7. Correlation between VAChT-IR synapses and ChAT-IR neurons with global score and mBDNF.

VAChT-IR in the frontal and parietal cortical areas as well as ChAT-IR neurons of the nb revealed significant positive correlations with global score and mBDNF. All the correlations are reported in the **Supplemental Table 2-2.** For mBDNF and global score Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=12, for VAChT and ChAT, Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=11. Abbreviations: VAChT, Vesicular acetylcholine transporter; Fr2, Frontal Cortex 2; Fr1, Frontal Cortex 1; Par, Parietal Cortex; nb, Nucleus Basalis; ChAT, choline acetyltransferase; mBDNF, mature Brain-derived neurotrophic factor.

C. Orciani 2022

2.4 Discussion

The basal forebrain cholinergic system plays a major role in higher CNS functions and its atrophy in AD contributes to cognitive impairment (reviewed in (Giacobini, 2003, Giacobini et al., 2022)).

Historically, experimental basal forebrain cholinergic denervation has contributed to understanding its physiological functions and participation in neurodegenerative conditions. Initial basal forebrain cholinergic studies were carried out with mechanical and chemical lesions (reviewed in (Smith, 1988, Pepeu and Pepeu, 1994) and later replaced by a more selective immune-toxicity approach by the intracerebral injection of 192-IgG-SAP. This approach targets BFCNs selectively without affecting the non-cholinergic component or the rodent cholinergic interneurons (reviewed in (Petrosini et al., 2014)). Several studies have addressed the effects of 192-IgG-SAP injections on brain neurotrophins (Gu et al., 1998, Yu et al., 1996, Gil-Bea et al., 2011, Kokaia et al., 1996). However, in these reports the cholinergic denervation was achieved by an intracerebroventricular (ICV) administration of 192-IgG-SAP, affecting the hippocampus, olfactory bulb and cerebellum, with many off-target effects. In addition, they showed a transient change in neurotrophins forms and rendering a combined read-out of the two (Gu et al., 1998, Yu et al., 1996, Yu et al., 1996, Gil-Bea et al., 2011, Kokaia et al., 2019, Yu et al., 1996, Gil-Bea et al., 2011, Kokaia et al., 2012, Jia and Jia a

To clarify the impact of nb BFCNs on neurotrophin regulation and the characteristic cholinergic participation in attentional behaviour, we performed the selective immunolesion of the nb with 192-IgG-SAP. We focused on assessing attentional behavior as this component is highly dependent on cholinergic tone (Chudasama et al., 2004, Risbrough et al., 2002). Our studies demonstrated that a 6-month depletion of nb cholinergic neurons, rendered significant attentional deficits which were accompanied by a reduction of mature BDNF (mBDNF) and a loss of cortical neurotransmitter-specific markers, while NGF metabolism appeared to be preserved. Importantly, in these studies, the extent of cholinergic marker depletion correlated with the attentional deficits, the diminished BDNF levels and a reduction in glutamatergic markers.

2.4.1 Cognitive deficits and correlation with cholinergic terminals

Involvement of the nb in sustained attention, defined as continuous readiness to respond to unpredictable events (Wilkins et al., 1987, Sarter et al., 2001), has been previously established

(Lehmann et al., 2003, Dalley et al., 2004, Robbins et al., 1989, Baxter and Chiba, 1999, McGaughy et al., 2002, McGaughy and Sarter, 1998, Harati et al., 2008, Ljubojevic et al., 2018). The present study builds on these previous findings by providing evidence that depletion of nb cholinergic neurons provokes a long-lasting impairment on sustained attention, as detected with the 5-choice task even after 6 months post-lesion. Given the experimental conditions, in which there was no decrease in the stimulus duration within the sessions, it does not exclude that a learning component could have affected the 5-choice task performance of the SAP-immunolesioned rats.

A more extensive lesion of the nb (>90%) could have had a larger effect on sustained attention; however, an extended immunolesion would have, inevitably, depleted the cholinergic neurons of the neighbouring MS/VDB nuclei. Although cholinergic MS/VDB neurons are not essential for attention (Lehmann et al., 2003), their depletion may affect spatial behavior in the 5-choice test since they project to the hippocampus (Gaykema et al., 1990, Woolf et al., 1984). Such neurons are also involved in learning and memory (Frielingsdorf et al., 2006, Baxter and Gallagher, 1996, Shen et al., 1996). For these reasons, we have purposely chosen to perform an immunolesion restricted to the nb. The 5-choice task correlates well with attentional tasks performed in humans; in particular, as shown by the continuous performance test (CPT) and sustained attention to respond task (SART) (Conners et al., 2003, Robertson et al., 1997) which accurately reveal sustained attention decline during early stages of AD (Huntley et al., 2017, Saunders and Summers, 2011). Furthermore, we found that the global attentional impairment not only correlates with depletion of ChAT-IR neuronal cell bodies, as previously demonstrated by applying the 5-choice task paradigm (McGaughy et al., 2002), but also with the diminished density of cortical cholinergic presynaptic elements in the cerebral cortex, as revealed by VAChT-IR varicosities. Recent studies have been monitoring the density of cholinergic presynaptic elements in vivo by applying the VAChT PET tracer 18F-fluoroethoxybenzovesamicol (FEOBV) in clinical studies (Petrou et al., 2014, Aghourian et al., 2017, Albin et al., 2018). FEOBV prevailed over an amyloid-beta (¹⁸F-NAV4694) and a glucose metabolism tracer (¹⁸F-Fluorodeoxyglucose), to distinguish AD patients from controls showing significant correlations with cognitive scores (Aghourian et al., 2017). This indicates that VAChT could serve as a possible biomarker of early AD diagnosis.

2.4.2 Lack of changes in the NGF metabolic pathway

Several studies showed a transient total NGF upregulation which returns to physiological levels following a fimbria-fornix transaction, hippocampal lesion and selective partial nb lesion (Korsching et al., 1986, Gu et al., 1998, Yu et al., 1996, Hellweg et al., 1997). However, no changes in NGF expression nor the protein level of the precursor and bioactive NGF were found after a 6-month cholinergic immune-toxin lesion of the nb.

As expected, the partial immunolesion of the nb involving 75% of cholinergic neurons led to a reduction of VAChT-IR terminals of 27, 44 and 58% in Fr2, Fr1 and Par cortex respectively. This result was consistent with the loss of cholinergic fibers reported for the corresponding areas in human AD brains (Geula and Mesulam, 1996, Geula and Mesulam, 1989, Geula et al., 2021).

There is a possibility that a long-term reduction of ACh release alone does not significantly impact the NGF metabolic pathway, and likely requires additional disruptive mechanisms (such as accumulation of intracellular A β). An aspect which would be in agreement with our previous study in aged cognitively impaired rats (Bruno and Cuello, 2012). The application of A β oligomers *per se* have shown to be sufficient to induce a NGF metabolic pathway dysregulation (Bruno et al., 2009a).

Interestingly, in MCI brains, that already present dysregulation in the NGF metabolic pathway (reviewed in (Florencia Iulita and Claudio Cuello, 2016)) also have an upregulation of cholinergic markers (DeKosky et al., 2002, Ikonomovic et al., 2003). Furthermore, transient upregulation of cholinergic fibers has also been shown at early stages of the AD-like amyloid pathology in transgenic models (reviewed in (Bell and Cuello, 2006)). In addition, an assessment of cortical synaptic density in MCI and AD brains has shown a significant decrease in synaptic number compensated by an enlargement of synaptic size (Scheff et al., 1990, Scheff et al., 2007). This phenomenon has been interpreted as a compensatory mechanism balancing increasingly toxic amyloid β protein levels (Bell et al., 2006) as it has been reported in APP transgenic animal models before plaque formation (Wong et al., 1999, Mucke et al., 1994, Hernandez et al., 2001).

2.4.3 Impact on BDNF and cortical neuronal markers

In this study, we reported that long-term loss of the nb induces a decrease of BDNF mRNA without changes in NGF mRNA, which has been widely documented in AD brains (Phillips et al., 1991,

Holsinger et al., 2000, Goedert et al., 1986, Fahnestock et al., 1996). Such a difference between BDNF and NGF mRNA expression has also be reported in a rat model of the pre-AD-like amyloid pathology (Iulita et al., 2017). Interestingly, AD post-mortem analyses suggested that mBDNF is present in lower amounts in the cortex than proBDNF and decreases more sharply than proBDNF in the prodromal stages of AD (Peng et al., 2005). Furthermore, consistent with human studies (Peng et al., 2005, Buchman et al., 2016, Fahnestock et al., 2002), we observed that reduction in BDNF correlated with cognitive deficits, BDNF mRNA and mBDNF protein levels.

Reduced expression and protein levels of mBDNF in SAP-immunolesioned rats, may be responsible for depletion of cortical neurotransmitter markers other than the cholinergic system, as proposed in **Figure 2-8**.



Figure 2-8. Schematic of the BDNF mechanism in wild-type and with nb cholinergic depletion.

Under normal conditions of ACh release (left panel), BDNF is normally transcribed, translated and released in the extracellular space as proBDNF, where it is converted to mBDNF. mBDNF binds the high-affinity TrkB receptor, triggering signalling cascades responsible for neuron plasticity and LTP. A long-term lack of ACh (right panel), could lead to a reduction of BDNF transcription and conversion to mBDNF. Although TrkB levels are not compromised, markers of glutamatergic (vGluT1) and GABAergic (GAD65) may be downregulated by the lack of trophic support. Legend arrows: discontinued arrows show the pathways participating. Arrows with question mark indicate other possible pathways activated by ACh. Abbreviations: ACh, Acetylcholine; BDNF; Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; proBDNF, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; mBDNF, mature Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; TrkA, Tropomyosin receptor kinase A, TrkB, Tropomyosin receptor kinase B; vGluT1, Vesicular glutamate transporter 1; GAD65, glutamic acid decarboxylase 65.
Post-synaptic muscarinic receptors are localized in glutamatergic and GABAergic neurons, and on dendritic shafts (M1 in particular) and spines (Hersch and Levey, 1995, Sarter et al., 2009). In contrast, the M2 receptor appears to be located in cholinergic pre-synaptic sites likely suppressing neurotransmitter release (Hounsgaard, 1978, de Sevilla et al., 2002, Mrzljak et al., 1993, Salgado et al., 2007). ACh has the potential to increase the excitability of glutamatergic neurons (McCormick and Prince, 1985, Desai and Walcott, 2006, Metherate et al., 1988) and it is very well-known that neuronal activity increases BDNF expression (Ernfors et al., 1991, Isackson et al., 1991, Castrén et al., 1998, Zafra et al., 1990). The cooperation of glutamatergic and cholinergic input may be responsible for BDNF regulation (Navakkode and Korte, 2012) in cortical and hippocampal neurons. mBDNF, binding to autocrine and paracrine TrkB receptors (Horch et al., 1998)) as well as on interneurons (Ohba et al., 2005, Sakata et al., 2009).

On the other hand, we did not find changes in TrkB receptor levels. Interestingly, studies in BDNF knock-out mice (He et al., 2004) and post-mortem analyses on AD brains (Boissière et al., 1997, Savaskan et al., 2000, Michalski et al., 2015) reported diminished expression of BDNF compared to controls, in absence of alteration in TrkB. This could be explained by the known ligand promiscuity of TrkB receptors that, besides BDNF, could be activated by NT-4/5 (Bothwell, 1995); in addition, TrkB could be activated by BDNF-independent transactivating mechanisms (Rantamäki et al., 2011, Di Lieto et al., 2012).

The reduction of the glutamatergic (vGluT1) and GABAergic (GAD65) markers we observed might be a secondary consequence to the diminished levels of BDNF as suggested by other studies (Melo et al., 2013, Sanchez-Huertas and Rico, 2011).

2.5 <u>Conclusions</u>

Our study supports the notion of a neuroprotective role of cholinergic neurotransmission in the adult and fully differentiated cerebral cortex. We showed that long-lasting cholinergic deprivation negatively affects cognitive performance, and decreases levels of BDNF, GABAergic and glutamatergic markers. Of significance, the long-term cholinergic component does not appear to affect NGF biosynthesis as it is the case of AD pathology, thus highlighting the important role of NGF regulation in AD.

2.6 <u>Conflict of interest</u>

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interests.

2.7 <u>Acknowledgments</u>

We would like to thank Dr. Veronika Zlatkina and Dr. Michael Petrides for permission to use the five-hole operant boxes; Refilwe Mpai in explaining the use of the FiveChoice program. We also thank Dr. Alfredo Ribeiro Da Silva for access to the Zeiss AxioImager M2 Imaging microscope. We acknowledge the McGill Microscope Facility Advanced BioImaging *Facility* (ABIF) in particular, Dr. Joel Ryan for the technical support and data analysis. We thank Agustina Lavagna for the schematic illustrating our proposed mechanism. CO was the holder of the Associazione Levi-Montalcini fellowship. HH was a recipient of a Fonds de Recherche du Quebec-Sante postdoctoral fellowship. RP was the recipient of a Student Fellowship from the McGill Integrated Program in Neuroscience and CIHR Doctoral Award. MKF was the recipient of a CIHR Doctoral Award. SDC is the holder of the Charles E. Frosst/Merck Research Associate position. ACC is the holder of the McGill University Charles E. Frosst/Merck Chair in Pharmacology and a member of the Canadian Consortium of Neurodegeneration in Aging.

2.8 <u>Supplemental methods</u>

5-CSRTT training phase

In the first phase, each rat was located for 20 minutes in a single box where ten reward pellets were placed in the food tray and two pellets in each of the five apertures. During this session, all five stimulus lights, the house light and the tray light remained illuminated. The training phase was repeated until the rats ate all the pellets provided. In a second phase, rats received two food magazine training sessions of 20 minutes each, in which one food pellet/min was delivered. The house-light was turned on during this phase. The training phase lasted seven days.

Extraction protocol mNGF

Fifty μ l of homogenized tissue was added 200 μ l of methanol, 50 μ l of chloroform and 150 μ l of water. The solution was centrifuged at 13,000 g for 5 minutes at room temperature. The upper aqueous phase was discarded. Subsequently, 200 μ l of methanol was added, the solution was vortexed and centrifuged at 13,000 g for 5 minutes. The pellet (100 μ g of protein) was collected and resuspended in denaturing buffer (6 M urea, 1 mM EDTA, 50 mM TEAB pH 8.5). The concentrated protein was used for western blots as described in the methods section.

gene	primer	Sequence $5' \rightarrow 3'$	T Annealing
NGF	Fw	CAA CAG GAC TCA CAG GAG CA	56.0
	Rev	GTC CGT GGC TGT GGT CTT AT	
BDNF	Fw	GCG GCA GAT AAA AAG ACT GC	61.8
	Rev	GCA GCC TTC CTT CGT GTA AC	
Neuroserpin	Fw	ATG AGG CTG GTG GCA TCT AC	54.5
	Rev	GAT CAG CTG TGG TTT GAG CA	
GAPDH	Fw	TGA TGG GTG TGA ACC ACG AG	56.0
	Rev	TCA TGA GCC CTT CCA CGA TG	
Beta-Actin	Fw	AGC CAT GTA CGT AGC CAT CC	56.0
	Rev	CTC TCA GCT GTG GTG GTG AA	

Primers for qPCR

Antibodies (Ab)

Primary Ab	Supplier	Conc.	Secondary RRID*		Supplier	Conc.
WB			110			
Anti- proNGF	ANT-005, Alomone	1:2000	Goat anti- rabbit- HRP	RRID:AB_2040 021	Jackson Immunoresear ch	1:10,000
Anti-NGF	Ab9795, Abcam	1:1500	Goat anti- rabbit- HRP	RRID:AB_2966 26	Jackson Immunoresear ch	1:10,000
Anti- Neuroserp in	Ab33077, Abcam	1:4000	Goat anti- rabbit- HRP	RRID:AB_9562 93	Jackson Immunoresear ch	1:10,000
Anti- BDNF	Ab108319 , Abcam	1:2000	Goat anti- rabbit- HRP	RRID:AB_1086 2052	Jackson Immunoresear ch	1:10,000
Anti- GAPDH	MAB374, Millipore	1:10,000	Goat anti- mouse- HRP	RRID:AB_2107 445	Jackson Immunoresear ch	1:10,000
IHC				-		
Anti- ChAT	AB144P, Millipore	1:1500	Horse anti- goat	RRID:AB_2079 751	Vector Laboratories	1:200
Anti- VAChT	139 103, SySy	1:8000	Goat anti- rabbit	RRID:AB_8878 64	Vector Laboratories	1:200
IF			1			
Anti-TrkA	AF1056- SP, R&D	1:70	Donkey anti-goat Alexa Fluor 647	RRID:AB_2283 049	Thermo Fisher Scientific	1:800
Anti-TrkB	AF1494- SP, R&D	1:100	Donkey anti-goat Alexa Fluor 647	RRID:AB_2155 264	Thermo Fisher Scientific	1:800
Anti- NeuN	ABN90P, Millipore	1:2000	Goat anti- guinea pig Alexa Fluor 647	RRID:AB_2341 095	Thermo Fisher Scientific	1:800
Anti- proNGF	Ab9040, Millipore	1:300	Goat anti- rabbit Alexa Fluor 568	RRID:AB_2621 75	Thermo Fisher Scientific	1:800
Anti- vGluT1	MediMabs	1:200	Goat anti- mouse Alexa Fluor 488	RRID:AB_1808 396	Thermo Fisher Scientific	1:800

Anti-	GAD6,	1:100	Donkey	RRID:AB_2314	Thermo Fisher	1:800
GAD65	DSHB**		anti-mouse	499	Scientific	
			Alexa Fluor			
			488			
Anti-TH	AB152,	1:2000	Donkey	RRID:AB_3902	Thermo Fisher	1:800
	Millipore		anti-rabbit	04	Scientific	
			Alexa Fluor			
			568			

* Research Resource Identifiers

** Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank

Testing stages		Daily	Session	Critarian Trials (Daily: Cassion	
	SD	ITI	LH	то	Criterion Trials/Daily Session
1	60 s	Fix	no	no	\geq 60 % correct, \leq 30 % omissions
2	25 s	Fix	no	no	\geq 60 % correct, \leq 30 % omissions
3	10 s	Variable	5 s	no	\geq 70 % correct, < 25 % omissions
4	5 s	Variable	5 s	no	\geq 70 % correct, < 25 % omissions
5	5 s	Variable	5 s	yes	\geq 70 % correct, < 25 % omissions

2.9 <u>Supplemental figures and tables</u>

Supplemental table 2-1. Testing stages of 5-choice task.

The conditions for the different stages and the criteria to reach in each daily session are reported. Each animal repeated the same session of 200 trials maximum until it reached the criterion to move to the next stage. Abbreviations: SD, stimulus duration; ITI, inter-trial interval; LH, limited hold; TO, incorrect time-out. Fix ITI was set at 1s; Variable ITI was set at 0.625, 2.812, 5.0, 7.188, 9.375s respectively.



Supplemental figure 2-1. Cholinergic cells of the Ms/VDB were not affected following immunolesion of the nb.

(A) Micrographs of ChAT-IR neurons in Ms and VDB (left) and localization according to the Paxinos and Watson Atlas (right). Scale bar 250 μ m. (B) No differences were found in the ChAT-IR cell count between the groups. Data analysis: Sal rats, n=6; SAP rats, n=6. Mann Whitney test, P = 0.6970, U = 12.50. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected; Ms, medial septum, VDB, vertical diagonal band.

C. Orciani 2022



Supplemental figure 2-2. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of VAChT, TrkA and proNGF.

Far right panels (C) indicate area images where binary black pixels were quantified. Abbreviations: VAChT, vesicular acetylcholine transporter; TrkA, Tropomyosin receptor kinase A; proNGF, precursor nerve growth factor.



Supplemental figure 2-3. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of TrkB, vGluT1, GAD65, TH.

Far right panels (C) indicate area images where binary black pixels were quantified. Abbreviations: TrkB, Tropomyosin receptor kinase B; vGluT1, Vesicular glutamate transporter 1; GAD65, glutamic acid decarboxylase 65; TH, *Tyrosine Hydroxylase*.

	ChAT neurons	VAChT Par	VAChT Fr1	VAChT Fr2	global score	mRNA BDNF	mBDNF	vGluT1	GAD65
ChAT neurons	p = 0 r = 1								
VAChT Par	p = ≤ 0.0001 r = 0.83	p = 0 r = 1							
VAChT Fr1	p = ≤ 0.0001 r = 0.88	p = ≤ 0.0001 r = 0.96	p = 0 r = 1						
VAChT Fr2	p = 0.00033 r = 0.72	p = ≤ 0.0001 r = 0.88	p = ≤ 0.0001 r = 0.88	p = 0 r = 1					
global score	p = 0.015 r = 0.53	p = 0.011 r = 0.56	p = 0.023 r = 0.51	p = 0.068 r = 0.42	p = 0 r = 1				
mRNA BDNF	p = 0.019 r = 0.52	p = 0.022 r = 0.51	p = 0.014 r = 0.54	p = 0.215 r = 0.29	p = 0.144 r = 0.33	p = 0 r = 1			
mBDNF	p = 0.0016 r = 0.66	p = 0.0017 r = 0.66	p = 0.00061 r = 0.70	p = 0.0011 r = 0.68	p = 0.511 r = 0.15	p = 0.061 r = 0.42	p = 0 r = 1		
vGluT1	p = 0.075 r = 0.41	p = 0.135 r = 0.35	-	-	p = 0.191 r = 0.31	p = 0.208 r = 0.29	p = 0.082 r = 0.40	p = 0 r = 1	
GAD65	p = 0.339 r = 0.23	p = 0.663 r = 0.10	(-)	-	p = 0.450 r = -0.18	p = 0.582 r = -0.13	p = 0.779 r = -0.07	p = 0.810 r = -0.06	p = 0 r = 1

Supplemental table 2-2. Correlation between cholinergic markers, global score and BDNF.

Unadjusted correlations between all variables showing a significant reduction following cholinergic loss in the nb and demonstrate the intercorrelation between cholinergic markers (in blue) global score, BDNF mRNA and mBDNF (in green). Relationships where p < 0.05 are bolded. (–) indicate that vGluT1 and GAD65 were analysed in the parietal but not in the frontal cortices. Data analysis: Sal rats, n=9; SAP rats, n=12 for all analyses besides IHC/IF in which SAP rats, n=11. Pearson correlation analysis was applied to investigate associations between all the variables except for ChAT neurons, VAChT Par, VAChT Fr2 and global score, for which Spearman correlations were calculated. Abbreviations: ChAT, choline acetyltransferase; VAChT, Vesicular acetylcholine transporter; Fr2, Frontal Cortex 2; Fr1, Frontal Cortex 1; Par, Parietal Cortex; BDNF; Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; mBDNF, mature Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; vGluT1, Vesicular glutamate transporter 1; GAD65, glutamic acid decarboxylase 65.

Connecting text: Chapter 2 to 3

In Chapter 2, we investigated whether a long-term specific immunolesion of the nucleus basalis (nb) affects neurotrophins, cortical neuronal markers and cognition in Wistar rats. Our studies demonstrated an attentional deficit accompanied by a reduction of cortical markers of glutamatergic (vGluT1), and GABAergic (GAD65) neurons. Furthermore, we found that the cholinergic nb loss produced differential effects on neurotrophin availability with a reduction in BDNF expression and mature BDNF levels without affecting NGF. Additionally, cholinergic markers correlated with the attentional deficit and BDNF. Finally, we proposed that BDNF dysregulation, consequent to the nb loss, could be responsible for the loss of neuronal markers and cognitive impairment.

Subsequently, since basal forebrain cholinergic neurons are known to regulate vascular tone and cerebral blood flow regulating multiple processes and making synapses with multiple cell types, we explored the effect of cholinergic nb loss on the neurovascular unit. We hypothesized that cholinergic synapses would influence vessel diameters, vascular endothelial growth factor A, and the density of astrocytes and microglia cells in the cerebral cortex. The results of this investigation will be presented in the next chapter of this Thesis.

CHAPTER 3

Long-term nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion affects cortical vessels, Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor-A and glial cells in Wistar rats

Chiara Orciani, Sonia Do Carmo, Morgan K Foret, A. Claudio Cuello

Manuscript in preparation for submission

Abstract

Cholinergic innervation of cerebral blood vessels is important for the regulation of vascular tone and cerebral blood flow. Basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (BFCNs) provide the major source of cholinergic innervation to the basal forebrain and degenerate early in Alzheimer's disease (AD) progression. BFCNs synapses are localized in proximity of cortical cerebral blood vessels and represent the intrinsic innervation of the neurovascular unit (NVU), as they form synapses on different cell types of the NVU such as vascular smooth muscle cells, endothelial cells, and astrocytic end-feet. However, whether the multiple cell types of the NVU are affected by BFCN input remains unknown. To address this question, we immunolesioned the nucleus basalis (nb), a basal forebrain cholinergic nucleus projecting mainly to the cortex, by bilateral stereotaxic injection of the cholinergic immunotoxin 192-IgG-Saporin in 2.5-month-old Wistar rats. Postmortem brain analyses, at 7 months post-lesion, revealed that a reduction of cortical vesicular acetylcholine transporter-immunoreactive boutons was accompanied by a reduction in the average diameter of capillaries and pre-capillary arterioles in the cortex and a decrease of vascular endothelial growth factor A expression and protein levels. Furthermore, the immunolesion significantly increased the density of astrocytes and microglia in the cortex. Astrocytic end-feet showed higher colocalization with arterioles following cholinergic immunolesion. In addition, microglia cells in the parietal cortex correlated with cholinergic loss and showed morphological changes indicative of an intermediate state of activation. Our findings demonstrate that cholinergic nb loss impairs vessels and different cell types belonging to the NVU.

C. Orciani 2022

3.1 Introduction

Basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (BFCNs) provide the major source of cholinergic innervation to the basal forebrain (Mesulam et al., 1983b, Mesulam et al., 1983a, Bigl et al., 1982, Struble et al., 1986) and play a crucial role in learning, memory and attention mechanisms (Drachman and Leavitt, 1974, Bartus, 1979, Everitt and Robbins, 1997, Ballinger et al., 2016, Zaborszky et al., 1999). BFCN synapses are involved in cerebral blood flow (CBF) regulation (De la Torre and Mussivan, 1993, de la Torre, 2004), which is fundamental to the functional activity of the brain (Iadecola, 2004). Indeed, initial studies demonstrated that acetylcholine (ACh), released by cholinergic neurons, affects vessel vasodilatation (Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980). It was later shown that BFCNs could regulate the vascular tone by forming synapses directly on vascular smooth muscles cells (SMCs), endothelial cells, pericytes or via astrocytic end-feet (Mulligan and MacVicar, 2004, Toribatake et al., 1997, Hamilton et al., 2010). All these cell types have ACh muscarinic receptors (mAChRs) in human and animal brains (Luiten et al., 1996, Garcia-Villalon et al., 1991, Elhusseiny et al., 1999, Furchgott and Zawadzki, 1980).

BFCN synapses are present in proximity of cortical cerebral blood vessels (Vaucher and Hamel, 1995, Tong and Hamel, 1999) and, along with neurons located in the locus coeruleus and the raphe nucleus, represent the intrinsic innervation of the neurovascular unit (NVU) (Hamel, 2006). The NVU is a structure connecting the brain parenchyma to the cerebral vasculature, composed of several cell types, such as endothelial cells, pericytes, SMCs, astrocytes, microglia, and neurons. The NVU is the main keeper of brain homeostasis. The NVU regulates the CBF to ensure that it meets the brain's energetic needs; it is the site of the blood-brain barrier (BBB), which controls the bidirectional trafficking of molecules (Iadecola, 2017). In addition, it is involved in the trafficking of immune cells and is the main conduit for removing potentially toxic by-products of brain metabolism, including β -amyloid and tau (Iadecola, 2017).

The gradual degeneration of BFCNs in aging, and their severe atrophy and loss in Alzheimer's disease (AD) pathology (Bowen et al., 1976, Davies and Maloney, 1976, Whitehouse et al., 1981), contribute significantly to cognitive impairment. In line with this, the cholinergic hypothesis suggests that dysfunction of BFCNs contributes considerably to the cognitive decline observed in the geriatric population (Bartus et al., 1982, Coyle et al., 1983, Cuello and Sofroniew, 1984,

Francis et al., 1999). In addition, the *vascular-cholinergic hypothesis* (reviewed in (De la Torre and Mussivan, 1993, de la Torre, 2004)) suggests that the loss of BFCNs, which are responsible for cerebral vasodilatation and CBF, could impair cerebral perfusion (Tong and Hamel, 1999), contributing to the etiology and the progression of AD.

This double involvement —on cognition and brain perfusion— of BFCNs in AD is further illustrated by the fact that four out of six FDA-approved drugs are acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEIs); drugs that improve the telencephalic cholinergic tone by blocking extracellular ACh degradation (Giacobini, 1987). Indeed, AChEIs not only offer transient cognitive relief even at advanced stages of AD (Giacobini et al., 2022), but they also increase perfusion in the posterior parietal-temporal and superior frontal cortex in individuals with AD (Geaney et al., 1990, Ebmeier et al., 1992). This effect on perfusion preceded the beneficial effects on glucose metabolism by months (Nordberg et al., 1998, Nordberg, 1999, Blin et al., 1997). In contrast, anticholinergic drugs such as Scopolamine, when given to young people, result in brain atrophy and cognitive decline, reducing cerebral perfusion by 20% in the frontal cortex (Honer et al., 1988).

The basal forebrain cholinergic system generated renewed interest since basal forebrain atrophy has been reported at prodromal stages of AD (Teipel et al., 2011). BFCNs atrophy precedes and predicts atrophy of the entorhinal and cerebral cortices (Schmitz et al., 2016) as well as the cortical spread of the AD pathology (Fernández-Cabello et al., 2020). At the same time, vascular pathology has been suggested to be the earliest indicator of AD development (Iturria-Medina et al., 2016, Jack Jr et al., 2010). These new studies in the context of AD were accompanied by an improved understanding of the NVU physiological functionality. Indeed, it is becoming clear that CBF does not depend solely on the release of vasoactive agents from neurons, but it results from multiple processes involving the different cell types of the NVU (Iadecola, 2004).

We recently demonstrated that a 7-month selective loss of cholinergic neurons of the nb reduces cortical synaptic markers, affects BDNF availability and impairs cognition (Orciani et al., 2022). Given that BFCN synapses provide innervation to the NVU (Hamel, 2006), we hypothesized that the selective long-term demise of nb cholinergic neurons would also alter the organization of the NVU. In particular, we postulated that selective long-term loss of cholinergic nb neurons would

affect not only the structure of the vessels, but also other cell types that participate in the NVU, such as astrocytes and microglia.

Towards this goal, we selectively immuno-depleted BFCNs of the nb in wt rats with a stereotaxic injection of 192-IgG-saporin (192-IgG-SAP) consisting of an anti-p75ntr receptor monoclonal antibody conjugated to the cytotoxin saporin (Wiley 1991). Seven months following the immunolesion, we assessed the effect of cholinergic neuron depletion on the vessels, in particular on capillaries and arterioles. Furthermore, we investigated the effect of the immunolesion on a vascular factor implicated in regulating the vascular tone, the overall astrocyte count, and the astrocytic end-feet. Lastly, we assessed overall changes in the number of microglial cells and their morphology.

This study revealed that the long-term loss of BFCNs of the nb has significant consequences on the average diameter of capillaries and pre-capillary arterioles in the cortex and induced a reduction of vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A) expression and protein levels. Furthermore, we found that the immunolesion significantly affected astrocytes and microglia, which were increasingly present in areas that were subjected to larger cholinergic terminal loss, such as the parietal cortex. Astrocytic end-feet showed higher colocalization with arterioles following cholinergic immunolesion. In addition, microglia cells in the parietal cortex correlated with cholinergic loss and showed morphological changes indicative of an intermediate active state.

3.2 <u>Methods</u>

3.2.1 Experimental design

Two and a half-month-old Wistar rats (Charles River Laboratories) were randomized into 2 sexbalanced groups to receive stereotaxic injection in the nb of either 192-IgG-saporin (SAP) (n=12, 6 M and 6 F) or PBS vehicle as a control (Sal) (n=9, 5 M and 4 F). Seven months postimmunolesion, the animals were sacrificed, and their brains were preserved for histological and biochemical analyses. One rat was excluded from the histological analyses as the post-fixation was not optimal (n = 20), while the biochemical analyses were performed in all rats (n = 21). The McGill University Animal Care Committee approved all experimental procedures (Ethical Approval Number: MCGL-3860).

3.2.2 Stereotaxic surgery

Surgical procedures were conducted under isoflurane anesthesia (isofluorane vaporizer was initially set at 4% and decreased to 2.5% for maintenance), and animals were mounted on a stereotaxic frame. The injections were performed with a 5- μ l microsyringe fitted with a 32-gauge needle through a burr-hole drilled in the skull. Stereotaxic coordinates were measured from Bregma, according to the Paxinos and Watson Atlas (Paxinos and Watson, 2006) and were anteroposterior (AP) -1.8; mediolateral (ML) ±3.2; dorsoventral (DV) -7.5. 192-IgG-Saporin (2.6 mg/ml, Advanced Targeting Systems) was injected at a concentration of 0.5 μ g/ μ l (1.0 μ l/ hemisphere), while PBS was injected as a control. Following stereotaxic surgery, rats were injected with carprofen (5 mg/ml, given 0.1 ml/100 g) for 3 days to minimize animal suffering.

3.2.3 Brain tissue collection

Seven months post-lesion, rats were deeply anesthetized with a mix of chloral hydrate and sodium pentobarbital (6.5 mg and 3 mg, respectively, per 100 g of body weight) delivered by intraperitoneal injection and perfused transcardially with saline solution for 2 min. The brain was removed, and the cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum were dissected from one hemisphere. The tissue was flash-frozen and kept at -80 °C for qRT-PCR and Western blot. The other hemisphere was post-fixed in 4% PFA at 4°C for 24 hours and transferred in 30% sucrose in 0.1 M phosphate

buffer before being processed for immunohistochemical analysis. The fixed hemisphere was sectioned on a microtome (Leica SM 2000R; Germany) into 40-μm thick sections and stored at - 20 °C in a cryoprotectant solution of ethylene glycol and sucrose in PBS (pH 7.4).

3.2.4 Gene expression analysis

Messenger RNA (mRNA) was extracted from cortical tissue (15 mg) using the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen, USA). For reverse transcription, 500 ng of total RNA was used to synthesize cDNA using iScript Reverse Transcription Supermix for RT-qPCR (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Quantitative RT-PCR was performed in a total volume of 10 µL using the SsoAdvanced Universal SYBR Green Supermix (Bio-Rad) and using the CFX Connect Real-Time PCR Detection System and CFX Manager (Bio-Rad). Fold changes in gene expression compared to vehicle-treated rats were calculated, normalizing the values for each gene of interest to housekeeping genes, Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and Actin, using the 2 (Delta C[T]) method (Livak and Schmittgen, 2001). Primer sequences: VEGF-A Fw, CTG GAC CCT GGC TTT ACT GC; VEGF-A Rev, ACT TCA CCA CTT CAT GGG CTT; GAPDH Fw, TGA TGG GTG TGA ACC ACG AG, GAPDH Rev, TCA TGA GCC CTT CCA CGA TG; Beta-Actin Fw, AGC CAT GTA CGT AGC CAT CC; Beta-Actin Rev, CTC TCA GCT GTG GTG AA.

3.2.5 Western blotting (WB)

Twenty mg of frontoparietal cortical samples were manually homogenized in lysis buffer (Cell Signaling, USA) containing a complete protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, USA). Manual homogenization was followed by two 5 second pulses of sonication. The homogenates were centrifuged at 13,000 rpm, for 45 min at 4 °C, the supernatants were collected, and the protein concentration was determined by Lowry *assay* (DCTM Protein Assay kit, BioRad, USA). The homogenates (50 ug) were mixed with Sample Buffer (Tris-HCl 250 mM, pH 6.8, 40% (v/v) glycerol, 10% (w/v) SDS, 10% (v/v) β -mercaptoethanol, 0.01% (w/v) bromophenol blue) and boiled for 5 minutes. The samples were loaded on SDS-polyacrylamide gels and were transferred to PVDF membranes (BioRad, USA) for 1 h at 350 mA. Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS-T) for 1 h at room temperature and incubated with the following primary antibodies: anti-mouse VEGF-A (1:2000, ab1316, Abcam), anti-rabbit AQP IV (1:2000, 249-323, Alomone) in TBS-T overnight at 4 °C. Peroxidase-

conjugated secondary antibodies (1:10,000, Goat anti-rabbit and anti-mouse HRP, Jackson Immunoresearch), dissolved in TBS-T, were applied for 1 h at room temperature. WB were developed with an enhanced chemiluminescence substrate (Western Lightning[®] Plus-ECL, PerkinElmer Inc., USA) and imaged with Amersham Imager 600 (GE Healthcare, USA) and ChemiDoc[™] Touch system (Bio-Rad, Canada). Densitometry was quantified with TotalLab CLIQS Software (TotalLab, UK) and ImageLab (Bio-Rad, Canada). The values were normalized to the loading control GAPDH (1:10000, MAB374, Millipore). An additional sample was loaded in each gel as an internal loading control. The values were expressed as fold change relative to the control group.

3.2.6 Immunofluorescence (IF)

Free floating, 40 µm coronal brain sections were washed using PBS and underwent heat-mediated antigen retrieval. For VAChT, Iba1 and GFAP antibodies, sections were incubated at 80 °C in 10 mM citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 30 minutes then cooled for 20 minutes at room temperature (RT). For collagen IV (COL-IV) and AQP IV we performed the antigen retrieval in pepsin (1 mg/ml) in HCl 0.01N for 6 minutes at 37 °C after a previous wash in water for 5 minutes at 37 °C. The sections were then washed with PBS and permeabilized using 50% ethanol for 20 minutes, followed by washes with PBS-T (containing 0.2% Triton-X-100), and blocked for 1 hour at RT in 10% NGS. The sections were then incubated with primary antibodies for 48 hours at 4 °C: anti-GFAP (1:2000, SPM507, Novus Biological), anti-VAChT (1:3000, 139 103, Synaptic Systems), anti-Iba1 (1:500, Synaptic Systems), COL-IV (1:200, M3F7, Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank), AQP IV (1:1000, 249-323, Alomone), alpha-SMA (1:600, NB300-978, Novus Biological). After primary antibody incubation, sections were washed in PBS-T, and incubated with Alexa Fluor 488 (goat-anti-mouse), Alexa Fluor 568 (goat-anti-rabbit), and Alexa Fluor 647 (goat-antiguinea pig), or Alexa Fluor 488 (donkey-anti-mouse), Alexa Fluor 568 (donkey-anti-rabbit), and Alexa Fluor 647 (donkey-anti-goat), (all at 1:800, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 2 hours RT. Following washes, sections were incubated for 5 minutes with 0.3% Sudan black in 70% ethanol to reduce autofluorescence. Sections were then washed three times for 5 minutes in PBS-T, then three times for 5 minutes in PBS before mounting onto coated slides and coverslipped (#1.5) with Aqua-Poly/Mount (Polysciences).

3.2.7 Confocal imaging and analyses

For the COL-IV, AQP-4 and α SMA, images were acquired using a confocal microscope Leica TCS SP8 (Leica, Canada) equipped with a 20x HC PL APO objective and using the LAS X Software (Leica, Canada). Twelve (AQP-4, α SMA) and eight images (COL-IV) per tissue section (two sections/technical replicates per animal) were collected in the parietal cortex, in Z-stacks with a frame of 600 x 600 µm, resolution of 512x512 pixels, an optical section of 0.896 µm, an interval of 1.3 µm and an averaging of two by line. The 40x oil HC LP APO objective was used to acquire with a frame of 291.19 x 291.19 µm capillary images (COL-IV), two images per animal in layer 5 of the parietal cortex, with the same confocal microscope, same interval, resolution, and optical section. Signal was detected with emission wavelengths of 500-550 nm (488 laser), 571-620 nm (561 laser), and 650-700 nm (640 laser).

For Iba1-GFAP-VAChT staining, images were acquired using a LSM800 Confocal Microscope AxioObserver (Zeiss, Germany) equipped with a 20x Plan Apochromat objective lens (NA = 0.80) and using ZEN Imaging software (ZEN Black). Six images in the frontal and six images in the parietal cortex per tissue section (two sections/technical replicates per animal) were collected using Z-stacks at an interval of 1 μ m. Diode lasers of 488, 561, and 640 nm were used sequentially from longest to shortest wavelength, all with a pinhole size equivalent to 1 airy unit (AU) for each respective wavelength. Sixteen-bit images of 319.45 x 319.45 μ m were acquired with an averaging of two by line. Signal was detected with emission wavelengths of 500-550 nm (488 laser), 571-620 nm (561 laser), and 650-700 nm (640 laser).

Images were imported to Fiji software (ImageJ), and slices were merged into one stack (stack/Z projection/Maximum Intensity Projection) for each channel and subsequent structural analysis. To quantify the immunolabelling of VAChT, COL-IV, α SMA, GFAP and Iba1, images were converted to binary. The number VAChT-immunoreactive (IR) synapses were counted with a home-built macro as in **Supplemental figure 3-1.** α SMA-IR vessel diameter was assessed as in **Supplemental figure 3-2**, but instead of using a defined region of interest (ROI), all the vessels were measured **Supplemental figure 3-1** (bottom panels). After the diameter was quantified, the arterioles were classified. Arterioles larger than 10 µm (cut-off determined based on capillary size) were defined as medium size (up to 20 µm) and ones beyond 20 µm were defined as larger size, as in (Michaloudi et al., 2006). The diameters of the capillaries COL-IV-IR were assessed

164

following the procedure explained in **Supplemental figure 3-2.** The IR area for COL-IV, α SMA, GFAP and the number of Iba1-IR cells were quantified as in **Supplemental figures 3-1, and 3-3**. For the microglia morphology, we measured the Iba1-IR average soma size, the overall processes, and the average processes length after skeletonization, as described in **Supplemental figure 3-3**. AQP-4 colocalization was quantified by measuring the intensity of colocalization with COL-IV and α SMA (ImageJ). Images were processed and analyzed after blinding to treatment.

3.2.8 Statistical analysis

The software GraphPad Prism v8 (La Jolla, CA, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Data were displayed in columns showing individual values, mean and SEM. Data normality was verified with the Shapiro–Wilk normality test. A 2-way-ANOVA or a mixed effect analysis followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test was applied for quantification repeated in the frontal and parietal cortex. A two-tailed unpaired t-test was used for 2-group comparisons. The Welch's correction was applied for unequal variances. Associations between variables were investigated with Pearson correlation. If data normality was violated, the analysis was performed with nonparametric tests. For each experiment, the statistical analysis is specified in the figure legends and tables. Significance was set at p < 0.05.

3.3 <u>Results</u>

3.3.1 Long-term lesion of the nb induced loss of VAChT-IR terminals in frontal and parietal cortices.

Motivated by the significant loss of ChAT-IR neurons of the nb in long-term SAP-immunolesioned rats, recently reported by us (Orciani et al., 2022), and given that the cholinergic system has been extensively studied in the vasculature context in frontal and parietal cortices (Uchida et al., 2000, Sato et al., 2002), we assessed the number of cortical cholinergic VAChT-IR pre-synaptic terminals in these cortical areas (bregma +0.45 / +1.00 mm) (**Figure 3-1 A,B**). A significant reduction in the number of cholinergic pre-synapses was found in both frontal and parietal cortices in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the Sal-group (**Figure 3-1 C**). This result is in agreement with our previous findings (Orciani et al., 2022), as the reduction was more pronounced in the parietal cortex (loss of 52% VAChT-IR terminals) compared to the frontal cortex (loss of 37% VAChT-IR terminals) (**Figure 3-1 C**).



Figure 3-1. VAChT-IR terminals were reduced in frontal and parietal cortices following nb demise.

(A) Representative images of IF for VAChT-IR terminals in the frontal and parietal cortices (scale bars 100 μ m). (B) Schematic representation of the investigated cortical regions. (C) The two cortical areas analyzed in the SAP-immunolesioned group showed a reduction of VAChT-IR varicosities compared to the Sal-treated group. Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test, frontal (p= 0.0019, t = 3.600, DF = 36.00), parietal (p= 0.0001, t = 4.496, DF = 36.00). Two-way ANOVA; main effect cortical region (p<0.0001, F (1, 18) = 28.68); main effect treatment (p=0.0005, F (1, 18) = 17.56); interaction (p=0.0998, F (1, 18) = 3.011). Data analysis: Sal rats, n = 9; SAP rats, n = 11. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected, VAChT, Vesicular acetylcholine transporter; ANOVA, analysis of variance.

3.3.2 Loss of VAChT-IR terminals affects pre-capillary arterioles and capillaries in the parietal cortex.

To assess the effect of cholinergic denervation on the vessels, we measured the area occupied by collagen IV-IR (COL-IV-IR) vessels in the parietal cortex, representing the area with the larger VAChT-IR depletion. COL-IV is a component of the thin cerebrovascular basement membrane (CVBM) layer (Timpl, 1996), wrapping the endothelial cells surrounding the vessel lumen. No difference between the groups was found in the area occupied by COL-IV-IR vessels (**Figure 3-2 A,B**).

Since cholinergic terminals form synapses mostly with arteries and capillaries (Nizari et al., 2019, Hamel, 2006), arterioles were subsequently investigated. Arterioles are characterized by the presence of an SMCs layer containing α -smooth muscle actin (α SMA) between endothelial cells and CVBM (reviewed in (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021)). There was no significant difference in the area covered by α SMA-IR vessels between SAP-immunolesioned group and controls (**Figure 3-2 A,C**) as well in the diameter of the medium-sized and the larger-sized arterioles (**Figure 3-2 A,D**). On the other hand, the diameter of the smaller arterioles preceding the capillaries, defined as pre-capillaries arterioles (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021), was significantly increased in the SAP-immunolesioned rats showing an average diameter of 8.40 µm (± 0.16 SEM) compared to the 7.78 µm (± 0.17 SEM) of the control group (**Figure 3-2 A,D**).

Given that the effect of SAP-immunolesion was limited to smaller α SMA-IR arterioles, we then investigated the diameter of the smaller COL-IV-IR vessels. The average diameter of the capillaries in the SAP-immunolesioned rats was 5.14 µm (±0.07 SEM), significantly lower than the 5.44 µm (±0.06 SEM) of the control group (**Figure 3-2 A,E**).

Overall, a long-term lack of pre-synaptic VAChT-IR terminals may affect the vascular tone of the smaller microvessels in the parietal cortex through its effect on the vessel diameter, a subject that warrants further investigation.



Figure 3-2. Loss of VAChT-IR terminals affects arterioles and capillaries in the parietal cortex.

(A) Representative IF images for COL-IV-IR and α SMA-IR vessels in the parietal cortex (scale bar 100 µm). (B) The area covered by COL-IV-IR vessels did not show any difference between SAP-immunolesioned and Sal-treated (p = 0.5092, t=0.6735, df=18). (C-D) Although the area covered by α SMA-IR vessels was not significantly different between the two groups (p= 0.2947, t=1.079, df=18), the average diameter of the pre-capillaries arterioles was significantly increased in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the controls (D) (p = 0.0463, t = 2.709, DF = 16.10). Middle and larger-sized arterioles did not show any significant difference between the two groups (respectively, p>0.9999, t = 0.1121, DF = 15.60; p= 0.8945, t = 1.079, DF = 14.60). (E) The average capillary diameter was significantly reduced in the SAP-immunolesioned compared to the

controls (p = 0.0082, t=2.992, df=17). Data analysis: Sal rats, n = 9; SAP rats, n = 11. An unpaired t-test was performed for all comparisons, and for the diameter of arterioles, a mixed effect analysis followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons test was performed. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected; COL-IV, collagen IV; α SMA, α -smooth muscle actin.

3.3.3 Loss of VAChT-IR terminals affects vascular endothelial growth factor A.

Given the changes in the diameter of pre-capillary arterioles and capillaries in the SAPimmunolesioned group compared to the control group, we measured VEGF-A. VEGF-A is regulated by cholinergic input (Inada et al., 2014, Kimura et al., 2018) and has multiple effects on the vasculature. It is an angiogenetic factor inducing vessel sprouting (Ruhrberg et al., 2002) and can influence vessel diameter by acting on endothelial cell proliferation (Nakatsu et al., 2003). It has also been shown to regulate vascular tone through endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) (Storkebaum and Carmeliet, 2004) and is a mediator of Blood Brain Barrier (BBB) permeability (Mayhan, 1999). As expected, we found that mRNA expression and protein levels of VEGF-A were reduced in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the Sal-group (**Figure 3-3 A-C**).



Figure 3-3. mRNA and protein levels of VEGF-A were down-regulated following nb depletion.

(A,B) Cortical mRNA levels of VEGF-A and protein levels were reduced in the SAPimmunolesioned group compared to the controls (respectively, p = 0.0178, t=2.609, df=18; p = 0.0236, t=2.461, df=19). (C) Representative WB images of VEGF-A and control gene GAPDH. Data analysis: Sal rats, n = 9; SAP rats, n = 11. An unpaired t-test was performed for all comparisons. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected, VEGF-A, vascular endothelial growth factor A; GAPDH, Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase; WB, western blot.

3.3.4 Loss of cholinergic innervation increased the number of astrocytes in the frontal and parietal cortices

Vessels are externally carpeted by a layer of astrocytic end-feet (McConnell et al., 2017, Filosa et al., 2016) and it has been shown that astrocytes participate in the structure and function of the NVU and BBB (Abbott et al., 2006, Lecuyer et al., 2016, Willis et al., 2004, Liu et al., 2018). Astrocytes play an active role in the modulation of the CBF following neuronal stimulation (reviewed in (Koehler et al., 2009)) in addition to their inflammatory response function (Sofroniew, 2015).

Therefore, we examined whether long-term loss of VAChT synaptic terminals alters the number of astrocytes in cortical areas. SAP-immunolesioned rats showed an increased GFAP-IR area in parietal and frontal cortices compared to the control group (**Figure 3-4 A,B**). However, there were no significant correlations between VAChT-IR synapses and the area covered by astrocytes (**Figure 3-4 C,D**). We next assessed the protein levels and coverage of astrocytic end-feet on the vessels by probing Aquaporin-4 (AQP-4), representing the most abundant water channel of CNS highly expressed by astrocytic end-feet (Nielsen et al., 1997). The overall protein levels of AQP-4 measured by WB in the cortex were not altered between the two experimental groups (**Figure 3-4 F-H**). As well, there were no differences in the colocalization of AQP-4 with the basement membrane of vessels (COL-IV, **Figure 3-4 J**). However, there was a significant increase in AQP-4 colocalization with the arterioles (αSMA, **Figure 3-4 K**).

These analyses showed that nb immunolesion increased in the cortex astrocytes density and the AQP4-IR astrocytic endfeet on the arterioles compared to the control group.



Figure 3-4. Nb cholinergic immunolesion promoted increase of cortical astrocytic cells and increased colocalization of astrocytic end-feet in arteries.

(A) Representative micrographs of GFAP in the frontal and parietal cortices, layer V (Scale bar 100 μ m). (B) The two cortical areas analyzed in the SAP-immunolesioned group showed an increased area of GFAP-IR compared to the Sal-treated group (frontal, p = 0.0017, t = 4.234, DF = 14.00 and parietal, p= 0.0010, t = 4.509, DF = 14.00). Mixed effect analysis; main effect cortical region (p<0.0001, F (1, 20) = 59.23); main effect immunolesion (p<0.0001, F (1, 14) = 38.21); interaction (p= 0.8751, F (1, 14) = 0.02562). (C,D) VAChT-IR in the frontal and parietal cortical areas did not show a significant correlation with GFAP-IR area (frontal, p = 0.3729, R²= 0.04433;

parietal, p = 0.1190, R²= 0.1369). (F-H) the levels of AQP-4, assessed by WB, were not changed for either the two isoforms between the two groups (50 kDa, p = 0.2743, t=1.126, df=19 and 45 kDa, p= 0.8780, t=0.1556, df=19). (E) Representative colocalization images of AQP-4-IR with COL-IV-IR and with α SMA-IR in the parietal cortex (scale bar 100 µm, magnification 80 x 80 µm). (I-J) No colocalization was detected overall with the vessels (COL-IV, p= 0.1558, t=1.482, df=18), although increased levels of AQP-4 colocalization with arterioles was found (α SMA-IR, p = 0.0238, t=2.481, df=17). Data analysis: Sal rats, n = 9; SAP rats, n = 11. Pearson r, unpaired ttest and mixed effect analysis followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons was applied. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected, VAChT, Vesicular acetylcholine transporter; GFAP; Glial fibrillary acidic protein; AQP-4, aquaporin-4; COL-IV, collagen IV; α SMA, α -smooth muscle actin; WB, western blot.

3.3.5 Loss of cholinergic innervation correlated with the increased number of microglial cells in the parietal cortex.

Along with astrocytes, microglia also plays a double role in interacting with both neurons and blood vessels (Szalay et al., 2016), modulating CBF and neurovascular coupling (Császár et al., 2022) and are recruited to sites of BBB leakage within minutes (Lou et al., 2016, Jolivel et al., 2015). Therefore, we examined whether a long-term nb depletion affects microglia. We found a significant increase in microglia number in the parietal cortex of SAP-immunolesioned rats compared to the Sal-group (**Figure 3-5 A,B**). Furthermore, the increase in microglia in the parietal cortex correlated with the loss of VAChT-IR terminals (**Figure 3-5 D**), which was not the case for astrocytes (**Figure 3-4 D**). The increased number of microglia was accompanied by changes in the microglial morphology in the parietal cortex as we found a significant increase in the average length of processes in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the control group (**Figure 3-5 G**). Consequentially, the ratio given by the cell body area divided by the average length of processes, representative of microglia activation, was significantly higher in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the control group compared to the control group compared to the control group compared by the average length of processes, representative of microglia activation, was significantly higher in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared **5 E-F**).



Figure 3-5. Loss of cholinergic synapses promoted microglia cells recruitment, correlated and showed morphological changes in the parietal cortex.

(A) Representative micrographs of Iba-1 in the frontal and parietal cortices, layer V (Scale bar 100 μ m). (B) An increased number of Iba-1-IR cells was found in the parietal cortex (p= 0.0406, t = 2.428, DF = 36.00), but not in the frontal cortex (p = 0.5452, n.s., t = 1.114, DF = 36.00); in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the Sal-treated group. Mixed effect analysis; main effect cortical region (p <0.0001, F (1, 18) = 54.84); main effect immunolesion (p = 0.0476, F (1, 18) = 4.518); interaction (p=0.2499, F (1, 18) = 1.414). (C,D) VAChT-IR in the parietal cortex, but not in the frontal, showed a significant correlation with the number of Iba-1-IR cells (frontal, p = 0.1925, R²=0.09776; Parietal: p = 0.0094, R²= 0.3353). (F-H) Microglia in the SAP-immunolesioned group showed an increase in processes average length (p = 0.0147, t=2.697,

df=18) compared to the control group, and no differences were found between the groups when looking at the cell body size (p=0.4827, t=0.7177, df=17) and the overall length of skeletonized microglia (p=0.1878, t=1.369, df=18). (E) Representative images of microglia and their skeletonization (scalebar 20 µm). Data analysis: Sal rats, n = 9; SAP rats, n = 11. Pearson r, unpaired t-test and Mixed effect analysis followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons was used. Abbreviations: Sal, saline-injected; SAP, 192-IgG Saporin injected, VAChT, Vesicular acetylcholine transporter; Iba1, Ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1.

3.4 Discussion

Brain activity and blood flow are strictly related: when the activity of a certain brain region rises, it also increases the blood flow to that region, allowing substrate delivery and the removal of metabolic products (reviewed in (Iadecola, 2004)). In the context of AD, hypoperfusion could be consequential to several mechanisms, such as the constriction of brain arterioles (Niwa et al., 2001); loss of vascular density (Farkas and Luiten, 2001) and changes in the neurovascular coupling (Hamel, 2006). In addition, $A\beta$ and tau seem to play a key role in NVU dysfunction (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021).

Following the *vascular-cholinergic hypothesis* in AD (De la Torre and Mussivan, 1993, de la Torre, 2004), suggesting that the loss of BFCNs contributes to the etiology and AD progression, we postulated that the association between BFCNs dysfunction and cerebral hypofusion is mediated by a disruption of the cortical NVU structure. Indeed, previous studies on BFCNs using IgG-SAP immunolesion in rats, showed a global decrease (24-40%) in CBF in the parietal and temporal regions (Waite et al., 1999), this was also confirmed by studies utilizing muscarinic antagonists (Elhusseiny and Hamel, 2000) and mAChRs type 5 knock-out mice (Yamada et al., 2001a).

The interactions among NVU cell types are important for the CBF, and also for a variety of physiological processes such as angiogenesis, vessel maintenance and permeability, and metabolic support (reviewed in (McConnell et al., 2017, Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021)). Studies performing intracerebroventricular short-term IgG-SAP immunolesion (1.5 months) did not find alteration of the NVU structure (Nizari et al., 2019), although they did observe a loss of CBF response and an accelerated pathology in a transgenic mouse model with cerebral amyloid angiopathy (Nizari et al., 2021).

Here, we were interested to see whether seven months after selective cholinergic nb depletion affected the cortical NVU structure. A change in the diameters of capillaries and smaller arterioles was found to be accompanied by a decrease of VEGF-A. Additionally, the nb immunolesion increased the number of astrocytes and microglia in the cortex. Astrocytic end-feet showed higher colocalization with arterioles; on the other hand, microglia cells in the parietal cortex correlated with cholinergic loss and showed morphological changes indicative of an intermediate state of activation.

3.4.1 Effect on vessels and VEGF-A

The tone generated by vascular SMCs in arteries depends on several factors, including artery length, local levels of metabolites, signalling molecules, communications with other cells, and neural inputs (Secomb, 2008). Although we did not find differences in the average diameter of the medium and larger size arterioles, we found an increase in diameter in the pre-capillary arterioles and a reduction of the diameter of the capillaries in the SAP-immunolesioned group compared to the controls. This opposite effect on the vascular tone in the smaller vessels could be explained by local autoregulatory adjustments to the intravascular pressure changes. This upstream and downstream coordination between continuous vascular segments is important to regulate the flow avoiding a flow steal from adjacent vascular territories (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021).

The overall effect on the vessels could be mediated by BFCNs through different mechanisms that are not mutually exclusive: (1) BFCNs can directly regulate vasodilatation through the release of the potent vasodilator NO, from endothelial cells (eNO) (Zhang et al., 1995) or (2) indirectly, inducing selective activation of vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) and somatostatin neurons (Kocharyan et al., 2008, Cauli et al., 2004), which have been shown to be lost following IgG-SAP immunolesion (Zhang et al., 1998).

An additional indirect mechanism of vascular tone regulation (3) is through the release of VEGF-A (Inada et al., 2014, Kimura et al., 2018) expressed by the vascular endothelium, astrocytes and neurons (reviewed in (Ruiz de Almodovar et al., 2009)). Indeed, VEGF mRNA expression has been shown to be increased *in vitro* following treatment with the AChEI tacrine given to primary neurons and the cholinergic agonist carbachol in primary astrocytes (Kimura et al., 2018) and *in vivo* in medial septal cholinergic neurons following daily administration of tacrine for 7 days (Kimura et al., 2018). Interestingly, the expression and protein levels of VEGF-A were reduced in cortical homogenates of SAP-immunolesioned rats compared to the Sal-group.

Although we have previously shown a loss of glutamatergic and GABAergic markers in SAPimmunolesioned rats (Orciani et al.), their effect on the vasculature seems to be downstream of ACh as demonstrated by a pharmacological study in which blockade of mAChRs and either NMDA or GABA receptors had no additive attenuating effect (Lecrux et al., 2012).
C. Orciani 2022

3.4.2 Effect on astrocytes

Multiple mAChRs exist on perivascular astrocytes, and the participation of these cells in the CBF can be mediated by ACh. ACh is responsible for releasing epoxyeicosatrienoic acids (EETs), a product of the P450 expoxygenase pathway, selective for astrocytes (Lecrux et al., 2012), and two specific gliotoxins were able to decrease the ACh-induced CBF (Lecrux et al., 2012).

Astrocytes provide their perivascular end-feet, representing a link between neurons and the vasculature, which is visualized with AQP-4. In the SAP-immunolesioned rats, overall levels of AQP-4 did not change, but an increased colocalization between AQP-4 and α -SMA, a marker of arteries, was found. This suggests that astrocytes may repolarize their projections on the vessels as a gain-of-function or loss-of-function effects. Indeed, AQP-4 is shown to be involved in the blood-brain permeability to water and a myriad of other crucial physiological conditions (Valenza et al., 2020). In addition, astrocytic end-feet have been shown to be involved in glucose transport (Rouach et al., 2008) and CBF modulation following the elevation of carbon dioxide levels in the blood (Howarth et al., 2017).

It cannot be excluded that the increase of astrocytes in the cortical areas results from the proinflammatory response mediated by lack of ACh. Indeed, the cholinergic system also regulates inflammation through the cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway, primarily mediated by the alpha-7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (α 7-nAChR) (Gamage et al., 2020, Piovesana et al., 2021, Reale and Costantini, 2021).

3.4.3 Effect on microglia

Intracerebroventricular administration of IgG-SAP resulted in microglia activation in both the septum and hippocampus 7 days (Roβner et al., 1995, Seeger et al., 1997) and 1.5 months after injection of the immunotoxin (Dobryakova et al., 2019). For the first time, we reported an increased amount of microglia, after 7 months post-nb immunodepletion. Microglia are a very well-known player in the inflammatory response, and ACh has been proposed to be a neurotransmitter with anti-inflammatory properties in the CNS, as demonstrated in the peripheral nervous system (Conejero-Goldberg et al., 2008, Pavlov and Tracey, 2005). Microglia cells can display different morphological states, and interestingly, we found a morphological change of

microglia corresponding to an intermediate state of activation (Davis et al., 2017, Flores-Aguilar et al., 2022), acquired before reaching an amoeboid shape, indicative of a full activation state. Unfortunately, the majority of studies assessing interactions between microglia and the vasculature are in the context of disease and in the healthy brain less is known (Mondo, 2020). Recently, a subgroup of juxtavascular microglia expressing purinergic receptor P2Y, G-protein coupled, 12 (P2RY12), has been shown to mediate chemotaxis whenever a BBB breakdown occurs (Lou et al., 2016). These microglia dynamically establish direct, purinergic contacts with endothelial cells, SMCs, pericytes, and astrocytes in both the mouse and the human brain modulating blood flow, neurovascular coupling, and hypoperfusion (Császár et al., 2022).

3.5 Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the McGill microscope facility Advanced BioImaging Facility (ABIF) Joel Ryan, for the data analysis and the technical support. CO was the holder of the Associazione Levi-Montalcini fellowship. MKF was the recipient of a CIHR Doctoral Award. SDC is the holder of the Charles E. Frosst/Merck Research Associate position. ACC is the holder of the McGill University Charles E. Frosst/Merck Chair in Pharmacology and a member of the Canadian Consortium of Neurodegeneration in Aging.

3.6 <u>Supplemental figures</u>

VAChT-IR synapses



Supplemental figure 3-1. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of VAChT-IR, COL-IV-IR and αSMA-IR.

Far right panels (C) indicate area images where binary black pixels were quantified. Abbreviations: VAChT, Vesicular acetylcholine transporter; COL-IV, collagen IV; α SMA, α -smooth muscle actin.



Supplemental figure 3-2. The diameter of capillaries assessed with Object J.

(A) interface of Object J (Fiji ImageJ). (B) The diameter of all vessels was measured in a defined region of interest (ROI, 183x183 μ m, in *yellow*) with the same positioning in all images. The overall number of vessels measured for each image ranged between 32 and 70 (in *green*, the progressive number of measurements). (C) Magnification shows that the diameter was manually measured, averaging two measurements for each vessel segment perpendicular to their axes (in *red*). Subsequently, only vessels with a diameter of $\leq 10 \ \mu$ m were considered capillaries, in agreement with the existing literature on rodent brains (Stefanovic et al., 2008, Bennett et al., 2018). Abbreviations: ROI, region of interest.



Supplemental figure 3-3. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of GFAP-and Iba1-IR cells.

Far right panels (C) indicate area images where binary black pixels were quantified. Abbreviations: GFAP; Glial fibrillary acidic protein; Iba1, Ionized calcium-binding adaptor molecule 1.

Connecting text: Chapter 3 to 4

In Chapter 3, we assessed the importance of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons in the context of the cortical vasculature studying the effect of a long-term specific cholinergic immunolesion of the nucleus basalis (nb) on the neurovascular unit.

Our findings demonstrated that cholinergic nb loss reduced the average diameter of cortical vessels and the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor A. In addition, we assessed that a longterm nb loss increased the density of astrocytes and microglia in the cortex. Astrocytic end-feet showed higher colocalization with arterioles following cholinergic immunolesion. In addition, microglia cells in the parietal cortex showed morphological changes indicative of an intermediate state of activation. These results indicate that cholinergic input affects cells also belonging to the neurovascular unit.

Furthermore, we explored whether a new cholinergic therapy has the potential to prevent an ADlike pathology in transgenic rats. The selective allosteric M1 muscarinic and sigma-1 receptor agonist AF710B takes advantage of that acetylcholine postsynaptic M1 muscarinic brain receptor levels to remain unchanged in AD. Selectivity for this receptor would avoid adverse effects due to stimulation of other muscarinic receptors outside the CNS. Additionally, its stimulation is capable of modulating amyloid pathology. The next chapter of this thesis will present whether this compound could prevent AD-like hallmarks in a transgenic rodent model of amyloid-like pathology.

CHAPTER 4

An M1 and sigma-1 receptor agonist prevents cognitive decline and Alzheimer's disease-like hallmarks in a transgenic rat model

<u>Chiara Orciani</u>, Sonia Do Carmo, Morgan K Foret, Helene Hall, Quentin Bonomo, Agustina Lavagna, Chunwei Huang, Augusto Claudio Cuello

Manuscript to be submitted

Abstract

The selective allosteric M1 muscarinic and sigma-1 receptor agonist, AF710B (aka ANAVEX3-71) takes advantage of the fact that the brain levels of acetylcholine postsynaptic M1 muscarinic receptors remain unchanged in AD. We have previously shown that AF710B treatment attenuated AD-like hallmarks in McGill-R-Thy1-APP transgenic rats when administered at advanced stages of the AD-like pathology. It remains unknown whether preventive strategies, delivered prior to the extensive disease pathology, may be more effective than treatment administered in later stages.

Therefore, we tested whether daily oral administration of AF710B ($10 \mu g/kg$) to seven-month-old, preplaque, McGill-R-Thy1-APP rats during seven months could prevent cognitive impairment as well as some of the AD-like pathological hallmarks.

Long-term AF710B treatment restored the cognitive abilities of McGill-R-Thy1-APP rats. These effects were accompanied by a reduction in the number of mature and diffuse amyloid plaques in the cortex and in the levels of Aβ42 and Aβ40 peptides. AF710B treatment also reduced microglia and astrocyte recruitment towards CA1 hippocampal Aβ-burdened neurons compared to vehicle-treated McGill-R-Thy1-APP rats and reduced microglia activation, promoting the release of anti-inflammatory cytokines and reducing pro-inflammatory cytokines. Lastly, AF710B treatment rescued the conversion of Brain-Derived Neurotrophic Factor precursor (proBDNF) to its mature form (mBDNF).

The long-lasting effect of AF710B in preventing cognitive decline of McGill-R-Thy1-APP rats and reducing the AD-like amyloid pathology, after a wash-out period (of 4 weeks) suggest preventive, disease-modifying properties of the compound.

C. Orciani 2022

4.1 Introduction

Basal forebrain cholinergic neurons (BFCNs) provide the major source of cholinergic innervation to the forebrain (Mesulam et al., 1983b, Mesulam et al., 1983a, Bigl et al., 1982, Struble et al., 1986) and play a crucial role in learning, memory and attention mechanisms (Drachman and Leavitt, 1974, Bartus, 1979, Everitt and Robbins, 1997, Ballinger et al., 2016, Zaborszky et al., 1999). The gradual degeneration of BFCNs in ageing, and their severe atrophy and loss in Alzheimer's disease (AD) pathology (Bowen et al., 1976, Davies and Maloney, 1976, Whitehouse et al., 1981), contribute significantly to cognitive impairment in this neurodegenerative condition. These observations led to the formulation of the cholinergic hypothesis (Bartus et al., 1982, Coyle et al., 1983, Cuello and Sofroniew, 1984, Francis et al., 1999). As a result of several years of research focused on developing cholinergic drugs as a treatment for AD (reviewed in (Giacobini et al., 2022)), four acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (AChEIs) were approved by the Food and Drug Administration. AChEIs, which increase cholinergic transmission by inhibiting acetylcholine (ACh) breakdown, gained recent attention since they have been shown to delay disease progression rather than being solely symptomatic drugs (Giacobini et al., 2022). On the other hand, AChEIs have limited efficacy, given the progressive atrophy and loss of cholinergic neurons in AD (White et al., 1977, Perry et al., 1977b, Perry et al., 1977a, Davies and Maloney, 1976, Richter et al., 1980).

The postsynaptic M1 muscarinic receptors (M1 mAChRs) have the highest potential to be a preclinical target amongst the CNS cholinergic receptors (Fisher, 2008) since they are mostly located in the brain (Levey, 1993), remain intact in AD (Araujo et al., 1988) and modulate amyloid precursor protein (APP) processing (Nitsch et al., 1992, Davis et al., 2010). Interestingly, M1 stimulation activates two transduction pathways: the protein kinase C (PKC)-dependent and mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK)-dependent pathways. These pathways operate in parallel to stimulate α -secretase, enhancing the secretion of neuroprotective α APPs peptides (Haring et al., 1998, Jones et al., 2008, Müller et al., 1997, Shirey et al., 2009) and decreasing A β deposition (Beach et al., 2003), ultimately shifting APP processing towards the non-amyloidogenic pathway (Fisher et al., 2016).

AF710B, currently known as ANAVEX3-71, is a selective allosteric M1 muscarinic and sigma-1 receptor (Sig-1R) agonist (Fisher et al., 2016). Sig-1R is an intracellular chaperone at the

endoplasmic reticulum (ER) that modulates calcium signalling (Hayashi et al., 2011, Hayashi and Su, 2007). Sig-1Rs translocate from the ER when cells are subjected to prolonged stress and regulate a variety of functional proteins (Su et al., 2010, Morin-Surun et al., 1999). Overall, Sig-1Rs activation has been implicated in neuroprotective, anti-amnestic and anti-inflammatory functions (Marrazzo et al., 2005, Villard et al., 2011, Jia et al., 2018, Pal et al., 2012). AF710B was shown previously to attenuate cognitive decline and reduce amyloid pathology and neuroinflammation in 3xTg-AD mice (Fisher et al., 2016) and McGill-R-Thy1-APP (McGill-APP) transgenic (Tg) rats (Hall et al., 2018). However, it remains unknown whether preventive strategies, delivered prior to the extensive disease pathology, may be more effective than treatment administered in later stages.

For this reason, we tested whether a 7-month chronic treatment with low-dose AF710B ($10 \mu g/kg$) starting at early amyloid pathology stages could prevent cognitive impairment, plaque deposition, and neuroinflammation in McGill-APP Tg rats. Additionally, we investigated NGF and BDNF, two neurotrophins known to be affected in the brains of AD and MCI patients (Pentz et al., 2020, Fahnestock et al., 2001, Bruno et al., 2009a, Peng et al., 2004, Cuello et al., 2019, Peng et al., 2005, Michalski and Fahnestock, 2003a, Hock et al., 2000).

4.2 <u>Methods</u>

4.2.1 Animals

McGill-R-Thy1-APP homozygous Tg rats (n = 22), express the human APP751 gene carrying the Swedish double mutation (K670M and M671L) and the Indiana mutation (V717F) under the control of the murine Thy1.2 promoter (Leon et al., 2010). This Tg rat model shows intracellular pathology at 7 months old, with the first amyloid plaques gradually appearing in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus at 13 months of age (Leon et al., 2010, Wilson et al., 2016, Iulita et al., 2014a, Flores-Aguilar et al., 2022). Age-matched wild-type (wt) rats (n = 22) were used as controls. The genotype was assessed by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) as previously described (Leon et al., 2010). The animals were housed two per cage and kept on a 12-hour light/ dark cycle with ad libitum access to water and standard rodent diet. The McGill University Animal Care Committee approved all experimental procedures.

4.2.2 Experimental design and drug treatment

Seven-month-old rats were divided into four sex-balanced groups according to their genotype and treatment (AF710B or phosphate saline buffer (PBS)) administered orally to the animals daily (wt-sal = 12, wt-AF710B = 10, Tg-sal = 10, Tg-AF710B = 12) (**Figure 4-1, Supplemental figure 4-1 A**). The dose of AF710B (10 μ g/kg) and the experimental design were chosen based on a previous study (Hall et al., 2018). Treatment lasted 7 months, with bi-weekly drug adjustment based on their weight (**Supplemental figure 4-1 B**). When the treatment ended, animals were given a wash-out period of 4 weeks where no drug or vehicle was administered, prior to behavioral testing. After completing behavioural testing, the animals were perfused at 15.5 months old, and their brains were preserved for histological and biochemical analyses.

4.2.3 Open Field

The open field (OF) task was performed in an open field arena (80x80 cm, 45 cm high), where the rats were placed for 3 minutes. Tracking paths and time spent in the centre and perimeter of the box were recorded using a video tracking software (EthoVision XT10.1; Noldus, The Netherlands).

4.2.4 New Object Location and Novel Object Recognition

The novel object location (NOL) and novel object recognition (NOR) tasks were performed 24 h after the OF, as described previously (Iulita et al., 2014a, Habif et al., 2021). Briefly, rats were exposed to five objects of various shapes and colors (familiarization phase). Subsequently, one of the objects was moved to a new location (NOL) and in the following session one object was replaced by a new, unfamiliar object (NOR). During each of the 2-minutes phases, time spent exploring each object was recorded by the experimenter and we quantified the % time spent exploring the object in the new location and the novel object compared to the familiar objects. A 15-minute interval separated each trial.

4.2.5 Social Preference

The social preference (SP) protocol of Yang and collaborators (2011) (Yang et al., 2011) was adapted for rats. The OF arena was separated in 3 chambers (80 cm x 26.6 cm x 45 cm each). In

both external chambers a grid cage $(26 \times 12 \times 15 \text{ cm})$ was placed. An opening of 10 cm was cut in the centre of each cardboard separation to allow the rats to freely explore the 3 chambers (**Figure 4-2 C**). The subject rat was introduced in the arena facing the wall of the middle chamber and was allowed to explore for 2 minutes (habituation phase). During the testing phase, an unfamiliar rat was placed in one grid cage, while a rat-shaped object was placed inside the other grid cage and the subject rat was allowed to explore the chambers for 4 minutes. A maximum interval of 15 minutes was allowed between habituation and testing phase. During each phase, time spent exploring each grid cage was recorded and we quantified the % time spent on the unfamiliar rat compared to the rat-shaped object. Tracking paths were recorded using a video tracking software (EthoVision XT10.1; Noldus, The Netherlands).

4.2.6 Morris water maze

To assess spatial learning and memory, rats were trained in the Morris water maze task (MWM) as described previously (Hall et al., 2018), 48 hours after the SP task. Briefly, rats were trained for five consecutive days (four trials per day) to locate a platform (10 cm in diameter) submerged 2 cm under the water surface. In each trial, rats were released from a different starting point (east/west/north/south) and given 120 seconds to find the platform and climb onto it. The sequence of release positions was changed each day. A 20-minute interval separated each trial. On day 6, the platform was removed from the tank, and the animals were given a final spatial probe trial in which rats were allowed to swim *ad libitum* for 60 seconds. Latency to locate the hidden platform, swim speed, total distance swim, and swim paths were recorded using a video tracking software (EthoVision XT10.1; Noldus, The Netherlands), and the number of platform zone crossings were counted during the probe test.

4.2.7 Brain tissue collection

Upon completion of the behavioural test, rats were deeply anesthetized with a mix of chloral hydrate and sodium pentobarbital (6.5 mg and 3 mg, respectively, per 100 g of body weight) delivered by intraperitoneal injection and perfused transcardially with cold saline solution for 2 min. The brain was removed, and the cortex, hippocampus and cerebellum were dissected from one hemisphere. The tissue was flash-frozen and kept at -80 °C for qRT-PCR and Western blotting. The other hemisphere was post-fixed in 4% PFA at 4°C for 24 hours and transferred to

30% sucrose in 0.1 M phosphate buffer. The fixed hemisphere was sectioned on a microtome (Leica SM 2000R; Germany) into 40- μ m thick sections and stored at -20 °C in a cryoprotectant solution of ethylene glycol and sucrose in PBS (pH 7.4).

4.2.8 Sample preparation for Aβ levels and inflammatory mediators

Cortical tissue (40-50 mg) was homogenized by sonication in 8 volumes TBS buffer (150mM NaCl, 50mM Tris-HCl, 5mM EDTA, pH 7.6) containing protease inhibitors (cOmplete Mini Protease Inhibitor Cocktail, Roche). Homogenates were ultracentrifuged at 100,000g for 1 hour. Supernatants (soluble fraction) were collected and stored at -80C. The pellets were resuspended in 5 volumes of guanidine buffer (5M guanidine HCl, 50mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0), sonicated and incubated at room temperature for 3 hours. The samples were then ultracentrifuged at 100,000g for 1 hour after which the supernatants (insoluble fraction) were collected and stored at -80C. Protein concentration of the soluble and insoluble fractions were assessed using the DC Protein Assay (BioRad) according to the manufacturers' instructions.

4.2.9 Analysis of TBS soluble and insoluble human Aβ38, Aβ40 and Aβ42 peptides

Levels of human A β 38, A β 40, and A β 42 in cortical brain tissue and plasma of Tg rats were analyzed using the MesoScale Discovery V-plex A β Peptide Panel 1 (6E10) kit (MesoScale Discovery, Rockville, MD) according to the manufacturers' protocol (as in (Martino Adami et al., 2016)). Soluble cortical fractions were pre-diluted to 4 ug protein/ul and assayed at a 1:2 dilution in Diluent 35. Insoluble cortical fractions were pre-diluted to 10 ug protein/ul and assayed at a 1:50 to 1:1000 dilution. Plasma-EDTA samples were assayed at a 1:4 dilution. All samples were assayed in duplicate. The electrochemiluminescence signal was quantified using a MesoScale Discovery SECTOR Imager 6000. Analyte concentrations were calculated in reference to calibrators for each individual analyte, as determined from a standard curve generated by the MSD Discovery Workbench software v. 4.0 (Meso Scale Discovery). The dynamic range for A β 38 was 8.12-12200 pg/ml, for A β 40 4.89-15300 pg/ml and for A β 42 0.328-1710 pg/ml. Values were normalized to total protein input and expressed as pg A β peptide/mg protein.

4.2.10 Analysis of inflammatory mediators

Soluble cortical fractions, prepared as described above, were pre-diluted to 4 ug protein/ul and assayed at a 1:2 dilution in Diluent 42, in duplicate. Levels of 9 cytokines (IFN- γ , IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-5, IL-6, KC/GRO, IL-10, IL-13, TNF- α) were measured using the MesoScale Discovery Proinflammatory Panel 2 (rat) kit and the SECTOR Imager 6000 (MesoScale Discovery, Rockville, MD) (as in (Wilson et al., 2018)). Cytokine concentrations were calculated from a standard curve generated by the MSD Discovery Workbench software v. 4.0. Values were normalized to total protein input and expressed as pg cytokine/mg protein.

4.2.11 Western blotting

Frontoparietal cortical samples (20 mg) were manually homogenized in lysis buffer (Cell Signaling, USA) containing a complete protease inhibitor cocktail (Roche, USA). Manual homogenization was followed by two 5 s pulses of sonication. The homogenates were centrifuged at 20,780 g, for 45 min at 4 °C, the supernatants were collected, and the protein concentration was determined by the Lowry assay (DC[™] Protein Assay kit, BioRad, USA). The homogenates (50 ug) were mixed with Sample Buffer (Tris-HCl 250 mM, pH 6.8, 40% (v/v) glycerol, 10% (w/v) SDS, 10% (v/v) β -mercaptoethanol, 0.01% (w/v) bromophenol blue) and boiled for 5 minutes. The samples were loaded on SDS-polyacrylamide gels and were transferred to PVDF membranes (BioRad, USA) for 1 h at 350 mA. Membranes were blocked with 5% non-fat milk in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.1% Tween 20 (TBS-T) for 1 h at room temperature and incubated with the primary antibodies directed against BDNF (1:2000, Ab108319, Abcam), proNGF (1:2000, ANT-005, Alomone), and GAPDH (1:10,000, MAB374, Millipore) in TBS-T overnight at 4 °C. Peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies (1:10,000, Jackson Immunoresearch), dissolved in TBS-T, were applied for 1 h at room temperature. Immunoreactions were developed with an enhanced chemiluminescence substrate (Western Lightning® Plus-ECL, PerkinElmer Inc., USA) and imaged with Amersham Imager 600 (GE Healthcare, USA) and ChemiDoc™ Touch system (Bio-Rad, Canada). Densitometry was quantified with TotalLab CLIQS Software (TotalLab, UK) and ImageLab (Bio-Rad, Canada) and the values were normalized to GAPDH as a loading control. An additional sample was loaded in each gel as an internal loading control. The values were expressed as fold change relative to the control group. Three and two technical replicates were performed respectively for BDNF and proNGF.

4.2.12 McSA1 immunostaining and Thioflavin-S staining

Sections were washed with PBS and permeabilized using 50% ethanol for 20 minutes, followed by washes with PBS-T (containing 0.2% Triton-X-100), and blocked for 1 hour at RT in 10% NGS. The sections were then incubated with anti-A β McSA1 (1:1500, MediMabs) and anti-NeuN (1:1500, ABN90P, Millipore) antibodies overnight at 4 °C. Sections were washed in PBS-T and incubated with Alexa Fluor-conjugated secondary antibodies for 2 hours RT. Sections were then washed three times for 5 minutes in PBS-T, then were rinsed two times for 5 minutes in deionized water and incubated in Thioflavin-S (Thio-S, 0.1% solution in 50% EtOH) for 5 minutes at room temperature. Subsequently sections were rinsed two times in 50% EtOH for 2 minutes and in PBS three times for 10 minutes. Sections were mounted on Gelatin Coated Slides and Coverslipped with Aqua Polymount.

4.2.13 Immunofluorescence (IF)

Free-floating sections were washed using PBS and underwent heat-mediated antigen retrieval. Sections were incubated at 80 °C in 10 mM citrate buffer (pH 6.0) for 30 minutes, then cooled for 20 minutes at room temperature. They were then washed with PBS and permeabilized using 50% ethanol for 20 minutes, followed by washes with PBS-T (containing 0.2% Triton-X-100), and blocked for 1 hour at RT in 10% normal goat (NGS) or normal donkey (NDS) serum. The sections were then incubated with primary antibodies for 48 hours at 4 °C: anti-GFAP (1:2000, SPM507, Novus Biologicals); anti-NeuN (1:1000, ABN90P, Merck), anti-Iba1 (1:1000, 019-19741, Wako), anti-VAChT (1:1500, 139 103, Synaptic Systems), anti-VGluT1 (1:200, MediMabs), anti-TrkA (1:120, AF1056-SP, R&D). After primary antibody incubation, sections were washed in PBS-T, and incubated with Alexa Fluor 488 (goat or donkey anti-mouse), Alexa Fluor 568 (goat or donkey anti-rabbit), and Alexa Fluor 647 (goat-anti-guinea pig or donkey-anti-goat) (all at 1:800, Thermo Fisher Scientific) for 2 hours room temperature. Following washes, sections were incubated for 5 minutes with 0.3 Sudan black in 70% ethanol to reduce autofluorescence. Sections were then washed three times for 5 minutes in PBS-T, then three times for 5 minutes in PBS before mounting onto subbed coated slides and coverslipped with Aqua-Poly/Mount (Polysciences).

4.2.14 Confocal imaging and analyses

For Thio-S-McSA1-NeuN staining, images were acquired using a 20x HC LP APO objective with a confocal microscope Leica TCS SP8 (Leica, Canada) using the LAS X Software (Leica, Canada). We collected seven images per animal for CA1, six images for the cortical layer V and one image for the subiculum within two subject replicates. The of $582.39 \times 582.39 \,\mu\text{m}$ images were collected in Z-stacks with an optical section of $0.896 \,\mu\text{m}$, an interval of $1.5 \,\mu\text{m}$ and a resolution of 512×512 pixels.

For VAChT-vGluT1-TrkA staining, images were acquired using a 63x oil HC LP APO objective objective with a confocal microscope Leica TCS SP8 (Leica, Canada). We collected six images per animal for CA1 within two subject replicates. The of $184.71 \times 184.71 \mu m$ images were collected in Z-stacks with an optical section of $0.896 \mu m$, an interval of $1.0 \mu m$ and a resolution of 1024×1024 pixels.

For Iba1-GFAP-NeuN staining, images were acquired using a 20x Plan Apochromat objective lens (NA = 0.80) with a LSM800 Confocal Microscope AxioObserver (Zeiss, Germany) using ZEN Imaging software (ZEN Black). Six images per animal were collected in CA1 (three images per section) using Z-stacks at an interval of 1 μ m. Sixteen-bit images of 523.4 \times 523.4 μ m were acquired with a pixel dwell of 0.76 μ s and an averaging of two by line.

For all imaging, the signal was detected with emission wavelengths of 500-550 nm (488 laser), 571-620 nm (561 laser), and 650-700 nm (640 laser). Images were subsequently imported to Fiji software (ImageJ), and slices were merged into one stack (stack/Z projection/Maximum Intensity Projection) for each channel. The immunolabelling of McSA1 plaques was quantified using the integrated density value in the McSA1-IR area that does not overlap with the NeuN-IR area using a home-built macro for ImageJ as in (**Supplemental figure 4-3 A**). The area of the plaques Thiof-S-positive is described in (**Supplemental figure 4-3 B**). The overall amount of Iba1-IR and GFAP-IR cells and the one in the proximity of NeuN is described in (**Supplemental figure 4-4**); the Iba1-IR cell morphology in NeuN proximity is in (**Supplemental figure 4-4**). For the Vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VAChT), the vesicular glutamate transporter 1 (vGluT1) and tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TrkA) the images were analyzed as shown in (**Supplemental figure 4-6 C**). Images were processed and analyzed after blinding to treatment.

4.2.15 Statistical analysis

The software GraphPad Prism v8 (La Jolla, CA, USA) was used for statistical analysis. Data normality was verified with the D'Agostino-Pearson normality test. A two-tailed unpaired t-test was used for 2-group comparisons. The rats that did not explore at all (NOL, NOR) or had difficulty to swim (MWM) were removed from the analysis. For 4-group comparisons, 2-way-ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons analysis (Tukey) was applied and a mixed-effect analysis was performed, instead of ANOVA, when some values were missing. If data normality was violated, the analysis was performed with non-parametric tests or the data were transformed as reported in the legend of each figure. Significance was set at p < 0.05.

4.3 <u>Results</u>

4.3.1 AF710B prevents cognitive decline in McGill-APP rats

Following 7 months of drug treatment, and after a 1-month wash-out period, rats were tested in a battery of behavioural tests (**Figure 4-1**). The Open Field test showed no locomotor activity differences between the groups (**Supplemental figure 4-1 A-C**). In the NOL and NOR tests, rats typically spend more time exploring the object in the new location (NOL) and the novel object (NOR), based on a natural preference for novel location and object over familiar ones (Antunes and Biala, 2012). Although Tg rats were not impaired in the NOL task compared to the wt rats (**Supplemental figure 4-1 D, E**), when one of the familiar objects was substituted with a new object, Tg-sal spent significantly less time exploring the novel object compared to the wt-sal (**Figure 4-2 A,B**). In contrast, Tg-AF710B rats performed similarly to the Wt-sal animals (**Figure 4-2 A, B**).

In the SP task, the time rats spend interacting with an unfamiliar rat rather than exploring a ratshaped object is measured (Yang et al., 2011) (**Figure 4-2 C**). Tg-sal rats showed a 16.6 % average less interaction time with an unfamiliar rat than the wt-sal (**Figure 4-2 D**). This deficit was rescued in Tg-AVAVEX, which spent 18.8% more time interacting with the unfamiliar rats compared to the Tg-sal (**Figure 4-2 D**). In addition, the overall time of exploration of either the unfamiliar rat and the object was significantly increased in the Tg-AF710B group compared to the Tg-sal (**Figure 4-2 E**). These findings are further illustrated by the cumulative heatmap paths obtained during the SP task (**Figure 4-2 F**).

In the MWM task, the rats' performance improved over the days of the acquisition phase, as demonstrated by a decrease in escape latency (**Figure 4-2 G, H**). Significant differences in learning were found across the groups in the last three days of acquisition and the escape latencies were averaged. As a result, in the last three days of acquisition, the Tg-sal required an average of 58 s to locate the hidden platform compared to the wt-sal, which required 36 s (**Figure 4-2 I**) and the Tg-AF710B performed significantly better than the Tg-sal, with an average latency of 40 s (**Figure 4-2 I**). In the probe test, we measured the number of platform zone crossings after removing the

hidden platform. Treatment with AF710B rescued the deficit observed in the Tg-sal (**Figure 4-2 J**).



Figure 4-1. Schematic representation of the experimental design.

AF710B or saline was delivered to 7-month-old rats for 7 months. Following 1 month of washout, rats were submitted to behavioural testing before being euthanized at 15.5 months.



Figure 4-2. AF710B prevented cognitive impairment in McGill-APP rats.

(A, B) In the NOR, Tg-sal was significantly impaired compared to the wt-sal (P=0.0099, Df = 38.00). The impairment was rescued in the Tg-AF710B (P=0.004, Df = 38.00), and a significant effect was also present in the wt-AF710B compared to the Tg-sal (P=0.025, Df = 38.00). (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.022, F (1, 38) = 5.664; genotype: P=0.050, F (1, 38) = 4.112; interaction: P=0.008, F (1, 38) = 7.853)).

(C, D) Tg-sal group was impaired compared to the wt-sal in the SP test (P<0.001, Df = 39.00) and this deficit was rescued in the Tg-AF710B (P<0.0001, Df = 39.00). Also, Tg-sal performed worst compared to the wt-AF710B (P<0.0001, Df = 39.00). (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P<0.001, F (1, 39) = 16.93; genotype: P=0.002, F (1, 39) = 10.76; interaction: P=0.007, F (1, 39) = 8.171). (E,F) The overall time exploring either the rats or the object was significantly higher in the Tg-AF710B compared with the Tg-sal (P=0.006, Df = 39.00), as also expressed by the representative cumulative heatmap paths (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.011, F (1, 39) = 7.206; genotype:

P=0.544, F (1, 39) = 0.3743; interaction: P=0.024, F (1, 39) = 5.530). (G, H) In the MWM, Tg-sal performed significantly worst on days 3 and 4 compared to wt-AF710B (respectively, P = 0.038, Df = 10.22; P = 0.045, Df = 19.26). In day 5, Tg-sal performed worst than Tg-AF710B (P = 0.036, Df = 13.15), wt-sal (P = 0.001, Df = 16.25) and wt-AF710B (P = 0.044, Df = 8.605). (I) In the average of the last 3 days of training, sal-Tg group was impaired compared to the sal-wt (P = 0.002, Df = 36.00), and Tg-AF710B showed a significant improvement compared to the Tg-sal (P = 0.012, Df = 36.00). In addition, Tg-sal performed significantly worst than wt-AF710B (P < 0.0001, Df = 36.00). (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P = 0.003, F (1, 36) = 10.20; genotype: P< 0.001, F (1, 36) = 17.54; interaction: P= 0.161, F (1, 36) = 2.046). (J) The probe test showed a significant difference in the treatment effect (2x2 ANOVA, P = 0.020, F (1, 38) = 5.917) (genotype: P= 0.373, F (1, 38) = 0.8132; interaction: P= 0.946, F (1, 38) = 0.004651). Statistical analysis: 2x2 ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.

Altogether, long-term treatment with AF710B could prevent the cognitive decline of the Tg rats, as observed in the NOR, SP and MWM tasks. This effect was sustained after 1 month of drug discontinuation, highlighting the therapeutic disease-modifying effects of AF710B.

4.3.2 AF710B prevents extracellular Aβ deposition in McGill-APP rats

The McSA1 immunoreactivity in CA1 of hippocampus and cortical pyramidal layer V in McGill-APP rats starts intraneuronal and with the progression of amyloid pathology is accompanied by the widespread presence of amyloid plaques (Leon et al., 2010, Iulita et al., 2014a). The intensity of the extraneuronal McSA1-IR of Tg-treated with AF710B was significantly lower in CA1 (**Figure 4-3 A, C**) in the cortex (**Figure 4-3 A,D**) compared to the Tg controls. In this analysis, the proportion of rats in each group with extracellular Aβ pathology was assessed. The majority of Tg-sal (90%) showed at least one plaque in CA1 and 50% of Tg-sal showed extracellular pathology in the cortex (**Figure 4-3 B**). In contrast, in the Tg-AF710B group, only 33% of rats showed extraneuronal Aβ pathology in the CA1 and only 8% in the cortex (**Figure 4-3 B**).

Thio-S-stained mature amyloid plaques were found in the subiculum but not in the cortex and hippocampus in the Tg-Sal, and AF710B-treatment led to a reduction in the number of Thio-S-positive plaques (**Figure 4-3 A, E**). Furthermore, protein levels of the three A β isoforms (**Figure 4-3**) were measured in the soluble and insoluble fraction of cortical homogenates. Decreased levels of the more toxic, soluble and insoluble, A β 42 were detected in the Tg-AF710B compared with the Tg-sal (**Figure 4-3 F,G**) as well as a significant reduction of the insoluble A β 40 (**Figure 4-3 H**). Interestingly, the ratio A β 42/A β 40, was significantly higher in the Tg-sal compared to the Tg-AF710B (**Figure 4-3 J**). No changes were detected between the two groups in the levels of A β 38 (**Supplemental Figure 4-3 D**).



Figure 4-3. AF710B reduced amyloid pathology in McGill-APP rats.

(A) Representative images of IF for a McSA1 and NeuN in cortex and hippocampus (top) and Thiof-S staining of the subiculum (bottom) from Tg-sal and Tg-AF710B rats (scale bar 100 μ m). (B) Summary table of the number of rats with plaques in the cortex and hippocampus. (C-E) Tg-AF710B showed a significant decrease in diffuse plaques signal intensity in the hippocampus (P = 0.003, U = 17), and cortex (P = 0.023, U = 22), as well as a significant decrease of Thiof-S positive plaques in the subiculum (P = 0.018, U = 21), compared to the Tg-sal. (F-I) Tg-AF710B showed a significant reduction in the insoluble and soluble fraction Aβ42 (respectively, P = 0.014, U = 23 and P = 0.003, U = 12) and a significant decrease of insoluble Aβ40 (P = 0.016, U = 18), without changes of the soluble fraction (P = 0.824, U = 46) compared to the Tg-sal. (J) The ratio

of the soluble A β 42/40 was increased in the Tg-sal compared to the Tg-AF710B (P = 0.006, t=3.063, df=20). Statistical analysis: Mann-Whitney test and unpaired t-test for the ratio A β 42/40.

4.3.3 AF710B reduces microglia and astrocyte recruitment towards neurons in the hippocampus

As $A\beta$ -burdened neurons have been shown to induce an inflammatory reaction recruiting astrocytes and microglia (as previously demonstrated (Hanzel et al., 2014b, Ferretti et al., 2012)), the number of glial cells recruited towards CA1 neuronal layer was assessed (**Supplemental Figure 4-4**). Tg-AF710B group showed a significant reduction in microglia (Figure 4-4 A, C) and astrocytes recruited towards the CA1 hippocampal region compared to the Tg-sal (**Figure 4-4 A,E**). The density of microglia and astrocytes in the proximity of A β -burdened neurons was significantly reduced following AF710B treatment in a manner that was independent from the genotype. Interestingly, no differences across the four groups were found for the overall CA1 area covered by astrocytes and the number of microglia (**Figure 4-4 B, D**), confirming that the differences are due to glia recruitment by A β -burdened neurons and not an increased amount of glia.

4.3.4 AF710B rescues microglia morphological changes and the profile of inflammatory mediators

In AD animal models, the increased number of microglia recruited in the proximity of hippocampal neurons is accompanied by changes in their morphology (Ferretti et al., 2012), reflecting the functional state of the cell (Torres-Platas et al., 2014, Franco-Bocanegra et al., 2019, Martini et al., 2020). In the fully activated state, microglia are characterized by an ameboid shape, with an increased soma size and process retraction (Serrano-Pozo et al., 2013, Davies et al., 2017).

AF710B treatment decreased the microglia soma size and increased the length of the processes (**Figure 4-5 A, C-E, Supplemental figure 4-4 A**). Additionally, Tg-sal showed a significant increase in the ratio "overall soma area /overall processes length", compared to the wt-sal (**Figure 4-5 B**), corresponding to an activated state. Conversely, this ratio was significantly decreased in the Tg by AF710B treatment (**Figure 4-5 B**), indicating a less 'activated' state.

Additionally, the protein levels of the inflammatory mediators were examined. AF710B treated Tg rats showed a significant decrease in pro-inflammatory cytokines (particularly IL-1 β and IL-6), and an increase in anti-inflammatory cytokines (such as IL-10 and IL-4) compared to the Tg-Sal group (**Figure 4-5 F-L**) with no changes for IL-13 and KC/GRO (**Supplemental figure 4-5**).



Figure 4-4. AF710B reduced microglia and astrocyte recruitment toward hippocampal neurons

(A) Representative images of CA1 IF for Iba1-IR cells and NeuN (left) and GFAP-IR cells and NeuN (right) from wt and Tg rats treated either with saline or AF710B (scale bar 100 μ m). (B, D) There were no differences in the total amount of Iba1-IR cells and GFAP-IR area between the four groups (2x2 ANOVA for Iba1, treatment: P= 0.402, F (1, 39) = 0.7174; genotype: P=0.020, F (1, 39) = 5.928; interaction: P=0.858, F (1, 39) = 0.03253. For GFAP, treatment: P=0.794, F (1, 40) = 0.06894; genotype: P=0.009, F (1, 40) = 7.487; interaction: P=0.782, F (1, 40) = 0.07757). (C) A trend towards an increased number of Iba1-IR cells in CA1 was present in the Tg-sal compared to the controls wt-sal (P=0.084, Df 38.00) and Tg-AF710B showed a significant reduction of recruitment compared to the Tg-sal (P=0.012, Df 38.00); (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.016, F (1, 38) = 6.343; genotype: P= 0.161, F (1, 38) = 2.043; interaction: P=0.061, F (1, 38) = 3.719).

(E) Tg-AF710B showed a significant reduction of recruitment of GFAP-IR cells compared to the Tg-sal (P=0.011, Df =40.00) and the Tg-sal had more GFAP-IR cells recruited compared to the wt-AF710B group (P =0.017, Df =40.00); (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.002, F (1, 40) = 10.48; genotype: P= 0.183, F (1, 40) = 1.836; interaction: P=0.161, F (1, 40) = 2.043). Statistical analysis: 2x2 ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.



Figure 4-5. AF710B rescued morphological changes of microglia recruited towards hippocampal neurons and altered the cytokines profile.

(A) Representative images of microglia cells in proximity of NeuN from wt and Tg rats treated with saline or AF710B (scale bar 20 μ m). (B) Tg-sal showed a significant increase in the ratio "cell bodies area/length processes" compared to the wt-sal (P = 0.019, Df =38.00), which was significantly reduced in the Tg-AF710B (P = 0.015, Df =38.00) and the wt-AF710B (P = 0.001,

Df =38.00) compared to the Tg-sal; (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.003, F(1, 38) = 10.04;genotype: P=0.005, F (1, 38) = 9.044 ; interaction: P=0.187, F (1, 38) = 1.808). (C-E) Treatment with AF710B showed to have a significant treatment effect in 2x2 ANOVA towards microglia body size (P=0.024, F (1, 38) = 5.510), in reducing the average number of processes (P=0.023, F (1, 38) = 5.656) and a trend towards increasing processes length (treatment: P=0.063, F (1, 38) = 3.667). (F) IL-1 β was significantly increased in the Tg-sal compared to the wt-AF710B (P = 0.013, Df = 35.00) and to Tg-AF710B (P = 0.022, Df = 35.00) groups; (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P= 0.005, F(1, 35) = 9.116; genotype: P= 0.117, F(1, 35) = 2.587; interaction: P=0.267, F(1, 35) = 0.005, F(1, 35) = 0.0 1.271). (G) IL-6 in the Tg-sal did not show a significant difference compared to the wt-sal (P =0.415, Df = 35.00), but was significantly reduced in the Tg-AF710B (P = 0.020, Df = 35.00). (2x2) ANOVA: treatment: P=0.015, F (1, 35) = 6.598; genotype: P=0.492, F (1, 35) = 0.4819; interaction: P=0.138, F (1, 35) = 2.300). (H) TNF α in the Tg-AF710B showed a significant increase compared to the wt-sal (P = 0.019, Df = 34.00). (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.054, F (1, 34) = 3.990; genotype: P=0.037, F (1, 34) = 4.705; interaction: P=0.577, F (1, 34) = 0.3175). (I) IL-10, showed a significant increase in the Tg-AF710B group compared to the Tg-sal (P = 0.003, Df = 35.00) and a trend towards an increase compared to wt-AF710B (P = 0.087, Df = 35.00) and. (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.002, F(1, 35) = 12.41; genotype: P=0.958, F(1, 35) = 0.002864;interaction: P=0.095, F (1, 35) = 2.942).

(J) IL-4 was significantly increased in Tg-AF710B compared to wt-sal (P = 0.031, Df = 35.00) and to the Tg-sal (P = 0.005, Df = 35.00). (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.001, F(1, 35) = 12.63; genotype: P=0.680, F(1, 35) = 0.1727; interaction: P=0.189, F(1, 35) = 1.796).

(K) IL-5, was significantly increased in Tg-AF710B compared to wt-sal (P<0.0001, Df = 36.00); sal:Tg (P<0.001, Df = 36.00) and wt-AF710B (P <0.0001, Df = 36.00); (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P<0.001, F (1, 36) = 12.97; genotype: P<0.0001, F (1, 36) = 25.40; interaction: P=0.021, F (1, 36) = 5.877). (L) INF γ was significantly increased in the Tg-AF710B group compared to the Tg-sal (P = 0.031, Df = 35.00). (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.032, F (1, 35) = 4.982; genotype: P=0.674, F (1, 35) = 0.1799; interaction: P=0.093, F (1, 35) = 2.987). Statistical analysis: 2x2 ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test. Additional statistical analyses. Cell body; genotype: P=0.036, F (1, 38) = 4.726; interaction: P=0.471, F (1, 38) = 0.5308; Tukey's multiple comparisons test (Tg-sal vs. wt-AF710B, P = 0.024, Df = 38.00). Average number processes, genotype: P=0.395, F (1, 38) = 0.7411; interaction: P=0.523, F (1, 38) = 0.4151. Average processes length: genotype: P=0.025, F (1, 38) = 5.479; interaction: P=0.625, F (1, 38) = 0.2425. Tukey's multiple comparisons test (Tg-sal vs. wt-AF710B, P = 0.027, Df = 38.00).

4.3.5 AF710B restored the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF

To address the status of BFCNs, VAChT-IR presynaptic boutons were measured in the hippocampal CA1 region. As expected, the Tg-sal group showed a significant decrease in VAChT-IR synapses compared to the Wt-sal group (**Figure 4-6 A, B**). However, AF710B treatment did not produce significant changes in VAChT-IR synapses in the Tg- AF710B compared to Tg-sal (**Figure 4-6 A, B**). Similarly, the density of glutamatergic synapses, assessed through vesicular glutamate transporter 1 (vGluT1) immunoreactivity, which is required for exocytic glutamate release at presynaptic terminals (Fremeau Jr et al., 2004), remained unchanged between groups (**Figure 4-6 C, Supplemental figure 4-6 A**).

Additionally, we investigated levels of NGF and BDNF. These neurotrophins are both secreted in an activity-dependent manner (Mowla et al., 1999, Bruno and Cuello, 2006) from cortical and hippocampal neurons as precursors, respectively proNGF and proBDNF, and converted in the extracellular space into the bioactive mature NGF (mNGF) (Bruno and Cuello, 2006, Bruno et al., 2009a) and mature BDNF (mBDNF) (Lee et al., 2001, Seidah et al., 1996a, Pang et al., 2004). No differences in the protein levels of proNGF in the cortex and in the levels of mNGF receptors (TrkA) in the hippocampus, were found across the four groups (**Figure 4-6 D-E, Supplemental figure 4-6 B**). Subsequently, protein levels mBDNF and proBDNF were assessed. Although levels both mBDNF and proBDNF were unchanged (**Figure 4-6 F-G, I**), the ratio proBDNF/mBDNF was significantly increased in the Tg-sal compared to the Wt-sal, indicating less conversion of proBDNF into its mature form (**Figure 4-6 H-I**). This ratio was rescued in the Tg-AF710B compared to the Tg-sal (**Figure 4-6 H-I**) indicating that more mBDNF was converted from proBDNF following AF710B treatment.



Figure 4-6. AF710B rescued proBDNF conversion to mBDNF.

(A) Representative images of IF for VAChT-IR synapses in CA1 in wt and Tg rats treated either with saline or AF710B (scale bar 25 μ m). (B) VAChT-IR area was significantly decreased in the wt-sal compared to the Tg-sal (P = 0.041, Df = 37.00) and Tg-sal showed a trend towards a decrease compared to the wt-AF710B (P = 0.010, Df = 37.00); (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.255, F (1, 37) = 1.338; genotype: P=0.026, F (1, 37) = 5.377; interaction: P=0.089, F (1, 37) = 3.055). (C, D) No differences between the four groups were detected in the CA1 for vGluT1-IR and TrkA-IR (2x2 ANOVA; vGluT1, treatment: P = 0.130, F (1, 39) = 2.388; genotype: P = 0.373, F (1, 39) = 0.8123; interaction: P = 0.930, F (1, 39) = 0.007837. TrkA, treatment: P = 0.112, F (1, 39) = 2.651; genotype: P = 0.380, F (1, 39) = 0.7874; interaction: P = 0.841, F (1, 39) = 0.04094). (E-G) No differences for proNGF, proBDNF and mBDNF were detected between the four groups (2x2 ANOVA, for proNGF, treatment: P=0.337, F (1, 40) = 0.9444; genotype: P=0.798, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.9926. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40) = 0.06645; interaction: P=0.323, F (1, 40) = 0.9996. For proBDNF: treatment: P=0.925, F (1, 40)

0.009098; genotype: P=0.437, F (1, 40) = 0.6163; interaction: P=0.029, F (1, 40) = 5.155. For mBDNF, treatment: P=0.743, F (1, 40) = 0.1090; genotype: P=0.427, F (1, 40) = 0.6435; interaction: P=0.333, F (1, 40) = 0.9612). (H) the ratio pro/mBDNF was significantly increased in the Tg-sal compared to the wt-sal (P = 0.041, Df = 39.00) and was reported at wt-sal levels in Tg-AF710B group (P = 0.035, Df = 39.00) (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.249, F (1, 39) = 1.373; genotype: P=0.325, F (1, 39) = 0.9922; interaction: P=0.006, F (1, 39) = 8.301). Statistical analysis: 2x2 ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test was performed. Y values transformed for VAChT, with y=log2(y), and for mBDNF, with Y=sqrt(Y).

4.4 Discussion

The first-generation muscarinic agonists induced adverse peripheral cholinergic effects due to the lack of true subtype specificity decreasing their therapeutic potential and clinical interest (Fisher, 2012). A first-generation compound with similar characteristics, called AF267B, attenuated cognitive deficits and reduced amyloid pathology by activating the PKC pathway, resulting in a downstream effect on metalloproteinase domain 17 (ADAM17) enhancement and a decrease in βsecretase 1 (BACE-1) (Caccamo et al., 2006). The new muscarinic partial agonist AF710B targets M1 muscarinic and Sig-1Rs simultaneously without any agonistic activity on M2-M5 mAChRs (Fisher et al., 2016). The advantage of the selectivity for M1 receptors and the efficacy of this compound at a low dose (10 µg/kg) should contribute to avoiding or minimizing peripheral side effects (Fisher et al., 2003, Hall et al., 2018). We previously showed that AF710B could reduce amyloid pathology and neuroinflammation thereby ameliorating cognitive outcomes at late stages of the AD-like amyloid pathology. Given the increased potential of preventive treatment, we applied the same AF710B treatment paradigm to test whether AF710B could represent a therapeutic option to prevent amyloid hallmarks of AD. Our findings showed that the drug could prevent cognitive decline, reduce amyloid pathology, neuroinflammation and have increase BDNF availability as proposed in (Figure 4-7).



Figure 4-7. Schematic of the pathological mechanisms affecting cognitive impairment in the transgenic rats and the preventive effect of AF710B.

(A) The cognitive impairment in Tg animals results from multiple pathological processes in the brain. Firstly, the production of A β 40 and A β 42, induces the formation of dense and cored plaques in the cortex and hippocampus (A β pathology). Secondly, microglia and astrocytes are recruited towards A β -burdened neurons with morphological changes compatible with an active state (inflammatory response). Thirdly, a decrease in the VAChT-IR synapses and reduced conversion of mBDNF towards the proBDNF is present (neurotrophins release). (B) Following 7 month-AF710B treatment and 1 month of drug wash-out, Tg rats showed cognitive preservation compared to the Tg controls. M1 mAChRs stimulation induced a reduction of A β pathology, with less production of toxic A β 42 and Ab40 and fewer plaques deposition. Additionally, less recruitment of astrocytes and microglia was accompanied by an increased release of anti-inflammatory cytokines and decreased pro-inflammatory mediators. Furthermore, more conversion of mBDNF from proBDNF was detected. The effect of AF710B on BDNF and inflammation could be mediated indirectly, by a reduction of A β pathology, or directly by stimulation of Sig-1Rs, as described in the text.
4.4.1 Decreased cognitive decline

In line with our previous work (Hall et al., 2018) AF710B restored cognitive capabilities in the NOR test performed to assess working memory (Antunes and Biala, 2012), and in the MWM, which investigates spatial navigation and reference memory (D'Hooge and De Deyn, 2001). In addition, we found a preventive effect of AF710B on the decline in social interaction. While social engagement has a protective effect against age-related cognitive decline (Hikichi et al., 2017, Bassuk et al., 1999, Seeman et al., 2011), social withdrawal (Zava et al., 2021) represents one of the early signs in the AD continuum being present in individuals with MCI and subjective

cognitive decline (Lopez et al., 2005, Rotenberg et al., 2020). McGill-APP rats have previously

been shown to be less motivated to establish social interaction (Petrasek et al., 2018). Interestingly, the drug was able to restore the cognitive performance in the NOR and SP to wild-type level but not fully recover the acquisition in the MWM test. This suggests that AF710B could have a stronger effect on complex cognitive functions resulting from the association/interaction of multiple brain regions targeted by M1 muscarinic receptors. Indeed, NOR and SP require the intervention of the hippocampus, and frontal cortex (Buckmaster et al., 2004, Clark et al., 2000, Aggleton et al., 2010, Hammond et al., 2004, Smith et al., 2021, File et al., 1998) and integration between these areas (Qi et al., 2018, Phillips et al., 2019). On the other hand, learning in the MWM test is solely dependent on the hippocampal function (Brandeis et al., 1989) rather than cortical (de

Bruin et al., 1994, Neave et al., 1994, Warburton et al., 1998, D'Hooge and De Deyn, 2001).

4.4.2 Reduction of Aβ pathology

AF710B reduced plaque deposition in the cortex and hippocampus as well as the soluble and insoluble fraction of A β 42 and an insoluble A β 40. In agreement with our results, it was previously demonstrated that M1 selective agonists are capable of reducing the production of toxic amyloid- β species by shifting the APP processing toward a non-amyloidogenic pathway (Caccamo et al., 2006), and levels of cortical soluble A β 42 in McGill-APP rats in an advanced stage of the pathology (Hall et al., 2018).

4.4.3 Reduction of neuroinflammation

AF710B reduced inflammation in McGill-APP rats, as shown by a decreased recruitment of microglia toward A β -burdened neurons in the hippocampus (Hall et al., 2018). The decrease in neuroinflammation could be the consequence of reduced intracellular processing of toxic A β but could also be directly mediated by M1 and Sig-1Rs.

Our results confirm that AF710B can prevent neuroinflammation, not only by reducing microglia recruitment but also astrocytes. Astrocytes, have M1-muscarinic receptors (Murphy et al., 1986), and can be modulated by ligands targeting Sig-1R sigma receptors (Prezzavento et al., 2010, Ruscher et al., 2011, Robson et al., 2014), which has been shown to ameliorate reactive astrogliosis in a rodent model of stroke and Amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (Ajmo Jr et al., 2006, Peviani et al., 2014). In addition, Sig-1R agonists inhibit lipopolysaccharide-stimulated activation of microglia and the release of pro-inflammatory molecules (Wu et al., 2015, Hall et al., 2009, Jia et al., 2018, Maurice and Su, 2009).

Furthermore, AF710B treatment increased cytokines typically considered anti-inflammatories, such as IL-4, which are associated with a reduction of cognitive impairment and microglia clearance of A β (Kawahara et al., 2012, Shimizu et al., 2008), and IL-10 (Strle et al., 2001), additionally promoting cognitive function (Kiyota et al., 2012). Interestingly, IL-4 and IL-10 suppress microglia secretion of pro-inflammatory IL-1 β and IL-6 (Szczepanik et al., 2001, Ledeboer et al., 2002, Pousset et al., 1999), well-known to be associated with AD (Strauss et al., 1992, Yucesoy et al., 2006, Hedley et al., 2002), which were found to be down-regulated following AF710B treatment.

Additionally, AF710B treatment has been shown to increase levels of TNF- α and IFN- γ classically considered pro-inflammatory but recently recognized to play a dual role in AD (Zheng et al., 2016). Indeed, TNF- α is shown to be neuroprotective, playing a role in improving AD-like pathology in AD Tg mice through A β clearance (Montgomery et al., 2011). IFN- γ plays a similar but weaker function to IL-4, up-regulating glial major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II (Butovsky et al., 2005), and its overexpression decreases A β deposits and infiltration of peripheral monocytes (Chakrabarty et al., 2010, Monsonego et al., 2006).

4.4.4 Could Sig-1Rs activation be responsible for cognitive impairment reduction?

AF710B did not prevent cognitive impairment by increasing cholinergic function, as there were no changes in the number of hippocampal cholinergic synapses in the Tg-AF710B compared to Tg-Sal. Additionally, since NGF is involved in the phenotypic maintenance of BFCNs (Sofroniew et al., 1990, Hefti, 1986, Cuello et al., 1992, Cuello, 1993), levels of the proNGF, the precursor of mNGF, were measured. No changes in proNGF protein levels nor TrkA receptors in the Tg-AF710B compared to Tg-Sal were found.

Interestingly, it was shown that anti-amnesic properties of Sig-1Rs agonists occur even in animals with complete cholinergic depletion (Antonini et al., 2011). Cognitive preservation in the Tg-AF710B group could be mediated by BDNF, as a reduction in the conversion from pro to mBDNF was found in the Tg-sal, and it was rescued by AF710B treatment. BDNF sustains both early and late phases of long-term potentiation (LTP) (Figurov et al., 1996, Korte et al., 1995, Korte et al., 1998, Tartaglia et al., 2001) and is markedly involved in learning and memory (Kang and Schuman, 1995, Korte et al., 1998, Broad et al., 2002, Hariri et al., 2003). Changes in BDNF have been shown to be very subtle in McGill-APP rats (Iulita et al., 2017), as only a reduction in BDNF expression in 3-6 months old has been reported, without changes in protein levels of pro- and mBDNF even at later stages (Iulita et al., 2017). As well, a slight but significant 0.4-fold reduction in mBDNF levels was measured in the cortex of wild-type rats following extensive nucleus basalis immunolesion (with approximately an average loss of 43% in VAChT-IR synapses) (Orciani et al., 2022). In support of our findings, stimulation of Sig-1Rs has been shown to affect mBDNF release in vitro but did not alter BDNF expression (Fujimoto et al., 2012). In vivo, Sig-1R stimulation increased BDNF, consequently rescued cognitive impairment (Kikuchi-Utsumi and Nakaki, 2008, Xu et al., 2015) and promoted neurite outgrowth (Kimura et al., 2013).

In closing, this preclinical study, initiated at an early stage of pathology, provides a solid rationale for the clinical trials of AF710B in AD therapy. Importantly, the sustained recovery in cognition and robust decrease in AD-like pathological markers was observed following a month-long washout phase supporting a disease-modifying effect of AF710B.

4.5 Acknowledgments

We acknowledge the McGill microscope facility Advanced BioImaging Facility (ABIF) in particular, Dr. Joel Ryan for the technical support and data analyses. CO was the holder of the Associazione Levi-Montalcini fellowship. SDC is the holder of the Charles E. Frosst/Merck Research Associate position. MKF was the recipient of a CIHR Doctoral Award. HH was a recipient of a Fonds de Recherche du Quebec-Sante postdoctoral fellowship. ACC is the holder of the McGill University Charles E. Frosst/Merck Chair in Pharmacology and a member of the Canadian Consortium of Neurodegeneration in Aging.

4.6 <u>Supplemental figures</u>



Supplemental figure 4-1. AF710B and effect on the rat weight.

(A) Molecular structure of AF710B, 1-(2,8-Dimethyl-1-thia-3,8-diazaspiro[4.5]dec-3-yl)-3-(1H-indol-3-yl)propan-1-one. AF710B has 0.99.5% chemical purity; 0.99.5% enantiomeric excess; and specific rotation [α] = -56° [C = 0.303, methanol]). The chemical structure of the compound (US Patent 8673931B2), has been previously published (Fisher et al., 2016). (B) rat weight over the 7 months of AF710B treatment divided by sex (top males and bottom females).



Supplemental figure 4-2. Open field, NOL performances and SP habituation.

(A) Representation of the OF arena. (B, C) No differences between the four groups were detected in the OF, for the time spent in the arena centre and the total distance (2x2 ANOVA, for the time in the centre, treatment: P=0.701, F (1, 38) = 0.1495; genotype: P=0.799, F (1, 38) = 0.06588; interaction: P=0.213, F (1, 38) = 1.602. For the total distance, treatment: P=0.480, F (1, 40) = 0.5083; genotype: P=0.695, F (1, 40) = 0.1555; interaction: P=0.047, F (1, 40) = 4.192). (D) Representation of the NOL arena. (E) Tg-sal were not impaired in the NOL and no differences across the four groups were found (2x2 ANOVA: treatment: P=0.172, F (1, 39) = 1.936; genotype: P=0.261, F (1, 39) = 1.301; interaction: P=0.571, F (1, 39) = 0.3264). (F) Representation of the SP arena. (G,H) No differences between the four groups were detected in the SP, for the % time spent exploring the left grid and the total time exploring the two grids (2x2 ANOVA, for the % time spent exploring the left grid, treatment: P=0.397, F (1, 39) = 0.7341; genotype: P=0.248, F (1, 39) = 1.374; interaction:. P=0.052, F (1, 39) = 4.022. For the total time exploring 2 grids: treatment: P=0.295, F (1, 40) = 1.128; genotype: P=0.280, F (1, 40) = 1.200; interaction: P=0.266, F (1, 40) = 1.274). Statistical analysis: 2x2 ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.



Supplemental figure 4-3. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of McSA1 and Thiof-S.

(A, B) Quantification of diffuse plaques with McSA1 and NeuN-IR and mature plaques with Thiof-S staining. (C) A two-dimensional spatial autocorrelation of McSA1 was calculated for each image using the Stack FFT ICS plugin (J. Unruh) in Fiji/ImageJ, and the resulting autocorrelation plot was averaged over multiple angles at sequential length scales, to generate the averaged autocorrelation plot shown in. Each transparent dot represents the averaged autocorrelation at its radius for one image, and the solid-coloured dots and lines represent the median autocorrelation

for all images. (D) No significative changes in the level of insoluble (P = 0.095, U = 27) and soluble A β 38 (P = 0.881, t=0.1523, df=20) were found between Tg-sal and Tg-AF710B. Statistical analysis: insoluble A β 38 with Mann-Whitney test and soluble A β 38 with unpaired t-test.



Supplemental figure 4-4. Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of Iba1 and GFAP-IR cells.

(A,B) Flowchart of the steps required for the overall quantification of Iba1 and GFAP-IR cells and the one in the proximity of CA1 neurons (100 μ m). (C) Flowchart of the steps required for the quantification of Iba1 morphology in the proximity of CA1 neurons (150 μ m). The thickness (150 μ m) was increased to include the processes of the recruited microglia.



Supplemental figure 4-5. Inflammatory mediators.

Levels of IL-13 and of KC/GRO did not differ between the four groups (2x2 ANOVA, for IL-13, 2x2 ANOVA, treatment: F (1, 32) = 2.272 P=0.142; genotype: F (1, 32) = 2.370 P=0.134; interaction: F (1, 32) = 1.810 P=0.188. For KC/GRO, treatment: F (1, 35) = 3.040 P=0.090; genotype: F (1, 35) = 0.2117 P=0.648; interaction: F (1, 35) = 0.4183 P=0.522). Statistical analysis: 2x2 ANOVA followed by Tukey's multiple comparisons test.



Supplemental figure 4-6. Representative images of vGluT1 and TrkA in CA1 and Flowchart illustrating the major steps employed in the quantification of VAChT, vGluT1 and TrkA.

(A,B) Representative images of IF for vGluT1 and TrkA in CA1. (C) Flowchart of the steps required for the quantification of VAChT, vGluT1 and TrkA.

Summary main findings

The main objective of this thesis is to understand the role played by basal forebrain cholinergic neurons input in a healthy brain and test whether an experimental cholinergic therapeutical approach can prevent AD-like pathology. Towards this goal, we investigated neurotrophins and the vasculature following a long-term specific immunolesion of the nucleus basalis (nb), one of the main basal forebrain cholinergic nuclei projecting to the cortex. Finally, we assessed whether cholinergic input through one of the muscarinic acetylcholine receptors M1, could have prevented cognitive impairment and other hallmarks-amyloid related in a transgenic APP rat model at the earliest stages of amyloidosis.

Our investigations revealed that following a 6 month-immunolesion of the nb, wild-type rats showed an attentional deficit accompanied by a reduction of cortical markers of glutamatergic (vGluT1), and GABAergic (GAD65) neurons. Furthermore, for the first time, we assessed, following a cholinergic immunolesion, the level of precursor and mature of the two most important neurotrophins in AD: NGF and BDNF. As a result, we found that the cholinergic nb loss produced differential effects on neurotrophin availability, affecting BDNF but not NGF levels. In particular, we found a reduction in BDNF expression and mature BDNF levels. Additionally, cholinergic markers correlated with attentional deficit and BDNF. Finally, we proposed that BDNF dysregulation, consequent to the nb loss, could be responsible for the loss of neuronal markers and cognitive impairment.

Subsequently, to further assess the role importance of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons following the vascular-cholinergic hypothesis, we explored the effect of cholinergic nb loss on the neurovascular unit. Indeed, BFCNs are known to regulate vascular tone and cerebral blood flow, making synapses with multiple cell types. Our findings demonstrated that cholinergic nb loss reduced the average diameter of cortical vessels and the expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A). In addition, a long-term nb loss increased the density of astrocytes and microglia in the cortex. Astrocytic end-feet showed higher colocalization with arterioles following cholinergic immunolesion and microglia cells presented morphological changes

indicative of an intermediate state of activation. Overall, these results indicate that cholinergic input affects cell types belonging to the neurovascular unit.

Thirdly, we explored whether a new cholinergic therapy has the potential to prevent an AD-like pathology in transgenic rats. The selective allosteric M1 muscarinic and sigma-1 receptor agonist AF710B takes advantage of that acetylcholine postsynaptic M1 muscarinic brain receptor levels to remain unchanged in AD. We tested whether this compound by daily oral administration (10 μ g/kg) for seven months, followed by one month of drug interruption (wash-out), attenuated AD hallmarks in McGill-R-Thy1-APP transgenic rats at early amyloid pathology stages. We found that AF710B prevented cognitive decline, even after a wash-out period, reduced plaque deposition and neuroinflammation and facilitated conversion from precursor to mature BDNF. These results suggest some preventative, disease-modifying properties of the compound over AD-like amyloid pathology.

Overall, our results show the importance of BFCNs in cognition, neurotrophin regulation, neuronal markers and neurovascular unit structure, providing a foundation for studies on BFCNs in AD. Additionally, we provided evidence that new cholinergic therapies can prevent AD-like pathology and could represent a possible therapeutical strategy to prevent disease progression.

CHAPTER 5 - General discussion

5.1 Hypotheses of cholinergic dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease

5.1.1 Hypothesis 1: basal forebrain cholinergic dysfunction is consequential to changes in neurotrophic receptor levels

The maintenance of the phenotype of BFCNs is dependent on NGF signalling through Tropomyosin receptor kinase A (TrkA) receptors and on the effects of proNGF signalling, as previously introduced in Chapter 1.

It was hypothesized that cholinergic degeneration might result partly from changes in the relative levels of mNGF/proNGF receptors instead of changes in ligand levels. Indeed, while cortical levels of p75ntr and its co-receptor sortilin are maintained across the continuum of AD (Mufson et al., 2010), levels of TrkA are reduced in AD but not in MCI (Counts et al., 2004). Furthermore, in contrast with cortical levels, fewer TrkA (and p75ntr) positive neurons are observed in the NbM in MCI (Mufson et al., 2000). Since deficits in receptor levels become evident in patients with established AD, it seems unlikely that they could cause cholinergic pathology before MCI. For this reason, changes in receptor levels are most likely downstream consequences of changes in ligand levels. Indeed, NGF signalling through TrkA induces transcription of TRKA itself, as well as the cholinergic gene locus (Venero et al., 1994, Gibbs and Pfaff, 1994, Figueiredo et al., 1995, Holtzman et al., 1992), and these transcripts are under-expressed in the absence of NGF (Venero et al., 1994). Therefore, an imbalance in mNGF/proNGF levels caused by NGF dysmetabolism may disrupt NGF-TrkA signalling.

5.1.2 Hypothesis 2: basal forebrain cholinergic dysfunction is the product of tauopathy and/or the disruption of axonal retrograde transport

The compromise of BFCNs has been proposed to depend on either tau pathology and/or deficient axonal transport. Tau pathology in NbM neurons correlates with decreased p75ntr expression, as well as with the cognitive decline in MCI and early AD (Vana et al., 2011). Additionally, NFT and pretangle pathology have been observed in BFCNs of cognitively normal people (Mesulam et al., 2004). Vulnerability of BFCNs to tau pathology could happen due to a change in some proteins. Indeed, while the directionality of this relationship has not been established, single-cell profiling

has demonstrated the loss of calcium-binding proteins in BFCNs which are burdened with tau pathology (Ahmadian et al., 2015, Riascos et al., 2014). In addition, an upregulation of rab proteins, implicated in endosomal and retrograde transport pathways, and rac1, a regulator of microtubule stability, has been demonstrated in BFCNs of MCI and AD individuals (Perez et al., 2012, Ginsberg et al., 2011).

The disruption of retrograde transport can be tau dependent. Particularly, *in vitro* evidence demonstrated that tau mediates an amyloid-induced disruption of axonal transport (Vossel et al., 2010) and transgenic mice overexpressing tau have general deficits in axonal transport, although BFCNs were not specifically examined (Ishihara et al., 1999). Furthermore, impaired retrograde transport of NGF has been demonstrated to be also A β dependent in mouse models of DS and mice bearing the Swedish APP mutation (Cooper et al., 2001, Salehi et al., 2006). Lastly, impairments of NGF retrograde transport have also been observed *in vitro* in aged neurons and in rats, independently of any amyloid or tau pathology (Shekari and Fahnestock, 2019, Cooper et al., 1994).

The notion that tauopathy in BFCNs drives a disruption of microtubule integrity and, subsequently, a disruption of the retrograde transport of NGF has been advanced. Tauopathy can indeed disrupt axonal transport, as demonstrated with pS422 tau in the squid giant axon (Tiernan et al., 2016). The above mentioned upregulation of rab and rac1 proteins can be interpreted as a compensatory response to re-establish normal axonal transport. The axonal transport disruption would affect the NGF-mediated trophic support to BFCNs. Whether a such event is a primary or secondary cause of BFCNs atrophy has not been resolved.

On the other hand, NGF metabolism could be the leading mechanism for inducing BFCNs atrophy, and the disruption of retrograde transport and tau pathology could be a consequence. It has been shown that NGF dysmetabolism induces atrophy of BFCNs (Allard et al., 2018) and withdrawal of NGF to BFCNs causes axonal degeneration *in vitro* and *in vivo* (Campenot, 1982, Deckwerth and Johnson Jr, 1994, Raff et al., 2002, Tuszynski et al., 1990). There is also abundant *in vitro* evidence that NGF deprivation in PC12 cell lines, mimicking cholinergic neurons (Wiatrak et al., 2020), can induce tauopathy (Nuydens et al., 1997, DAVIS and JOHNSON, 1999a, Davis and Johnson, 1999b, Shelton and Johnson, 2001). As such, tauopathy, axonal degeneration, and the disruption of retrograde transport are likely downstream consequences of the trophic disconnection

by the NGF dysmetabolism. A view reinforced by early studies in preclinical AD already showing evidence of basal forebrain atrophy applying MRI (Grothe et al., 2014, Schmitz et al., 2018). Such findings are in accordance with studies in our lab showing that post-mortem brain samples of cognitively normal individuals have a compromised NGF metabolic pathway accompanied by a loss of cortical cholinergic synapses (Pentz et al., 2020).

5.2 The status of the BFCNs does not affect the NGF metabolic pathway in wild-type rats

Our investigations, highlighted in Chapter 2, would indicate that atrophy/death of BFCNs does not affect the levels of NGF. Since NGF was shown to be released in response to carbachol (a cholinergic agonist) (Bruno and Cuello, 2006), we hypothesized that the selective demise of cholinergic neurons of the nucleus basalis (nb), should have a significant effect on the cortical expression of both the precursor and mature forms of NGF following a reciprocal interaction relationship. Several studies previously showed an up-regulation of total NGF, which returns to physiological levels following a fimbria-fornix transaction, hippocampal lesion, and selective partial nb lesion (Gu et al., 1998, Hellweg et al., 1997, Korsching et al., 1986, Yu et al., 1996). The results of these studies were explained in light of the temporary disruption of retrograde axonal transport, which induced NGF accumulation in the BFCNs target tissue simply because it cannot be transported to the BFCNs as a result of the axotomy experimental model.

When we investigated pro and mNGF after a 6-month cholinergic immune-toxin lesion of the nb, we did not find changes in NGF expression nor the proteins levels. As expected, the partial immunolesion of the nb, involving 75% of cholinergic neurons, was consistent with the loss of cholinergic fibers reported for the corresponding areas in human AD brains (Geula et al., 2021, Geula and Mesulam, 1989, Geula and Mesulam, 1996). We also found morphological changes of VAChR-IR varicosities in the remaining cholinergic synapses, suggesting two possible explanations. The first (a) is that the VAChT morphological changes could be abnormal terminals and synapses analogous to AD brains. Such dystrophic neurites (Masliah et al., 1991, Geddes et al., 1986, Bell et al., 2006), and the long-term reduction of ACh release alone does not impact the NGF metabolic pathway in the absence of additional disruptive mechanisms (such as accumulation of intracellular A β). Studies in animal models support our model; indeed, no changes in NGF

metabolism were found in aged cognitively impaired rats with reduced brain ChAT activity (Bruno and Cuello, 2012).

The second possible explanation (b) is that VAChR-IR terminals compensate for their density reduction with a synaptic enlargement. The remaining cholinergic synapses bearing TrkA receptors would have less competition to extracellular available mNGF. The relatively increased access to the NGF could have elicited synaptic hypertrophy, and thus single pre-synaptic could be able to release more ACh per unit.

Since the immunolesion did not eliminate all the cholinergic boutons and TrkA receptors were found, the axonal retrograde transport of mNGF bound to the TrkA receptor should still be functional. Interestingly, in MCI and AD brains, a significant decrease in synaptic number is compensated by an enlargement of synaptic size (Scheff et al., 1990, Scheff et al., 2007).

5.3 NGF changes could be specific to Alzheimer's disease: NGF as biomarker

NGF studies in rat models showed that NGF protein levels were not affected following a nb immunolesion (Chapter 2) nor in aged cognitively impaired rats with decreased ChAT activity (Bruno and Cuello, 2012). On the other hand, A β brain injection and transgenic models with amyloid pathology recapitulate the NGF dysregulation (Bruno et al., 2009a, Iulita et al., 2017). These results align with many studies conducted in MCI, AD and Down Syndrome brains, as introduced in Chapter 1. The above body would support a relationship between the dysregulation of the NGF metabolic pathway and the occurrence of A β amyloid pathology.

Consequently, several studies have been conducted to test the hypothesis that the status of the NGF metabolic pathway in the brain should be reflected in the body fluids and serve as a biomarker for prodromal AD pathology (Florencia Iulita and Claudio Cuello, 2016, Pentz et al., 2020). CSF from patients with MCI and AD showed altered levels of metallo-proteases and the plasminogen activating system, both critical elements of the NGF metabolic pathway (Hanzel et al., 2014a). These results align with reports that CSF proNGF is increased in AD and correlates with disease staging and cognitive impairments (E Counts et al., 2016). In addition, analysis of plasma from the general population showed significant associations between various markers of NGF metabolism, such as MMP9 and the risk of dementia onset (Iulita et al., 2019).

Few studies were also conducted on individuals with Down Syndrome, representing the largest genetically determined population at risk for AD. Concerning the NGF metabolic pathway, an increase in proNGF MMP-1, MMP-3, and MMP-9 levels was measured in the plasma of AD-asymptomatic individuals with Down syndrome, and they were effective predictors of cognitive decline across two years of follow-up (Iulita et al., 2016). In addition, NGF pathway protein levels in matched CSF/plasma samples from Down Syndrome individual AD-symptomatic and AD-asymptomatic were examined (Pentz et al., 2021a). As a result, CSF from Down Syndrome individuals showed elevated proNGF, neuroserpin, MMP-3, and MMP-9 compared to controls; and proNGF and MMP-9 levels differed in CSF from AD-symptomatic and AD-asymptomatic individuals (Pentz et al., 2021a). Such circumstances, it will be important to validate proNGF and related markers in other studies. If confirmed, developing a reliable ELISA assay capable of distinguishing proNGF from mNGF will be essential.

5.4 <u>History of NGF as a therapeutic target in Alzheimer's disease</u>

Direct infusion of NGF into the brain of rodents (Williams et al., 1986, Kromer, 1987, Venero et al., 1994, Figueiredo et al., 1996, Garofalo et al., 1992, Kolb et al., 1997, Cuello, 1996, Debeir et al., 1999) and primates (Tuszynski et al., 1990, Tuszynski et al., 1991) was able to prevent cholinergic degeneration. In an initial trial, an AD patient was intraventricularly infused with 6.6 mg of NGF. Following three months, the patient showed positive effects on nicotinic receptor expression, cerebral blood flow, and verbal memory tests (Olson et al., 1992). Subsequently, the trial was extended to a further three patients with AD and the positive effects were recapitulated (Jönhagen et al., 1998). However, all three subjects showed significant pain and weight loss (Jönhagen et al., 1998). These side effects, later demonstrated to be mediated by off-target effects in the spinal cord and hypothalamus (McKelvey et al., 2013), led the authors to investigate alternative routes for NGF therapy (Jönhagen, 2000).

An alternative approach has been the intraparenchymal expression of NGF, implanting autologous fibroblasts genetically modified to express human NGF into the forebrain (Tuszynski et al., 2005). This approach passed a phase I clinical trial with no indication of pain or other adverse effects, and at the same time, reduced cognitive decline and increased cortical FDG-PET (Tuszynski et al., 2005).

In subsequent trials, NGF was delivered with an adeno-associated virus (CERE-110) stereotaxically injected into the nb of rodents (Bishop et al., 2008). This treatment was also shown to be safe and well-tolerated in AD patients (Rafii et al., 2014) and post-mortem analyses revealed that cholinergic neurons exhibited hypertrophy in response to the treatment (Tuszynski et al., 2015). However, a randomized clinical trial in 49 patients with AD showed no effect on multiple tests of cognitive decline, on FDG-PET, or on hippocampal atrophy (Rafii et al., 2018). These results brought to abandon this approach (Rafii et al., 2018), although a post-mortem analysis of the brains of 15 patients revealed that, because of mistargeting and a lower-than-expected spread of the vector, not one of the CERE-110 injections reached any cholinergic neurons (Castle et al., 2020).

Another related experimental approach to deliver NGF has been the implantation of inserts containing encapsulated cells genetically modified to release mature NGF (Eriksdotter-Jönhagen et al., 2012). Initial trials demonstrated improved cognition, reduced brain atrophy (Ferreira, Westman et al. 2015), and the ability to alter AD biomarkers, including soluble ChAT (Ferreira et al., 2015, Karami et al., 2015). However, these changes were largely restricted to patients subsequently defined as responders and some changes to biomarkers were negative (Ferreira et al., 2015, Karami et al., 2015).

Furthermore, an NGF therapeutical approach was inspired by observation in patients with type IV hereditary sensory and autonomic neuropathy, who have a point mutation in the NGF gene (an R100W mutant NGF protein) that does not enhance nociception but instead has full neurotrophic properties (Capsoni et al., 2011). The mutant NGF delivered intranasally for two months to tenmonth-old APP and PSEN1 transgenic mice led to reduced brain plaque load and preserved cognitive performances (Capsoni et al., 2012). However, these results have not been validated in humans since this mutant NGF is believed to primarily act through glial modulation and cytokine induction (Capsoni et al., 2017, Cattaneo and Capsoni, 2019). This situation makes it unclear how this NGF therapy would affect the course of human AD pathology.

A common feature of all these approaches has been the use of exogenous NGF, which always entails the risk of side effects on nociceptors (McKelvey et al., 2013) or on glia (Cattaneo and Capsoni, 2019), as well as potentially having additional targets inside and outside the CNS.

Therefore, we believe that intervening in proNGF maturation or degradation would be a more promising therapeutic avenue to investigate. Such a strategy would prevent the "off-target" effects of exogenously applied mNGF.

5.5 **BFCNs immunolesion affects BDNF and neurotransmitter markers**

Another key neurotrophin of interest is BDNF. In Chapter 2, we showed that 192-IgGimmunolesioned rats in the nb have reduced cortical BDNF expression and mBDNF protein levels. In addition, we proposed that the reduction of expression and protein levels of mBDNF in 192-IgG-immunolesioned rats may be responsible for the impact of neuronal markers. Some evidence suggested cooperation of glutamatergic and cholinergic input may be responsible for BDNF regulation (Navakkode and Korte, 2012) in cortical and hippocampal neurons. Indeed, ACh has the potential to increase the excitability of glutamatergic neurons (McCormick and Prince, 1985, Desai and Walcott, 2006, Metherate et al., 1988) and it is well-known that neuronal activity increases BDNF expression (Ernfors et al., 1991, Isackson et al., 1991, Castrén et al., 1998, Zafra et al., 1990).

BDNF transcription is initiated with the increase of intracellular calcium and mediated by the cAMP Response Element-Binding Protein (CREB)-mediated pathway (Shieh and Ghosh, 1999). After transduction, proBDNF packed into vesicles is secreted in response to neuronal activity (Mowla et al., 1999, Poo, 2001) in the extracellular space, where it is converted into mBDNF (Lee et al., 2001, Seidah et al., 1996a, Pang et al., 2004). mBDNF binding to autocrine and paracrine TrkB receptors (Horch et al., 1999, Horch and Katz, 2002) exerts effects on the glutamatergic system (reviewed in (Leßmann, 1998)), including the expression and distribution of vGluT1 (Melo et al., 2013). In addition, BDNF enhances GABA release from interneurons (Ohba et al., 2005, Sakata et al., 2009) and regulates the transcription of presynaptic GAD65 by a Ras-ERK-CREB signalling pathway (Sanchez-Huertas and Rico, 2011). Interestingly, a study comparing changes in an APP transgenic animal model showed that the reduction of BDNF mRNA expression precedes NGF dysmetabolism (Iulita et al., 2017).

5.6 Could BDNF in the body fluids be a suitable biomarker of Alzheimer's disease?

In Chapter 2, we presented our findings showing that BDNF levels are reduced following a lack of BFCNs input. Also, transgenic rats showed less conversion from precursor to mature BDNF compared to wild-types, as discussed in Chapter 4. The above findings align with studies showing decreased BDNF in AD brains (discussed in the Introduction).

CSF and blood investigations were conducted to determine whether BDNF could represent a possible biomarker for early AD detection. Conflicting studies reported either decreased levels of BDNF in CSF from AD patients compared to non-demented controls or other types of dementia (Li et al., 2009, Laske et al., 2007), or found no significant difference (Blasko et al., 2006). However, none of these studies differentiated between mature and proBDNF.

A few studies have investigated the association between levels of BDNF and the risk of progression of cognitive decline and development of AD. A longitudinal study assessed whether serum BDNF levels were associated with 10-year risk of developing dementia (Weinstein et al., 2014). It was found that MCI patients with lower BDNF levels in the serum had progressed to AD dementia (Weinstein et al., 2014). Similar results were obtained in a 3-year study assessing BDNF levels in CSF, in which lower BDNF levels seemed to correlate with a higher risk of conversion from MCI to AD (Forlenza et al., 2015). Other reports described higher BDNF levels in serum (Angelucci et al., 2010) and plasma (Faria et al., 2014) in MCI and early AD patients compared to healthy controls, suggesting a compensatory mechanism in response to AD pathology progression.

5.7 BDNF as a possible therapeutic strategy for Alzheimer's disease

Few studies have focused on rescuing the levels of BDNF by gene delivery. BDNF gene delivery into the entorhinal cortex ameliorated lesion-induced neuronal death and improved hippocampusdependent memory in rodents and primate models without adverse effects (Nagahara et al., 2009). However, since gene delivery is a very invasive technique, other indirect ways to increase brain BDNF expression have been investigated, such as antidepressants and lithium delivery (reviewed in (Nagahara and Tuszynski, 2011)). Interestingly, a 10-week study of lithium treatment in mild AD patients showed a significant increase in BDNF serum levels and cognitive improvement (Leyhe et al., 2009). Other strategies, such as caloric restriction and physical exercise, were shown to be effective in increasing BDNF levels (Lee et al., 2000, Molteni et al., 2002). Physical exercise increased BDNF levels in the brains of animal models (Vaynman et al., 2004, Gómez-Pinilla et al., 2002) as well as in human blood and serum samples (Dinoff et al., 2017, Szuhany et al., 2015). Increased BDNF levels in the blood during exercise were likely derived from different tissues such as lungs, bladder, vascular endothelial cells, skeletal and cardiac muscle, etc. Indeed, BDNF is not only a neurotrophic factor but also a smooth muscle tone modulator and an energy regulator (Walsh and Tschakovsky, 2018).

5.8 <u>Differences between BDNF and NGF in the context of human mutations</u>

Our results in Chapter 2 outlined a different regulation of NGF and BDNF by BFCNs. The dysregulation of these neurotrophins in AD, raised questions about the presence of polymorphisms and mutations of these genes in the human population.

Studies of NGF mutations showed that NGF is a crucial regulator of pain (reviewed in (Capsoni et al., 2011)). In particular, a mutation on the NTRK1 gene, coding for TrkA (Indo et al., 1996), induced a human sensory and autonomic neuropathy type IV (HSAN IV) in which patients show pain insensitivity and mental retardation (Indo et al., 1996). This has been interpreted to result from a lack of trophic support during development, with consequences in the brain and sensory neurons (Indo et al., 1996). Furthermore, patients with a mutation of the NGF gene (HSAN V) (Einarsdottir et al., 2004, Carvalho et al., 2011) display a congenital insensitivity to pain but without mental retardation or cognitive deficits (De Andrade et al., 2008). The single nucleotide missense mutation in the NGF gene found in a family of HSAN V patients, results in an amino acid substitution in the mNGF (Einarsdottir et al., 2004), which in cell culture provokes reduced processing of proNGF to mNGF (Larsson et al., 2009). However, it remains to be clarified whether the major impact of the mutation is on the biological function of proNGF or mNGF. Interestingly, one polymorphism in the NGF gene (rs6330) has also been associated with an increased risk of late-onset AD (Di Maria et al., 2012, Nagata et al., 2011).

On the other hand, studies on BDNF focused on a frequent, nonconservative polymorphism (SNP) at nucleotide 196. This SNP produces an amino acid substitution (valine to methionine) at codon 66 (V66M) responsible for memory deficits, anxiety and depression (Egan et al., 2003, Chen et

al., 2006, Castrén and Rantamäki, 2010). The mutation is located in the precursor region of BDNF, altering its interaction with sortilin, which controls BDNF sorting to the regulated secretory pathway (Chen et al., 2005). Consequently, this SNP does not affect the biological activity of the mature protein (Egan et al., 2003). An *in vivo* study, using homozygous mice carrying this BDNF mutation (BDNF Met/Met), showed increased anxiety-related behaviors and even if the mutated BDNF was expressed at normal levels, its secretion from neurons was defective (Chen et al., 2006). Interestingly, although cognitive deficits are present in individuals with the BDNF V66M SNP, this SNP seems to be not associated with an increased risk of late-onset AD (reviewed in (Shen, You et al. 2018)).

5.9 Are the studies on cholinergic neurons relevant for other dementias?

AD does not represent the only dementia showing atrophy and loss of cholinergic neurons. Our studies on the effect of BFCNs loss (Chapter 2 and 3) and a therapeutical approach targeting M1-muscarinic receptors (Chapter 4) could be relevant for other dementias.

In particular, dementia with Lewy bodies (DLB) represents the third most common cause of dementia. Lewy bodies are neuronal inclusions composed of abnormally phosphorylated neurofilament proteins aggregated with ubiquitin and α -synuclein (McKEITH, 2002). DLB has a more profound loss of cholinergic neurons and ChAT activity than AD, which extends to other brain areas, such as the striatum and the pedunculopontine nucleus, which are not affected in AD (reviewed in (Francis and Perry, 2006)). In these brains, M1-AChRs were shown to be preserved or up-regulated in the temporal cortex but appeared to be reduced in the hippocampus (Ballard et al., 2000, Shiozaki et al., 1999, Shiozaki et al., 2001). The pharmacological management of the DLB is the administration of AChEIs, which improves cognition, global function, and overall living activities (McKeith et al., 2017).

Frontotemporal lobe dementia (FTLD) accounts for 20% of dementia cases (Snowden et al., 2002) and comprises several clinical syndromes. From a neuropathological point of view, FTLD is characterized by atrophy of the frontal and anterior temporal lobes and degeneration of the striatum (Mann, 1998, Ferrer, 1999). Interestingly, these patients have a strong alteration in character, speech and social conduct, indicative of frontal lobe dysfunction, although spatial skills and

memory are relatively preserved (Francis and Perry, 2006). Furthermore, in FTLD, a reduction in M1 receptors and an elevation of M2 receptors were reported (Odawara et al., 2003).

Vascular dementia is the second most common dementia after AD (Román, 2005), which is characterized by microvascular brain damage, mainly in the subcortical white matter and multiple infarcts. Vascular dementia is also associated with dysfunction of the basal forebrain cholinergic system (Román, 2005, Román and Kalaria, 2006). This impairment may be absent in cases of "classical" vascular dementia (Perry et al., 2005), but may be an important feature of subcortical ischemic vascular dementia (SIVD) (Kim et al., 2013).

Overall, the dementias listed above, particularly DLB and vascular dementia, could benefit from therapeutic approaches correcting the compromised cholinergic functions.

5.10 Could the vascular-cholinergic hypothesis explain the "non-responders" to AChEIs?

Vascular disease accompanies AD since its early stages and may also be a causal pathway (Sweeney et al., 2019). In fact, vascular risk factors are associated with lower FDG-PET, cerebrovascular disease, higher cerebral A β and tau burden, which promote cognitive decline (Vemuri et al., 2017, Rabin et al., 2018). Structural changes in the arteries are responsible for functional changes in cerebral blood flow (Avolio et al., 2018), and they are associated with the accumulation rate of cerebral A β (Hughes et al., 2014).

Currently, the most successful symptomatic therapeutic approach to AD consists in increasing ACh levels with AChEIs. However, investigations aiming to evaluate the therapeutic potential of AChEIs disclosed the existence of two subsets of patients, defined as "responders" and "non-responders" to this therapy. It has been hypothesized that a polymorphism in the Paraoxonase-1 (PON-1) gene (Pola et al., 2005), a potent endogenous AChEI involved in multiple biological activities, influences responsiveness to treatment with AChEIs in subjects affected by AD. Another explanation for this individual response follows the *vascular-cholinergic hypothesis* (Claassen and Jansen, 2006). Following this hypothesis, certain brains of AD patients present severe microvascular deformity (De la Torre, 1997) and endothelial dysfunction from vascular disease (Rosenblum, 1997), which could reduce the capability to respond to vasodilatation under cholinergic input. Conversely, it has been shown that "responders" to AChEIs, have improved or stabilized cerebral blood flow (Ceravolo et al., 2004). In contrast, "non-responders", who

demonstrated cognitive deterioration, had a progressive decline in cerebral blood flow (Venneri et al., 2002).

The brain vasculature is a complex system affected by multiple factors, in which $A\beta$ and tau seem to play a key role in AD pathology (Schaeffer and Iadecola, 2021). Additionally, the cholinergic input has a significant physiopathological role. Therefore, it is possible that AChEI administered at preclinical AD stages or other therapeutical approaches preventing amyloid-like pathology (as suggested by our experimental work in Chapter 4), could be beneficial to reduce vascular deformity, which could avoid the presence of "non-responders" to AChEIs.

5.11 Novel vascular biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease

Vascular dysfunction appears early in AD. Measures of BBB integrity (Montagne et al., 2015, van de Haar et al., 2016), cerebrovascular reactivity (Montagne et al., 2016, Suri et al., 2015), and increased cerebrovascular resistance (Yew et al., 2017) have been proposed as biomarkers of vasculature structure and functionality. Additionally, brain imaging (reviewed in (Sweeney et al., 2019)) and CSF or blood biomarkers of vascular damage seem to represent the convenient tools for early AD detection.

5.11.1 Vessels diameter following BFCNs depletion and a possible biomarker in Alzheimer's disease

Emerging evidence indicates cerebral blood flow reductions at large and medium-sized arteries in individuals with AD risk (Clark et al., 2017) and AD models (El Tannir El Tayara et al., 2010). Interestingly, our results in Chapter 3, pointed out the change of diameters of capillaries and arterioles following BFCNs immunolesion, indicating that these neurons contribute to the neurovascular unit (NVU).

New methods of evaluating angiography of three-dimensional vascular anatomy (time-of-flight MRI sequences) provide quantitative parameters such as the number and order of branches, branch artery lengths, volumes and tortuosity (Chen et al., 2018). As such, an MRI of the anatomy of the vessels could represent a non-invasive method to detect early vasculature changes for populations at high risk of AD and other neurodegenerative conditions affecting the brain vasculature.

5.11.2 VEGF following BFCNs depletion and a possible biomarker for Alzheimer's disease Other non-invasive methods for early AD detection have been exploring biomarkers in CFS and blood. Along with soluble platelet-derived growth factor receptor-b, fibrinogen and albumin (Sweeney et al., 2015, Craig-Schapiro et al., 2011), VEGF is a vascular factor gaining interest in AD biomarker research.

VEGF is reduced in the brains of AD patients (Provias and Jeynes, 2014) and is associated with lower hippocampal volume (Hohman et al., 2015). In addition, VEGF reduction in AD patients has been detected in serum (Huang et al., 2013, Mateo et al., 2007) and CSF (Paterson et al., 2014). Additionally, experimental studies in which AD transgenic mice were treated with VEGF improved cognitive performance and reduced A β and p-tau load (Spuch et al., 2010, Wang et al., 2011, Religa et al., 2013, Yang et al., 2005). Our results in Chapter 3 confirmed that a long-term cholinergic immunolesion reduced cortical VEGF-A expression and protein levels. Interestingly, experiments *in vivo* showed that VEGF-A expression depends on cholinergic function (Kimura et al., 2018).

On the other hand, contradicting results on VEGF have been reported, such as an increase of VEGF in CSF samples from AD patients (Tarkowski et al., 2002) was negatively associated with global cognition (Mahoney et al., 2021). The increase in CSF VEGF levels observed in some studies could represent a protective response given by the anti-angiogenic properties of A β 42. Indeed, A β 42 antagonizes VEGF binding to VEGF receptor-2 (VEGFR-2) on endothelial cells (Patel et al., 2010) and binds VEGF-165 with high affinity, resulting in its sequestration into senile plaques (Yang et al., 2004, Yang et al., 2005).

In line with our results, VEGF could represent a biomarker indicating the status of BFCNs, although longitudinal studies would be required. Additionally, stimulation of VEGF synthesis or its release, given its neuroprotective functions, may prevent neurovascular dysfunction and other pathological processes in AD.

5.12 Other experimental approaches to study the neurovascular unit

The ability to study the molecular and cellular properties of the cerebrovascular system is crucial to better characterize its contribution to brain physiology and physiopathology. Lack of knowledge of the NVU in a healthy brain and the techniques that allow studying the entire NVU and

maintaining its morphology is one of the biggest challenges to improving our knowledge of the vasculature in AD. In Chapter 3, we studied the NVU by applying biochemical and immunohistochemical approaches following cholinergic immunodepletion. This allowed us to detect morphological changes in the vessels, astrocytes and microglia after partial depletion of cortical cholinergic input.

Vessel isolation, a technique adapted for rodents (Yousif et al., 2007), currently allows the separation of brain vessels into fractions enriched in vessels of different diameters (Boulay et al., 2015b). Such preparations might be used for studying gene activity, protein synthesis and regulation at the BBB (Boulay et al., 2015a) since endothelial cells keep their metabolic properties (Dallaire et al., 1991) and transporter functionality (Boado and Pardridge, 1990). In addition, pericytes and smooth muscle cells (SMCs) remain attached to the endothelial layer; however, astrocytes, microglial cells and neurons are lost.

New data have been recently gathered in rodent vasculature (Vanlandewijck et al., 2018) and AD brain vasculature (Yang et al., 2022) from single-cell transcriptome studies. With this approach, the tissue is digested into single cells after microvascular isolation, and large amounts of RNA are converted into cDNA libraries and consequently sequenced.

Another way to investigate the functionality of the vessels is the cerebral vasodilatory response. This can be measured in individual cortical vessels following a challenge with various pharmacological or physiological agents known to induce vasodilation or vasoconstriction (Bales et al., 2016). First, rodents are anesthetized and placed in a stereotaxic frame. A cranial window is performed on the skull and then they are transferred to the microscope stage. Then the vasodilator or vasoconstrictor is infused into the cranial window for 5 min. The diameter of the exposed arteriole is recorded with a microscope system (Han et al., 2008). This technique has been applied to test the vascular reactivity in preclinical studies following immunotherapy targeting $A\beta$ and APOE (Xiong et al., 2021, Bales et al., 2016). The procedure could be implemented to investigate the cholinergic mechanisms affecting the brain vasculature; such as to study the morphological changes of perivascular astrocytes and microglia following vasodilation (with ACh) or vasoconstriction (with a muscarinic antagonist).

5.13 Cholinergic experimental therapeutics

5.13.1 Targeting cholinergic neurons

The results of Chapters 2 and 3 outlined the importance of BFCNs in cognition and vasculature. Therefore, future experimental approaches could aim to preserve the physiology and function of BFCNs by targeting NGF dysmetabolism. This approach has two facets: favouring the conversion of proNGF to mNGF and reducing the excessive degradation of mNGF. Both occur early, before MCI (Pentz et al., 2020) and could serve as a source of therapeutic targets in AD.

5.13.1.1 Increase conversion of the precursor to mature NGF

The serine protease inhibitor neuroserpin, involved in the disruption of the conversion of proNGF to mNGF, has certain properties that would make it an attractive therapeutic target. Neuroserpin has a more restricted expression in the CNS than other enzymes involved in the pathway and could be expected to have a limited side-effect profile (Osterwalder et al., 1996, Krueger et al., 1997). Furthermore, neuroserpin downregulation has been shown to restore cognition in AD mouse models (Fabbro et al., 2011).

5.13.1.2 Reduce degradation of mature NGF

On the other hand, targeting the degradation of mNGF and, consequently, metalloproteinases is an equally viable approach. MMP-9 could represent a target since the infusion of MMP-9 inhibitor GM6001 (100 μ g/kg) into the cerebral cortices of young wild-type rats caused a 2- to 3-fold increase in NGF levels (Bruno and Cuello, 2006). In addition, an MMP-2/9 inhibitor led to increases in mNGF levels, higher densities of cholinergic boutons, and higher TrkA expression when continuously infused for two weeks into the rat cerebral cortex (Allard et al., 2012). Furthermore, few studies investigating the modulation of MMP-9 levels in AD models have reported a neuroprotective effect of MMP-9 (Fragkouli et al., 2014, Kaminari et al., 2017). Like other members of the pathway, MMP-9 has a wide variety of actions (Vafadari et al., 2016), diminishing its possibility of being administered as a therapeutical target to improve brain function.

C. Orciani 2022

5.13.2 Targeting ACh receptors

5.13.2.1 Targeting nicotinic receptors

Nicotinic receptors, previously introduced in Chapter 1, were proposed to be an interesting therapeutical target, and particularly α -7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors (α 7-nAChRs) were proposed to improve cognition (reviewed in (Thomsen et al., 2010)). Indeed, Encenicline, a partial agonist of α 7-nAChR, was effective in restoring memory function in preclinical studies (Prickaerts et al., 2012) in the absence of gastrointestinal side effects, otherwise present with Varenicline, a drug targeting α 4 β 2 nicotinic receptors (Varenicline-Alzforum). Unfortunately, Encenicline did not meet the primary endpoint of cognitive improvement in phase 3; the compound was discontinued, and the company shut down (Encenicline-Alzforum).

5.13.2.2 Targeting muscarinic receptors

Drugs targeting muscarinic receptors have gained much attention. We showed that a therapeutical approach stimulating M1 muscarinic and sigma-1 receptors (Chapter 4) reduced amyloid-like pathology and neuroinflammation. In addition, it showed disease-modifying properties, as cognitive decline was prevented after a period of drug wash-out. In the following paragraphs, I will describe why they are considered a valid therapeutical approach in AD.

5.14 <u>Why is the M1 receptor considered the best therapeutic target amongst the mAChRs</u> ?

Muscarinic M1 and M3 stimulation with carbachol increased APP production within minutes (Nitsch et al., 1992). However, it was later shown that, unlike selective M1 agonists, M3 muscarinic agonists are not free of peripheral side effects, so they became a less interesting target for therapeutic approaches (Fisher, 2008). The other mAChR subtypes, M2 and M4 mAChRs were also shown to be ineffective in activating α -secretase, responsible for the non-amyloidogenic pathway (Müller et al., 1997), and they may have an inhibitory effect on releasing neuroprotective α APPs (Müller et al., 1997). On the other hand, post-synaptic M1 mAChR is prevalently expressed in brain areas involved in cognition (Levey, 1993), and is relatively unchanged in AD brains (Araujo et al., 1988). Therefore, many approaches focused on studying the impact of the cholinergic input on the APP pathway through the M1 mAChR-type knocking-out for M1, or performing a BFCNs immunolesion in combination with pharmacological approaches (Haring et

al., 1998, Jones et al., 2008, Müller et al., 1997, Shirey et al., 2009, Potter et al., 1999, Beach et al., 2003). As introduced in Chapter 1 and further discussed, the results of these studies pointed to the role of M1 mAChR in regulating cognitive function, the amyloidogenic pathway and tau phosphorylation (Fisher, 2008).

5.15 <u>M1-agonists from the "AF series"</u>

Dr. Abraham Fisher and colleagues developed conformational analogs of ACh to be used as muscarinic agonists. One of the first compounds produced was **AF102B** ((±)-cis-2-methyl-spiro-(1,3-oxathiolane-5,3')quinuclidine)) (Fisher et al., 1989). The selectivity of this compound for the M1 receptor was assessed by its capacity to displace the M1-selective antagonist [3H]pirenzepine and the non-selective antagonist (mixed M1 and M2 antagonist) [3H]quinuclidinyl benzilate and [(+)-[3H]cis-dioxolane) from receptors of rat forebrain homogenates (Fisher et al., 1989). Furthermore, the selectivity of AF102B for the M1-type was shown by its capability to induce depolarization in the isolated rabbit superior cervical ganglion, typically associated with M1 receptors; and did not induce hyperpolarization, which is associated with M2 receptors (Mochida et al., 1988).

A more recent *orthosteric* M1 muscarinic *agonist* was named **AF267B** [(S)-2-ethyl-8-methyl-1thia-4,8-diazaspiro[4.5]decan-3-one]. This compound attenuated cognitive deficits and decreased amyloid pathology by activating the PKC pathway, resulting in a downstream effect on enhancing metalloproteinase domain 17 (ADAM17) and decreasing BACE-1 (Caccamo et al., 2006). In addition, AF267B decreased tau hyperphosphorylation mediated by the activation of PKC and inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) (Caccamo et al., 2006, Forlenza et al., 2000). Interestingly, treatment with AF267B decreases tau phosphorylation in ApoE deficient mice showing memory deficits associated with synaptic loss of BFC projections and tau hyperphosphorylation (Genis et al., 1999). Furthermore, AF267B prevented neurotoxic effects through Wnt signalling, which is compromised in AD (De Ferrari and Inestrosa, 2000, Farías et al., 2004). Wnt signalling induces the activation of PKC and blockage of GSK-3 (Farías et al., 2004). Altogether, these results indicate that the M1 mAChR is an important regulator of amyloidogenesis and tau phosphorylation in the brain and provide strong support for targeting the M1 mAChR as a therapeutic candidate in AD.

5.16 AF710B prevents cognitive decline and amyloid-like pathology

AF710B (aka ANAVEX3-71) is the last compound of the "AF series", showing both high potency and selectivity for the M1 mAChR and the sigma-1 receptor.

The specificity of AF710B to bind M1 mAChR was tested by its capacity to displace an M1 mAChR radioligand agonist (tritiated pirenzepine) and a sigma-1 receptor radioligand agonist (tritiated pentazocine) incubated with guinea pig cortical homogenates (Fisher et al., 2016). In addition, AF710B was found to display no significant off-target activity when screened at 83 other GPCRs, ion channels and transporters known to mediate human side effects. Furthermore, it did not bind to human $\alpha4\beta2$ - and $\alpha7$ -nicotinic receptors, sigma-2 receptors, nor M2–M5 mAChR (Fisher et al., 2016). Compared to the previous compounds, this compound is an allosteric agonist instead of an orthosteric. This property was demonstrated using brucine, an M1-positive allosteric modulator that potentiates M1 orthosteric but not M1 allosteric agonists (Fisher et al., 2016). Brucine showed modest cooperativity on M1 mAChR with the carbachol and AF267B (orthosteric agonists), but it failed to potentiate AF710B.

In vivo, AF710B was shown to attenuate cognitive deficits, decrease A β pathology, rescue synapses and decrease neuroinflammation in transgenic animal models (Fisher et al., 2016, Hall et al., 2018). Our preclinical trial (Chapter 4) confirmed the same finding but at earlier stages. Indeed we found that AF710B can prevent cognitive decline, reducing soluble and insoluble A β 42, and insoluble A β 40, and decreasing plaque deposition in the cortex and hippocampus. This suggests that AF710B shifts APP processing towards the non-amyloidogenic pathway. Additionally, this compound showed disease-modifying properties since the effect lasted after one month of drug interruption (wash-out) performed before behavioral testing and brain perfusion.

5.17 AF710B has an affinity for the sigma-1 receptor

As previously mentioned, AF710B has an affinity for the sigma-1 receptor, which could explain additional protective and preventive properties of the compound over AD-like hallmarks of AD. Sigma-1 receptor is considered a non-G-protein coupled, non-ionotropic intracellular chaperone at the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) that modulates calcium signalling. The CNS, particularly the hippocampal neurons and oligodendrocytes, appears to be the primary site of sigma-1 receptor activity and effects, although it is also present in peripheral tissues (Pabba, 2013). It has been involved in many functions, such as cardiovascular function, drug abuse, schizophrenia, clinical depression, cancer, mood disorders, amnesia and cognitive deficits (Su et al., 1988, Penke et al., 2018), which depend on the capacity of sigma-1 receptor to bind ligands with very diverse structures. sigma-1 receptor and the less known sigma-2 receptor were wrongly classified for years as opioid receptors (reviewed in (Penke et al., 2018)).

Sigma-1 receptor, under homeostatic conditions, is concentrated at mitochondrion-associated membrane junction sites located between ER and mitochondria (Hayashi et al., 2011). Upon ER calcium depletion or via ligand stimulation, sigma-1 receptor leads to prolonged calcium signalling into mitochondria via type 3 inositol triphosphate receptors (IP3Rs) (Hayashi and Su, 2007). When cells undergo prolonged stress, sigma-1 receptors translocate from the mitochondrion-associated membrane to the ER reticular network and plasma membrane (Su et al., 2010). There it regulates a variety of functional proteins, including ion channels, receptors and kinases (Su et al., 2010), such as phospholipase C and protein kinase C (Morin-Surun et al., 1999). This mechanism allows sigma-1 receptor to mediate the excitotoxic effect of glutamate by promoting calcium entry into mitochondria and reducing oxidative stress, probably via the activation of reactive oxygen species (ROS)-neutralizing proteins (Pal et al., 2012). Some of the above mechanisms likely participated in the beneficial and preventive effects of early AD-like amyloid pathology, as shown in Chapter 4.

5.18 <u>AF710B has anti-amnesic and anti-inflammatory effects mediated by the Sigma 1</u> receptor

Stimulation of sigma-1 receptors has been shown to alleviate depressive symptoms (Sabino et al., 2009, Moriguchi et al., 2015), cognitive deficits in aged animals (Maurice, 2001, Tottori et al., 2002) and AD mouse models (Jin et al., 2015, Maurice and Su, 2009). Along with calcium modulation and anti-oxidative stress function, anti-amnesic properties of sigma-1 receptors could be partly explained by facilitating ACh release in the forebrain (Matsuno and Mita, 1992, Matsuno et al., 1993). Indeed, stimulation of sigma-1 receptors attenuated learning impairments induced by scopolamine (Matsuno et al., 1997, Senda et al., 1997, Senda et al., 1996). Since we did not find a significant difference between transgenic treated with AF710B and transgenic control in the number of hippocampal cholinergic terminals, proNGF and TrkA receptors, we inferred that the cognitive improvement is probably mediated by mechanisms mediated by direct stimulation of

sigma-1 receptors. Interestingly, anti-amnesic properties of sigma-1 receptor agonists occurred even in animals with complete cholinergic depletion (Antonini et al., 2011) and were accompanied by an increase in BDNF.

Interestingly, we found that transgenic control had a decreased conversion from precursor to mature BDNF, and this deficit was rescued in transgenic treated with AF710B. This suggests that the anti-amnesic properties could be modulated by sigma-1 receptors affecting BDNF directly. In support of our findings, stimulation of sigma-1 receptors showed *in vitro* to affect mBDNF release, but not its expression (Fujimoto et al., 2012) and *in vivo*, to affect BDNF and consequently rescue cognitive impairment (Kikuchi-Utsumi and Nakaki, 2008, Xu et al., 2015) and promote neurite outgrowth (Kimura et al., 2013).

Additionally, AF710B treatment significantly reduced neuroinflammation of astrocytes and microglia recruited towards hippocampal neurons and modulated pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines (Chapter 4). In agreement with our results, not only have astrocytes been shown to have M1-muscarinic receptors (Murphy et al., 1986), but sigma-1 receptor ligands have been found to modulate the activity of these cells (Prezzavento et al., 2010, Ruscher et al., 2011, Robson et al., 2014) improving reactive astrogliosis in rodent models of stroke (Ajmo Jr et al., 2006) and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS) (Peviani et al., 2014). Furthermore, sigma-1 receptor ligands inhibit lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated microglia activation, decreasing ROS production and the release of pro-inflammatory molecules (Wu et al., 2015, Hall et al., 2009, Jia et al., 2018, Maurice and Su, 2009).

5.19 Agonists of muscarinic receptors in clinical trials: the past and the present

Past clinical experiments aiming to treat AD with muscarinic agonists were disappointing. Despite some muscarinic agonists such as xanomeline (agonist for M4 > M1) improved cognition and reduced psychotic episodes in AD patients, it has very low bioavailability in humans (<1%) (reviewed in (Fisher, 2006)). Another compound, Alvameline, was a very weak M1 agonist reported to be ineffective in Phase II/III (Fisher, 2006).

Overall, the compounds that failed in clinical trials had major side effects, were not strong M1 agonists or required multiple daily dosing, which may be inadequate in cognitive studies (Clader and Wang, 2005, Fisher, 2008). In spite of the problems encountered with the first generation of

nonselective muscarinic agonists, a new generation of M1 agonists could represent a valid therapeutic strategy to treat AD.

It has been proposed that the ideal M1 agonist should have the following major characteristics (reviewed in (Fisher, 2006)):

- (1) Potential to improve cognition and delay disease progression.
- (2) Selectivity for M1 to avoid adverse effects due to stimulation of other muscarinic receptors.
- (3) Being a partial agonist not to cause M1 down-regulation.
- (4) Good pharmacodynamic, pharmacokinetic and bioavailability profile.
- (5) No adverse effects in the peripheral nervous system and CNS.
- (6) Easy passage through BBB.
- (7) Potential to be preventive.
- (8) Low production cost.

Many of the listed characteristics have been shown to be present in AF710B, as preclinical studies of our Lab demonstrated to be preventive (Chapter 4) and delay disease progression (Hall et al., 2018) in a transgenic rat with amyloid-like pathology. Recently, AF710B (aka ANAVEX3-71) entered a phase I clinical trial to evaluate its safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics (clinicaltrials.gov, Identifier: NCT04442945). In addition, a similar compound with mixed ligand properties for sigma1/muscarinic receptors (ANAVEX3-72), has been reported to have memorypreserving and neuroprotective effects in mice treated with the muscarinic receptor antagonist scopolamine and with synthetic A β oligomer injection, (Villard et al., 2011). ANAVEX3-72 compound is currently in phase IIb of a clinical trial (clinicaltrials.gov, Identifier: NCT04314934).

Future studies will be needed to confirm whether agonists of sigma-1 and M1-muscarinic receptors could represent a therapeutic avenue to prevent or delay AD in humans.

5.20 The way forward

We have shown (in Chapters 2 and 3) the importance of BFCNs in attention, BDNF regulation, neuronal markers and neurovascular unit structure. These studies provide a framework for understanding early cognitive deficits in AD.
Additionally, we provided evidence (Chapter 4) that new cholinergic therapies can prevent ADlike pathology and could represent a possible therapeutical strategy to prevent disease progression. A great deal of work remains to be done before any of these possibilities are fully realized. Nevertheless, we hope that we have contributed to additional knowledge on the BFNCs and therapeutical strategy that future investigators may build upon and their work will one day make a difference for people living with AD.

Original contributions

- I demonstrated that a long-lasting immunolesion of the nucleus basalis (nb) depleting significantly the cortical cholinergic input results in reduced BDNF expression and mature BDNF levels; without affecting the expression of NGF.
- 2. I have established that the diminished levels of cortical cholinergic synapses elicits attentional deficits.
- 3. I found that the loss of nb neurons results in the reduction of glutamatergic (vGluT1), and GABAergic (GAD65) markers in the cerebral cortex.
- I proposed a mechanism by which the BDNF dysregulation provoked by the deletion of cholinergic nb neurons results in diminished glutamatergic and GABAergic cortical markers and cognitive impairments.
- 5. I demonstrated that the cholinergic neuronal nb loss is sufficient to alter cortical vasculature, in particular the diameter of cortical capillaries and arterioles as well as a downregulation of the expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor A (VEGF-A).
- 6. I demonstrated that a long-term loss of cholinergic nb neurons increased the density of activated astrocytes and microglia in the cerebral cortex.
- 7. I found that the partial depletion of the basal forebrain cholinergic input to the cerebral cortex is sufficient to provoke an intermediate-activated astrocytic cell population with a repolarization of end-feet with a higher colocalization with arterioles and microglia cells.
- I demonstrated that a new cholinergic therapy, the selective allosteric M1 muscarinic and sigma-1 receptor agonist (AF710B), has the potential to prevent an AD-like pathology in transgenic rats when delivered at early stages of amyloid pathology.
- I showed that 7 months of AF710B administration and an additional 1 month of a washout, prevented impairment of learning, memory and social interaction capabilities in transgenic rodents.
- 10. I established that AF710B treatment reduced toxic cortical A β 42 and A β 40, and plaque deposition in the cortex and hippocampus.
- 11. I identified that AF710B reduced neuroinflammation, rescued microglial cell morphological changes and changed profiles of inflammatory mediators in transgenic rats.

- 12. I detected that AF710B treatment rescued the ratio of precursor/mature BDNF, which was increased in transgenic rats, favouring more conversion and availability of the mature isoform compared to the precursor.
- 13. I proposed a mechanism in which AF710B prevented cognitive deficits by reducing amyloidosis, neuroinflammation and rescuing the conversion from precursor to mature BDNF.

References

- ABBOTT, N. J., PATABENDIGE, A. A., DOLMAN, D. E., YUSOF, S. R. & BEGLEY, D. J. 2010. Structure and function of the blood–brain barrier. *Neurobiology of disease*, 37, 13-25.
- ABBOTT, N. J., RÖNNBÄCK, L. & HANSSON, E. 2006. Astrocyte–endothelial interactions at the blood–brain barrier. *Nature reviews neuroscience*, **7**, 41-53.
- ABRAHA, A., GHOSHAL, N., GAMBLIN, T. C., CRYNS, V., BERRY, R. W., KURET, J. & BINDER, L. I. 2000. Cterminal inhibition of tau assembly in vitro and in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of cell science*, 113, 3737-3745.
- AGGLETON, J. P., ALBASSER, M. M., AGGLETON, D. J., POIRIER, G. L. & PEARCE, J. M. 2010. Lesions of the rat perirhinal cortex spare the acquisition of a complex configural visual discrimination yet impair object recognition. *Behavioral neuroscience*, **124**, 55.
- AGHOURIAN, M., LEGAULT-DENIS, C., SOUCY, J., ROSA-NETO, P., GAUTHIER, S., KOSTIKOV, A., GRAVEL, P. & BEDARD, M. 2017. Quantification of brain cholinergic denervation in Alzheimer's disease using PET imaging with [18 F]-FEOBV. *Molecular psychiatry*, 22, 1531-1538.
- AGOSTINELLI, L. J., GEERLING, J. C. & SCAMMELL, T. E. 2019. Basal forebrain subcortical projections. *Brain Structure and Function*, 224, 1097-1117.
- AHMADIAN, S. S., REZVANIAN, A., PETERSON, M., WEINTRAUB, S., BIGIO, E. H., MESULAM, M.-M. & GEULA, C. 2015. Loss of calbindin-D28K is associated with the full range of tangle pathology within basal forebrain cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 36, 3163-3170.
- AISEN, P. 2000. Anti-inflammatory therapy for Alzheimer's disease: implications of the prednisone trial. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 102, 85-89.
- AJMO JR, C. T., VERNON, D. O., COLLIER, L., PENNYPACKER, K. R. & CUEVAS, J. 2006. Sigma receptor activation reduces infarct size at 24 hours after permanent middle cerebral artery occlusion in rats. *Current neurovascular research*, *3*, 89-98.
- AKIYAMA, H., BARGER, S., BARNUM, S., BRADT, B., BAUER, J., COLE, G. M., COOPER, N. R., EIKELENBOOM,
 P., EMMERLING, M. & FIEBICH, B. L. 2000. Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 21, 383-421.
- ALBERT, M. S., DEKOSKY, S. T., DICKSON, D., DUBOIS, B., FELDMAN, H. H., FOX, N. C., GAMST, A., HOLTZMAN, D. M., JAGUST, W. J. & PETERSEN, R. C. 2011. The diagnosis of mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease: recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's* & dementia, 7, 270-279.
- ALBIN, R. L., BOHNEN, N. I., MULLER, M. L., DAUER, W. T., SARTER, M., FREY, K. A. & KOEPPE, R. A. 2018. Regional vesicular acetylcholine transporter distribution in human brain: a [18F] fluoroethoxybenzovesamicol positron emission tomography study. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 526, 2884-2897.
- ALBUQUERQUE, E. X., ALKONDON, M., PEREIRA, E. F., CASTRO, N. G., SCHRATTENHOLZ, A., BARBOSA, C. T., BONFANTE-CABARCAS, R., ARACAVA, Y., EISENBERG, H. M. & MAELICKE, A. 1997. Properties of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: pharmacological characterization and modulation of synaptic function. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 280, 1117-1136.
- ALDERSON, R. F., ALTERMAN, A. L., BARDE, Y. A. & LINDSAY, R. M. 1990. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor increases survival and differentiated functions of rat septal cholinergic neurons in culture. *Neuron*, 5, 297-306.
- ALLARD, S., JACOBS, M. L., DO CARMO, S. & CUELLO, A. C. 2018. Compromise of cortical proNGF maturation causes selective retrograde atrophy in cholinergic nucleus basalis neurons. *Neurobiology of aging*, 67, 10-20.

- ALLARD, S., LEON, W. C., PAKAVATHKUMAR, P., BRUNO, M. A., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2012. Impact of the NGF maturation and degradation pathway on the cortical cholinergic system phenotype. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 32, 2002-2012.
- ALOE, L. 2004. Rita Levi-Montalcini: the discovery of nerve growth factor and modern neurobiology. *Trends in cell biology*, 14, 395-399.
- ALONSO, A. & KÖHLER, C. 1984. A study of the reciprocal connections between the septum and the entorhinal area using anterograde and retrograde axonal transport methods in the rat brain. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 225, 327-343.
- ALZHEIMER, A. 1907. Über eine eigenartige Erkrankung der Hirnrinde [article in German]. Allg Z Psych Psych-gerich Med, 64, 146-148.
- AN, J. J., GHARAMI, K., LIAO, G.-Y., WOO, N. H., LAU, A. G., VANEVSKI, F., TORRE, E. R., JONES, K. R., FENG,
 Y. & LU, B. 2008. Distinct role of long 3' UTR BDNF mRNA in spine morphology and synaptic plasticity in hippocampal neurons. *Cell*, 134, 175-187.
- ANAGNOSTARAS, S. G., MURPHY, G. G., HAMILTON, S. E., MITCHELL, S. L., RAHNAMA, N. P., NATHANSON, N. M. & SILVA, A. J. 2003. Selective cognitive dysfunction in acetylcholine M 1 muscarinic receptor mutant mice. *Nature neuroscience*, 6, 51-58.
- ANGELUCCI, F., SPALLETTA, G., IULIO, F. D., CIARAMELLA, A., SALANI, F., VARSI, A., GIANNI, W., SANCESARIO, G., CALTAGIRONE, C. & BOSSU, P. 2010. Alzheimer's disease (AD) and Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) patients are characterized by increased BDNF serum levels. *Current Alzheimer Research*, 7, 15-20.
- ANTONINI, V., MARRAZZO, A., KLEINER, G., CORADAZZI, M., RONSISVALLE, S., PREZZAVENTO, O., RONSISVALLE, G. & LEANZA, G. 2011. Anti-amnesic and neuroprotective actions of the sigma-1 receptor agonist (-)-MR22 in rats with selective cholinergic lesion and amyloid infusion. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 24, 569-586.
- ANTUNES, M. & BIALA, G. 2012. The novel object recognition memory: neurobiology, test procedure, and its modifications. *Cognitive processing*, 13, 93-110.
- APOSTOLOVA, L. G., STEINER, C. A., AKOPYAN, G. G., DUTTON, R. A., HAYASHI, K. M., TOGA, A. W., CUMMINGS, J. L. & THOMPSON, P. M. 2007. Three-dimensional gray matter atrophy mapping in mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer disease. *Archives of neurology*, 64, 1489-1495.
- APPARSUNDARAM, S., FERGUSON, S. M., GEORGE JR, A. L. & BLAKELY, R. D. 2000. Molecular cloning of a human, hemicholinium-3-sensitive choline transporter. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 276, 862-867.
- APPEL, S. H. 1981. A unifying hypothesis for the cause of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, parkinsonism, and Alzheimer disease. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 10, 499-505.
- ARAUJO, D., LAPCHAK, P., ROBITAILLE, Y., GAUTHIER, S. & QUIRION, R. 1988. Differential alteration of various cholinergic markers in cortical and subcortical regions of human brain in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 50, 1914-1923.
- ARBOLEDA-VELASQUEZ, J. F., LOPERA, F., O'HARE, M., DELGADO-TIRADO, S., MARINO, C., CHMIELEWSKA, N., SAEZ-TORRES, K. L., AMARNANI, D., SCHULTZ, A. P. & SPERLING, R. A. 2019. Resistance to autosomal dominant Alzheimer's disease in an APOE3 Christchurch homozygote: a case report. *Nature medicine*, 25, 1680-1683.
- ARENDT, T., BIGL, V., TENNSTEDT, A. & ARENDT, A. 1985. Neuronal loss in different parts of the nucleus basalis is related to neuritic plaque formation in cortical target areas in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience*, 14, 1-14.
- ARENDT, T., BRÜCKNER, M. K., MORAWSKI, M., JÄGER, C. & GERTZ, H.-J. 2015. Early neurone loss in Alzheimer's disease: cortical or subcortical? *Acta neuropathologica communications*, **3**, 1-11.

- ARRIAGADA, P. V., GROWDON, J. H., HEDLEY-WHYTE, E. T. & HYMAN, B. T. 1992. Neurofibrillary tangles but not senile plaques parallel duration and severity of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 42, 631-631.
- ASSOCIATION, A. S. 2019. 2019 Alzheimer's disease facts and figures. *Alzheimer's & dementia*, 15, 321-387.
- AVOLIO, A., KIM, M. O., ADJI, A., GANGODA, S., AVADHANAM, B., TAN, I. & BUTLIN, M. 2018. Cerebral haemodynamics: effects of systemic arterial pulsatile function and hypertension. *Current hypertension reports*, 20, 1-11.
- BABULAL, G. M., QUIROZ, Y. T., ALBENSI, B. C., ARENAZA-URQUIJO, E., ASTELL, A. J., BABILONI, C., BAHAR-FUCHS, A., BELL, J., BOWMAN, G. L. & BRICKMAN, A. M. 2019. Perspectives on ethnic and racial disparities in Alzheimer's disease and related dementias: update and areas of immediate need. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 15, 292-312.
- BAJETTO, A., BONAVIA, R., BARBERO, S. & SCHETTINI, G. 2002. Characterization of chemokines and their receptors in the central nervous system: physiopathological implications. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 82, 1311-1329.
- BAKER, K., TÖRK, I., HORNUNG, J.-P. & HALASZ, P. 1989. The human locus coeruleus complex: an immunohistochemical and three dimensional reconstruction study. *Experimental brain research*, 77, 257-270.
- BALES, K. R., O'NEILL, S. M., POZDNYAKOV, N., PAN, F., CAOUETTE, D., PI, Y., WOOD, K. M., VOLFSON, D., CIRRITO, J. R. & HAN, B.-H. 2016. Passive immunotherapy targeting amyloid-β reduces cerebral amyloid angiopathy and improves vascular reactivity. *Brain*, 139, 563-577.
- BALLARD, C., PIGGOTT, M., JOHNSON, M., CAIRNS, N., PERRY, R., MCKEITH, I., JAROS, E., O'BRIEN, J., HOLMES, C. & PERRY, E. 2000. Delusions associated with elevated muscarinic binding in dementia with Lewy bodies. *Annals of neurology*, 48, 868-876.
- BALLINGER, E. C., ANANTH, M., TALMAGE, D. A. & ROLE, L. W. 2016. Basal forebrain cholinergic circuits and signaling in cognition and cognitive decline. *Neuron*, 91, 1199-1218.
- BARCELONA, P. F. & SARAGOVI, H. U. 2015. A pro-nerve growth factor (proNGF) and NGF binding protein, α2-macroglobulin, differentially regulates p75 and TrkA receptors and is relevant to neurodegeneration ex vivo and in vivo. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 35, 3396-3408.
- BARDE, Y.-A., EDGAR, D. & THOENEN, H. 1982. Purification of a new neurotrophic factor from mammalian brain. *The EMBO journal*, **1**, 549-553.
- BARI, A., DALLEY, J. W. & ROBBINS, T. W. 2008. The application of the 5-choice serial reaction time task for the assessment of visual attentional processes and impulse control in rats. *Nature protocols*, 3, 759-767.
- BARTUS, R. T. 1978. Evidence for a direct cholinergic involvement in the scopolamine-induced amnesia in monkeys: effects of concurrent administration of physostigmine and methylphenidate with scopolamine. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, 9, 833-836.
- BARTUS, R. T. 1979. Physostigmine and recent memory: effects in young and aged nonhuman primates. *Science*, 206, 1087-1089.
- BARTUS, R. T., DEAN, R. L., 3RD, BEER, B. & LIPPA, A. S. 1982. The cholinergic hypothesis of geriatric memory dysfunction. *Science*, 217, 408-414
- BARTUS, R. T. & JOHNSON, H. 1976. Short-term memory in the rhesus monkey: disruption from the anticholinergic scopolamine. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior*, **5**, 39-46.
- BASILE, A. S., FEDOROVA, I., ZAPATA, A., LIU, X., SHIPPENBERG, T., DUTTAROY, A., YAMADA, M. & WESS, J. 2002. Deletion of the M5 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor attenuates morphine reinforcement and withdrawal but not morphine analgesia. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 99, 11452-11457.

- BASSUK, S. S., GLASS, T. A. & BERKMAN, L. F. 1999. Social disengagement and incident cognitive decline in community-dwelling elderly persons. *Annals of internal medicine*, 131, 165-173.
- BAXTER, M. G. & CHIBA, A. A. 1999. Cognitive functions of the basal forebrain. *Current opinion in neurobiology*, 9, 178-183.
- BAXTER, M. G. & GALLAGHER, M. 1996. Intact spatial learning in both young and aged rats following selective removal of hippocampal cholinergic input. *Behavioral neuroscience*, 110, 460.
- BEACH, T., WALKER, D., SUE, L., SCOTT, S., LAYNE, K., NEWELL, A., POTTER, P., DURHAM, R., EMMERLING,
 M. & WEBSTER, S. 2003. Immunotoxin lesion of the cholinergic nucleus basalis causes Aβ deposition: Towards a physiologic animal model of Alzheimer's disease. *Current Medicinal Chemistry-Immunology, Endocrine & Metabolic Agents*, 3, 57-75.
- BEERI, M. S. & SONNEN, J. 2016. Brain BDNF expression as a biomarker for cognitive reserve against Alzheimer disease progression. AAN Enterprises.
- BEJANIN, S., CERVINI, R., MALLET, J. & BERRARD, S. 1994. A unique gene organization for two cholinergic markers, choline acetyltransferase and a putative vesicular transporter of acetylcholine. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269, 21944-21947.
- BELL, K. F., BENNETT, D. A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2007. Paradoxical upregulation of glutamatergic presynaptic boutons during mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 27, 10810-10817.
- BELL, K. F. & CUELLO, A. C. 2006. Altered synaptic function in Alzheimer's disease. *European journal of pharmacology*, 545, 11-21.
- BELL, K. F., DE KORT, G. J., STEGGERDA, S., SHIGEMOTO, R., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2003. Structural involvement of the glutamatergic presynaptic boutons in a transgenic mouse model expressing early onset amyloid pathology. *Neurosci Lett*, 353, 143-7.
- BELL, K. F., DUCATENZEILER, A., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A., DUFF, K., BENNETT, D. A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2006. The amyloid pathology progresses in a neurotransmitter-specific manner. *Neurobiol Aging*, 27, 1644-57.
- BELL, K. F., ZHENG, L., FAHRENHOLZ, F. & CUELLO, A. C. 2008. ADAM-10 over-expression increases cortical synaptogenesis. *Neurobiology of aging*, 29, 554-565.
- BENISHIN, C. G. & CARROLL, P. T. 1983. Multiple forms of choline-O-acetyltransferase in mouse and rat brain: Solubilization and characterization. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 41, 1030-1039.
- BENNETT, D. A., WILSON, R. S., SCHNEIDER, J. A., EVANS, D. A., BECKETT, L. A., AGGARWAL, N. T., BARNES,
 L. L., FOX, J. H. & BACH, J. 2002. Natural history of mild cognitive impairment in older persons. *Neurology*, 59, 198-205.
- BENNETT, R. E., ROBBINS, A. B., HU, M., CAO, X., BETENSKY, R. A., CLARK, T., DAS, S. & HYMAN, B. T. 2018. Tau induces blood vessel abnormalities and angiogenesis-related gene expression in P301L transgenic mice and human Alzheimer's disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 115, E1289-E1298.
- BERGER-SWEENEY, J., HECKERS, S., MESULAM, M.-M., WILEY, R. G., LAPPI, D. A. & SHARMA, M. 1994. Differential effects on spatial navigation of immunotoxin-induced cholinergic lesions of the medial septal area and nucleus basalis magnocellularis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 14, 4507-4519.
- BERRIDGE, C. W. & WATERHOUSE, B. D. 2003. The locus coeruleus–noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. *Brain research reviews*, 42, 33-84.
- BERSE, B., LOPEZ-COVIELLA, I. & BLUSZTAJN, J. K. 1999. Activation of TrkA by nerve growth factor upregulates expression of the cholinergic gene locus but attenuates the response to ciliary neurotrophic growth factor. *Biochemical Journal*, 342, 301-308.
- BERTRAND, P., POIRIER, J., ODA, T., FINCH, C. E. & PASINETTI, G. M. 1995. Association of apolipoprotein E genotype with brain levels of apolipoprotein E and apolipoprotein J (clusterin) in Alzheimer disease. *Molecular brain research*, 33, 174-178.

- BHATTACHARYYA, A., WATSON, F. L., POMEROY, S. L., ZHANG, Y. Z., STILES, C. D. & SEGAL, R. A. 2002. High-resolution imaging demonstrates dynein-based vesicular transport of activated Trk receptors. *Journal of neurobiology*, 51, 302-312.
- BIBEL, M., HOPPE, E. & BARDE, Y.-A. 1999. Biochemical and functional interactions between the neurotrophin receptors trk and p75NTR. *The EMBO journal*, 18, 616-622.
- BIGL, V., WOOLF, N. J. & BUTCHER, L. L. 1982. Cholinergic projections from the basal forebrain to frontal, parietal, temporal, occipital, and cingulate cortices: a combined fluorescent tracer and acetylcholinesterase analysis. *Brain research bulletin*, *8*, 727-749.
- BISHOP, K. M., HOFER, E. K., MEHTA, A., RAMIREZ, A., SUN, L., TUSZYNSKI, M. & BARTUS, R. T. 2008. Therapeutic potential of CERE-110 (AAV2-NGF): targeted, stable, and sustained NGF delivery and trophic activity on rodent basal forebrain cholinergic neurons. *Experimental neurology*, 211, 574-584.
- BLASKO, I., LEDERER, W., OBERBAUER, H., WALCH, T., KEMMLER, G., HINTERHUBER, H., MARKSTEINER, J.
 & HUMPEL, C. 2006. Measurement of thirteen biological markers in CSF of patients with Alzheimer's disease and other dementias. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, 21, 9-15.
- BLIN, J., IVANOIU, A., COPPENS, A., DE VOLDER, A., LABAR, D., MICHEL, C. & LATERRE, E.-C. 1997. Cholinergic neurotransmission has different effects on cerebral glucose consumption and blood flow in young normals, aged normals, and Alzheimer's disease patients. *Neuroimage*, 6, 335-343.
- BLISS, T. V. & COLLINGRIDGE, G. L. 1993. A synaptic model of memory: long-term potentiation in the hippocampus. *Nature*, 361, 31-39.
- BLÖCHL, A. & THOENEN, H. 1995. Characterization of nerve growth factor (NGF) release from hippocampal neurons: evidence for a constitutive and an unconventional sodium-dependent regulated pathway. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 7, 1220-1228.
- BLOCQ, P. & MARINESCU, G. 1892. Sur les lésions et la pathogénie de l'épilepsie dite essentielle.
- BOADO, R. J. & PARDRIDGE, W. M. 1990. The brain-type glucose transporter mRNA is specifically expressed at the blood-brain barrier. *Biochemical and Biophysical research communications*, 166, 174-179.
- BOISSIÈRE, F., FAUCHEUX, B., AGID, Y. & HIRSCH, E. C. 1997. Expression of catalytic trkB gene in the striatum and the basal forebrain of patients with Alzheimer's disease: an in situ hybridization study. *Neuroscience letters*, 221, 141-144.
- BOLLER, F. & FORBES, M. M. 1998. History of dementia and dementia in history: an overview. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 158, 125-133.
- BONDAREFF, W., MOUNTJOY, C. Q. & ROTH, M. 1982. Loss of neurons of origin of the adrenergic projection to cerebral cortex (nucleus locus ceruleus) in senile dementia. *Neurology*, 32, 164-164.
- BOOTS, E. A., SCHULTZ, S. A., CLARK, L. R., RACINE, A. M., DARST, B. F., KOSCIK, R. L., CARLSSON, C. M., GALLAGHER, C. L., HOGAN, K. J. & BENDLIN, B. B. 2017. BDNF Val66Met predicts cognitive decline in the Wisconsin Registry for Alzheimer's Prevention. *Neurology*, 88, 2098-2106.
- BORES, G. M., HUGER, F. P., PETKO, W., MUTLIB, A. E., CAMACHO, F., RUSH, D. K., SELK, D. E., WOLF, V., KOSLEY, R. & DAVIS, L. 1996. Pharmacological evaluation of novel Alzheimer's disease therapeutics: acetylcholinesterase inhibitors related to galanthamine. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 277, 728-738.
- BOTHWELL, M. 1995. Functional interactions of neurotrophins and neurotrophin receptors. *Annual review* of neuroscience, 18, 223-253.
- BOULAY, A.-C., MAZERAUD, A., CISTERNINO, S., SAUBAMÉA, B., MAILLY, P., JOURDREN, L., BLUGEON, C., MIGNON, V., SMIRNOVA, M. & CAVALLO, A. 2015a. Immune quiescence of the brain is set by astroglial connexin 43. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 35, 4427-4439.
- BOULAY, A.-C., SAUBAMÉA, B., DECLÈVES, X. & COHEN-SALMON, M. 2015b. Purification of mouse brain vessels. *JoVE (Journal of Visualized Experiments)*, e53208.

- BOWEN, D. & DAVISON, A. 1978. Changes in brain lysosomal activity, neurotransmitter-related enzymes, and other proteins in senile dementia. *Alzheimer's Disease, Senile Dementia and Related Disorders, R. Katzman, RD Terry, and KL Bick, eds*, 421-424.
- BOWEN, D. M., SMITH, C. B., WHITE, P. & DAVISON, A. N. 1976. Neurotransmitter-related enzymes and indices of hypoxia in senile dementia and other abiotrophies. *Brain: a journal of neurology,* 99, 459.
- BRAAK, H. & BRAAK, E. 1991. Neuropathological stageing of Alzheimer-related changes. Acta neuropathologica, 82, 239-259.
- BRAAK, H. & DEL TREDICI, K. 2011. The pathological process underlying Alzheimer's disease in individuals under thirty. *Acta neuropathologica*, 121, 171-181.
- BRAMBLETT, G. T., GOEDERT, M., JAKES, R., MERRICK, S. E., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q. & LEE, V. M. 1993. Abnormal tau phosphorylation at Ser396 in Alzheimer's disease recapitulates development and contributes to reduced microtubule binding. *Neuron*, 10, 1089-1099.
- BRANDEIS, R., BRANDYS, Y. & YEHUDA, S. 1989. The use of the Morris water maze in the study of memory and learning. *International Journal of Neuroscience*, 48, 29-69.
- BRANDON, E. P., LIN, W., D'AMOUR, K. A., PIZZO, D. P., DOMINGUEZ, B., SUGIURA, Y., THODE, S., KO, C. P., THAL, L. J. & GAGE, F. H. 2003. Aberrant patterning of neuromuscular synapses in choline acetyltransferase-deficient mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 23, 539-549.
- BRIMIJOIN, S. 1983. Molecular forms of acetylcholinesterase in brain, nerve and muscle: nature, localization and dynamics. *Progress in neurobiology*, 21, 291-322.
- BROAD, K. D., MIMMACK, M. L., KEVERNE, E. B. & KENDRICK, K. M. 2002. Increased BDNF and trk-B mRNA expression in cortical and limbic regions following formation of a social recognition memory. *Eur J Neurosci*, 16, 2166-74.
- BRÜGGEN, K., DYRBA, M., BARKHOF, F., HAUSNER, L., FILIPPI, M., NESTOR, P. J., HAUENSTEIN, K., KLÖPPEL,
 S., GROTHE, M. J. & KASPER, E. 2015. Basal forebrain and hippocampus as predictors of conversion to Alzheimer's disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment—a multicenter DTI and Volumetry study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 48, 197-204.
- BRUNO, M. A., CLARKE, P. B., SELTZER, A., QUIRION, R., BURGESS, K., CUELLO, A. C. & SARAGOVI, H. U. 2004. Long-lasting rescue of age-associated deficits in cognition and the CNS cholinergic phenotype by a partial agonist peptidomimetic ligand of TrkA. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 8009-8018.
- BRUNO, M. A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2006. Activity-dependent release of precursor nerve growth factor, conversion to mature nerve growth factor, and its degradation by a protease cascade. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 103, 6735-6740.
- BRUNO, M. A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2012. Cortical peroxynitration of nerve growth factor in aged and cognitively impaired rats. *Neurobiology of aging*, 33, 1927-1937.
- BRUNO, M. A., LEON, W. C., FRAGOSO, G., MUSHYNSKI, W. E., ALMAZAN, G. & CUELLO, A. C. 2009a. Amyloid β-induced nerve growth factor dysmetabolism in Alzheimer disease. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 68, 857-869
- BRUNO, M. A., MUFSON, E. J., WUU, J. & CUELLO, A. C. 2009b. Increased matrix metalloproteinase 9 activity in mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 68, 1309-1318.
- BUCCAFUSCO, J. J., LETCHWORTH, S. R., BENCHERIF, M. & LIPPIELLO, P. M. 2005. Long-lasting cognitive improvement with nicotinic receptor agonists: mechanisms of pharmacokinetic–pharmacodynamic discordance. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*, 26, 352-360.
- BUCHMAN, A. S., YU, L., BOYLE, P. A., SCHNEIDER, J. A., DE JAGER, P. L. & BENNETT, D. A. 2016. Higher brain BDNF gene expression is associated with slower cognitive decline in older adults. *Neurology*, 86, 735-741.

- BUCKMASTER, C. A., EICHENBAUM, H., AMARAL, D. G., SUZUKI, W. A. & RAPP, P. R. 2004. Entorhinal cortex lesions disrupt the relational organization of memory in monkeys. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 9811-9825.
- BUERGER, K., EWERS, M., PIRTTILÄ, T., ZINKOWSKI, R., ALAFUZOFF, I., TEIPEL, S. J., DEBERNARDIS, J., KERKMAN, D., MCCULLOCH, C. & SOININEN, H. 2006. CSF phosphorylated tau protein correlates with neocortical neurofibrillary pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, 129, 3035-3041.
- BUTOVSKY, O., TALPALAR, A. E., BEN-YAAKOV, K. & SCHWARTZ, M. 2005. Activation of microglia by aggregated β-amyloid or lipopolysaccharide impairs MHC-II expression and renders them cytotoxic whereas IFN-γ and IL-4 render them protective. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 29, 381-393.
- BUTTERFIELD, D. A. & POCERNICH, C. B. 2003. The glutamatergic system and Alzheimer's disease. CNS drugs, 17, 641-652.
- CACACE, R., SLEEGERS, K. & VAN BROECKHOVEN, C. 2016. Molecular genetics of early-onset Alzheimer's disease revisited. *Alzheimer's & dementia*, 12, 733-748.
- CACCAMO, A., ODDO, S., BILLINGS, L. M., GREEN, K. N., MARTINEZ-CORIA, H., FISHER, A. & LAFERLA, F. M. 2006. M1 receptors play a central role in modulating AD-like pathology in transgenic mice. *Neuron*, 49, 671-82.
- CALZA, L., GIARDINO, L., GIULIANI, A., ALOE, L. & LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 2001. Nerve growth factor control of neuronal expression of angiogenetic and vasoactive factors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98, 4160-4165.
- CAMPENOT, R. B. 1982. Development of sympathetic neurons in compartmentalized cultures: I. Local control of neurite growth by nerve growth factor. *Developmental biology*, 93, 1-12.
- CAO, L., JIAO, X., ZUZGA, D. S., LIU, Y., FONG, D. M., YOUNG, D. & DURING, M. J. 2004. VEGF links hippocampal activity with neurogenesis, learning and memory. *Nature genetics*, 36, 827-835.
- CAPSONI, S., COVACEUSZACH, S., MARINELLI, S., CECI, M., BERNARDO, A., MINGHETTI, L., UGOLINI, G., PAVONE, F. & CATTANEO, A. 2011. Taking pain out of NGF: a "painless" NGF mutant, linked to hereditary sensory autonomic neuropathy type V, with full neurotrophic activity. *PloS one*, 6, e17321.
- CAPSONI, S., MALERBA, F., CARUCCI, N. M., RIZZI, C., CRISCUOLO, C., ORIGLIA, N., CALVELLO, M., VIEGI, A., MELI, G. & CATTANEO, A. 2017. The chemokine CXCL12 mediates the anti-amyloidogenic action of painless human nerve growth factor. *Brain*, 140, 201-217.
- CAPSONI, S., MARINELLI, S., CECI, M., VIGNONE, D., AMATO, G., MALERBA, F., PAOLETTI, F., MELI, G., VIEGI, A. & PAVONE, F. 2012. Intranasal "painless" human nerve growth factors slows amyloid neurodegeneration and prevents memory deficits in App X PS1 mice. *PloS one*, **7**, e37555.
- CARDINAL, R. N. & AITKEN, M. R. 2010. Whisker: a client—server high-performance multimedia research control system. *Behavior research methods*, 42, 1059-1071.
- CARLEZON JR, W. A., WISE, R. A. & CARLEZON JR, W. 1996. Microinjections of phencyclidine (PCP) and related drugs into nucleus accumbens shell potentiate medial forebrain bundle brain stimulation reward. *Psychopharmacology*, 128, 413-420.
- CARVALHO, O. P., THORNTON, G. K., HERTECANT, J., HOULDEN, H., NICHOLAS, A. K., COX, J. J., RIELLY, M., AL-GAZALI, L. & WOODS, C. G. 2011. A novel NGF mutation clarifies the molecular mechanism and extends the phenotypic spectrum of the HSAN5 neuropathy. *Journal of medical genetics*, 48, 131-135.
- CASTLE, M. J., BALTANÁS, F. C., KOVACS, I., NAGAHARA, A. H., BARBA, D. & TUSZYNSKI, M. H. 2020. Postmortem analysis in a clinical trial of AAV2-NGF gene therapy for Alzheimer's disease identifies a need for improved vector delivery. *Human gene therapy*, 31, 415-422.

- CASTRÉN, E., BERNINGER, B., LEINGÄRTNER, A. & LINDHOLM, D. 1998. Regulation of brain-derived neurotrophic factor mRNA levels in hippocampus by neuronal activity. *Progress in brain research*, 117, 57-64.
- CASTRÉN, E. & RANTAMÄKI, T. 2010. The role of BDNF and its receptors in depression and antidepressant drug action: reactivation of developmental plasticity. *Developmental neurobiology*, 70, 289-297.
- CASU, M. A., WONG, T. P., DE KONINCK, Y., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2002. Aging causes a preferential loss of cholinergic innervation of characterized neocortical pyramidal neurons. *Cereb Cortex*, 12, 329-37.
- CATTANEO, A. & CAPSONI, S. 2019. Painless Nerve Growth Factor: A TrkA biased agonist mediating a broad neuroprotection via its actions on microglia cells. *Pharmacological research*, 139, 17-25.
- CAULFIELD, M. P. 1993. Muscarinic receptors—characterization, coupling and function. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 58, 319-379.
- CAULFIELD, M. P. & BIRDSALL, N. J. 1998. International Union of Pharmacology. XVII. Classification of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Pharmacological reviews*, 50, 279-290.
- CAULI, B., TONG, X.-K., RANCILLAC, A., SERLUCA, N., LAMBOLEZ, B., ROSSIER, J. & HAMEL, E. 2004. Cortical GABA interneurons in neurovascular coupling: relays for subcortical vasoactive pathways. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 8940-8949.
- CAVEDO, E., DUBOIS, B., COLLIOT, O., LISTA, S., CROISILE, B., TISSERAND, G. L., TOUCHON, J., BONAFE, A., OUSSET, P. J. & ROUAUD, O. 2016. Reduced regional cortical thickness rate of change in donepeziltreated subjects with suspected prodromal Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*.
- CAVEDO, E., GROTHE, M. J., COLLIOT, O., LISTA, S., CHUPIN, M., DORMONT, D., HOUOT, M., LEHÉRICY, S., TEIPEL, S. & DUBOIS, B. 2017. Reduced basal forebrain atrophy progression in a randomized Donepezil trial in prodromal Alzheimer's disease. *Scientific reports*, 7.
- CERAVOLO, R., VOLTERRANI, D., TOGNONI, G., DELL'AGNELLO, G., MANCA, G., KIFERLE, L., ROSSI, C., LOGI, C., STRAUSS, H. W. & MARIANI, G. 2004. Cerebral perfusional effects of cholinesterase inhibitors in Alzheimer disease. *Clinical neuropharmacology*, 27, 166-170.
- CHAKRABARTY, P., CEBALLOS-DIAZ, C., BECCARD, A., JANUS, C., DICKSON, D., GOLDE, T. E. & DAS, P. 2010. IFN-γ promotes complement expression and attenuates amyloid plaque deposition in amyloid β precursor protein transgenic mice. *The Journal of Immunology*, 184, 5333-5343.
- CHAN, J. P., CORDEIRA, J., CALDERON, G. A., IYER, L. K. & RIOS, M. 2008. Depletion of central BDNF in mice impedes terminal differentiation of new granule neurons in the adult hippocampus. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 39, 372-383.
- CHANG, H. C. & GADDUM, J. H. 1933. Choline esters in tissue extracts. *The Journal of physiology*, 79, 255.
- CHAO, M. V., BOTHWELL, M. A., ROSS, A. H., KOPROWSKI, H., LANAHAN, A. A., BUCK, C. R. & SEHGAL, A. 1986. Gene transfer and molecular cloning of the human NGF receptor. *Science*, 232, 518-521.
- CHEN, K. S., NISHIMURA, M. C., ARMANINI, M. P., CROWLEY, C., SPENCER, S. D. & PHILLIPS, H. S. 1997. Disruption of a single allele of the nerve growth factor gene results in atrophy of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons and memory deficits. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **17**, 7288-7296.
- CHEN, L., MOSSA-BASHA, M., BALU, N., CANTON, G., SUN, J., PIMENTEL, K., HATSUKAMI, T. S., HWANG, J. N. & YUAN, C. 2018. Development of a quantitative intracranial vascular features extraction tool on 3 D MRA using semiautomated open-curve active contour vessel tracing. *Magnetic resonance in medicine*, **79**, 3229-3238.
- CHEN, Z.-Y., IERACI, A., TENG, H., DALL, H., MENG, C.-X., HERRERA, D. G., NYKJAER, A., HEMPSTEAD, B. L. & LEE, F. S. 2005. Sortilin controls intracellular sorting of brain-derived neurotrophic factor to the regulated secretory pathway. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25, 6156-6166.
- CHEN, Z.-Y., JING, D., BATH, K. G., IERACI, A., KHAN, T., SIAO, C.-J., HERRERA, D. G., TOTH, M., YANG, C. & MCEWEN, B. S. 2006. Genetic variant BDNF (Val66Met) polymorphism alters anxiety-related behavior. *science*, 314, 140-143.

- CHRISTIE, R., YAMADA, M., MOSKOWITZ, M. & HYMAN, B. 2001. Structural and functional disruption of vascular smooth muscle cells in a transgenic mouse model of amyloid angiopathy. *The American journal of pathology*, 158, 1065-1071.
- CHU, D. C., PENNEY, J. B. & YOUNG, A. B. 1987. Cortical GABAB and GABAA receptors in Alzheimer's disease: a quantitative autoradiographic study. *Neurology*, 37, 1454-1454.
- CHUDASAMA, Y., DALLEY, J. W., NATHWANI, F., BOUGER, P. & ROBBINS, T. W. 2004. Cholinergic modulation of visual attention and working memory: dissociable effects of basal forebrain 192-IgG-saporin lesions and intraprefrontal infusions of scopolamine. *Learning & memory*, 11, 78-86.
- CLAASSEN, J. A. & JANSEN, R. W. 2006. Cholinergically mediated augmentation of cerebral perfusion in alzheimer's disease and related cognitive disorders: the cholinergic–vascular hypothesis. *The Journals of Gerontology Series A: Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 61, 267-271.
- CLADER, J. W. & WANG, Y. 2005. Muscarinic receptor agonists and antagonists in the treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Current pharmaceutical design*, **11**, 3353-3361.
- CLARK, L. R., BERMAN, S. E., RIVERA-RIVERA, L. A., HOSCHEIDT, S. M., DARST, B. F., ENGELMAN, C. D., ROWLEY, H. A., CARLSSON, C. M., ASTHANA, S. & TURSKI, P. 2017. Macrovascular and microvascular cerebral blood flow in adults at risk for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring*, 7, 48-55.
- CLARK, R. E., ZOLA, S. M. & SQUIRE, L. R. 2000. Impaired recognition memory in rats after damage to the hippocampus. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 8853-8860.
- COELHO, F. & BIRKS, J. 2001. Physostigmine for Alzheimer's disease. *The Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, CD001499-CD001499.
- COHEN, S. 1960. Purification of a nerve-growth promoting protein from the mouse salivary gland and its neuro-cytotoxic antiserum. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 46, 302-311.
- COLANGELO, C., SHICHKOVA, P., KELLER, D., MARKRAM, H. & RAMASWAMY, S. 2019. Cellular, synaptic and network effects of acetylcholine in the neocortex. *Frontiers in neural circuits*, 13, 24.
- COLLOBY, S. J., MCKEITH, I. G., WYPER, D. J., O'BRIEN, J. T. & TAYLOR, J.-P. 2015. Regional covariance of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in Alzheimer's disease using (R, R)[123I]-QNB SPECT. *Journal of neurology*, 262, 2144-2153.
- CONEJERO-GOLDBERG, C., DAVIES, P. & ULLOA, L. 2008. Alpha7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor: a link between inflammation and neurodegeneration. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 32, 693-706.
- CONNERS, C. K., EPSTEIN, J. N., ANGOLD, A. & KLARIC, J. 2003. Continuous performance test performance in a normative epidemiological sample. *Journal of abnormal child psychology*, 31, 555-562.
- COOKE, L. J. & RYLETT, R. J. 1997. Inhibitors of serine/threonine phosphatases increase membrane-bound choline acetyltransferase activity and enhance acetylcholine synthesis. *Brain research*, 751, 232-238.
- COOPER, J., LINDHOLM, D. & SOFRONIEW, M. 1994. Reduced transport of [1251] nerve growth factor by cholinergic neurons and down-regulated TrkA expression in the medial septum of aged rats. *Neuroscience*, 62, 625-629.
- COOPER, J. D., SALEHI, A., DELCROIX, J.-D., HOWE, C. L., BELICHENKO, P. V., CHUA-COUZENS, J., KILBRIDGE, J. F., CARLSON, E. J., EPSTEIN, C. J. & MOBLEY, W. C. 2001. Failed retrograde transport of NGF in a mouse model of Down's syndrome: reversal of cholinergic neurodegenerative phenotypes following NGF infusion. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98, 10439-10444.
- CORDER, E., SAUNDERS, A. M., RISCH, N., STRITTMATTER, W., SCHMECHEL, D., GASKELL, P., RIMMLER, J., LOCKE, P., CONNEALLY, P. & SCHMADER, K. 1994. Protective effect of apolipoprotein E type 2 allele for late onset Alzheimer disease. *Nature genetics*, **7**, 180-184.

- CORDON-CARDO, C., TAPLEY, P., JING, S., NANDURI, V., O'ROURKE, E., LAMBALLE, F., KOVARY, K., KLEIN, R., JONES, K. R. & REICHARDT, L. F. 1991. The trk tyrosine protein kinase mediates the mitogenic properties of nerve growth factor and neurotrophin-3. *Cell*, 66, 173-183.
- COUNTS, S. E., NADEEM, M., WUU, J., GINSBERG, S. D., SARAGOVI, H. U. & MUFSON, E. J. 2004. Reduction of cortical TrkA but not p75NTR protein in early-stage Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 56, 520-531.
- COWBURN, R., HARDY, J., ROBERTS, P. & BRIGGS, R. 1988. Regional distribution of pre-and postsynaptic glutamatergic function in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain research*, 452, 403-407.
- COYLE, J. T., PRICE, D. L. & DELONG, M. R. 1983. Alzheimer's disease: a disorder of cortical cholinergic innervation. *Science*, 219, 1184-1190.
- CRAIG-SCHAPIRO, R., KUHN, M., XIONG, C., PICKERING, E. H., LIU, J., MISKO, T. P., PERRIN, R. J., BALES, K.
 R., SOARES, H. & FAGAN, A. M. 2011. Multiplexed immunoassay panel identifies novel CSF biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease diagnosis and prognosis. *PloS one*, 6, e18850.
- CROCKER, P. R., HARTNELL, A., MUNDAY, J. & NATH, D. 1997. The potential role of sialoadhesin as a macrophage recognition molecule in health and disease. *Glycoconjugate journal*, 14, 601-609.
- CRUTCHER, K. A., SCOTT, S. A., LIANG, S., EVERSON, W. V. & WEINGARTNER, J. 1993. Detection of NGFlike activity in human brain tissue: increased levels in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 13, 2540-2550.
- CRUZ HERNÁNDEZ, J. C., BRACKO, O., KERSBERGEN, C. J., MUSE, V., HAFT-JAVAHERIAN, M., BERG, M., PARK, L., VINARCSIK, L. K., IVASYK, I. & RIVERA, D. A. 2019. Neutrophil adhesion in brain capillaries reduces cortical blood flow and impairs memory function in Alzheimer's disease mouse models. *Nature neuroscience*, 22, 413-420.
- CSÁSZÁR, E., LÉNÁRT, N., CSERÉP, C., KÖRNYEI, Z., FEKETE, R., PÓSFAI, B., BALÁZSFI, D., HANGYA, B., SCHWARCZ, A. D. & SZABADITS, E. 2022. Microglia modulate blood flow, neurovascular coupling, and hypoperfusion via purinergic actions. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 219.
- CUELLO, A. 2009. Cholinergic Pathways in CNS.
- CUELLO, A., FERRETTI, M. & IULITA, M. 2012. Preplaque ('preclinical') Aβ-induced inflammation and nerve growth factor deregulation in transgenic models of Alzheimer's disease-like amyloid pathology. *Neurodegenerative Diseases*, 10, 104-107.
- CUELLO, A., MAYSINGER, D. & GAROFALO, L. 1992. Trophic factor effects on cholinergic innervation in the cerebral cortex of the adult rat brain. *Molecular neurobiology*, 6, 451-461.
- CUELLO, A. C. 1993. Trophic responses of forebrain cholinergic neurons: a discussion. *Prog Brain Res*, 98, 265-77.
- CUELLO, A. C. 1996. Effects of trophic factors on the CNS cholinergic phenotype. *Progress in Brain Research*, 109, 347-358.
- CUELLO, A. C. 2017. Early and late CNS inflammation in Alzheimer's disease: two extremes of a continuum? *Trends in pharmacological sciences,* 38, 956-966.
- CUELLO, A. C., PENTZ, R. & HALL, H. 2019. The brain NGF metabolic pathway in health and in Alzheimer's pathology. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, 13, 62.
- CUELLO, A. C. & SOFRONIEW, M. V. 1984. The anatomy of the CNS cholinergic neurons. *Trends in neurosciences*, 7, 74-78.
- CUNNINGHAM, M. E., STEPHENS, R. M., KAPLAN, D. R. & GREENE, L. A. 1997. Autophosphorylation of activation loop tyrosines regulates signaling by the TRK nerve growth factor receptor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272, 10957-10967.
- D'HOOGE, R. & DE DEYN, P. P. 2001. Applications of the Morris water maze in the study of learning and memory. *Brain research reviews*, 36, 60-90.

- DAHLSTRÖM, A. 1983. Presence, metabolism, and axonal transport of transmitters in peripheral mammalian axons. *Handbook of Neurochemistry*. Springer.
- DAI, M.-H., ZHENG, H., ZENG, L.-D. & ZHANG, Y. 2018. The genes associated with early-onset Alzheimer's disease. *Oncotarget*, 9, 15132.
- DALE, H. H. 1914. The action of certain esters and ethers of choline, and their relation to muscarine. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 6, 147-190.
- DALE, H. H., FELDBERG, W. & VOGT, M. 1936. Release of acetylcholine at voluntary motor nerve endings. *The Journal of physiology*, 86, 353.
- DALLAIRE, L., TREMBLAY, L. & BÉLIVEAU, R. 1991. Purification and characterization of metabolically active capillaries of the blood-brain barrier. *Biochemical journal*, 276, 745-752.
- DALLEY, J. W., THEOBALD, D. E., BOUGER, P., CHUDASAMA, Y., CARDINAL, R. N. & ROBBINS, T. W. 2004. Cortical cholinergic function and deficits in visual attentional performance in rats following 192 IgG–saporin-induced lesions of the medial prefrontal cortex. *Cerebral Cortex*, 14, 922-932.
- DARVESH, S., HOPKINS, D. A. & GEULA, C. 2003. Neurobiology of butyrylcholinesterase. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 4, 131-138.
- DAVIES, D. S., MA, J., JEGATHEES, T. & GOLDSBURY, C. 2017. Microglia show altered morphology and reduced arborization in human brain during aging and A lzheimer's disease. *Brain Pathology*, 27, 795-808.
- DAVIES, P. & MALONEY, A. 1976. Selective loss of central cholinergic neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet*, 308, 1403.
- DAVIS, A. A., FRITZ, J. J., WESS, J., LAH, J. J. & LEVEY, A. I. 2010. Deletion of M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors increases amyloid pathology in vitro and in vivo. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 30, 4190-4196.
- DAVIS, B. M., SALINAS-NAVARRO, M., CORDEIRO, M. F., MOONS, L. & DE GROEF, L. 2017. Characterizing microglia activation: a spatial statistics approach to maximize information extraction. *Scientific reports*, 7, 1-12.
- DAVIS, K. L., MOHS, R. C., TINKLENBERG, J. R., PFEFFERBAUM, A., HOLLISTER, L. E. & KOPELL, B. S. 1978. Physostigmine: improvement of long-term memory processes in normal humans. *Science*, 201, 272-274.
- DAVIS, P. K. & JOHNSON, G. V. 1999a. Energy metabolism and protein phosphorylation during apoptosis: a phosphorylation study of tau and high-molecular-weight tau in differentiated PC12 cells. *Biochemical Journal*, 340, 51-58.
- DAVIS, P. K. & JOHNSON, G. V. 1999b. The microtubule binding of Tau and high molecular weight Tau in apoptotic PC12 cells is impaired because of altered phosphorylation. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274, 35686-35692.
- DE ANDRADE, D., BAUDIC, S., ATTAL, N., RODRIGUES, C., CARAMELLI, P., LINO, A., MARCHIORI, P., OKADA, M., SCAFF, M. & BOUHASSIRA, D. 2008. Beyond neuropathy in hereditary sensory and autonomic neuropathy type V: cognitive evaluation. *European journal of neurology*, **15**, 712-719.
- DE BRUIN, J. P., SANCHEZ-SANTED, F., HEINSBROEK, R. P., DONKER, A. & POSTMES, P. 1994. A behavioural analysis of rats with damage to the medial prefrontal cortex using the Morris water maze: evidence for behavioural flexibility, but not for impaired spatial navigation. *Brain research*, 652, 323-333.
- DE CASTRO, B. M., DE JAEGER, X., MARTINS-SILVA, C., LIMA, R. D., AMARAL, E., MENEZES, C., LIMA, P., NEVES, C. M., PIRES, R. G. & GOULD, T. W. 2009. The vesicular acetylcholine transporter is required for neuromuscular development and function. *Molecular and cellular biology*, 29, 5238-5250.
- DE FERRARI, G. V. & INESTROSA, N. C. 2000. Wnt signaling function in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain research reviews*, 33, 1-12.

- DE LA TORRE, J. 1997. Hemodynamic consequences of deformed microvessels in the brain in Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 826, 75-91.
- DE LA TORRE, J. & MUSSIVAN, T. 1993. Can disturbed brain microcirculation cause Alzheimer's disease? *Neurological research*, 15, 146-153.
- DE LA TORRE, J. C. 2004. Is Alzheimer's disease a neurodegenerative or a vascular disorder? Data, dogma, and dialectics. *The Lancet Neurology*, **3**, 184-190.
- DE ROSSI, P., HARDE, E., DUPUIS, J. P., MARTIN, L., CHOUNLAMOUNTRI, N., BARDIN, M., WATRIN, C., BENETOLLO, C., PERNET-GALLAY, K. & LUHMANN, H. 2016. A critical role for VEGF and VEGFR2 in NMDA receptor synaptic function and fear-related behavior. *Molecular psychiatry*, 21, 1768-1780.
- DE SEVILLA, D. F., CABEZAS, C., DE PRADA, A. N. O., SÁNCHEZ-JIMÉNEZ, A. & BUÑO, W. 2002. Selective muscarinic regulation of functional glutamatergic Schaffer collateral synapses in rat CA1 pyramidal neurons. *The Journal of physiology*, 545, 51-63.
- DEANE, R., BELL, R., SAGARE, A. & ZLOKOVIC, B. 2009. Clearance of amyloid-β peptide across the bloodbrain barrier: implication for therapies in Alzheimer's disease. CNS & Neurological Disorders-Drug Targets (Formerly Current Drug Targets-CNS & Neurological Disorders), 8, 16-30.
- DEBEIR, T., SARAGOVI, H. U. & CUELLO, A. C. 1999. A nerve growth factor mimetic TrkA antagonist causes withdrawal of cortical cholinergic boutons in the adult rat. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences, 96, 4067-4072.
- DECKWERTH, T. L. & JOHNSON JR, E. M. 1994. Neurites can remain viable after destruction of the neuronal soma by programmed cell death (apoptosis). *Developmental biology*, 165, 63-72.
- DEKOSKY, S. T., IKONOMOVIC, M. D., STYREN, S. D., BECKETT, L., WISNIEWSKI, S., BENNETT, D. A., COCHRAN, E. J., KORDOWER, J. H. & MUFSON, E. J. 2002. Upregulation of choline acetyltransferase activity in hippocampus and frontal cortex of elderly subjects with mild cognitive impairment. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 51, 145-155.
- DESAI, N. S. & WALCOTT, E. C. 2006. Synaptic bombardment modulates muscarinic effects in forelimb motor cortex. *J Neurosci*, 26, 2215-26.
- DI LIETO, A., RANTAMÄKI, T., VESA, L., YANPALLEWAR, S., ANTILA, H., LINDHOLM, J., RIOS, M., TESSAROLLO, L. & CASTRÉN, E. 2012. The responsiveness of TrkB to BDNF and antidepressant drugs is differentially regulated during mouse development. *PLoS One*, **7**, e32869.
- DI MARIA, E., GIORGIO, E., ULIANA, V., BONVICINI, C., FARAVELLI, F., CAMMARATA, S., NOVELLO, M. C., GALIMBERTI, D., SCARPINI, E. & ZANETTI, O. 2012. Possible influence of a non-synonymous polymorphism located in the NGF precursor on susceptibility to late-onset Alzheimer's disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 29, 699-705.
- DICKERSON, B. C., BAKKOUR, A., SALAT, D. H., FECZKO, E., PACHECO, J., GREVE, D. N., GRODSTEIN, F., WRIGHT, C. I., BLACKER, D. & ROSAS, H. D. 2009. The cortical signature of Alzheimer's disease: regionally specific cortical thinning relates to symptom severity in very mild to mild AD dementia and is detectable in asymptomatic amyloid-positive individuals. *Cerebral cortex*, 19, 497-510.
- DICKSON, T. & VICKERS, J. 2001. The morphological phenotype of β-amyloid plaques and associated neuritic changes in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience*, 105, 99-107.
- DINOFF, A., HERRMANN, N., SWARDFAGER, W. & LANCTOT, K. L. 2017. The effect of acute exercise on blood concentrations of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in healthy adults: A meta-analysis. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 46, 1635-1646.
- DIVAC, I. 1975. Magnocellular nuclei of the basal forebrain project to neocortex, brain stem, and olfactory bulb. Review of some functional correlates. *Brain research*, 93, 385-398.
- DOBRYAKOVA, Y. V., VOLOBUEVA, M. N., MANOLOVA, A. O., MEDVEDEVA, T. M., KVICHANSKY, A. A., GULYAEVA, N. V., MARKEVICH, V. A., STEPANICHEV, M. Y. & BOLSHAKOV, A. P. 2019. Cholinergic

deficit induced by central administration of 1921gG-saporin is associated with activation of microglia and cell loss in the dorsal hippocampus of rats. *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, 13, 146.

- DORAN, E., KEATOR, D., HEAD, E., PHELAN, M. J., KIM, R., TOTOIU, M., BARRIO, J. R., SMALL, G. W., POTKIN, S. G. & LOTT, I. T. 2017. Down syndrome, partial trisomy 21, and absence of Alzheimer's disease: the role of APP. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 56, 459-470.
- DRACHMAN, D. A. 1977. Memory and cognitive function in man: does the cholinergic system have a specific role? *Neurology*, 27, 783-783.
- DRACHMAN, D. A. & LEAVITT, J. 1974. Human memory and the cholinergic system: a relationship to aging? *Archives of neurology*, 30, 113-121.
- DRACHMAN, D. A., NOFFSINGER, D., SAHAKIAN, B. J., KURDZIEL, S. & FLEMING, P. 1980. Aging, memory, and the cholinergic system: a study of dichotic listening. *Neurobiology of aging*, 1, 39-43.
- DUBOIS, B., CHUPIN, M., HAMPEL, H., LISTA, S., CAVEDO, E., CROISILE, B., TISSERAND, G. L., TOUCHON, J., BONAFE, A. & OUSSET, P. J. 2015. Donepezil decreases annual rate of hippocampal atrophy in suspected prodromal Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 11, 1041-1049.
- DUYSEN, E. G., STRIBLEY, J. A., FRY, D. L., HINRICHS, S. H. & LOCKRIDGE, O. 2002. Rescue of the acetylcholinesterase knockout mouse by feeding a liquid diet; phenotype of the adult acetylcholinesterase deficient mouse. *Developmental brain research*, 137, 43-54.
- E COUNTS, S., HE, B., G PROUT, J., MICHALSKI, B., FAROTTI, L., FAHNESTOCK, M. & J MUFSON, E. 2016. Cerebrospinal fluid proNGF: a putative biomarker for early Alzheimer's disease. *Current Alzheimer Research*, **13**, 800-808.
- EBMEIER, K., HUNTER, R., CURRAN, S., DOUGAL, N., MURRAY, C., WYPER, D., PATTERSON, J., HANSON, M., SIEGFRIED, K. & GOODWIN, G. 1992. Effects of a single dose of the acetylcholinesterase inhibitor velnacrine on recognition memory and regional cerebral blood flow in Alzheimer's disease. *Psychopharmacology*, 108, 103-109.
- ECKENSTEIN, F. & THOENEN, H. 1982. Production of specific antisera and monoclonal antibodies to choline acetyltransferase: characterization and use for identification of cholinergic neurons. *The EMBO journal*, 1, 363-368.
- ECKHARD, U., HUESGEN, P. F., SCHILLING, O., BELLAC, C. L., BUTLER, G. S., COX, J. H., DUFOUR, A., GOEBELER, V., KAPPELHOFF, R. & AUF DEM KELLER, U. 2016. Active site specificity profiling of the matrix metalloproteinase family: Proteomic identification of 4300 cleavage sites by nine MMPs explored with structural and synthetic peptide cleavage analyses. *Matrix biology*, 49, 37-60.
- ECKMAN, C. B., MEHTA, N. D., CROOK, R., PEREZ-TUR, J., PRIHAR, G., PFEIFFER, E., GRAFF-RADFORD, N., HINDER, P., YAGER, D. & ZENK, B. 1997. A new pathogenic mutation in the APP gene (I716V) increases the relative proportion of Aβ42 (43). *Human molecular genetics*, 6, 2087-2089.
- EDWARDS, R., SELBY, M., GARCIA, P. D. & RUTTER, W. 1988. Processing of the native nerve growth factor precursor to form biologically active nerve growth factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 263, 6810-6815.
- EGAN, M. F., KOJIMA, M., CALLICOTT, J. H., GOLDBERG, T. E., KOLACHANA, B. S., BERTOLINO, A., ZAITSEV, E., GOLD, B., GOLDMAN, D. & DEAN, M. 2003. The BDNF val66met polymorphism affects activitydependent secretion of BDNF and human memory and hippocampal function. *Cell*, 112, 257-269.
- EIKELENBOOM, P. & STAM, F. 1982. Immunoglobulins and complement factors in senile plaques. *Acta neuropathologica*, 57, 239-242.
- EINARSDOTTIR, E., CARLSSON, A., MINDE, J., TOOLANEN, G., SVENSSON, O., SOLDERS, G., HOLMGREN, G., HOLMBERG, D. & HOLMBERG, M. 2004. A mutation in the nerve growth factor beta gene (NGFB) causes loss of pain perception. *Human molecular genetics*, **13**, 799-805.
- EJ, C. 2000. What the evolution of the amyloid protein precursor supergene family tells us about its function. *Neurochemistry International*, 36, 175-184.

- EL TANNIR EL TAYARA, N., DELATOUR, B., VOLK, A. & DHENAIN, M. 2010. Detection of vascular alterations by in vivo magnetic resonance angiography and histology in APP/PS1 mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Magnetic Resonance Materials in Physics, Biology and Medicine*, 23, 53-64.
- ELHUSSEINY, A., COHEN, Z., OLIVIER, A., STANIMIROVIĆ, D. B. & HAMEL, E. 1999. Functional acetylcholine muscarinic receptor subtypes in human brain microcirculation: identification and cellular localization. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 19, 794-802.
- ELHUSSEINY, A. & HAMEL, E. 2000. Muscarinic—but not nicotinic—acetylcholine receptors mediate a nitric oxide-dependent dilation in brain cortical arterioles: a possible role for the M5 receptor subtype. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism,* 20, 298-305.
- ELLIS, J., VILLEMAGNE, V. L., NATHAN, P. J., MULLIGAN, R. S., GONG, S. J., CHAN, J. G., SACHINIDIS, J., O'KEEFE, G. J., PATHMARAJ, K. & WESNES, K. A. 2008. Relationship between nicotinic receptors and cognitive function in early Alzheimer's disease: a 2-[18F] fluoro-A-85380 PET study. *Neurobiology of learning and memory*, 90, 404-412.
- ELLISON, D. W., BEAL, M. F., MAZUREK, M. F., BIRD, E. D. & MARTIN, J. B. 1986. A postmortem study of amino acid neurotransmitters in Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 20, 616-621.
- ELMARIAH, S. B., CRUMLING, M. A., PARSONS, T. D. & BALICE-GORDON, R. J. 2004. Postsynaptic TrkBmediated signaling modulates excitatory and inhibitory neurotransmitter receptor clustering at hippocampal synapses. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 2380-2393.
- EMRE, M., HECKERS, S., MASH, D. C., GEULA, C. & MESULAM, M. M. 1993. Cholinergic innervation of the amygdaloid complex in the human brain and its alterations in old age and Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 336, 117-134.
- ENCENICLINE-ALZFORUM. Available: <u>https://www.alzforum.org/therapeutics/encenicline</u> [Accessed].
- ENGELHARDT, B., VAJKOCZY, P. & WELLER, R. O. 2017. The movers and shapers in immune privilege of the CNS. *Nature immunology*, 18, 123-131.
- ERICKSON, J. D., VAROQUI, H., SCHÄFER, M., MODI, W., DIEBLER, M.-F., WEIHE, E., RAND, J., EIDEN, L. E., BONNER, T. I. & USDIN, T. B. 1994. Functional identification of a vesicular acetylcholine transporter and its expression from a "cholinergic" gene locus. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269, 21929-21932.
- ERIKSDOTTER-JÖNHAGEN, M., LINDEROTH, B., LIND, G., ALADELLIE, L., ALMKVIST, O., ANDREASEN, N., BLENNOW, K., BOGDANOVIC, N., JELIC, V. & KADIR, A. 2012. Encapsulated cell biodelivery of nerve growth factor to the basal forebrain in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, 33, 18-28.
- ERNFORS, P., BENGZON, J., KOKAIA, Z., PERSSON, H. & LINDVALL, O. 1991. Increased levels of messenger RNAs for neurotrophic factors in the brain during kindling epileptogenesis. *Neuron*, **7**, 165-76.
- ESCLAPEZ, M., TILLAKARATNE, N. J., KAUFMAN, D. L., TOBIN, A. J. & HOUSER, C. R. 1994. Comparative localization of two forms of glutamic acid decarboxylase and their mRNAs in rat brain supports the concept of functional differences between the forms. *J Neurosci*, 14, 1834-55.
- ETMINAN, M., GILL, S. & SAMII, A. 2003. Effect of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs on risk of Alzheimer's disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Bmj*, 327, 128.
- EVERITT, B. J. & ROBBINS, T. W. 1997. Central cholinergic systems and cognition. *Annual review of psychology*, 48, 649-684.
- FABBRO, S., SCHALLER, K. & SEEDS, N. W. 2011. Amyloid-beta levels are significantly reduced and spatial memory defects are rescued in a novel neuroserpin-deficient Alzheimer's disease transgenic mouse model. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 118, 928-938.
- FABBRO, S. & SEEDS, N. W. 2009. Plasminogen activator activity is inhibited while neuroserpin is upregulated in the Alzheimer disease brain. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 109, 303-315.

- FAHNESTOCK, M., GARZON, D., HOLSINGER, R. M. & MICHALSKI, B. 2002. Neurotrophic factors and Alzheimer's disease: are we focusing on the wrong molecule? *J Neural Transm Suppl*, 241-52.
- FAHNESTOCK, M., MICHALSKI, B., XU, B. & COUGHLIN, M. D. 2001. The precursor pro-nerve growth factor is the predominant form of nerve growth factor in brain and is increased in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 18, 210-220.
- FAHNESTOCK, M., SCOTT, S. A., JETTÉ, N., WEINGARTNER, J. A. & CRUTCHER, K. A. 1996. Nerve growth factor mRNA and protein levels measured in the same tissue from normal and Alzheimer's disease parietal cortex. *Molecular brain research*, 42, 175-178.
- FAHNESTOCK, M., YU, G., MICHALSKI, B., MATHEW, S., COLQUHOUN, A., ROSS, G. M. & COUGHLIN, M. D. 2004. The nerve growth factor precursor proNGF exhibits neurotrophic activity but is less active than mature nerve growth factor. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 89, 581-592.
- FARIA, M. C., GONÇALVES, G. S., ROCHA, N. P., MORAES, E. N., BICALHO, M. A., CINTRA, M. T. G., DE PAULA, J. J., DE MIRANDA, L. F. J. R., DE SOUZA FERREIRA, A. C. & TEIXEIRA, A. L. 2014. Increased plasma levels of BDNF and inflammatory markers in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 53, 166-172.
- FARÍAS, G. G., GODOY, J. A., HERNÁNDEZ, F., AVILA, J., FISHER, A. & INESTROSA, N. C. 2004. M1 muscarinic receptor activation protects neurons from β-amyloid toxicity. A role for Wnt signaling pathway. *Neurobiology of disease*, 17, 337-348.
- FARKAS, E. & LUITEN, P. G. 2001. Cerebral microvascular pathology in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Progress in neurobiology*, 64, 575-611.
- FARRER, L. A., CUPPLES, L. A., HAINES, J. L., HYMAN, B., KUKULL, W. A., MAYEUX, R., MYERS, R. H., PERICAK-VANCE, M. A., RISCH, N. & VAN DUIJN, C. M. 1997. Effects of age, sex, and ethnicity on the association between apolipoprotein E genotype and Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. *Jama*, 278, 1349-1356.
- FAYARD, B., LOEFFLER, S., WEIS, J., VÖGELIN, E. & KRÜTTGEN, A. 2005. The secreted brain-derived neurotrophic factor precursor pro-BDNF binds to TrkB and p75NTR but not to TrkA or TrkC. *Journal of neuroscience research*, 80, 18-28.
- FEINSTEIN, D. L., KALININ, S. & BRAUN, D. 2016. Causes, consequences, and cures for neuroinflammation mediated via the locus coeruleus: noradrenergic signaling system. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 139, 154-178.
- FELDBERG, W. 1945. Synthesis of acetylcholine by tissue of the central nervous system. *The Journal of Physiology*, 103, 367.
- FELDBERG, W. & GADDUM, J. H. 1934. The chemical transmitter at synapses in a sympathetic ganglion. *The Journal of physiology*, 81, 305.
- FERGUSON, S. M., BAZALAKOVA, M., SAVCHENKO, V., TAPIA, J. C., WRIGHT, J. & BLAKELY, R. D. 2004. Lethal impairment of cholinergic neurotransmission in hemicholinium-3-sensitive choline transporter knockout mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 101, 8762-8767.
- FERNÁNDEZ-CABELLO, S., KRONBICHLER, M., VAN DIJK, K. R., GOODMAN, J. A., SPRENG, R. N., SCHMITZ, T. W. & INITIATIVE, A. S. D. N. 2020. Basal forebrain volume reliably predicts the cortical spread of Alzheimer's degeneration. *Brain*, 143, 993-1009.
- FERNÁNDEZ-KLETT, F., OFFENHAUSER, N., DIRNAGL, U., PRILLER, J. & LINDAUER, U. 2010. Pericytes in capillaries are contractile in vivo, but arterioles mediate functional hyperemia in the mouse brain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107, 22290-22295.
- FERREIRA, D., WESTMAN, E., EYJOLFSDOTTIR, H., ALMQVIST, P., LIND, G., LINDEROTH, B., SEIGER, Å., BLENNOW, K., KARAMI, A. & DARREH-SHORI, T. 2015. Brain changes in Alzheimer's disease patients with implanted encapsulated cells releasing nerve growth factor. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 43, 1059-1072.

- FERRER, I. 1999. Neurons and their dendrites in frontotemporal dementia. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, 10, 55-60.
- FERRETTI, M., IULITA, M., CAVEDO, E., CHIESA, P., SCHUMACHER DIMECH, A., SANTUCCIONE CHADHA, A., BARACCHI, F., GIROUARD, H., MISOCH, S. & GIACOBINI, E. 2018. Women's Brain Project and the Alzheimer Precision Medicine Initiative (2018) Sex differences in Alzheimer disease—the gateway to precision medicine. *Nat Rev Neurol*, 14, 457-469.
- FERRETTI, M. T., BRUNO, M. A., DUCATENZEILER, A., KLEIN, W. L. & CUELLO, A. C. 2012. Intracellular Aβoligomers and early inflammation in a model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 33, 1329-1342.
- FIGUEIREDO, B., HU, L., BEDARD, A., TETZLAFF, W. & CUELLO, A. C. 1996. NGF prevents further atrophy of cholinergic cells of the nucleus basalis due to cortical infarction in adult post-hypothyroid rats but does not restore cell size compared to euthroid rats. *Journal of Chemical Neuroanatomy*, 12, 15-27.
- FIGUEIREDO, B., SKUP, M., BEDARD, A., TETZLAFF, W. & CUELLO, A. 1995. Differential expression of p140trk, p75NGFR and growth-associated phosphoprotein-43 genes in nucleus basalis magnocellularis, thalamus and adjacent cortex following neocortical infarction and nerve growth factor treatment. *Neuroscience*, 68, 29-45.
- FIGUROV, A., POZZO-MILLER, L. D., OLAFSSON, P., WANG, T. & LU, B. 1996. Regulation of synaptic responses to high-frequency stimulation and LTP by neurotrophins in the hippocampus. *Nature*, 381, 706-709.
- FILE, S. E., GONZALEZ, L. E. & ANDREWS, N. 1998. Endogenous acetylcholine in the dorsal hippocampus reduces anxiety through actions on nicotinic and muscarinic₁ receptors. *Behavioral neuroscience*, 112, 352.
- FILOSA, J. A., MORRISON, H. W., IDDINGS, J. A., DU, W. & KIM, K. J. 2016. Beyond neurovascular coupling, role of astrocytes in the regulation of vascular tone. *Neuroscience*, 323, 96-109.
- FISCHER, O. 1912. Ein weiterer Beitrag zur Klinik und Pathologie der presbyophrenen Demenz. Zeitschrift für die gesamte Neurologie und Psychiatrie, 12, 99-134.
- FISCHER, P.-D. D. O. 1907. Miliare Nekrosen mit drusigen Wucherungen der Neuro-fibrillen, eine regelmässige Veränderung der Hirnrinde bei. *Monatsschrift für Psychiatrie und Neurologie*, 22, 361.
- FISHER, A. 2006. Muscarinic agonists and antagonists—some therapeutic applications. *The brain cholinergic system in health and disease*, 169-180.
- FISHER, A. 2008. M1 muscarinic agonists target major hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease--the pivotal role of brain M1 receptors. *Neurodegener Dis*, 5, 237-40.
- FISHER, A. 2012. Cholinergic modulation of amyloid precursor protein processing with emphasis on M1 muscarinic receptor: perspectives and challenges in treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 120, 22-33.
- FISHER, A., BEZPROZVANNY, I., WU, L., RYSKAMP, D. A., BAR-NER, N., NATAN, N., BRANDEIS, R., ELKON, H., NAHUM, V. & GERSHONOV, E. 2016. AF710B, a novel M1/o1 agonist with therapeutic efficacy in animal models of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurodegenerative Diseases*, 16, 95-110.
- FISHER, A., BRANDEIS, R., PITTEL, Z., KARTON, I., SAPIR, M., DACHIR, S., LEVY, A. & HELDMAN, E. 1989. (±)cis-2-Methyl-spiro (1, 3-oxathiolane-5, 3') quinuclidine (AF102B): a new M1 agonist attenuates cognitive dysfunctions in AF64A-treated rats. *Neuroscience letters*, 102, 325-331.
- FISHER, A., PITTEL, Z., HARING, R., BAR-NER, N., KLIGER-SPATZ, M., NATAN, N., EGOZI, I., SONEGO, H., MARCOVITCH, I. & BRANDEIS, R. 2003. M 1 muscarinic agonists can modulate some of the hallmarks in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 20, 349-356.
- FLORENCIA IULITA, M. & CLAUDIO CUELLO, A. 2016. The NGF metabolic pathway in the CNS and its dysregulation in Down syndrome and Alzheimer's disease. *Current Alzheimer Research*, 13, 53-67.

- FLORES-AGUILAR, L., IULITA, M. F., ORCIANI, C., TANNA, N., YANG, J., BENNETT, D. A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2021. Cognitive and brain cytokine profile of non-demented individuals with cerebral amyloid-beta deposition. *Journal of neuroinflammation*, 18, 1-13.
- FLORES-AGUILAR, L., HALL, H., ORCIANI, C., FORET, M. K., KOVECSES, O., DUCATENZEILER, A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2022. Early loss of locus coeruleus innervation promotes cognitive and neuropathological changes before amyloid plaque deposition in a transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropathology and Applied Neurobiology*, e12835.
- FLYNN, D. D., FERRARI-DILEO, G., MASH, D. C. & LEVEY, A. I. 1995. Differential regulation of molecular subtypes of muscarinic receptors in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 64, 1888-1891.
- FORLENZA, O., SPINK, J., DAYANANDAN, R., ANDERTON, B., OLESEN, O. & LOVESTONE, S. 2000. Muscarinic agonists reduce tau phosphorylation in non-neuronal cells via GSK-3β inhibition and in neurons. *Journal of neural transmission*, 107, 1201-1212.
- FORLENZA, O. V., DINIZ, B. S., TEIXEIRA, A. L., RADANOVIC, M., TALIB, L. L., ROCHA, N. P. & GATTAZ, W. F. 2015. Lower cerebrospinal fluid concentration of brain-derived neurotrophic factor predicts progression from mild cognitive impairment to Alzheimer's disease. *Neuromolecular medicine*, 17, 326-332.
- FORNO, L. S. 1978. The locus coeruleus in Alzheimer's disease. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol,, 37, 614.
- FORNY-GERMANO, L., E SILVA, N. M. L., BATISTA, A. F., BRITO-MOREIRA, J., GRALLE, M., BOEHNKE, S. E., COE, B. C., LABLANS, A., MARQUES, S. A. & MARTINEZ, A. M. B. 2014. Alzheimer's disease-like pathology induced by amyloid-β oligomers in nonhuman primates. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 34, 13629-13643.
- FORTEA, J., ZAMAN, S. H., HARTLEY, S., RAFII, M. S., HEAD, E. & CARMONA-IRAGUI, M. 2021. Alzheimer's disease associated with Down syndrome: a genetic form of dementia. *The Lancet Neurology*, 20, 930-942.
- FRAGKOULI, A., TSILIBARY, E. C. & TZINIA, A. K. 2014. Neuroprotective role of MMP-9 overexpression in the brain of Alzheimer's 5xFAD mice. *Neurobiology of disease*, 70, 179-189.
- FRANCESCHINI, D., PAYLOR, R., BROIDE, R., SALAS, R., BASSETTO, L., GOTTI, C. & DE BIASI, M. 2002. Absence of α7-containing neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors does not prevent nicotineinduced seizures. *Molecular brain research*, 98, 29-40.
- FRANCIS, B. M., KIM, J., BARAKAT, M. E., FRAENKL, S., YÜCEL, Y. H., PENG, S., MICHALSKI, B., FAHNESTOCK, M., MCLAURIN, J. & MOUNT, H. T. 2012. Object recognition memory and BDNF expression are reduced in young TgCRND8 mice. *Neurobiology of aging*, 33, 555-563.
- FRANCIS, P. T. 2003. Glutamatergic systems in Alzheimer's disease. International journal of geriatric psychiatry, 18, S15-S21.
- FRANCIS, P. T., PALMER, A. M., SNAPE, M. & WILCOCK, G. K. 1999. The cholinergic hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: a review of progress. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 66, 137-147.
- FRANCIS, P. T. & PERRY, E. K. 2006. Neurochemical pathology of cholinergic systems in neurodegenerative and neurodevelopmental disorders. *The Brain Cholinergic System in Health and Disease. Oxon, UK: Informa Health Care*, 59-74.
- FRANCKE, U., DE MARTINVILLE, B., COUSSENS, L. & ULLRICH, A. 1983. The human gene for the β subunit of nerve growth factor is located on the proximal short arm of chromosome 1. *Science*, 222, 1248-1251.
- FRANCO-BOCANEGRA, D. K., MCAULEY, C., NICOLL, J. A. & BOCHE, D. 2019. Molecular mechanisms of microglial motility: changes in ageing and Alzheimer's disease. *Cells*, 8, 639.
- FREEMAN, J. J. & JENDEN, D. J. 1976. The source of choline for acetylcholine synthesis in brain. *Life sciences*, 19, 949-961.

- FREMEAU JR, R. T., KAM, K., QURESHI, T., JOHNSON, J., COPENHAGEN, D. R., STORM-MATHISEN, J., CHAUDHRY, F. A., NICOLL, R. A. & EDWARDS, R. H. 2004. Vesicular glutamate transporters 1 and 2 target to functionally distinct synaptic release sites. *Science*, 304, 1815-1819.
- FREUND, T. F. & MESKENAITE, V. 1992. gamma-Aminobutyric acid-containing basal forebrain neurons innervate inhibitory interneurons in the neocortex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89, 738-742.
- FRIELINGSDORF, H., THAL, L. J. & PIZZO, D. P. 2006. The septohippocampal cholinergic system and spatial working memory in the Morris water maze. *Behavioural brain research*, 168, 37-46.
- FRISONI, G. B., PRESTIA, A., RASSER, P. E., BONETTI, M. & THOMPSON, P. M. 2009. In vivo mapping of incremental cortical atrophy from incipient to overt Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of neurology*, 256, 916-924.
- FUJIMOTO, M., HAYASHI, T., URFER, R., MITA, S. & SU, T. P. 2012. Sigma-1 receptor chaperones regulate the secretion of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Synapse*, 66, 630-639.
- FURCHGOTT, R. F. & ZAWADZKI, J. V. 1980. The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *nature*, 288, 373-376.
- GAGE, F. H., BJÖRKLUND, A., STENEVI, U., DUNNETT, S. B. & KELLY, P. A. 1984. Intrahippocampal septal grafts ameliorate learning impairments in aged rats. *Science*, 225, 533-536.
- GALLAGHER, D., COEN, R., KILROY, D., BELINSKI, K., BRUCE, I., COAKLEY, D., WALSH, B., CUNNINGHAM, C.
 & LAWLOR, B. A. 2011. Anxiety and behavioural disturbance as markers of prodromal Alzheimer's disease in patients with mild cognitive impairment. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 26, 166-172.
- GAMAGE, R., WAGNON, I., ROSSETTI, I., CHILDS, R., NIEDERMAYER, G., CHESWORTH, R. & GYENGESI, E. 2020. Cholinergic modulation of glial function during aging and chronic neuroinflammation. *Frontiers in Cellular Neuroscience*, 14, 577912.
- GARCIA-SIERRA, F., MONDRAGON-RODRIGUEZ, S. & BASURTO-ISLAS, G. 2008. Truncation of tau protein and its pathological significance in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 14, 401-409.
- GARCIA-VILLALON, A. L., KRAUSE, D. N., EHLERT, F. J. & DUCKLES, S. 1991. Heterogeneity of muscarinic receptor subtypes in cerebral blood vessels. *Journal of pharmacology and experimental therapeutics*, 258, 304-310.
- GAROFALO, L., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A. & CUELLO, A. C. 1992. Nerve growth factor-induced synaptogenesis and hypertrophy of cortical cholinergic terminals. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 89, 2639-2643.
- GARZON, D., YU, G. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2002. A new brain-derived neurotrophic factor transcript and decrease inbrain-derived neurotrophic factor transcripts 1, 2 and 3 in Alzheimer's disease parietal cortex. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 82, 1058-1064.
- GAUTHIER, S., REISBERG, B., ZAUDIG, M., PETERSEN, R. C., RITCHIE, K., BROICH, K., BELLEVILLE, S., BRODATY, H., BENNETT, D. & CHERTKOW, H. 2006. Mild cognitive impairment. *The lancet*, 367, 1262-1270.
- GAYKEMA, R. P., LUITEN, P. G., NYAKAS, C. & TRABER, J. 1990. Cortical projection patterns of the medial septum-diagonal band complex. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 293, 103-124.
- GEANEY, D., SOPER, N., SHEPSTONE, B. & COWEN, P. 1990. Effect of central cholinergic stimulation on regional cerebral blood flow in Alzheimer disease. *The Lancet*, 335, 1484-1487.
- GEDDES, J. W., ANDERSON, K. J. & COTMAN, C. W. 1986. Senile plaques as aberrant sprout-stimulating structures. *Experimental neurology*, 94, 767-776.
- GENIS, I., FISHER, A. & MICHAELSON, D. 1999. Site-specific dephosphorylation of tau of apolipoprotein Edeficient and control mice by M1 muscarinic agonist treatment. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 72, 206-213.

- GERMAN, D., WALKER, B., MANAYE, K., SMITH, W., WOODWARD, D. & NORTH, A. 1988. The human locus coeruleus: computer reconstruction of cellular distribution. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 8, 1776-1788.
- GEULA, C., DUNLOP, S. R., AYALA, I., KAWLES, A. S., FLANAGAN, M. E., GEFEN, T. & MESULAM, M. M. 2021. Basal forebrain cholinergic system in the dementias: Vulnerability, resilience, and resistance. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 158, 1394-1411.
- GEULA, C. & MESULAM, M.-M. 1989. Cortical cholinergic fibers in aging and Alzheimer's disease: a morphometric study. *Neuroscience*, 33, 469-481.
- GEULA, C. & MESULAM, M.-M. 1996. Systematic regional variations in the loss of cortical cholinergic fibers in Alzheimer's disease. *Cerebral cortex*, 6, 165-177.
- GEULA, C., WU, C.-K., SAROFF, D., LORENZO, A. & YANKNER, B. 1996. A Primate Model of βAmyloid-Induced Neurotoxicity and Tau Phosphorylation. *Neurobiology of Aging*, 4, S200.
- GIACOBINI, E. 1987. Modulation of brain acetylcholine levels with cholinesterase inhibitors as a treatment of Alzheimer disease. *The Keio journal of medicine*, 36, 381-391.
- GIACOBINI, E. 2003. Cholinergic function and Alzheimer's disease. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 18, S1-S5.
- GIACOBINI, E., CUELLO, A. C. & FISHER, A. 2022. Reimagining cholinergic therapy for Alzheimer's disease. Brain.
- GIACOBINI, E., LINVILLE, D., MESSAMORE, E. & OGANE, N. 1991. Toward a third generation of cholinesterase inhibitors. *Cholinergic Basis for Alzheimer Therapy*. Springer.
- GIANNAKOPOULOS, P., HERRMANN, F., BUSSIÈRE, T., BOURAS, C., KÖVARI, E., PERL, D., MORRISON, J., GOLD, G. & HOF, P. 2003. Tangle and neuron numbers, but not amyloid load, predict cognitive status in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 60, 1495-1500.
- GIBBS, R. B. & PFAFF, D. 1994. In situ hybridization detection of trkA mRNA in brain: distribution, colocalization with p75NGFR and up-regulation by nerve growth factor. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 341, 324-339.
- GIBOUREAU, N., MAT SOM, I., BOUCHER-ARNOLD, A., GUILLOTEAU, D. & KASSIOU, M. 2010. PET radioligands for the vesicular acetylcholine transporter (VAChT). *Current topics in medicinal chemistry*, 10, 1569-1583.
- GIL-BEA, F. J., SOLAS, M., MATEOS, L., WINBLAD, B., RAMÍREZ, M. J. & CEDAZO-MÍNGUEZ, A. 2011. Cholinergic hypofunction impairs memory acquisition possibly through hippocampal Arc and BDNF downregulation. *Hippocampus*, 21, 999-1009.
- GINSBERG, S. D., MUFSON, E. J., ALLDRED, M. J., COUNTS, S. E., WUU, J., NIXON, R. A. & CHE, S. 2011. Upregulation of select rab GTPases in cholinergic basal forebrain neurons in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of chemical neuroanatomy*, 42, 102-110.
- GLENNER, G. G. & WONG, C. W. 1984a. Alzheimer's disease and Down's syndrome: sharing of a unique cerebrovascular amyloid fibril protein. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 122, 1131-1135.
- GLENNER, G. G. & WONG, C. W. 1984b. Alzheimer's disease: initial report of the purification and characterization of a novel cerebrovascular amyloid protein. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 120, 885-890.
- GOATE, A., CHARTIER-HARLIN, M.-C., MULLAN, M., BROWN, J., CRAWFORD, F., FIDANI, L., GIUFFRA, L., HAYNES, A., IRVING, N. & JAMES, L. 1991. Segregation of a missense mutation in the amyloid precursor protein gene with familial Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 349, 704-706.

GOEDERT, M. 2009. Oskar Fischer and the study of dementia. Brain, 132, 1102-1111.

GOEDERT, M., FINE, A., DAWBARN, D., WILCOCK, G. & CHAO, M. 1989a. Nerve growth factor receptor mRNA distribution in human brain: normal levels in basal forebrain in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Brain Research*, 5, 1-7.

- GOEDERT, M., FINE, A., HUNT, S. & ULLRICH, A. 1986. Nerve growth factor mRNA in peripheral and central rat tissues and in the human central nervous system: lesion effects in the rat brain and levels in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Brain Research*, 1, 85-92.
- GOEDERT, M., SPILLANTINI, M., CAIRNS, N. & CROWTHER, R. 1992. Tau proteins of Alzheimer paired helical filaments: abnormal phosphorylation of all six brain isoforms. *Neuron*, 8, 159-168.
- GOEDERT, M., SPILLANTINI, M., JAKES, R., RUTHERFORD, D. & CROWTHER, R. 1989b. Multiple isoforms of human microtubule-associated protein tau: sequences and localization in neurofibrillary tangles of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*, 3, 519-526.
- GOEDERT, M., WISCHIK, C., CROWTHER, R., WALKER, J. & KLUG, A. 1988. Cloning and sequencing of the cDNA encoding a core protein of the paired helical filament of Alzheimer disease: identification as the microtubule-associated protein tau. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 85, 4051-4055.
- GOLDGABER, D., LERMAN, M. I., MCBRIDE, O. W., SAFFIOTTI, U. & GAJDUSEK, D. C. 1987. Characterization and chromosomal localization of a cDNA encoding brain amyloid of Alzheimer's disease. *Science*, 235, 877-880.
- GÓMEZ-PINILLA, F., YING, Z., ROY, R. R., MOLTENI, R. & EDGERTON, V. R. 2002. Voluntary exercise induces a BDNF-mediated mechanism that promotes neuroplasticity. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 88, 2187-2195.
- GOMEZA, J., SHANNON, H., KOSTENIS, E., FELDER, C., ZHANG, L., BRODKIN, J., GRINBERG, A., SHENG, H. & WESS, J. 1999a. Pronounced pharmacologic deficits in M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96, 1692-1697.
- GOMEZA, J., ZHANG, L., KOSTENIS, E., FELDER, C., BYMASTER, F., BRODKIN, J., SHANNON, H., XIA, B., DENG, C.-X. & WESS, J. 1999b. Enhancement of D1 dopamine receptor-mediated locomotor stimulation in M4 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96, 10483-10488.
- GOTTWALD, M. D. & ROZANSKI, R. I. 1999. Rivastigmine, a brain-region selective acetylcholinesterase inhibitor for treating Alzheimer's disease: review and current status. *Expert opinion on investigational drugs*, 8, 1673-1682.
- GOURAS, G. K., TAMPELLINI, D., TAKAHASHI, R. H. & CAPETILLO-ZARATE, E. 2010. Intraneuronal β-amyloid accumulation and synapse pathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta neuropathologica*, 119, 523-541.
- GOURAS, G. K., TSAI, J., NASLUND, J., VINCENT, B., EDGAR, M., CHECLER, F., GREENFIELD, J. P., HAROUTUNIAN, V., BUXBAUM, J. D. & XU, H. 2000. Intraneuronal Aβ42 accumulation in human brain. *The American journal of pathology*, 156, 15-20.
- GRAY, S. L., ANDERSON, M. L., DUBLIN, S., HANLON, J. T., HUBBARD, R., WALKER, R., YU, O., CRANE, P. K.
 & LARSON, E. B. 2015. Cumulative use of strong anticholinergics and incident dementia: a prospective cohort study. *JAMA internal medicine*, 175, 401-407.
- GREENAMYRE, J. T., PENNEY, J. B., D'AMATO, C. J. & YOUNG, A. B. 1987. Dementia of the Alzheimer's type: changes in hippocampal L-[3H] glutamate binding. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 48, 543-551.
- GREENAMYRE, J. T. & PORTER, R. 1994. Anatomy and physiology of glutamate in the CNS. *Neurology*, 44, S7-13.
- GREENBERG, M. E., XU, B., LU, B. & HEMPSTEAD, B. L. 2009. New insights in the biology of BDNF synthesis and release: implications in CNS function. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29, 12764-12767.
- GRIFFIN, W., STANLEY, L., LING, C., WHITE, L., MACLEOD, V., PERROT, L., WHITE 3RD, C. & ARAOZ, C. 1989. Brain interleukin 1 and S-100 immunoreactivity are elevated in Down syndrome and Alzheimer disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 86, 7611-7615.
- GRITTI, I., MAINVILLE, L. & JONES, B. E. 1993. Codistribution of GABA-with acetylcholine-synthesizing neurons in the basal forebrain of the rat. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 329, 438-457.

- GROTHE, M., HEINSEN, H. & TEIPEL, S. J. 2012. Atrophy of the cholinergic basal forebrain over the adult age range and in early stages of Alzheimer's disease. *Biological psychiatry*, **71**, 805-813.
- GROTHE, M. J., EWERS, M., KRAUSE, B., HEINSEN, H. & TEIPEL, S. J. 2014. Basal forebrain atrophy and cortical amyloid deposition in nondemented elderly subjects. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 10, S344-S353.
- GROUP, A. R. 2007. Naproxen and celecoxib do not prevent AD in early results from a randomized controlled trial. *Neurology*, 68, 1800-1808.
- GROUP, A. R. 2008. Cognitive function over time in the Alzheimer's Disease Anti-inflammatory Prevention Trial (ADAPT): results of a randomized, controlled trial of naproxen and celecoxib. *Archives of neurology*, 65, 896.
- GRUNDKE-IQBAL, I., IQBAL, K., QUINLAN, M., TUNG, Y.-C., ZAIDI, M. S. & WISNIEWSKI, H. M. 1986. Microtubule-associated protein tau. A component of Alzheimer paired helical filaments. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 261, 6084-6089.
- GU, Z., YU, J. & PEREZ-POLO, J. R. 1998. Long term changes in brain cholinergic markers and nerve growth factor levels after partial immunolesion. *Brain research*, 801, 190-197.
- GUERREIRO, R., BRÁS, J. & HARDY, J. 2013a. SnapShot: genetics of Alzheimer's disease. *Cell*, 4, 968-968. e1.
- GUERREIRO, R., WOJTAS, A., BRAS, J., CARRASQUILLO, M., ROGAEVA, E., MAJOUNIE, E., CRUCHAGA, C., SASSI, C., KAUWE, J. S. & YOUNKIN, S. 2013b. TREM2 variants in Alzheimer's disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 368, 117-127.
- HABIF, M., DO CARMO, S., BÁEZ, M. V., COLETTIS, N. C., CERCATO, M. C., SALAS, D. A., ACUTAIN, M. F., SISTER, C. L., BERKOWICZ, V. L. & CANAL, M. P. 2021. Early long-term memory impairment and changes in the expression of synaptic plasticity-associated genes, in the McGill-R-Thy1-APP rat model of Alzheimer's-like brain amyloidosis. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*, 12, 585873.
- HALL, A. A., HERRERA, Y., AJMO JR, C. T., CUEVAS, J. & PENNYPACKER, K. R. 2009. Sigma receptors suppress multiple aspects of microglial activation. *Glia*, 57, 744-754.
- HALL, A. M., MOORE, R. Y., LOPEZ, O. L., KULLER, L. & BECKER, J. T. 2008. Basal forebrain atrophy is a presymptomatic marker for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 4, 271-279.
- HALL, H., IULITA, M. F., GUBERT, P., FLORES AGUILAR, L., DUCATENZEILER, A., FISHER, A. & CUELLO, A. C.
 2018. AF710B, an M1/sigma-1 receptor agonist with long-lasting disease-modifying properties in a transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimers Dement*, 14, 811-823.
- HAMANOUE, M., MIDDLETON, G., WYATT, S., JAFFRAY, E., HAY, R. T. & DAVIES, A. M. 1999. p75-mediated NF-kB activation enhances the survival response of developing sensory neurons to nerve growth factor. *Molecular and Cellular Neuroscience*, 14, 28-40.
- HAMBURGER, V. 1934. The effects of wing bud extirpation on the development of the central nervous system in chick embryos. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 68, 449-494.
- HAMBURGER, V. & LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1949. Proliferation, differentiation and degeneration in the spinal ganglia of the chick embryo under normal and experimental conditions. *Journal of Experimental Zoology*, 111, 457-501.
- HAMEL, E. 2006. Perivascular nerves and the regulation of cerebrovascular tone. *Journal of applied physiology*, 100, 1059-1064.
- HAMILTON, N. B., ATTWELL, D. & HALL, C. N. 2010. Pericyte-mediated regulation of capillary diameter: a component of neurovascular coupling in health and disease. *Frontiers in neuroenergetics*, 5.
- HAMMOND, R. S., TULL, L. E. & STACKMAN, R. W. 2004. On the delay-dependent involvement of the hippocampus in object recognition memory. *Neurobiology of learning and memory*, 82, 26-34.
- HAMPEL, H., HOUOT, M., CHIESA, P. A., TEIPEL, S. J., GROTHE, M. J., LISTA, S., COLLIOT, O., CHUPIN, M., DORMONT, D. & LEHÉRICY, S. 2017. EFFECT OF CHOLINESTERASE INHIBITORS ON BRAIN

CHOLINERGIC STRUCTURES. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: The Journal of the Alzheimer's Association,* 13, P615.

- HAMPEL, H., MESULAM, M.-M., CUELLO, A. C., FARLOW, M. R., GIACOBINI, E., GROSSBERG, G. T., KHACHATURIAN, A. S., VERGALLO, A., CAVEDO, E. & SNYDER, P. J. 2018. The cholinergic system in the pathophysiology and treatment of Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, 141, 1917-1933.
- HAN, B. H., ZHOU, M.-L., ABOUSALEH, F., BRENDZA, R. P., DIETRICH, H. H., KOENIGSKNECHT-TALBOO, J., CIRRITO, J. R., MILNER, E., HOLTZMAN, D. M. & ZIPFEL, G. J. 2008. Cerebrovascular dysfunction in amyloid precursor protein transgenic mice: contribution of soluble and insoluble amyloid-β peptide, partial restoration via γ-secretase inhibition. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 13542-13550.
- HANZEL, C. E., IULITA, M. F., EYJOLFSDOTTIR, H., HJORTH, E., SCHULTZBERG, M., ERIKSDOTTER, M. & CUELLO, A. C. 2014a. Analysis of matrix metallo-proteases and the plasminogen system in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease cerebrospinal fluid. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease*, 40, 667-678.
- HANZEL, C. E., PICHET-BINETTE, A., PIMENTEL, L. S., IULITA, M. F., ALLARD, S., DUCATENZEILER, A., DO CARMO, S. & CUELLO, A. C. 2014b. Neuronal driven pre-plaque inflammation in a transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 35, 2249-2262.
- HAPPE, H. K. & MURRIN, L. C. 1993. High-affinity choline transport sites: use of [3H] hemicholinium-3 as a quantitative marker. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 60, 1191-1201.
- HARATI, H., BARBELIVIEN, A., COSQUER, B., MAJCHRZAK, M. & CASSEL, J.-C. 2008. Selective cholinergic lesions in the rat nucleus basalis magnocellularis with limited damage in the medial septum specifically alter attention performance in the five-choice serial reaction time task. *Neuroscience*, 153, 72-83.
- HARDY, J., COWBURN, R., BARTON, A., REYNOLDS, G., DODD, P., WESTER, P., O'CARROLL, A.-M., LOFDAHL,
 E. & WINBLAD, B. 1987. A disorder of cortical GABAergic innervation in Alzheimer's disease.
 Neuroscience letters, 73, 192-196.
- HARDY, J. & SELKOE, D. J. 2002. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease: progress and problems on the road to therapeutics. *science*, 297, 353-356.
- HARDY, J. A. & HIGGINS, G. A. 1992. Alzheimer's disease: the amyloid cascade hypothesis. *Science*, 256, 184-185.
- HARING, R., FISHER, A., MARCIANO, D., PITTEL, Z., KLOOG, Y., ZUCKERMAN, A., ESHHAR, N. & HELDMAN,
 E. 1998. Mitogen-activated protein kinase-dependent and protein kinase C-dependent pathways
 link the m1 muscarinic receptor to β-amyloid precursor protein secretion. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 71, 2094-2103.
- HARIRI, A. R., GOLDBERG, T. E., MATTAY, V. S., KOLACHANA, B. S., CALLICOTT, J. H., EGAN, M. F. & WEINBERGER, D. R. 2003. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor val66met polymorphism affects human memory-related hippocampal activity and predicts memory performance. *J Neurosci*, 23, 6690-4.
- HARTMANN, T., BIEGER, S. C., BRÜHL, B., TIENARI, P. J., IDA, N., ALLSOP, D., ROBERTS, G. W., MASTERS, C. L., DOTTI, C. G. & UNSICKER, K. 1997. Distinct sites of intracellular production for Alzheimer's disease Aβ40/42 amyloid peptides. *Nature medicine*, 3, 1016-1020.
- HASSELMO, M. E. & SARTER, M. 2011. Modes and models of forebrain cholinergic neuromodulation of cognition. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 36, 52-73.
- HATTERS, D. M., PETERS-LIBEU, C. A. & WEISGRABER, K. H. 2006. Apolipoprotein E structure: insights into function. *Trends in biochemical sciences*, 31, 445-454.
- HAYASHI, T. & SU, T.-P. 2007. Sigma-1 receptor chaperones at the ER-mitochondrion interface regulate Ca2+ signaling and cell survival. *Cell*, 131, 596-610.

- HAYASHI, T., TSAI, S.-Y., MORI, T., FUJIMOTO, M. & SU, T.-P. 2011. Targeting ligand-operated chaperone sigma-1 receptors in the treatment of neuropsychiatric disorders. *Expert opinion on therapeutic targets*, 15, 557-577.
- HE, X.-P., KOTLOSKI, R., NEF, S., LUIKART, B. W., PARADA, L. F. & MCNAMARA, J. O. 2004. Conditional deletion of TrkB but not BDNF prevents epileptogenesis in the kindling model. *Neuron*, 43, 31-42.
- HEAD, E. & LOTT, I. T. 2004. Down syndrome and beta-amyloid deposition. *Current opinion in neurology*, 17, 95-100.
- HEBB, C. O. & WHITTAKER, V. 1958. Intracellular distributions of acetylcholine and choline acetylase. *The journal of physiology*, 142, 187-196.
- HECKERS, S., OHTAKE, T., WILEY, R. G., LAPPI, D. A., GEULA, C. & MESULAM, M. M. 1994. Complete and selective cholinergic denervation of rat neocortex and hippocampus but not amygdala by an immunotoxin against the p75 NGF receptor. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 14, 1271-1289.
- HEDLEY, R., HALLMAYER, J., GROTH, D. M., BROOKS, W. S., GANDY, S. E. & MARTINS, R. N. 2002. Association of interleukin-1 polymorphisms with Alzheimer's disease in Australia. Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society, 51, 795-797.
- HEERSSEN, H. M., PAZYRA, M. F. & SEGAL, R. A. 2004. Dynein motors transport activated Trks to promote survival of target-dependent neurons. *Nature neuroscience*, **7**, 596-604.
- HEFTI, F. 1986. Nerve growth factor promotes survival of septal cholinergic neurons after fimbrial transections. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 6, 2155-2162.
- HEISE, G. A., CONNER, R. & MARTIN, R. A. 1976. Effects of scopolamine on variable intertrial interval spatial alternation and memory in the rat. *Psychopharmacology*, 49, 131-137.
- HELLWEG, R., HUMPEL, C., LÖWE, A. & HÖRTNAGL, H. 1997. Moderate lesion of the rat cholinergic septohippocampal pathway increases hippocampal nerve growth factor synthesis: evidence for long-term compensatory changes? *Molecular brain research*, 45, 177-181.
- HEMPSTEAD, B. L., MARTIN-ZANCA, D., KAPLAN, D. R., PARADA, L. F. & CHAO, M. V. 1991. High-affinity NGF binding requires coexpression of the trk proto-oncogene and the low-affinity NGF receptor. *Nature*, 350, 678-683.
- HENEKA, M. T., CARSON, M. J., EL KHOURY, J., LANDRETH, G. E., BROSSERON, F., FEINSTEIN, D. L., JACOBS, A. H., WYSS-CORAY, T., VITORICA, J. & RANSOHOFF, R. M. 2015. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet Neurology*, 14, 388-405.
- HERNANDEZ, D., SUGAYA, K., QU, T., MCGOWAN, E., DUFF, K. & MCKINNEY, M. 2001. Survival and plasticity of basal forebrain cholinergic systems in mice transgenic for presenilin-1 and amyloid precursor protein mutant genes. *Neuroreport*, 12, 1377-1384.
- HERSCH, S. M. & LEVEY, A. I. 1995. Diverse pre-and post-synaptic expression of m1–m4 muscarinic receptor proteins in neurons and afferents in the rat neostriatum. *Life sciences*, 56, 931-938.
- HERZIG, M. C., WINKLER, D. T., BURGERMEISTER, P., PFEIFER, M., KOHLER, E., SCHMIDT, S. D., DANNER, S., ABRAMOWSKI, D., STÜRCHLER-PIERRAT, C. & BÜRKI, K. 2004. Aβ is targeted to the vasculature in a mouse model of hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with amyloidosis. *Nature neuroscience*, **7**, 954-960.
- HIGGINS, G. A. & SILENIEKS, L. B. 2017. Rodent Test of Attention and Impulsivity: The 5-Choice Serial Reaction Time Task. *Current protocols in pharmacology*, 78, 5.49. 1-5.49. 34.
- HIKICHI, H., KONDO, K., TAKEDA, T. & KAWACHI, I. 2017. Social interaction and cognitive decline: Results of a 7-year community intervention. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Translational Research & Clinical Interventions*, 3, 23-32.
- HILL, J. A., ZOLI, M., BOURGEOIS, J.-P. & CHANGEUX, J.-P. 1993. Immunocytochemical localization of a neuronal nicotinic receptor: the beta 2-subunit. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 13, 1551-1568.

- HOCK, C., HEESE, K., HULETTE, C., ROSENBERG, C. & OTTEN, U. 2000. Region-specific neurotrophin imbalances in Alzheimer disease: decreased levels of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and increased levels of nerve growth factor in hippocampus and cortical areas. *Archives of neurology*, 57, 846-851.
- HOHMAN, T. J., BELL, S. P., JEFFERSON, A. L. & INITIATIVE, A. S. D. N. 2015. The role of vascular endothelial growth factor in neurodegeneration and cognitive decline: exploring interactions with biomarkers of Alzheimer disease. *JAMA neurology*, 72, 520-529.
- HOLLANDS, S., LIM, Y. Y., BUCKLEY, R., PIETRZAK, R. H., SNYDER, P. J., AMES, D., ELLIS, K. A., HARRINGTON, K., LAUTENSCHLAGER, N. & MARTINS, R. N. 2015. Amyloid-β related memory decline is not associated with subjective or informant rated cognitive impairment in healthy adults. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 43, 677-686.
- HOLSINGER, R. M., SCHNARR, J., HENRY, P., CASTELO, V. T. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2000. Quantitation of BDNF mRNA in human parietal cortex by competitive reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction: decreased levels in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 76, 347-54.
- HOLTZMAN, D. M., KILBRIDGE, J., LI, Y., CUNNINGHAM, E. T., LENN, N. J., CLARY, D. O., REICHARDT, L. F. & MOBLEY, W. C. 1995. TrkA expression in the CNS: evidence for the existence of several novel NGF-responsive CNS neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **15**, **1567**-1576.
- HOLTZMAN, D. M., LI, Y., PARADA, L. F., KINSMAN, S., CHEN, C.-K., VALLETTA, J. S., ZHOU, J., LONG, J. B. & MOBLEY, W. C. 1992. p140trk mRNA marks NGF-responsive forebrain neurons: evidence that trk gene expression is induced by NGF. *Neuron*, *9*, 465-478.
- HONER, W. G., PROHOVNIK, I., SMITH, G. & LUCAS, L. R. 1988. Scopolamine reduces frontal cortex perfusion. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 8, 635-641.
- HONG, S., BEJA-GLASSER, V. F., NFONOYIM, B. M., FROUIN, A., LI, S., RAMAKRISHNAN, S., MERRY, K. M., SHI, Q., ROSENTHAL, A. & BARRES, B. A. 2016. Complement and microglia mediate early synapse loss in Alzheimer mouse models. *Science*, 352, 712-716.
- HOOGMARTENS, J., CACACE, R. & VAN BROECKHOVEN, C. 2021. Insight into the genetic etiology of Alzheimer's disease: A comprehensive review of the role of rare variants. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring,* 13, e12155.
- HORCH, H. W. 2004. Local effects of BDNF on dendritic growth. *Reviews in the neurosciences*, 15, 117-130.
- HORCH, H. W. & KATZ, L. C. 2002. BDNF release from single cells elicits local dendritic growth in nearby neurons. *Nat Neurosci*, *5*, 1177-84.
- HORCH, H. W., KRÜTTGEN, A., PORTBURY, S. D. & KATZ, L. C. 1999. Destabilization of cortical dendrites and spines by BDNF. *Neuron*, 23, 353-364.
- HORSTMANN, S., BUDIG, L., GARDNER, H., KOZIOL, J., DEUSCHLE, M., SCHILLING, C. & WAGNER, S. 2010. Matrix metalloproteinases in peripheral blood and cerebrospinal fluid in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *International psychogeriatrics*, 22, 966-972.
- HOUNSGAARD, J. 1978. Presynaptic inhibitory action of acetylcholine in area CA1 of the hippocampus. *Experimental neurology*, 62, 787-797.
- HOWARTH, C., SUTHERLAND, B. A., CHOI, H. B., MARTIN, C., LIND, B. L., KHENNOUF, L., LEDUE, J. M., PAKAN, J. M., KO, R. W. & ELLIS-DAVIES, G. 2017. A critical role for astrocytes in hypercapnic vasodilation in brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 37, 2403-2414.
- HOWE, C. L., VALLETTA, J. S., RUSNAK, A. S. & MOBLEY, W. C. 2001. NGF signaling from clathrin-coated vesicles: evidence that signaling endosomes serve as a platform for the Ras-MAPK pathway. *Neuron*, 32, 801-814.
- HUANG, L., JIA, J. & LIU, R. 2013. Decreased serum levels of the angiogenic factors VEGF and TGF-β1 in Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Neuroscience letters*, 550, 60-63.

- HUGHES, T. M., KULLER, L. H., BARINAS-MITCHELL, E. J., MCDADE, E. M., KLUNK, W. E., COHEN, A. D., MATHIS, C. A., DEKOSKY, S. T., PRICE, J. C. & LOPEZ, O. L. 2014. Arterial stiffness and β-amyloid progression in nondemented elderly adults. *JAMA neurology*, **71**, 562-568.
- HUNTLEY, J. D., HAMPSHIRE, A., BOR, D., OWEN, A. M. & HOWARD, R. J. 2017. The importance of sustained attention in early Alzheimer's disease. *International journal of geriatric psychiatry*, 32, 860-867.
- IADECOLA, C. 2004. Neurovascular regulation in the normal brain and in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 5, 347-360.
- IADECOLA, C. 2017. The neurovascular unit coming of age: a journey through neurovascular coupling in health and disease. *Neuron*, 96, 17-42.
- IKONOMOVIC, M. D., MUFSON, E. J., WUU, J., COCHRAN, E. J., BENNETT, D. A. & DEKOSKY, S. T. 2003. Cholinergic plasticity in hippocampus of individuals with mild cognitive impairment: correlation with Alzheimer's neuropathology. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease*, **5**, 39-48.
- ILIFF, J. J., WANG, M., LIAO, Y., PLOGG, B. A., PENG, W., GUNDERSEN, G. A., BENVENISTE, H., VATES, G. E., DEANE, R. & GOLDMAN, S. A. 2012. A paravascular pathway facilitates CSF flow through the brain parenchyma and the clearance of interstitial solutes, including amyloid β. *Science translational medicine*, 4, 147ra111-147ra111.
- ILIFF, J. J., WANG, M., ZEPPENFELD, D. M., VENKATARAMAN, A., PLOG, B. A., LIAO, Y., DEANE, R. & NEDERGAARD, M. 2013. Cerebral arterial pulsation drives paravascular CSF–interstitial fluid exchange in the murine brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 33, 18190-18199.
- INADA, C., NIU, Y., MATSUMOTO, K., LE, X. T. & FUJIWARA, H. 2014. Possible involvement of VEGF signaling system in rescuing effect of endogenous acetylcholine on NMDA-induced long-lasting hippocampal cell damage in organotypic hippocampal slice cultures. *Neurochemistry International*, 75, 39-47.
- INDO, Y., TSURUTA, M., HAYASHIDA, Y., KARIM, M. A., OHTA, K., KAWANO, T., MITSUBUCHI, H., TONOKI, H., AWAYA, Y. & MATSUDA, I. 1996. Mutations in the TRKA/NGF receptor gene in patients with congenital insensitivity to pain with anhidrosis. *Nature genetics*, **13**, 485-488.
- IOANNOU, M. S. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2017. ProNGF, but not NGF, switches from neurotrophic to apoptotic activity in response to reductions in TrkA receptor levels. *International journal of molecular sciences*, 18, 599.
- ISACKSON, P. J., HUNTSMAN, M. M., MURRAY, K. D. & GALL, C. M. 1991. BDNF mRNA expression is increased in adult rat forebrain after limbic seizures: temporal patterns of induction distinct from NGF. *Neuron*, *6*, 937-48.
- ISHIHARA, T., HONG, M., ZHANG, B., NAKAGAWA, Y., LEE, M. K., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q. & LEE, V. M.-Y. 1999. Age-dependent emergence and progression of a tauopathy in transgenic mice overexpressing the shortest human tau isoform. *Neuron*, 24, 751-762.
- ISMAIL, Z., AGÜERA-ORTIZ, L., BRODATY, H., CIESLAK, A., CUMMINGS, J., FISCHER, C. E., GAUTHIER, S., GEDA, Y. E., HERRMANN, N. & KANJI, J. 2017. The Mild Behavioral Impairment Checklist (MBI-C): a rating scale for neuropsychiatric symptoms in pre-dementia populations. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease*, 56, 929-938.
- ITURRIA-MEDINA, Y., SOTERO, R. C., TOUSSAINT, P. J., MATEOS-PÉREZ, J. M. & EVANS, A. C. 2016. Early role of vascular dysregulation on late-onset Alzheimer's disease based on multifactorial datadriven analysis. *Nature communications*, **7**, 1-14.
- IULITA, M. F., ALLARD, S., RICHTER, L., MUNTER, L.-M., DUCATENZEILER, A., WEISE, C., DO CARMO, S., KLEIN, W. L., MULTHAUP, G. & CUELLO, A. C. 2014a. Intracellular Aβ pathology and early cognitive impairments in a transgenic rat overexpressing human amyloid precursor protein: a multidimensional study. Acta neuropathologica communications, 2, 1-17.

- IULITA, M. F., DO CARMO, S., OWER, A. K., FORTRESS, A. M., AGUILAR, L. F., HANNA, M., WISNIEWSKI, T., GRANHOLM, A.-C., BUHUSI, M. & BUSCIGLIO, J. 2014b. Nerve growth factor metabolic dysfunction in Down's syndrome brains. *Brain*, 137, 860-872.
- IULITA, M. F., GANESH, A., PENTZ, R., FLORES AGUILAR, L., GUBERT, P., DUCATENZEILER, A., CHRISTIE, S., WILCOCK, G. K. & CUELLO, A. C. 2019. Identification and preliminary validation of a plasma profile associated with cognitive decline in dementia and at-risk individuals: a retrospective cohort analysis. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 67, 327-341.
- IULITA, M. F., MILLÓN, M. B. B., PENTZ, R., AGUILAR, L. F., DO CARMO, S., ALLARD, S., MICHALSKI, B., WILSON, E. N., DUCATENZEILER, A. & BRUNO, M. A. 2017. Differential deregulation of NGF and BDNF neurotrophins in a transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of disease*, 108, 307-323.
- IULITA, M. F., OWER, A., BARONE, C., PENTZ, R., GUBERT, P., ROMANO, C., CANTARELLA, R. A., ELIA, F., BUONO, S. & RECUPERO, M. 2016. An inflammatory and trophic disconnect biomarker profile revealed in Down syndrome plasma: relation to cognitive decline and longitudinal evaluation. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 12, 1132-1148.
- IVERSEN, L., ROSSOR, M., REYNOLDS, G., HILLS, R., ROTH, M., MOUNTJOY, C., FOOTE, S., MORRISON, J. & BLOOM, F. 1983. Loss of pigmented dopamine-β-hydroxylase positive cells from locus coeruleus in senile dementia of Alzheimer's type. *Neuroscience letters*, **39**, 95-100.
- IYO, M., NAMBA, H., FUKUSHI, K., SHINOTOH, H., NAGATSUKA, S., SUHARA, T., SUDO, Y., SUZUKI, K. & IRIE, T. 1997. Measurement of acetylcholinesterase by positron emission tomography in the brains of healthy controls and patients with Alzheimer's disease. *The Lancet*, 349, 1805-1809.
- JACK JR, C. R. 2011. Alliance for aging research AD biomarkers work group: structural MRI. *Neurobiology* of aging, 32, S48-S57.
- JACK JR, C. R., ALBERT, M. S., KNOPMAN, D. S., MCKHANN, G. M., SPERLING, R. A., CARRILLO, M. C., THIES, B. & PHELPS, C. H. 2011. Introduction to the recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & dementia*, 7, 257-262.
- JACK JR, C. R., KNOPMAN, D. S., JAGUST, W. J., PETERSEN, R. C., WEINER, M. W., AISEN, P. S., SHAW, L. M., VEMURI, P., WISTE, H. J. & WEIGAND, S. D. 2013. Tracking pathophysiological processes in Alzheimer's disease: an updated hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers. *The lancet neurology*, 12, 207-216.
- JACK JR, C. R., KNOPMAN, D. S., JAGUST, W. J., SHAW, L. M., AISEN, P. S., WEINER, M. W., PETERSEN, R. C.
 & TROJANOWSKI, J. Q. 2010. Hypothetical model of dynamic biomarkers of the Alzheimer's pathological cascade. *The Lancet Neurology*, 9, 119-128.
- JACK JR, C. R., LOWE, V. J., SENJEM, M. L., WEIGAND, S. D., KEMP, B. J., SHIUNG, M. M., KNOPMAN, D. S., BOEVE, B. F., KLUNK, W. E. & MATHIS, C. A. 2008. 11C PiB and structural MRI provide complementary information in imaging of Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Brain*, 131, 665-680.
- JACK JR, C. R., LOWE, V. J., WEIGAND, S. D., WISTE, H. J., SENJEM, M. L., KNOPMAN, D. S., SHIUNG, M. M., GUNTER, J. L., BOEVE, B. F. & KEMP, B. J. 2009. Serial PIB and MRI in normal, mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: implications for sequence of pathological events in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain*, 132, 1355-1365.
- JELLINGER, K. A. 2002. Alzheimer disease and cerebrovascular pathology: an update. *Journal of neural transmission*, 109, 813-836.
- JESSEN, N. A., MUNK, A. S. F., LUNDGAARD, I. & NEDERGAARD, M. 2015. The glymphatic system: a beginner's guide. *Neurochemical research*, 40, 2583-2599.

- JI, Y., LU, Y., YANG, F., SHEN, W., TANG, T. T.-T., FENG, L., DUAN, S. & LU, B. 2010. Acute and gradual increases in BDNF concentration elicit distinct signaling and functions in neurons. *Nature neuroscience*, 13, 302-309.
- JIA, J., CHENG, J., WANG, C. & ZHEN, X. 2018. Sigma-1 receptor-modulated neuroinflammation in neurological diseases. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, **12**, 314.
- JIN, J.-L., FANG, M., ZHAO, Y.-X. & LIU, X.-Y. 2015. Roles of sigma-1 receptors in Alzheimer's disease. International journal of clinical and experimental medicine, 8, 4808.
- JING, S., TAPLEY, P. & BARBACID, M. 1992. Nerve growth factor mediates signal transduction through trk homodimer receptors. *Neuron*, 9, 1067-1079.
- JOACHIM, C., MORRIS, J. & SELKOE, D. 1988. Clinically diagnosed Alzheimer's disease: autopsy results in 150 cases. Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society, 24, 50-56.
- JOHNSON, D., LANAHAN, A., BUCK, C. R., SEHGAL, A., MORGAN, C., MERCER, E., BOTHWELL, M. & CHAO, M. 1986. Expression and structure of the human NGF receptor. *Cell*, 47, 545-554.
- JOLIVEL, V., BICKER, F., BINAMÉ, F., PLOEN, R., KELLER, S., GOLLAN, R., JUREK, B., BIRKENSTOCK, J., POISA-BEIRO, L. & BRUTTGER, J. 2015. Perivascular microglia promote blood vessel disintegration in the ischemic penumbra. *Acta neuropathologica*, 129, 279-295.
- JONES, B. & CUELLO, A. 1989. Afferents to the basal forebrain cholinergic cell area from pontomesencephalic—catecholamine, serotonin, and acetylcholine—neurons. *Neuroscience*, 31, 37-61.
- JONES, B. E. 1993. The organization of central cholinergic systems and their functional importance in sleep-waking states. *Progress in brain research*, 98, 61-71.
- JONES, B. E. 2004. Activity, modulation and role of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons innervating the cerebral cortex. *Progress in brain research*, 145, 157-169.
- JONES, C. K., BRADY, A. E., DAVIS, A. A., XIANG, Z., BUBSER, M., TANTAWY, M. N., KANE, A. S., BRIDGES, T. M., KENNEDY, J. P. & BRADLEY, S. R. 2008. Novel selective allosteric activator of the M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor regulates amyloid processing and produces antipsychotic-like activity in rats. Journal of Neuroscience, 28, 10422-10433.
- JONES, I. W. & WONNACOTT, S. 2004. Precise localization of α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors on glutamatergic axon terminals in the rat ventral tegmental area. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 11244-11252.
- JÖNHAGEN, M. E. 2000. Nerve growth factor treatment in dementia. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, 14, S31-S38.
- JÖNHAGEN, M. E., NORDBERG, A., AMBERLA, K., BÄCKMAN, L., EBENDAL, T., MEYERSON, B., OLSON, L., SEIGER, Å., SHIGETA, M. & THEODORSSON, E. 1998. Intracerebroventricular infusion of nerve growth factor in three patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, 9, 246-257.
- JONSSON, T., ATWAL, J. K., STEINBERG, S., SNAEDAL, J., JONSSON, P. V., BJORNSSON, S., STEFANSSON, H., SULEM, P., GUDBJARTSSON, D. & MALONEY, J. 2012. A mutation in APP protects against Alzheimer's disease and age-related cognitive decline. *Nature*, 488, 96-99.
- JONSSON, T., STEFANSSON, H., STEINBERG, S., JONSDOTTIR, I., JONSSON, P. V., SNAEDAL, J., BJORNSSON, S., HUTTENLOCHER, J., LEVEY, A. I. & LAH, J. J. 2013. Variant of TREM2 associated with the risk of Alzheimer's disease. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 368, 107-116.
- KAMINARI, A., GIANNAKAS, N., TZINIA, A. & TSILIBARY, E. C. 2017. Overexpression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) rescues insulin-mediated impairment in the 5XFAD model of Alzheimer's disease. *Scientific reports*, 7, 1-12.
- KANDEL, E. R. 2001. The molecular biology of memory storage: a dialogue between genes and synapses. *Science*, 294, 1030-1038.

- KANEMITSU, H., TOMIYAMA, T. & MORI, H. 2003. Human neprilysin is capable of degrading amyloid β peptide not only in the monomeric form but also the pathological oligomeric form. *Neuroscience letters*, 350, 113-116.
- KANG, D. E., PIETRZIK, C. U., BAUM, L., CHEVALLIER, N., MERRIAM, D. E., KOUNNAS, M. Z., WAGNER, S. L., TRONCOSO, J. C., KAWAS, C. H. & KATZMAN, R. 2000. Modulation of amyloid β-protein clearance and Alzheimer's disease susceptibility by the LDL receptor–related protein pathway. *The Journal* of clinical investigation, 106, 1159-1166.
- KANG, H. & SCHUMAN, E. M. 1995. Long-lasting neurotrophin-induced enhancement of synaptic transmission in the adult hippocampus. *Science*, 267, 1658-62.
- KANG, J., LEMAIRE, H.-G., UNTERBECK, A., SALBAUM, J. M., MASTERS, C. L., GRZESCHIK, K.-H., MULTHAUP,
 G., BEYREUTHER, K. & MÜLLER-HILL, B. 1987. The precursor of Alzheimer's disease amyloid A4 protein resembles a cell-surface receptor. *Nature*, 325, 733-736.
- KAPLAN, D. R. & MILLER, F. D. 1997. Signal transduction by the neutrophin receptors. *Current opinion in cell biology*, 9, 213-221.
- KARAMI, A., EYJOLFSDOTTIR, H., VIJAYARAGHAVAN, S., LIND, G., ALMQVIST, P., KADIR, A., LINDEROTH, B., ANDREASEN, N., BLENNOW, K. & WALL, A. 2015. Changes in CSF cholinergic biomarkers in response to cell therapy with NGF in patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 11, 1316-1328.
- KARCH, C. M. & GOATE, A. M. 2015. Alzheimer's disease risk genes and mechanisms of disease pathogenesis. *Biological psychiatry*, 77, 43-51.
- KARCH, C. M., JENG, A. T., NOWOTNY, P., CADY, J., CRUCHAGA, C. & GOATE, A. M. 2012. Expression of novel Alzheimer's disease risk genes in control and Alzheimer's disease brains. *PloS one*, 7, e50976.
- KARNOVSKY, M. J. & ROOTS, L. 1964. A" direct-coloring" thiocholine method for cholinesterases. *Journal* of Histochemistry & Cytochemistry, 12, 219-221.
- KAWAHARA, K., SUENOBU, M., YOSHIDA, A., KOGA, K., HYODO, A., OHTSUKA, H., KUNIYASU, A., TAMAMAKI, N., SUGIMOTO, Y. & NAKAYAMA, H. 2012. Intracerebral microinjection of interleukin-4/interleukin-13 reduces β-amyloid accumulation in the ipsilateral side and improves cognitive deficits in young amyloid precursor protein 23 mice. *Neuroscience*, 207, 243-260.
- KELLY, S. C., HE, B., PEREZ, S. E., GINSBERG, S. D., MUFSON, E. J. & COUNTS, S. E. 2017. Locus coeruleus cellular and molecular pathology during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Acta neuropathologica communications*, 5, 1-14.
- KENDZIORRA, K., WOLF, H., MEYER, P. M., BARTHEL, H., HESSE, S., BECKER, G. A., LUTHARDT, J., SCHILDAN, A., PATT, M. & SORGER, D. 2011. Decreased cerebral α4β2* nicotinic acetylcholine receptor availability in patients with mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease assessed with positron emission tomography. *European journal of nuclear medicine and molecular imaging*, 38, 515-525.
- KIDD, M. 1963. Paired helical filaments in electron microscopy of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature*, 197, 192-193.
- KIDD, M. 1964. Alzheimer's disease—an electron microscopical study. *Brain*, 87, 307-320.
- KIKUCHI-UTSUMI, K. & NAKAKI, T. 2008. Chronic treatment with a selective ligand for the sigma-1 receptor chaperone, SA4503, up-regulates BDNF protein levels in the rat hippocampus. *Neuroscience letters*, 440, 19-22.
- KILIMANN, I., GROTHE, M., HEINSEN, H., ALHO, E. J. L., GRINBERG, L., AMARO JR, E., DOS SANTOS, G. A.
 B., DA SILVA, R. E., MITCHELL, A. J. & FRISONI, G. B. 2014. Subregional basal forebrain atrophy in Alzheimer's disease: a multicenter study. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 40, 687-700.
- KIM, H.-J., MOON, W.-J. & HAN, S.-H. 2013. Differential cholinergic pathway involvement in Alzheimer's disease and subcortical ischemic vascular dementia. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 35, 129-136.

- KIMURA, K., MATSUMOTO, K., OHTAKE, H., OKA, J.-I. & FUJIWARA, H. 2018. Endogenous acetylcholine regulates neuronal and astrocytic vascular endothelial growth factor expression levels via different acetylcholine receptor mechanisms. *Neurochemistry International*, 118, 42-51.
- KIMURA, Y., FUJITA, Y., SHIBATA, K., MORI, M. & YAMASHITA, T. 2013. Sigma-1 receptor enhances neurite elongation of cerebellar granule neurons via TrkB signaling. *PloS one*, **8**, e75760.
- KIYOTA, T., INGRAHAM, K. L., SWAN, R. J., JACOBSEN, M. T., ANDREWS, S. J. & IKEZU, T. 2012. AAV serotype 2/1-mediated gene delivery of anti-inflammatory interleukin-10 enhances neurogenesis and cognitive function in APP+ PS1 mice. *Gene therapy*, 19, 724-733.
- KLIEMANNEL, M., RATTENHOLL, A., GOLBIK, R., BALBACH, J., LILIE, H., RUDOLPH, R. & SCHWARZ, E. 2004. The mature part of proNGF induces the structure of its pro-peptide. *FEBS letters*, 566, 207-212.
- KOCH, S. & CLAESSON-WELSH, L. 2012. Signal transduction by vascular endothelial growth factor receptors. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*, 2, a006502.
- KOCHARYAN, A., FERNANDES, P., TONG, X.-K., VAUCHER, E. & HAMEL, E. 2008. Specific subtypes of cortical GABA interneurons contribute to the neurovascular coupling response to basal forebrain stimulation. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism,* 28, 221-231.
- KOEHLER, R. C., ROMAN, R. J. & HARDER, D. R. 2009. Astrocytes and the regulation of cerebral blood flow. *Trends in neurosciences*, 32, 160-169.
- KOELLE, G. B. & FRIEDENWALD, J. S. 1949. A histochemical method for localizing cholinesterase activity. Proceedings of the Society for Experimental Biology and Medicine, 70, 617-622.
- KOJRO, E. & FAHRENHOLZ, F. 2005. The non-amyloidogenic pathway: structure and function of α -secretases. *Alzheimer's disease*, 105-127.
- KOKAIA, M., FERENCZ, I., LEANZA, G., ELMER, E., METSIS, M., KOKAIA, Z., WILEY, R. & LINDVALL, O. 1996. Immunolesioning of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons facilitates hippocampal kindling and perturbs neurotrophin messenger RNA regulation. *Neuroscience*, **70**, 313-327.
- KOLB, B., COTE, S., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A. & CUELLO, A. 1997. NGF stimulates recovery of function and dendritic growth after unilateral motor cortex lesions in rats. *Neuroscience*, 76, 1139-1151.
- KOO, E. H. & SQUAZZO, S. L. 1994. Evidence that production and release of amyloid beta-protein involves the endocytic pathway. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 269, 17386-17389.
- KORONYO-HAMAOUI, M., KO, M. K., KORONYO, Y., AZOULAY, D., SEKSENYAN, A., KUNIS, G., PHAM, M., BAKHSHESHIAN, J., ROGERI, P. & BLACK, K. L. 2009. Attenuation of AD-like neuropathology by harnessing peripheral immune cells: Local elevation of IL-10 and MMP-9. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 111, 1409-1424.
- KORSCHING, S., HEUMANN, R., THOENEN, H. & HEFTI, F. 1986. Cholinergic denervation of the rat hippocampus by fimbrial transection leads to a transient accumulation of nerve growth factor (NGF) without change in mRNANGF content. *Neuroscience letters*, 66, 175-180.
- KORTE, M., CARROLL, P., WOLF, E., BREM, G., THOENEN, H. & BONHOEFFER, T. 1995. Hippocampal longterm potentiation is impaired in mice lacking brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92, 8856-8860.
- KORTE, M., KANG, H., BONHOEFFER, T. & SCHUMAN, E. 1998. A role for BDNF in the late-phase of hippocampal long-term potentiation. *Neuropharmacology*, 37, 553-9.
- KROMER, L. F. 1987. Nerve growth factor treatment after brain injury prevents neuronal death. *Science*, 235, 214-216.
- KRUEGER, S. R., GHISU, G.-P., CINELLI, P., GSCHWEND, T. P., OSTERWALDER, T., WOLFER, D. P. & SONDEREGGER, P. 1997. Expression of neuroserpin, an inhibitor of tissue plasminogen activator, in the developing and adult nervous system of the mouse. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 17, 8984-8996.
- LAFERLA, F. M., GREEN, K. N. & ODDO, S. 2007. Intracellular amyloid-β in Alzheimer's disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 8, 499-509.

- LAGARDE, J., SARAZIN, M., CHAUVIRÉ, V., STANKOFF, B., KAS, A., LACOMBLEZ, L., PEYRONNEAU, M.-A. & BOTTLAENDER, M. 2017. Cholinergic Changes in Aging and Alzheimer Disease: An [: 18: F]-FA-85380 Exploratory PET Study. *Alzheimer Disease & Associated Disorders*, 31, 8-12.
- LAKSHMANAN, J., BEATTIE, G., HAYEK, A., BURNS, C. & FISHER, D. 1989. Biological actions of 53 kDa nerve growth factor as studied by a blot and culture technique. *Neuroscience letters*, 99, 263-267.
- LAMMICH, S., KOJRO, E., POSTINA, R., GILBERT, S., PFEIFFER, R., JASIONOWSKI, M., HAASS, C. & FAHRENHOLZ, F. 1999. Constitutive and regulated α-secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by a disintegrin metalloprotease. *Proceedings of the national academy of sciences*, 96, 3922-3927.
- LANGE, C., STORKEBAUM, E., DE ALMODÓVAR, C. R., DEWERCHIN, M. & CARMELIET, P. 2016. Vascular endothelial growth factor: a neurovascular target in neurological diseases. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 12, 439-454.
- LARSSON, E., KUMA, R., NORBERG, A., MINDE, J. & HOLMBERG, M. 2009. Nerve growth factor R221W responsible for insensitivity to pain is defectively processed and accumulates as proNGF. *Neurobiology of disease*, 33, 221-228.
- LASKE, C., STRANSKY, E., LEYHE, T., ESCHWEILER, G. W., MAETZLER, W., WITTORF, A., SOEKADAR, S., RICHARTZ, E., KOEHLER, N. & BARTELS, M. 2007. BDNF serum and CSF concentrations in Alzheimer's disease, normal pressure hydrocephalus and healthy controls. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 41, 387-394.
- LECRUX, C., KOCHARYAN, A., SANDOE, C. H., TONG, X.-K. & HAMEL, E. 2012. Pyramidal cells and cytochrome P450 epoxygenase products in the neurovascular coupling response to basal forebrain cholinergic input. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 32, 896-906.
- LECUYER, M.-A., KEBIR, H. & PRAT, A. 2016. Glial influences on BBB functions and molecular players in immune cell trafficking. *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-Molecular Basis of Disease*, 1862, 472-482.
- LEDEBOER, A., BREVÉ, J. J., WIERINCKX, A., VAN DER JAGT, S., BRISTOW, A. F., LEYSEN, J. E., TILDERS, F. J. & VAN DAM, A. M. 2002. Expression and regulation of interleukin-10 and interleukin-10 receptor in rat astroglial and microglial cells. *European journal of neuroscience*, **16**, 1175-1185.
- LEE, J., DUAN, W., LONG, J. M., INGRAM, D. K. & MATTSON, M. P. 2000. Dietary restriction increases the number of newly generated neural cells, and induces BDNF expression, in the dentate gyrus of rats. *Journal of Molecular Neuroscience*, 15, 99-108.
- LEE, R., KERMANI, P., TENG, K. K. & HEMPSTEAD, B. L. 2001. Regulation of cell survival by secreted proneurotrophins. *Science*, 294, 1945-8.
- LEHMANN, J., NAGY, J., ATMADJA, S. & FIBIGER, H. 1980. The nucleus basalis magnocellularis: the origin of a cholinergic projection to the neocortex of the rat. *Neuroscience*, **5**, 1161-1174.
- LEHMANN, O., GROTTICK, A., CASSEL, J. C. & HIGGINS, G. 2003. A double dissociation between serial reaction time and radial maze performance in rats subjected to 192 IgG-saporin lesions of the nucleus basalis and/or the septal region. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 18, 651-666.
- LEON, W. C., CANNEVA, F., PARTRIDGE, V., ALLARD, S., FERRETTI, M. T., DEWILDE, A., VERCAUTEREN, F., ATIFEH, R., DUCATENZEILER, A., KLEIN, W., SZYF, M., ALHONEN, L. & CUELLO, A. C. 2010. A novel transgenic rat model with a full Alzheimer's-like amyloid pathology displays pre-plaque intracellular amyloid-beta-associated cognitive impairment. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 20, 113-26.
- LERCH, J. P., PRUESSNER, J. C., ZIJDENBOS, A., HAMPEL, H., TEIPEL, S. J. & EVANS, A. C. 2005. Focal decline of cortical thickness in Alzheimer's disease identified by computational neuroanatomy. *Cerebral cortex*, 15, 995-1001.
- LEßMANN, V. 1998. Neurotrophin-dependent modulation of glutamatergic synaptic transmission in the mammalian CNS. *General Pharmacology: The Vascular System*, **31**, 667-674.

- LESSMANN, V., GOTTMANN, K. & MALCANGIO, M. 2003. Neurotrophin secretion: current facts and future prospects. *Progress in neurobiology*, 69, 341-374.
- LEVEY, A. I. 1993. Immunological localization of m1–m5 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in peripheral tissues and brain. *Life sciences*, 52, 441-448.
- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1950. The origin and development of the visceral system in the spinal cord of the chick embryo, World Scientific.
- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1964. Growth Control of Nerve Cells by a Protein Factor and Its Antiserum: Discovery of this factor may provide new leads to understanding of some neurogenetic processes. *Science*, 143, 105-110.

LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1987. The nerve growth factor 35 years later. *Science*, 237, 1154-1162.

- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1997. Les conséquences de la destruction d'un territoire d'innervation périphérique sur le développement des centres nerveux correspondants dans l'embryon de poulet. *The Saga Of The Nerve Growth Factor: Preliminary Studies, Discovery, Further Development.* World Scientific.
- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. & COHEN, S. 1956. In vitro and in vivo effects of a nerve growth-stimulating agent isolated from snake venom. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 42, 695-699.
- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. & LEVI, G. 1944. Correlazioni nello sviluppo tra varie parti del sistema nervoso.
- LEVI-MONTALCINI, R. 1952. Effects of mouse tumor transplantation on the nervous system. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 55, 330-344.
- LEVINE, E. S., DREYFUS, C. F., BLACK, I. B. & PLUMMER, M. R. 1995. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor rapidly enhances synaptic transmission in hippocampal neurons via postsynaptic tyrosine kinase receptors. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 92, 8074-8077.
- LEVY, E., CARMAN, M. D., FERNANDEZ-MADRID, I. J., POWER, M. D., LIEBERBURG, I., VAN DUINEN, S. G., BOTS, G. T. A., LUYENDIJK, W. & FRANGIONE, B. 1990. Mutation of the Alzheimer's disease amyloid gene in hereditary cerebral hemorrhage, Dutch type. *Science*, 248, 1124-1126.
- LEYHE, T., ESCHWEILER, G. W., STRANSKY, E., GASSER, T., ANNAS, P., BASUN, H. & LASKE, C. 2009. Increase of BDNF serum concentration in lithium treated patients with early Alzheimer's disease. *Journal* of Alzheimer's Disease, 16, 649-656.
- LI, B., STRIBLEY, J. A., TICU, A., XIE, W., SCHOPFER, L. M., HAMMOND, P., BRIMIJOIN, S., HINRICHS, S. H. & LOCKRIDGE, O. 2000. Abundant tissue butyrylcholinesterase and its possible function in the acetylcholinesterase knockout mouse. *Journal of neurochemistry*, **75**, 1320-1331.
- LI, G., PESKIND, E. R., MILLARD, S. P., CHI, P., SOKAL, I., YU, C.-E., BEKRIS, L. M., RASKIND, M. A., GALASKO, D. R. & MONTINE, T. J. 2009. Cerebrospinal fluid concentration of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and cognitive function in non-demented subjects. *PloS one,* 4, e5424.
- LICHT, T., GOSHEN, I., AVITAL, A., KREISEL, T., ZUBEDAT, S., EAVRI, R., SEGAL, M., YIRMIYA, R. & KESHET, E. 2011. Reversible modulations of neuronal plasticity by VEGF. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 108, 5081-5086.
- LINNARSSON, S., BJÖRKLUND, A. & ERNFORS, P. 1997. Learning deficit in BDNF mutant mice. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 9, 2581-2587.
- LIU, C.-C., KANEKIYO, T., XU, H. & BU, G. 2013. Apolipoprotein E and Alzheimer disease: risk, mechanisms and therapy. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 9, 106-118.
- LIU, C.-Y., YANG, Y., JU, W.-N., WANG, X. & ZHANG, H.-L. 2018. Emerging roles of astrocytes in neurovascular unit and the tripartite synapse with emphasis on reactive gliosis in the context of Alzheimer's disease. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, **12**, **193**.
- LIVAK, K. J. & SCHMITTGEN, T. D. 2001. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2– ΔΔCT method. *methods*, 25, 402-408.

- LJUBOJEVIC, V., LUU, P., GILL, P. R., BECKETT, L.-A., TAKEHARA-NISHIUCHI, K. & DE ROSA, E. 2018. Cholinergic modulation of frontoparietal cortical network dynamics supporting supramodal attention. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 38, 3988-4005.
- LOCKE, S., YOUSEFPOUR, N., MANNARINO, M., XING, S., YASHMIN, F., BOURASSA, V. & RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A. 2020. Peripheral and central nervous system alterations in a rat model of inflammatory arthritis. *Pain*.
- LOEWI, O. & NAVRATIL, E. 1926. On the humoral propagation of cardiac nerve action. *Cellular Neurophysiology: A Source Book. I. Cooke and M. Lipkin, editors. Holt, Rinehart and Winston, Orlando, FL*, 478-485.
- LOPEZ, O. L., BECKER, J. T. & SWEET, R. A. 2005. Non-cognitive symptoms in mild cognitive impairment subjects. *Neurocase*, 11, 65-71.
- LOTT, I. T. & HEAD, E. 2019. Dementia in Down syndrome: unique insights for Alzheimer disease research. *Nature Reviews Neurology*, 15, 135-147.
- LOU, N., TAKANO, T., PEI, Y., XAVIER, A. L., GOLDMAN, S. A. & NEDERGAARD, M. 2016. Purinergic receptor P2RY12-dependent microglial closure of the injured blood–brain barrier. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113, 1074-1079.
- LU, B. & GOTTSCHALK, W. 2000. Modulation of hippocampal synaptic transmission and plasticity by neurotrophins. *Progress in brain research*, 128, 231-241.
- LUCK, R., URBAN, S., KARAKATSANI, A., HARDE, E., SAMBANDAN, S., NICHOLSON, L., HAVERKAMP, S., MANN, R., MARTIN-VILLALBA, A. & SCHUMAN, E. M. 2019. VEGF/VEGFR2 signaling regulates hippocampal axon branching during development. *Elife*, 8, e49818.
- LUITEN, P., GAYKEMA, R., TRABER, J. & SPENCER JR, D. 1987. Cortical projection patterns of magnocellular basal nucleus subdivisions as revealed by anterogradely transportedPhaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin. *Brain research*, 413, 229-250.
- LUITEN, P. G. M., DE JONG, G., VAN DER ZEE, E. & VAN DIJKEN, H. 1996. Ultrastructural localization of cholinergic muscarinic receptors in rat brain cortical capillaries. *Brain research*, 720, 225-229.
- LYNESS, S. A., ZAROW, C. & CHUI, H. C. 2003. Neuron loss in key cholinergic and aminergic nuclei in Alzheimer disease: a meta-analysis. *Neurobiology of aging*, 24, 1-23.
- MACCHI, G., BRAHE, C. & POMPONI, M. 1997. Alois Alzheimer and Gaetano Perusini: should man divide what fate united? *Behavioural Neurology*, 10, 105-108.
- MAHLEY, R. 1995. Type III hyperlipoproteinemia (dysbetalipoproteinemia): the role of apolipoproteinen E in normal and abnormal lipoprotein metabolism. *The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease*.
- MAHONEY, E. R., DUMITRESCU, L., MOORE, A. M., CAMBRONERO, F. E., DE JAGER, P. L., KORAN, M. E. I., PETYUK, V. A., ROBINSON, R. A., GOYAL, S. & SCHNEIDER, J. A. 2021. Brain expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor gene family in cognitive aging and alzheimer's disease. *Molecular psychiatry*, 26, 888-896.
- MANDELKOW, E.-M. & MANDELKOW, E. 1998. Tau in Alzheimer's disease. *Trends in cell biology*, 8, 425-427.
- MANN, D. M. 1998. Dementia of frontal type and dementias with subcortical gliosis. *Brain pathology*, 8, 325-338.
- MANUEL, D. G., GARNER, R., FINÈS, P., BANCEJ, C., FLANAGAN, W., TU, K., REIMER, K., CHAMBERS, L. W. & BERNIER, J. 2016. Alzheimer's and other dementias in Canada, 2011 to 2031: a microsimulation Population Health Modeling (POHEM) study of projected prevalence, health burden, health services, and caregiving use. *Population health metrics*, 14, 1-10.
- MARCONE, A., GARIBOTTO, V., MORESCO, R. M., FLOREA, I., PANZACCHI, A., CARPINELLI, A., VIRTA, J. R., TETTAMANTI, M., BORRONI, B. & PADOVANI, A. 2012. [11C]-MP4A PET cholinergic measurements

in amnestic mild cognitive impairment, probable Alzheimer's disease, and dementia with Lewy bodies: a Bayesian method and voxel-based analysis. *Journal of Alzheimer's disease*, 31, 387-399.

- MARK, G., RADA, P. & SHORS, T. J. 1996. Inescapable stress enhances extracellular acetylcholine in the rat hippocampus and prefrontal cortex but not the nucleus accumbens or amygdala. *Neuroscience*, 74, 767-774.
- MARRAZZO, A., CARACI, F., SALINARO, E. T., SU, T.-P., COPANI, A. & RONSISVALLE, G. 2005. Neuroprotective effects of sigma-1 receptor agonists against beta-amyloid-induced toxicity. *Neuroreport*, 16, 1223-1226.
- MARTINEZ-MURILLO, R., SEMENENKO, F. & CUELLO, A. 1988. The origin of tyrosine hydroxylaseimmunoreactive fibers in the regions of the nucleus basalis magnocellularis of the rat. *Brain research*, 451, 227-236.
- MARTINI, A. C., HELMAN, A. M., MCCARTY, K. L., LOTT, I. T., DORAN, E., SCHMITT, F. A. & HEAD, E. 2020. Distribution of microglial phenotypes as a function of age and Alzheimer's disease neuropathology in the brains of people with Down syndrome. *Alzheimer's & Dementia: Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring*, 12, e12113.
- MARTINO ADAMI, P. V., GALEANO, P., WALLINGER, M. L., QUIJANO, C., RABOSSI, A., PAGANO, E. S., OLIVAR, N., REYES TOSO, C. F., CARDINALI, D. P. & BRUSCO, L. I. 2016. Worsening of memory deficit induced by energy-dense diet in a rat model of early-Alzheimer's disease is associated to neurotoxic Aβ species and independent of neuroinflammation.
- MASLIAH, E., MALLORY, M., ALFORD, M., DETERESA, R., HANSEN, L., MCKEEL, D. & MORRIS, J. 2001. Altered expression of synaptic proteins occurs early during progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 56, 127-129.
- MASLIAH, E., MALLORY, M., HANSEN, L., ALFORD, M., ALBRIGHT, T., DETERESA, R., TERRY, R., BAUDIER, J. & SAITOH, T. 1991. Patterns of aberrant sprouting in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*, 6, 729-739.
- MATEO, I., LLORCA, J., INFANTE, J., RODRÍGUEZ-RODRÍGUEZ, E., FERNÁNDEZ-VIADERO, C., PENA, N., BERCIANO, J. & COMBARROS, O. 2007. Low serum VEGF levels are associated with Alzheimer's disease. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 116, 56-58.
- MATSUMOTO, T., RAUSKOLB, S., POLACK, M., KLOSE, J., KOLBECK, R., KORTE, M. & BARDE, Y.-A. 2008. Biosynthesis and processing of endogenous BDNF: CNS neurons store and secrete BDNF, not pro-BDNF. *Nature neuroscience*, **11**, 131-133.
- MATSUNO, K., MATSUNAGA, K., SENDA, T. & MITA, S. 1993. Increase in extracellular acetylcholine level by sigma ligands in rat frontal cortex. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 265, 851-859.
- MATSUNO, K. & MITA, S. 1992. Involvement of the muscarinic receptors in the postsynaptic potentiation of neurogenic twitch contraction in the mouse vas deferens. *Life sciences*, 50, 799-806.
- MATSUNO, K., SENDA, T., KOBAYASHI, T., OKAMOTO, K., NAKATA, K. & MITA, S. 1997. SA4503, a novel cognitive enhancer, with σ1 receptor agonistic properties. *Behavioural brain research*, 83, 221-224.
- MATTHEWS, K. A., XU, W., GAGLIOTI, A. H., HOLT, J. B., CROFT, J. B., MACK, D. & MCGUIRE, L. C. 2019. Racial and ethnic estimates of Alzheimer's disease and related dementias in the United States (2015–2060) in adults aged≥ 65 years. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 15, 17-24.
- MAURICE, T. 2001. Beneficial effect of the σ1 receptor agonist PRE-084 against the spatial learning deficits in aged rats. *European journal of pharmacology*, 431, 223-227.
- MAURICE, T. & SU, T.-P. 2009. The pharmacology of sigma-1 receptors. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 124, 195-206.
- MAYHAN, W. G. 1999. VEGF increases permeability of the blood-brain barrier via a nitric oxide synthase/cGMP-dependent pathway. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 276, C1148-C1153.
- MCALLISTER, A. K., KATZ, L. C. & LO, D. C. 1996. Neurotrophin regulation of cortical dendritic growth requires activity. *Neuron*, 17, 1057-64.
- MCCONNELL, H. L., KERSCH, C. N., WOLTJER, R. L. & NEUWELT, E. A. 2017. The translational significance of the neurovascular unit. *Journal of biological chemistry*, 292, 762-770.
- MCCORMICK, D. A. & PRINCE, D. A. 1985. Two types of muscarinic response to acetylcholine in mammalian cortical neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 82, 6344-8.
- MCGAUGHY, J., DALLEY, J., MORRISON, C., EVERITT, B. & ROBBINS, T. 2002. Selective behavioral and neurochemical effects of cholinergic lesions produced by intrabasalis infusions of 192 IgG-saporin on attentional performance in a five-choice serial reaction time task. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 22, 1905-1913.
- MCGAUGHY, J. & SARTER, M. 1998. Sustained attention performance in rats with intracortical infusions of 192 IgG-saporin-induced cortical cholinergic deafferentation: effects of physostigmine and FG 7142. *Behavioral neuroscience*, 112, 1519.
- MCGEER, P., ITAGAKI, S. & MCGEER, E. 1988. Expression of the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR in neurological disease. *Acta neuropathologica*, 76, 550-557.
- MCGEER, P. L., ITAGAKI, S., TAGO, H. & MCGEER, E. G. 1987. Reactive microglia in patients with senile dementia of the Alzheimer type are positive for the histocompatibility glycoprotein HLA-DR. *Neuroscience letters*, 79, 195-200.
- MCGEER, P. L. & MCGEER, E. G. 2013. The amyloid cascade-inflammatory hypothesis of Alzheimer disease: implications for therapy. *Acta neuropathologica*, 126, 479-497.
- MCGEHEE, D. S., HEATH, M. J., GELBER, S., DEVAY, P. & ROLE, L. W. 1995. Nicotine enhancement of fast excitatory synaptic transmission in CNS by presynaptic receptors. *Science*, 269, 1692-1696.
- MCKEITH, I. G. 2002. Dementia with Lewy bodies. The British Journal of Psychiatry, 180, 144-147.
- MCKEITH, I. G., BOEVE, B. F., DICKSON, D. W., HALLIDAY, G., TAYLOR, J.-P., WEINTRAUB, D., AARSLAND, D., GALVIN, J., ATTEMS, J. & BALLARD, C. G. 2017. Diagnosis and management of dementia with Lewy bodies: Fourth consensus report of the DLB Consortium. *Neurology*, 89, 88-100.
- MCKELVEY, L., SHORTEN, G. D. & O'KEEFFE, G. W. 2013. Nerve growth factor-mediated regulation of pain signalling and proposed new intervention strategies in clinical pain management. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 124, 276-289.
- MCKHANN, G. M., KNOPMAN, D. S., CHERTKOW, H., HYMAN, B. T., JACK JR, C. R., KAWAS, C. H., KLUNK, W. E., KOROSHETZ, W. J., MANLY, J. J. & MAYEUX, R. 2011. The diagnosis of dementia due to Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & dementia*, 7, 263-269.
- MCKINNEY, M., COYLE, J. T. & HEDREEN, J. C. 1983. Topographic analysis of the innervation of the rat neocortex and hippocampus by the basal forebrain cholinergic system. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 217, 103-121.
- MCLEAN, C. A., CHERNY, R. A., FRASER, F. W., FULLER, S. J., SMITH, M. J., VBEYREUTHER, K., BUSH, A. I. & MASTERS, C. L. 1999. Soluble pool of Aβ amyloid as a determinant of severity of neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of neurology*, 46, 860-866.
- MEDEIROS, R., KITAZAWA, M., CACCAMO, A., BAGLIETTO-VARGAS, D., ESTRADA-HERNANDEZ, T., CRIBBS, D. H., FISHER, A. & LAFERLA, F. M. 2011. Loss of Muscarinic M1 Receptor Exacerbates Alzheimer's Disease–Like Pathology and Cognitive Decline. *The American journal of pathology*, 179, 980-991.
- MEGA, M. S., CUMMINGS, J. L., FIORELLO, T. & GORNBEIN, J. 1996. The spectrum of behavioral changes in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 46, 130-135.
- MELO, C. V., MELE, M., CURCIO, M., COMPRIDO, D., SILVA, C. G. & DUARTE, C. B. 2013. BDNF regulates the expression and distribution of vesicular glutamate transporters in cultured hippocampal neurons. *PloS one*, *8*, e53793.

- MENA, R., WISCHIK, C. M., NOVAK, M., MILSTEIN, C. & CUELLO, A. C. 1991. A progressive deposition of paired helical filaments (PHF) in the brain characterizes the evolution of dementia in Alzheimer's disease. An immunocytochemical study with a monoclonal antibody against the PHF core. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 50, 474-490.
- MESULAM, M.-M. & GEULA, C. 1994. Chemoarchitectonics of axonal and perikaryal acetylcholinesterase along information processing systems of the human cerebral cortex. *Brain research bulletin,* 33, 137-153.
- MESULAM, M.-M., GUILLOZET, A., SHAW, P., LEVEY, A., DUYSEN, E. & LOCKRIDGE, O. 2002. Acetylcholinesterase knockouts establish central cholinergic pathways and can use butyrylcholinesterase to hydrolyze acetylcholine. *neuroscience*, 110, 627-639.
- MESULAM, M.-M., MUFSON, E. J. & WAINER, B. H. 1986. Three-dimensional representation and cortical projection topography of the nucleus basalis (Ch4) in the macaque: concurrent demonstration of choline acetyltransferase and retrograde transport with a stabilized tetramethylbenzidine method for horseradish peroxidase. *Brain research*, 367, 301-308.
- MESULAM, M., SHAW, P., MASH, D. & WEINTRAUB, S. 2004. Cholinergic nucleus basalis tauopathy emerges early in the aging-MCI-AD continuum. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 55, 815-828.
- MESULAM, M. M. 2013. Cholinergic circuitry of the human nucleus basalis and its fate in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 521, 4124-4144.
- MESULAM, M. M. & GEULA, C. 1988. Acetylcholinesterase-rich pyramidal neurons in the human neocortex and hippocampus: absence at birth, development during the life span, and dissolution in Alzheimer's disease. Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society, 24, 765-773.
- MESULAM, M. M., MUFSON, E. J., LEVEY, A. I. & WAINER, B. H. 1983a. Cholinergic innervation of cortex by the basal forebrain: cytochemistry and cortical connections of the septal area, diagonal band nuclei, nucleus basalis (substantia innominata), and hypothalamus in the rhesus monkey. *Journal* of Comparative Neurology, 214, 170-197.
- MESULAM, M. M., MUFSON, E. J., WAINER, B. H. & LEVEY, A. I. 1983b. Central cholinergic pathways in the rat: an overview based on an alternative nomenclature (Ch1–Ch6). *Neuroscience*, 10, 1185-1201
- METHERATE, R., TREMBLAY, N. & DYKES, R. W. 1988. The effects of acetylcholine on response properties of cat somatosensory cortical neurons. *Journal of Neurophysiology*, 59, 1231-1252.
- MEYER, P., GRAEF, S., HESSE, S., WILKE, S., BECKER, G., RULLMANN, M., PATT, M., LUTHARDT, J., WAGENKNECHT, G. & HOEPPING, A. 2018. Associations between $\alpha 4\beta 2$ nicotinic acetylcholine receptor ($\alpha 4\beta 2$ -nAChR) availability and memory, executive function and attention in mild Alzheimer's dementia (AD): a (-)-[18F] Flubatine PET investigation. Soc Nuclear Med.
- MICHAELSON, D. M. & ANGEL, I. 1981. Saturable acetylcholine transport into purified cholinergic synaptic vesicles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 78, 2048-2052.
- MICHALOUDI, H., BATZIOS, C., GRIVAS, I., CHIOTELLI, M. & PAPADOPOULOS, G. C. 2006. Developmental changes in the vascular network of the rat visual areas 17, 18 and 18a. *Brain research*, 1103, 1-12.
- MICHALSKI, B., CORRADA, M. M., KAWAS, C. H. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2015. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor and TrkB expression in the "oldest-old," the 90+ Study: correlation with cognitive status and levels of soluble amyloid-beta. *Neurobiology of aging*, 36, 3130-3139.
- MICHALSKI, B. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2003a. Pro-brain-derived neurotrophic factor is decreased in parietal cortex in Alzheimer's disease. *Brain Res Mol Brain Res*, 111, 148-54.
- MICHALSKI, B. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2003b. Pro-brain-derived neurotrophic factor is decreased in parietal cortex in Alzheimer's disease. *Molecular Brain Research*, 111, 148-154.

- MILLER, D. L., PAPAYANNOPOULOS, I. A., STYLES, J., BOBIN, S. A., LIN, Y. Y., BIEMANN, K. & IQBAL, K. 1993. Peptide compositions of the cerebrovascular and senile plaque core amyloid deposits of Alzheimer' s disease. *Archives of biochemistry and biophysics*, 301, 41-52.
- MINELLI, A., EDWARDS, R. H., MANZONI, T. & CONTI, F. 2003. Postnatal development of the glutamate vesicular transporter VGLUT1 in rat cerebral cortex. *Brain Res Dev Brain Res*, 140, 309-14.
- MINICHIELLO, L. 2009. TrkB signalling pathways in LTP and learning. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10, 850-860.
- MINICHIELLO, L., KORTE, M., WOLFER, D., KÜHN, R., UNSICKER, K., CESTARI, V., ROSSI-ARNAUD, C., LIPP, H.-P., BONHOEFFER, T. & KLEIN, R. 1999. Essential role for TrkB receptors in hippocampusmediated learning. *Neuron*, 24, 401-414.
- MITCHELL, S., RAWLINS, J., STEWARD, O. & OLTON, D. 1982. Medial septal area lesions disrupt theta rhythm and cholinergic staining in medial entorhinal cortex and produce impaired radial arm maze behavior in rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 2, 292-302.
- MIYAKAWA, T., YAMADA, M., DUTTAROY, A. & WESS, J. 2001. Hyperactivity and intact hippocampusdependent learning in mice lacking the M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 21, 5239-5250.
- MIZUNO, M., YAMADA, K., OLARIU, A., NAWA, H. & NABESHIMA, T. 2000. Involvement of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in spatial memory formation and maintenance in a radial arm maze test in rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 7116-7121.
- MOCHIDA, S., MIZOBE, F., FISHER, A., KAWANISHI, G. & KOBAYASHI, H. 1988. Selective MI muscarinic agonists McN-A-343 and AF102B cause dual effects on superior cervical ganglia of rabbits. *Brain. Res*, 45, 9-17.
- MOLTENI, R., BARNARD, R., YING, Z., ROBERTS, C. & GOMEZ-PINILLA, F. 2002. A high-fat, refined sugar diet reduces hippocampal brain-derived neurotrophic factor, neuronal plasticity, and learning. *Neuroscience*, 112, 803-814.
- MONACCI, W. T., MERRILL, M. J. & OLDFIELD, E. H. 1993. Expression of vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor in normal rat tissues. *American Journal of Physiology-Cell Physiology*, 264, C995-C1002.
- MONDO, E. 2020. Investigating Microglia-Vascular Interactions in the Developing and Adult Central Nervous System.
- MONSONEGO, A., IMITOLA, J., PETROVIC, S., ZOTA, V., NEMIROVSKY, A., BARON, R., FISHER, Y., OWENS, T. & WEINER, H. L. 2006. Aβ-induced meningoencephalitis is IFN-γ-dependent and is associated with T cell-dependent clearance of Aβ in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 103, 5048-5053.
- MONTAGNE, A., BARNES, S. R., SWEENEY, M. D., HALLIDAY, M. R., SAGARE, A. P., ZHAO, Z., TOGA, A. W., JACOBS, R. E., LIU, C. Y. & AMEZCUA, L. 2015. Blood-brain barrier breakdown in the aging human hippocampus. *Neuron*, 85, 296-302.
- MONTAGNE, A., NATION, D. A., PA, J., SWEENEY, M. D., TOGA, A. W. & ZLOKOVIC, B. V. 2016. Brain imaging of neurovascular dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. *Acta neuropathologica*, 131, 687-707.
- MONTEGGIA, L. M., BARROT, M., POWELL, C. M., BERTON, O., GALANIS, V., GEMELLI, T., MEUTH, S., NAGY, A., GREENE, R. W. & NESTLER, E. J. 2004. Essential role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in adult hippocampal function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 101, 10827-32.
- MONTGOMERY, S. L., MASTRANGELO, M. A., HABIB, D., NARROW, W. C., KNOWLDEN, S. A., WRIGHT, T. W. & BOWERS, W. J. 2011. Ablation of TNF-RI/RII expression in Alzheimer's disease mice leads to an unexpected enhancement of pathology: implications for chronic pan-TNF-α suppressive therapeutic strategies in the brain. *The American journal of pathology*, 179, 2053-2070.

- MORIGUCHI, S., SAKAGAMI, H., YABUKI, Y., SASAKI, Y., IZUMI, H., ZHANG, C., HAN, F. & FUKUNAGA, K. 2015. Stimulation of sigma-1 receptor ameliorates depressive-like behaviors in CaMKIV null mice. *Molecular neurobiology*, 52, 1210-1222.
- MORIN-SURUN, M.-P., COLLIN, T., DENAVIT-SAUBIÉ, M., BAULIEU, E.-E. & MONNET, F. 1999. Intracellular σ1 receptor modulates phospholipase C and protein kinase C activities in the brainstem. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 96, 8196-8199.
- MORRIS, R. G. 2013. NMDA receptors and memory encoding. *Neuropharmacology*, 74, 32-40.
- MORSE, J. K., WIEGAND, S. J., ANDERSON, K., YOU, Y., CAI, N., CARNAHAN, J., MILLER, J., DISTEFANO, P. S., ALTAR, C. A., LINDSAY, R. M. & ET AL. 1993. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) prevents the degeneration of medial septal cholinergic neurons following fimbria transection. *J Neurosci*, 13, 4146-56.
- MOWLA, S. J., FARHADI, H. F., PAREEK, S., ATWAL, J. K., MORRIS, S. J., SEIDAH, N. G. & MURPHY, R. A. 2001. Biosynthesis and post-translational processing of the precursor to brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 12660-12666.
- MOWLA, S. J., PAREEK, S., FARHADI, H. F., PETRECCA, K., FAWCETT, J. P., SEIDAH, N. G., MORRIS, S. J., SOSSIN, W. S. & MURPHY, R. A. 1999. Differential sorting of nerve growth factor and brain-derived neurotrophic factor in hippocampal neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **19**, 2069-2080.
- MRZLJAK, L., LEVEY, A. I. & GOLDMAN-RAKIC, P. S. 1993. Association of m1 and m2 muscarinic receptor proteins with asymmetric synapses in the primate cerebral cortex: morphological evidence for cholinergic modulation of excitatory neurotransmission. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 90, 5194-5198.
- MUCKE, L., MASLIAH, E., JOHNSON, W. B., RUPPE, M. D., ALFORD, M., ROCKENSTEIN, E. M., FORSS-PETTER, S., PIETROPAOLO, M., MALLORY, M. & ABRAHAM, C. R. 1994. Synaptotrophic effects of human amyloid beta protein precursors in the cortex of transgenic mice. *Brain Res*, 666, 151-67.
- MUFSON, E. J., LI, J. M., SOBREVIELA, T. & KORDOWER, J. H. 1996. Decreased trkA gene expression within basal forebrain neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroreport*, *8*, 25-29.
- MUFSON, E. J., MA, S. Y., COCHRAN, E. J., BENNETT, D. A., BECKETT, L. A., JAFFAR, S., SARAGOVI, H. U. & KORDOWER, J. H. 2000. Loss of nucleus basalis neurons containing trkA immunoreactivity in individuals with mild cognitive impairment and early Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 427, 19-30.
- MUFSON, E. J. & MESULAM, M. M. 1984. Thalamic connections of the insula in the rhesus monkey and comments on the paralimbic connectivity of the medial pulvinar nucleus. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 227, 109-120.
- MUFSON, E. J., WUU, J., COUNTS, S. E. & NYKJAER, A. 2010. Preservation of cortical sortilin protein levels in MCI and Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience letters*, 471, 129-133.
- MUKHERJEE, A., SONG, E.-S., KIHIKO-EHMANN, M., GOODMAN, J. P., PYREK, J. S., ESTUS, S. & HERSH, L. B. 2000. Insulysin hydrolyzes amyloid β peptides to products that are neither neurotoxic nor deposit on amyloid plaques. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 20, 8745-8749.
- MULLAN, M., CRAWFORD, F., AXELMAN, K., HOULDEN, H., LILIUS, L., WINBLAD, B. & LANNFELT, L. 1992. A pathogenic mutation for probable Alzheimer's disease in the APP gene at the N–terminus of β– amyloid. *Nature genetics*, **1**, 345-347.
- MÜLLER, D. M., MENDLA, K., FARBER, S. A. & NITSCH, R. M. 1997. Muscarinic M1 receptor agonists increase the secretion of the amyloid precursor protein ectodomain. *Life sciences*, 60, 985-991.
- MULLIGAN, S. J. & MACVICAR, B. A. 2004. Calcium transients in astrocyte endfeet cause cerebrovascular constrictions. *Nature*, 431, 195-199.
- MURPHY, S., PEARCE, B. & MORROW, C. 1986. Astrocytes have both M1 and M2 muscarinic receptor subtypes. *Brain research*, 364, 177-180.

- MURRELL, J., FARLOW, M., GHETTI, B. & BENSON, M. D. 1991. A mutation in the amyloid precursor protein associated with hereditary Alzheimer's disease. *Science*, 254, 97-99.
- NACHMANSOHN, D. & MACHADO, A. 1943. THE FORMATION OF ACETYLCHOLINE. A NEW ENZYME:" CHOLINE ACETYLASE". Journal of neurophysiology, 6, 397-403.
- NAERT, G. & RIVEST, S. 2011. CC chemokine receptor 2 deficiency aggravates cognitive impairments and amyloid pathology in a transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 31, 6208-6220.
- NAGAHARA, A. H., MERRILL, D. A., COPPOLA, G., TSUKADA, S., SCHROEDER, B. E., SHAKED, G. M., WANG, L., BLESCH, A., KIM, A. & CONNER, J. M. 2009. Neuroprotective effects of brain-derived neurotrophic factor in rodent and primate models of Alzheimer's disease. *Nature medicine*, 15, 331-337.
- NAGAHARA, A. H. & TUSZYNSKI, M. H. 2011. Potential therapeutic uses of BDNF in neurological and psychiatric disorders. *Nature reviews Drug discovery*, 10, 209-219.
- NAGAPPAN, G., ZAITSEV, E., SENATOROV, V. V., YANG, J., HEMPSTEAD, B. L. & LU, B. 2009. Control of extracellular cleavage of ProBDNF by high frequency neuronal activity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 106, 1267-1272.
- NAGATA, T., SHINAGAWA, S., NUKARIYA, K., NAKAYAMA, R., NAKAYAMA, K. & YAMADA, H. 2011. Association between nerve growth factor gene polymorphism and executive dysfunction in Japanese patients with early-stage Alzheimer's disease and amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, 32, 379-386.
- NAKAIZUMI, K., OUCHI, Y., TERADA, T., YOSHIKAWA, E., KAKIMOTO, A., ISOBE, T., BUNAI, T., YOKOKURA, M., SUZUKI, K. & MAGATA, Y. 2018. In vivo depiction of α7 nicotinic receptor loss for cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 61, 1355-1365.
- NAKANO, I. 1982. Loss of large neurons of the medial septal nucleus in an autopsy case of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuropathology and Experimental Neurology*, 41, 341.
- NAKATSU, M. N., SAINSON, R. C., PÉREZ-DEL-PULGAR, S., AOTO, J. N., AITKENHEAD, M., TAYLOR, K. L., CARPENTER, P. M. & HUGHES, C. C. 2003. VEGF121 and VEGF165 regulate blood vessel diameter through vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 in an in vitro angiogenesis model. *Laboratory investigation*, 83, 1873-1885.
- NAVAKKODE, S. & KORTE, M. 2012. Cooperation between cholinergic and glutamatergic receptors are essential to induce BDNF-dependent long-lasting memory storage. *Hippocampus*, 22, 335-346.
- NEAVE, N., LLOYD, S., SAHGAL, A. & AGGLETON, J. 1994. Lack of effect of lesions in the anterior cingulate cortex and retrosplenial cortex on certain tests of spatial memory in the rat. *Behavioural brain research*, 65, 89-101.
- NHAN, H. S., CHIANG, K. & KOO, E. H. 2015. The multifaceted nature of amyloid precursor protein and its proteolytic fragments: friends and foes. *Acta neuropathologica*, 129, 1-19.
- NICHOLS, E., SZOEKE, C. E., VOLLSET, S. E., ABBASI, N., ABD-ALLAH, F., ABDELA, J., AICHOUR, M. T. E., AKINYEMI, R. O., ALAHDAB, F. & ASGEDOM, S. W. 2019. Global, regional, and national burden of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, 1990–2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet Neurology*, 18, 88-106.
- NICO, B., MANGIERI, D., BENAGIANO, V., CRIVELLATO, E. & RIBATTI, D. 2008. Nerve growth factor as an angiogenic factor. *Microvascular research*, **75**, 135-141.
- NIELSEN, S., NAGELHUS, E. A., AMIRY-MOGHADDAM, M., BOURQUE, C., AGRE, P. & OTTERSEN, O. P. 1997. Specialized membrane domains for water transport in glial cells: high-resolution immunogold cytochemistry of aquaporin-4 in rat brain. *Journal of Neuroscience*, **17**, **171**-180.
- NITSCH, R. M., SLACK, B. E., WURTMAN, R. J. & GROWDON, J. H. 1992. Release of Alzheimer amyloid precursor derivatives stimulated by activation of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors. *Science*, 258, 304-307.

- NIWA, K., PORTER, V. A., KAZAMA, K., CORNFIELD, D., CARLSON, G. A. & IADECOLA, C. 2001. Aβ-peptides enhance vasoconstriction in cerebral circulation. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*, 281, H2417-H2424.
- NIZARI, S., CARARE, R. O., ROMERO, I. A. & HAWKES, C. A. 2019. 3D reconstruction of the neurovascular unit reveals differential loss of cholinergic innervation in the cortex and hippocampus of the adult mouse brain. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*, 172.
- NIZARI, S., WELLS, J. A., CARARE, R. O., ROMERO, I. A. & HAWKES, C. A. 2021. Loss of cholinergic innervation differentially affects eNOS-mediated blood flow, drainage of Aβ and cerebral amyloid angiopathy in the cortex and hippocampus of adult mice. *Acta Neuropathologica Communications*, 9, 1-17.
- NIZRI, E., HAMRA-AMITAY, Y., SICSIC, C., LAVON, I. & BRENNER, T. 2006. Anti-inflammatory properties of cholinergic up-regulation: a new role for acetylcholinesterase inhibitors. *Neuropharmacology*, 50, 540-547.
- NORDBERG, A. 1999. PET studies and cholinergic therapy in Alzheimer's disease. *Revue neurologique*, 155, S53-63.
- NORDBERG, A., AMBERLA, K., SHIGETA, M., LUNDQVIST, H., VIITANEN, M., HELLSTRÖM-LINDAHL, E., JOHANSSON, M., ANDERSSON, J., HARTVIG, P. & LILJA, A. 1998. Long-term tacrine treatment in three mild Alzheimer patients: effects on nicotinic receptors, cerebral blood flow, glucose metabolism, EEG, and cognitive abilities. *Alzheimer disease and associated disorders*, 12, 228-237.
- NORDBERG, A., LUNDQVIST, H., HARTVIG, P., LILJA, A. & LÅNGSTRÖM, B. 1995. Kinetic analysis of regional (S)(-) 11C-nicotine binding in normal and Alzheimer brains--in vivo assessment using positron emission tomography. *Alzheimer disease and associated disorders*, 9, 21-27.
- NORTLEY, R., KORTE, N., IZQUIERDO, P., HIRUNPATTARASILP, C., MISHRA, A., JAUNMUKTANE, Z., KYRARGYRI, V., PFEIFFER, T., KHENNOUF, L. & MADRY, C. 2019. Amyloid β oligomers constrict human capillaries in Alzheimer's disease via signaling to pericytes. *Science*, 365, eaav9518.
- NUYDENS, R., DISPERSYN, G., DE JONG, M., VAN DEN KIEBOOM, G., BORGERS, M. & GEERTS, H. 1997. Aberrant tau phosphorylation and neurite retraction during NGF deprivation in PC12 cells. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 240, 687-691.
- NYKJAER, A., LEE, R., TENG, K. K., JANSEN, P., MADSEN, P., NIELSEN, M. S., JACOBSEN, C., KLIEMANNEL, M., SCHWARZ, E. & WILLNOW, T. E. 2004. Sortilin is essential for proNGF-induced neuronal cell death. *Nature*, 427, 843-848.
- ODAWARA, T., SHIOZAKI, K., ISEKI, E., HINO, H. & KOSAKA, K. 2003. Alterations of muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in atypical Pick's disease without Pick bodies. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 74, 965-967.
- OGATA, Y., ENGHILD, J. & NAGASE, H. 1992. Matrix metalloproteinase 3 (stromelysin) activates the precursor for the human matrix metalloproteinase 9. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 267, 3581-3584.
- OHBA, S., IKEDA, T., IKEGAYA, Y., NISHIYAMA, N., MATSUKI, N. & YAMADA, M. K. 2005. BDNF locally potentiates GABAergic presynaptic machineries: target-selective circuit inhibition. *Cereb Cortex*, 15, 291-8.
- OKUDA, T. & HAGA, T. 2000. Functional characterization of the human high-affinity choline transporter. *FEBS letters*, 484, 92-97.
- OKUDA, T. & HAGA, T. 2003. High-affinity choline transporter. *Neurochemical research*, 28, 483-488.
- OKUDA, T., HAGA, T., KANAI, Y., ENDOU, H., ISHIHARA, T. & KATSURA, I. 2000. Identification and characterization of the high-affinity choline transporter. *Nature neuroscience*, **3**, 120-125.
- OLSON, L., NORDBERG, A., VON HOLST, H., BÄCKMAN, L., EBENDAL, T., ALAFUZOFF, I., AMBERLA, K., HARTVIG, P., HERLITZ, A. & LILJA, A. 1992. Nerve growth factor affects11C-nicotine binding, blood

flow, EEG, and verbal episodic memory in an Alzheimer patient (case report). *Journal of neural transmission-Parkinson's disease and dementia section*, **4**, 79-95.

- ORCIANI, C., HALL, H., PENTZ, R., FORET, M. K., DO CARMO, S. & CUELLO, A. C. 2022. Long-term nucleus basalis cholinergic depletion induces attentional deficits and impacts cortical neurons and BDNF levels without affecting the NGF synthesis. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 163, 149-167.
- OSTERWALDER, T., CONTARTESE, J., STOECKLI, E., KUHN, T. & SONDEREGGER, P. 1996. Neuroserpin, an axonally secreted serine protease inhibitor. *The EMBO journal*, 15, 2944-2953.
- PABBA, M. 2013. The essential roles of protein–protein interaction in sigma-1 receptor functions. Frontiers Media SA.
- PAL, A., FONTANILLA, D., GOPALAKRISHNAN, A., CHAE, Y.-K., MARKLEY, J. L. & RUOHO, A. E. 2012. The sigma-1 receptor protects against cellular oxidative stress and activates antioxidant response elements. *European journal of pharmacology*, 682, 12-20.
- PANG, P. T., TENG, H. K., ZAITSEV, E., WOO, N. T., SAKATA, K., ZHEN, S., TENG, K. K., YUNG, W. H., HEMPSTEAD, B. L. & LU, B. 2004. Cleavage of proBDNF by tPA/plasmin is essential for long-term hippocampal plasticity. *Science*, 306, 487-91.
- PAOLETTI, F., KONAREV, P., COVACEUSZACH, S., SCHWARZ, E., CATTANEO, A., LAMBA, D. & SVERGUN, D. 2006. Structural and functional properties of mouse proNGF. Portland Press Ltd.
- PARIKH, V., KOZAK, R., MARTINEZ, V. & SARTER, M. 2007. Prefrontal acetylcholine release controls cue detection on multiple timescales. *Neuron*, 56, 141-154.
- PARK, L., HOCHRAINER, K., HATTORI, Y., AHN, S. J., ANFRAY, A., WANG, G., UEKAWA, K., SEO, J., PALFINI,
 V. & BLANCO, I. 2020. Tau induces PSD95–neuronal NOS uncoupling and neurovascular dysfunction independent of neurodegeneration. *Nature neuroscience*, 23, 1079-1089.
- PARK, L., UEKAWA, K., GARCIA-BONILLA, L., KOIZUMI, K., MURPHY, M., PISTIK, R., YOUNKIN, L., YOUNKIN, S., ZHOU, P. & CARLSON, G. 2017. Brain perivascular macrophages initiate the neurovascular dysfunction of Alzheimer Aβ peptides. *Circulation research*, 121, 258-269.
- PARSONS, S. M. & KOENIGSBERGER, R. 1980. Specific stimulated uptake of acetylcholine by Torpedo electric organ synaptic vesicles. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 77, 6234-6238.
- PARSONS, S. M., PRIOR, C. & MARSHALL, I. G. 1993. Acetylcholine transport, storage, and release. International review of neurobiology, 35, 279-390.
- PATEL, N. S., MATHURA, V. S., BACHMEIER, C., BEAULIEU-ABDELAHAD, D., LAPORTE, V., WEEKS, O., MULLAN, M. & PARIS, D. 2010. Alzheimer's β-amyloid peptide blocks vascular endothelial growth factor mediated signaling via direct interaction with VEGFR-2. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 112, 66-76.
- PATERSON, R., BARTLETT, J., BLENNOW, K., FOX, N., SHAW, L., TROJANOWSKI, J., ZETTERBERG, H. & SCHOTT, J. 2014. Cerebrospinal fluid markers including trefoil factor 3 are associated with neurodegeneration in amyloid-positive individuals. *Translational psychiatry*, 4, e419-e419.
- PAVLOV, V. A. & TRACEY, K. J. 2005. The cholinergic anti-inflammatory pathway. *Brain, behavior, and immunity*, 19, 493-499.
- PAXINOS, G. & WATSON, C. 2006. The rat brain in stereotaxic coordinates: hard cover edition, Elsevier.
- PAYLOR, R., NGUYEN, M., CRAWLEY, J. N., PATRICK, J., BEAUDET, A. & ORR-URTREGER, A. 1998. α7 nicotinic receptor subunits are not necessary for hippocampal-dependent learning or sensorimotor gating: a behavioral characterization of Acra7-deficient mice. *Learning & memory*, 5, 302-316.
- PAZZAGLI, A. & PEPEU, G. 1965. Amnesic properties of scopolamine and brain acetylcholine in the rat. International Journal of Neuropharmacology, 4, 291-299.
- PEARSON, R., SOFRONIEW, M., CUELLO, A., POWELL, T., ECKENSTEIN, F., ESIRI, M. & WILCOCK, G. 1983. Persistence of cholinergic neurons in the basal nucleus in a brain with senile dementia of the

Alzheimer's type demonstrated by immunohistochemical staining for choline acetyltransferase. *Brain research*, 289, 375-379.

- PEDRAZA, C. E., PODLESNIY, P., VIDAL, N., ARÉVALO, J. C., LEE, R., HEMPSTEAD, B., FERRER, I., IGLESIAS, M. & ESPINET, C. 2005. Pro-NGF isolated from the human brain affected by Alzheimer's disease induces neuronal apoptosis mediated by p75NTR. *The American journal of pathology*, 166, 533-543.
- PENFIELD, W. & MILNER, B. 1958. Memory deficit produced by bilateral lesions in the hippocampal zone. AMA Archives of Neurology & Psychiatry, 79, 475-497.
- PENG, S., GARZON, D. J., MARCHESE, M., KLEIN, W., GINSBERG, S. D., FRANCIS, B. M., MOUNT, H. T., MUFSON, E. J., SALEHI, A. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2009. Decreased brain-derived neurotrophic factor depends on amyloid aggregation state in transgenic mouse models of Alzheimer's disease. *Journal* of Neuroscience, 29, 9321-9329.
- PENG, S., WUU, J., MUFSON, E. J. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2004. Increased proNGF levels in subjects with mild cognitive impairment and mild Alzheimer disease. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 63, 641-649.
- PENG, S., WUU, J., MUFSON, E. J. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2005. Precursor form of brain-derived neurotrophic factor and mature brain-derived neurotrophic factor are decreased in the pre-clinical stages of Alzheimer's disease. *J Neurochem*, 93, 1412-21.
- PENKE, B., FULOP, L., SZUCS, M. & FRECSKA, E. 2018. The role of sigma-1 receptor, an intracellular chaperone in neurodegenerative diseases. *Current neuropharmacology*, 16, 97-116.
- PENTZ, R., IULITA, M. F., DUCATENZEILER, A., BENNETT, D. A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2020. The human brain NGF metabolic pathway is impaired in the pre-clinical and clinical continuum of Alzheimers disease. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 1-15.
- PENTZ, R., IULITA, M. F., DUCATENZEILER, A., VIDELA, L., BENEJAM, B., CARMONA-IRAGUI, M., BLESA, R., LLEÓ, A., FORTEA, J. & CUELLO, A. C. 2021a. Nerve growth factor (NGF) pathway biomarkers in Down syndrome prior to and after the onset of clinical Alzheimer's disease: A paired CSF and plasma study. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 17, 605-617.
- PENTZ, R., IULITA, M. F., MIKUTRA-CENCORA, M., DUCATENZEILER, A., BENNETT, D. A. & CUELLO, A. C. 2021b. A new role for matrix metalloproteinase-3 in the NGF metabolic pathway: proteolysis of mature NGF and sex-specific differences in the continuum of Alzheimer's pathology. *Neurobiology* of disease, 148, 105150.
- PEPEU, G. & GIOVANNINI, M. G. 2004. Changes in acetylcholine extracellular levels during cognitive processes. *Learning & memory*, 11, 21-27.
- PEPEU, G. & PEPEU, I. M. 1994. Dysfunction of the brain cholinergic system during aging and after lesions of the nucleus basalis of Meynert. *Cell and Animal Models in Aging and Dementia Research*, 189-194.
- PEREZ-LLORET, S. & BARRANTES, F. J. 2016. Deficits in cholinergic neurotransmission and their clinical correlates in Parkinson's disease. *NPJ Parkinson's disease*, 2, 1-12.
- PEREZ, S. E., GETOVA, D. P., HE, B., COUNTS, S. E., GEULA, C., DESIRE, L., COUTADEUR, S., PEILLON, H., GINSBERG, S. D. & MUFSON, E. J. 2012. Rac1b increases with progressive tau pathology within cholinergic nucleus basalis neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *The American journal of pathology*, 180, 526-540.
- PERRY, E., PERRY, R., BLESSED, G. & TOMLINSON, B. 1977a. Necropsy evidence of central cholinergic deficits in senile dementia. *The Lancet*, 309, 189.
- PERRY, E., ZIABREVA, I., PERRY, R., AARSLAND, D. & BALLARD, C. 2005. Absence of cholinergic deficits in "pure" vascular dementia. *Neurology*, 64, 132-133.

- PERRY, E. K., GIBSON, P. H., BLESSED, G., PERRY, R. H. & TOMLINSON, B. E. 1977b. Neurotransmitter enzyme abnormalities in senile dementia: Choline acetyltransferase and glutamic acid decarboxylase activities in necropsy brain tissue. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 34, 247-265.
- PERRY, E. K., PERRY, R., BLESSED, G. & TOMLINSON, B. 1978a. Changes in brain cholinesterases in senile dementia of Alzheimer type. *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology*, 4, 273-277.
- PERRY, E. K., TOMLINSON, B. E., BLESSED, G., BERGMANN, K., GIBSON, P. H. & PERRY, R. H. 1978b. Correlation of cholinergic abnormalities with senile plaques and mental test scores in senile dementia. *Br Med J*, 2, 1457-1459.
- PERUSINI, G. 1911. Sul valore nosografico di alcuni reperti istopatologici caratteristici per la senilità.
- PETERS, A. & FOLGER, C. 2013. A website entitled "The fine structure of the aging brain". Wiley Online Library.
- PETERSEN, R. C. 2004. Mild cognitive impairment as a diagnostic entity. *Journal of internal medicine*, 256, 183-194.
- PETERSEN, R. C., SMITH, G. E., WARING, S. C., IVNIK, R. J., TANGALOS, E. G. & KOKMEN, E. 1999. Mild cognitive impairment: clinical characterization and outcome. *Archives of neurology*, 56, 303-308.
- PETRASEK, T., VOJTECHOVA, I., LOBELLOVA, V., POPELIKOVA, A., JANIKOVA, M., BROZKA, H., HOUDEK, P., SLADEK, M., SUMOVA, A. & KRISTOFIKOVA, Z. 2018. The McGill transgenic rat model of Alzheimer's disease displays cognitive and motor impairments, changes in anxiety and social behavior, and altered circadian activity. *Frontiers in aging neuroscience*, 10, 250.
- PETROSINI, L., DE BARTOLO, P., CUTULI, D. & KOSTRZEWA, R. 2014. Neurotoxic effects, mechanisms and outcome of 192-IgG-saporin. *Handbook of Neurotoxicity*.
- PETROU, M., FREY, K. A., KILBOURN, M. R., SCOTT, P. J., RAFFEL, D. M., BOHNEN, N. I., MÜLLER, M. L., ALBIN, R. L. & KOEPPE, R. A. 2014. In vivo imaging of human cholinergic nerve terminals with (–)-5-18F-Fluoroethoxybenzovesamicol: Biodistribution, dosimetry, and tracer kinetic analyses. Journal of Nuclear Medicine, 55, 396-404.
- PEVIANI, M., SALVANESCHI, E., BONTEMPI, L., PETESE, A., MANZO, A., ROSSI, D., SALMONA, M., COLLINA, S., BIGINI, P. & CURTI, D. 2014. Neuroprotective effects of the Sigma-1 receptor (S1R) agonist PRE-084, in a mouse model of motor neuron disease not linked to SOD1 mutation. *Neurobiology of disease*, 62, 218-232.
- PHILLIPS, H. S., HAINS, J. M., ARMANINI, M., LARAMEE, G. R., JOHNSON, S. A. & WINSLOW, J. W. 1991. BDNF mRNA is decreased in the hippocampus of individuals with Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*, 7, 695-702.
- PHILLIPS, H. S., HAINS, J. M., LARAMEE, G. R., ROSENTHAL, A. & WINSLOW, J. W. 1990. Widespread expression of BDNF but not NT3 by target areas of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons. *Science*, 250, 290-294.
- PHILLIPS, M. L., ROBINSON, H. A. & POZZO-MILLER, L. 2019. Ventral hippocampal projections to the medial prefrontal cortex regulate social memory. *Elife*, 8, e44182.
- PICCIOTTO, M. R., CALDARONE, B. J., BRUNZELL, D. H., ZACHARIOU, V., STEVENS, T. R. & KING, S. L. 2001. Neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptor subunit knockout mice: physiological and behavioral phenotypes and possible clinical implications. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*, 92, 89-108.
- PICCIOTTO, M. R., HIGLEY, M. J. & MINEUR, Y. S. 2012. Acetylcholine as a neuromodulator: cholinergic signaling shapes nervous system function and behavior. *Neuron*, 76, 116-129.
- PICCIOTTO, M. R. & ZOLI, M. 2002. Nicotinic receptors in aging and dementia. *Journal of neurobiology*, 53, 641-655.
- PICK, A. 1892. Uber die Beziehungen der senilen Hirnatrophie zur Aphasie. *Prag Med Wochenschr,* 17, 165-167.

- PINI, L., PIEVANI, M., BOCCHETTA, M., ALTOMARE, D., BOSCO, P., CAVEDO, E., GALLUZZI, S., MARIZZONI, M. & FRISONI, G. B. 2016. Brain atrophy in Alzheimer's disease and aging. *Ageing research reviews*, 30, 25-48.
- PIORO, E. & CUELLO, A. 1990. Distribution of nerve growth factor receptor-like immunoreactivity in the adult rat central nervous system. Effect of colchicine and correlation with the cholinergic system—
 II. Brainstem, cerebellum and spinal cord. *Neuroscience*, 34, 89-110.
- PIOVESANA, R., SALAZAR INTRIAGO, M. S., DINI, L. & TATA, A. M. 2021. Cholinergic modulation of neuroinflammation: focus on α7 nicotinic receptor. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22, 4912.
- POIRIER, J. 2005. Apolipoprotein E, cholesterol transport and synthesis in sporadic Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 26, 355-361.
- POLA, R., FLEX, A., CIABURRI, M., ROVELLA, E., VALIANI, A., REALI, G., SILVERI, M. C. & BERNABEI, R. 2005. Responsiveness to cholinesterase inhibitors in Alzheimer's disease: a possible role for the 192 Q/R polymorphism of the PON-1 gene. *Neuroscience letters*, 382, 338-341.
- POO, M.-M. 2001. Neurotrophins as synaptic modulators. *Nature reviews neuroscience*, 2, 24-32.
- PORCHER, C., MEDINA, I. & GAIARSA, J.-L. 2018. Mechanism of BDNF modulation in GABAergic synaptic transmission in healthy and disease brains. *Frontiers in cellular neuroscience*, **12**, 273.
- POTTER, L. T., GLOVER, V. A. & SAELENS, J. K. 1968. Choline acetyltransferase from rat brain. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 243, 3864-3870.
- POTTER, P., GAUGHAN, C. & ASSOULINE, Y. 1999. Lesion of septal-hippocampal neurons with 192 IgGsaporin alters function of M1 muscarinic receptors. *Neuropharmacology*, 38, 579-586.
- POTTIER, C., HANNEQUIN, D., COUTANT, S., ROVELET-LECRUX, A., WALLON, D., ROUSSEAU, S., LEGALLIC, S., PAQUET, C., BOMBOIS, S. & PARIENTE, J. 2012. High frequency of potentially pathogenic SORL1 mutations in autosomal dominant early-onset Alzheimer disease. *Molecular psychiatry*, **17**, 875-879.
- POUSSET, F., CREMONA, S., DANTZER, R., KELLEY, K. & PARNET, P. 1999. Interleukin-4 and interleukin-10 regulate IL1-β induced mouse primary astrocyte activation: A comparative study. *Glia*, 26, 12-21.
- POWER, J. M. & SAH, P. 2008. Competition between calcium-activated K+ channels determines cholinergic action on firing properties of basolateral amygdala projection neurons. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 28, 3209-3220.
- POZZO-MILLER, L. D., GOTTSCHALK, W., ZHANG, L., MCDERMOTT, K., DU, J., GOPALAKRISHNAN, R., OHO, C., SHENG, Z.-H. & LU, B. 1999. Impairments in high-frequency transmission, synaptic vesicle docking, and synaptic protein distribution in the hippocampus of BDNF knockout mice. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 19, 4972-4983.
- PRASHER, V., FARRER, M. J., KESSLING, A. M., FISHER, E. M., WEST, R., BARBER, P. & BUTLER, A. 1998. Molecular mapping of Alzheimer-type dementia in Down's syndrome. *Annals of neurology*, 43, 380-383.
- PREZZAVENTO, O., CAMPISI, A., PARENTI, C., RONSISVALLE, S., ARICO, G., ARENA, E., PISTOLOZZI, M., SCOTO, G. M., BERTUCCI, C. & VANELLA, A. 2010. Synthesis and Resolution of cis-(±)-Methyl (1 R, 2 S/1 S, 2 R)-2-[(4-Hydroxy-4-phenylpiperidin-1-yl) methyl]-1-(4-methylphenyl) cyclopropanecarboxylate [(±)-PPCC)]: New σ Receptor Ligands with Neuroprotective Effect. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 53, 5881-5885.
- PRICE, J. & AMARAL, D. G. 1981. An autoradiographic study of the projections of the central nucleus of the monkey amygdala. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 1, 1242-1259.
- PRICKAERTS, J., VAN GOETHEM, N. P., CHESWORTH, R., SHAPIRO, G., BOESS, F. G., METHFESSEL, C., RENEERKENS, O. A., FLOOD, D. G., HILT, D. & GAWRYL, M. 2012. EVP-6124, a novel and selective α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor partial agonist, improves memory performance by

potentiating the acetylcholine response of α 7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors. *Neuropharmacology*, 62, 1099-1110.

- PRILLER, C., BAUER, T., MITTEREGGER, G., KREBS, B., KRETZSCHMAR, H. A. & HERMS, J. 2006. Synapse formation and function is modulated by the amyloid precursor protein. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 26, 7212-7221.
- PRIMO-PARMO, S., BARTELS, C., WIERSEMA, B., VAN DER SPEK, A., INNIS, J. & LA DU, B. 1996. Characterization of 12 silent alleles of the human butyrylcholinesterase (BCHE) gene. *American journal of human genetics*, 58, 52.
- PRINCE, M., GUERCHET, M. & PRINA, M. 2013. The global impact of dementia 2013-2050: Alzheimer's disease international. *Recuperado de <u>https://www</u>. researchgate. net/publication/259193075_The_Global_Impact_of_Dementia_2013-2050.*
- PROCTER, A., PALMER, A., FRANCIS, P., LOWE, S., NEARY, D., MURPHY, E., DOSHI, R. & BOWEN, D. 1988. Evidence of glutamatergic denervation and possible abnormal metabolism in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 50, 790-802.
- PROVIAS, J. & JEYNES, B. 2014. Reduction in vascular endothelial growth factor expression in the superior temporal, hippocampal, and brainstem regions in Alzheimer's disease. *Current neurovascular research*, 11, 202-209.
- QI, C.-C., WANG, Q.-J., MA, X.-Z., CHEN, H.-C., GAO, L.-P., YIN, J. & JING, Y.-H. 2018. Interaction of basolateral amygdala, ventral hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex regulates the consolidation and extinction of social fear. *Behavioral and Brain Functions*, 14, 1-13.
- RABIN, J. S., SCHULTZ, A. P., HEDDEN, T., VISWANATHAN, A., MARSHALL, G. A., KILPATRICK, E., KLEIN, H., BUCKLEY, R. F., YANG, H.-S. & PROPERZI, M. 2018. Interactive associations of vascular risk and βamyloid burden with cognitive decline in clinically normal elderly individuals: findings from the Harvard Aging Brain Study. JAMA neurology, 75, 1124-1131.
- RAFF, M. C., WHITMORE, A. V. & FINN, J. T. 2002. Axonal self-destruction and neurodegeneration. *Science*, 296, 868-871.
- RAFII, M. S., BAUMANN, T. L., BAKAY, R. A., OSTROVE, J. M., SIFFERT, J., FLEISHER, A. S., HERZOG, C. D., BARBA, D., PAY, M. & SALMON, D. P. 2014. A phase1 study of stereotactic gene delivery of AAV2-NGF for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 10, 571-581.
- RAFII, M. S., TUSZYNSKI, M. H., THOMAS, R. G., BARBA, D., BREWER, J. B., RISSMAN, R. A., SIFFERT, J., AISEN, P. S. & TEAM, A.-N. S. 2018. Adeno-associated viral vector (serotype 2)–nerve growth factor for patients with alzheimer disease: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA neurology*, 75, 834-841.
- RAJENDRAN, L., HONSHO, M., ZAHN, T. R., KELLER, P., GEIGER, K. D., VERKADE, P. & SIMONS, K. 2006. Alzheimer's disease β-amyloid peptides are released in association with exosomes. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences, 103, 11172-11177.
- RAJI, C. A., LOPEZ, O., KULLER, L., CARMICHAEL, O. & BECKER, J. 2009. Age, Alzheimer disease, and brain structure. *Neurology*, 73, 1899-1905.
- RANTAMÄKI, T., VESA, L., ANTILA, H., DI LIETO, A., TAMMELA, P., SCHMITT, A., LESCH, K.-P., RIOS, M. & CASTRÉN, E. 2011. Antidepressant drugs transactivate TrkB neurotrophin receptors in the adult rodent brain independently of BDNF and monoamine transporter blockade. *PloS one,* 6, e20567.
- RASKIND, M., PESKIND, E., WESSEL, T., YUAN, W. & GROUP, G. U.-S. 2000. Galantamine in AD: a 6-month randomized, placebo-controlled trial with a 6-month extension. *Neurology*, 54, 2261-2268.
- REALE, M. & COSTANTINI, E. 2021. Cholinergic modulation of the immune system in neuroinflammatory diseases. *Diseases*, 9, 29.
- REDLICH, E. 1898. Ueber miliare Sklerose der Hirnrinde bei seniler Atrophie. *Jahrb Psychiatr Neurol*, 17, 208-216.

- REINA, S., STERIN-BORDA, L., PASSAFARO, D. & BORDA, E. 2011. Anti-M3 muscarinic cholinergic autoantibodies from patients with primary Sjögren's syndrome trigger production of matrix metalloproteinase-3 (MMP-3) and prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) from the submandibular glands. *archives of oral biology*, 56, 413-420.
- REINSHAGEN, M., GEERLING, I., EYSSELEIN, V. E., ADLER, G., HUFF, K. R., MOORE, G. P. & LAKSHMANAN, J. 2000. Commercial Recombinant Human β-Nerve Growth Factor and Adult Rat Dorsal Root Ganglia Contain an Identical Molecular Species of Nerve Growth Factor Prohormone. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 74, 2127-2133.
- REISBERG, B. 1986. Dementia: a systematic approach to identifying reversible causes. *Geriatrics (Basel, Switzerland)*, 41, 30-46.
- REISBERG, B. & GAUTHIER, S. 2008. Current evidence for subjective cognitive impairment (SCI) as the premild cognitive impairment (MCI) stage of subsequently manifest Alzheimer's disease. *International psychogeriatrics*, 20, 1-16.
- REISBERG, B., PRICHEP, L., MOSCONI, L., JOHN, E. R., GLODZIK-SOBANSKA, L., BOKSAY, I., MONTEIRO, I., TOROSSIAN, C., VEDVYAS, A. & ASHRAF, N. 2008. The pre-mild cognitive impairment, subjective cognitive impairment stage of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, **4**, S98-S108.
- REITZ, C., CHENG, R., ROGAEVA, E., LEE, J. H., TOKUHIRO, S., ZOU, F., BETTENS, K., SLEEGERS, K., TAN, E. K.
 & KIMURA, R. 2011. Meta-analysis of the association between variants in SORL1 and Alzheimer disease. *Archives of neurology*, 68, 99-106.
- RELIGA, P., CAO, R., RELIGA, D., XUE, Y., BOGDANOVIC, N., WESTAWAY, D., MARTI, H. H., WINBLAD, B. & CAO, Y. 2013. VEGF significantly restores impaired memory behavior in Alzheimer's mice by improvement of vascular survival. *Scientific reports*, **3**, 1-9.
- REZVANI, A. H. & LEVIN, E. D. 2001. Cognitive effects of nicotine. *Biological psychiatry*, 49, 258-267.
- RIASCOS, D., NICHOLAS, A., SAMAEEKIA, R., YUKHANANOV, R., MESULAM, M.-M., BIGIO, E. H., WEINTRAUB, S., GUO, L. & GEULA, C. 2014. Alterations of Ca2+-responsive proteins within cholinergic neurons in aging and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 35, 1325-1333.
- RICHTER, J. A., PERRY, E. K. & TOMLINSON, B. E. 1980. Acetylcholine and choline levels in post-mortem human brain tissue: preliminary observations in Alzheimer's disease. *Life sciences*, 26, 1683-1689.
- RINNE, J. O., KAASINEN, V., JÄRVENPÄÄ, T., NÅGREN, K., ROIVAINEN, A., YU, M., OIKONEN, V. & KURKI, T. 2003. Brain acetylcholinesterase activity in mild cognitive impairment and early Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 74, 113-115.
- RISACHER, S. L., MCDONALD, B. C., TALLMAN, E. F., WEST, J. D., FARLOW, M. R., UNVERZAGT, F. W., GAO, S., BOUSTANI, M., CRANE, P. K. & PETERSEN, R. C. 2016. Association between anticholinergic medication use and cognition, brain metabolism, and brain atrophy in cognitively normal older adults. JAMA neurology, 73, 721-732.
- RISBROUGH, V., BONTEMPI, B. & MENZAGHI, F. 2002. Selective immunolesioning of the basal forebrain cholinergic neurons in rats: effect on attention using the 5-choice serial reaction time task. *Psychopharmacology*, 164, 71-81.
- ROBAKIS, N. K., RAMAKRISHNA, N., WOLFE, G. & WISNIEWSKI, H. M. 1987a. Molecular cloning and characterization of a cDNA encoding the cerebrovascular and the neuritic plaque amyloid peptides. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 84, 4190-4194.
- ROBAKIS, N. K., WISNIEWSKI, H. M., JENKINS, E. C., DEVINE-GAGE, E. A., HOUCK, G. E., YAO, X. L., RAMAKRISHNA, N., WOLFE, G., SILVERMAN, W. P. & BROWN, W. T. 1987b. Chromosome 21q21 sublocalisation of gene encoding beta-amyloid peptide in cerebral vessels and neuritic (senile) plaques of people with Alzheimer disease and Down syndrome. *The Lancet*, 329, 384-385.
- ROBBINS, T. 2002. The 5-choice serial reaction time task: behavioural pharmacology and functional neurochemistry. *Psychopharmacology*, 163, 362-380.

- ROBBINS, T., EVERITT, B., MARSTON, H., WILKINSON, J., JONES, G. & PAGE, K. 1989. Comparative effects of ibotenic acid-and quisqualic acid-induced lesions of the substantia innominata on attentional function in the rat: further implications for the role of the cholinergic neurons of the nucleus basalis in cognitive processes. *Behavioural brain research*, 35, 221-240.
- ROBERTSON, I. H., MANLY, T., ANDRADE, J., BADDELEY, B. T. & YIEND, J. 1997. Oops!': performance correlates of everyday attentional failures in traumatic brain injured and normal subjects. *Neuropsychologia*, 35, 747-758.
- ROBSON, M. J., TURNER, R. C., NASER, Z. J., MCCURDY, C. R., O'CALLAGHAN, J. P., HUBER, J. D. & MATSUMOTO, R. R. 2014. SN79, a sigma receptor antagonist, attenuates methamphetamineinduced astrogliosis through a blockade of OSMR/gp130 signaling and STAT3 phosphorylation. *Experimental neurology*, 254, 180-189.
- ROGAEVA, E., MENG, Y., LEE, J. H., GU, Y., KAWARAI, T., ZOU, F., KATAYAMA, T., BALDWIN, C. T., CHENG, R. & HASEGAWA, H. 2007. The neuronal sortilin-related receptor SORL1 is genetically associated with Alzheimer disease. *Nature genetics*, 39, 168-177.
- ROGERS, J. 2018. Principles for central nervous system inflammation research: a call for a consortium approach. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 14, 1553-1559.
- ROGERS, J., KIRBY, L., HEMPELMAN, S., BERRY, D., MCGEER, P., KASZNIAK, A., ZALINSKI, J., COFIELD, M., MANSUKHANI, L. & WILLSON, P. 1993. Clinical trial of indomethacin in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 43, 1609-1609.
- ROGERS, J. T., LEITER, L. M., MCPHEE, J., CAHILL, C. M., ZHAN, S.-S., POTTER, H. & NILSSON, L. N. 1999. Translation of the Alzheimer amyloid precursor protein mRNA is up-regulated by interleukin-1 through 5'-untranslated region sequences. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 274, 6421-6431.
- ROGERS, S. L. & FRIEDHOFF, L. T. 1996. The efficacy and safety of donepezil in patients with Alzheimer's disease: results of a US multicentre, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 7, 293-303.
- ROGHANI, A., FELDMAN, J., KOHAN, S. A., SHIRZADI, A., GUNDERSEN, C. B., BRECHA, N. & EDWARDS, R. H. 1994. Molecular cloning of a putative vesicular transporter for acetylcholine. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91, 10620-10624.
- ROMÁN, G. C. 2005. Cholinergic dysfunction in vascular dementia. *Current Psychiatry Reports*, 7, 18-26.
- ROMÁN, G. C. & KALARIA, R. N. 2006. Vascular determinants of cholinergic deficits in Alzheimer disease and vascular dementia. *Neurobiology of aging*, 27, 1769-1785.
- ROSENBLUM, W. I. 1997. Selective impairment of response to acetylcholine after ischemia/reperfusion in mice. *Stroke*, 28, 448-452.
- ROSSI, C., ANGELUCCI, A., COSTANTIN, L., BRASCHI, C., MAZZANTINI, M., BABBINI, F., FABBRI, M. E., TESSAROLLO, L., MAFFEI, L., BERARDI, N. & CALEO, M. 2006. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) is required for the enhancement of hippocampal neurogenesis following environmental enrichment. *european journal of neuroscience*, 24, 1850-1856.
- ROSSOR, M., GARRETT, N., JOHNSON, A., MOUNTJOY, C., ROTH, M. & IVERSEN, L. 1982. A post-mortem study of the cholinergic and GABA systems in senile dementia. *Brain: a journal of neurology*, 105, 313-330.
- ROTENBERG, S., MAEIR, A. & DAWSON, D. R. 2020. Changes in activity participation among older adults with subjective cognitive decline or objective cognitive deficits. *Frontiers in Neurology*, **10**, 1393.
- ROUACH, N., KOULAKOFF, A., ABUDARA, V., WILLECKE, K. & GIAUME, C. 2008. Astroglial metabolic networks sustain hippocampal synaptic transmission. *science*, 322, 1551-1555.
- ROUX, P. P. & BARKER, P. A. 2002. Neurotrophin signaling through the p75 neurotrophin receptor. *Progress in neurobiology*, 67, 203-233.
- ROVELET-LECRUX, A., HANNEQUIN, D., RAUX, G., MEUR, N. L., LAQUERRIÈRE, A., VITAL, A., DUMANCHIN, C., FEUILLETTE, S., BRICE, A. & VERCELLETTO, M. 2006. APP locus duplication causes autosomal

dominant early-onset Alzheimer disease with cerebral amyloid angiopathy. *Nature genetics,* 38, 24-26.

- ROBNER, S., SCHLIEBS, R., HÄRTIG, W. & BIGL, V. 1995. 1921gG-saporin-induced selective lesion of cholinergic basal forebrain system: neurochemical effects on cholinergic neurotransmission in rat cerebral cortex and hippocampus. *Brain research bulletin*, 38, 371-381.
- RUHRBERG, C., GERHARDT, H., GOLDING, M., WATSON, R., IOANNIDOU, S., FUJISAWA, H., BETSHOLTZ, C.
 & SHIMA, D. T. 2002. Spatially restricted patterning cues provided by heparin-binding VEGF-A control blood vessel branching morphogenesis. *Genes & development*, 16, 2684-2698.
- RUIZ DE ALMODOVAR, C., LAMBRECHTS, D., MAZZONE, M. & CARMELIET, P. 2009. Role and therapeutic potential of VEGF in the nervous system. *Physiological reviews*, 89, 607-648.
- RUPSINGH, R., BORRIE, M., SMITH, M., WELLS, J. & BARTHA, R. 2011. Reduced hippocampal glutamate in Alzheimer disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 32, 802-810.
- RUSCHER, K., SHAMLOO, M., RICKHAG, M., LADUNGA, I., SORIANO, L., GISSELSSON, L., TORESSON, H., RUSLIM-LITRUS, L., OKSENBERG, D. & URFER, R. 2011. The sigma-1 receptor enhances brain plasticity and functional recovery after experimental stroke. *Brain*, 134, 732-746.
- RYE, D., WAINER, B., MESULAM, M.-M., MUFSON, E. & SAPER, C. 1984. Cortical projections arising from the basal forebrain: a study of cholinergic and noncholinergic components employing combined retrograde tracing and immunohistochemical localization of choline acetyltransferase. *Neuroscience*, 13, 627-643.
- SABINO, V., COTTONE, P., PARYLAK, S. L., STEARDO, L. & ZORRILLA, E. P. 2009. Sigma-1 receptor knockout mice display a depressive-like phenotype. *Behavioural brain research*, 198, 472-476.
- SADOT, E., GURWITZ, D., BARG, J., BEHAR, L., GINZBURG, I. & FISHER, A. 1996a. Activation of m1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor regulates τ phosphorylation in transfected PC12 cells. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 66, 877-880.
- SADOT, E., HEICKLEN-KLEIN, A., BARG, J., LAZAROVICI, P. & GINZBURG, I. 1996b. Identification of a tau promoter region mediating tissue-specific-regulated expression in PC12 cells. Academic Press.
- SAKATA, K., WOO, N. H., MARTINOWICH, K., GREENE, J. S., SCHLOESSER, R. J., SHEN, L. & LU, B. 2009. Critical role of promoter IV-driven BDNF transcription in GABAergic transmission and synaptic plasticity in the prefrontal cortex. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106, 5942-7.
- SALEHI, A., DELCROIX, J.-D., BELICHENKO, P. V., ZHAN, K., WU, C., VALLETTA, J. S., TAKIMOTO-KIMURA, R., KLESCHEVNIKOV, A. M., SAMBAMURTI, K. & CHUNG, P. P. 2006. Increased App expression in a mouse model of Down's syndrome disrupts NGF transport and causes cholinergic neuron degeneration. *Neuron*, 51, 29-42.
- SALGADO, H., BELLAY, T., NICHOLS, J. A., BOSE, M., MARTINOLICH, L., PERROTTI, L. & ATZORI, M. 2007. Muscarinic M2 and M1 receptors reduce GABA release by Ca2+ channel modulation through activation of PI3K/Ca2+-independent and PLC/Ca2+-dependent PKC. *Journal of neurophysiology*, 98, 952-965.
- SANCHEZ-HUERTAS, C. & RICO, B. 2011. CREB-dependent regulation of GAD65 transcription by BDNF/TrkB in cortical interneurons. *Cerebral Cortex*, 21, 777-788.
- SAPER, C. & CHELIMSKY, T. 1984. A cytoarchitectonic and histochemical study of nucleus basalis and associated cell groups in the normal human brain. *Neuroscience*, 13, 1023-1037.
- SARA, S. J. 2009. The locus coeruleus and noradrenergic modulation of cognition. *Nature reviews neuroscience*, 10, 211-223.
- SARTER, M., GIVENS, B. & BRUNO, J. P. 2001. The cognitive neuroscience of sustained attention: where top-down meets bottom-up. *Brain research reviews*, 35, 146-160.
- SARTER, M., PARIKH, V. & HOWE, W. M. 2009. Phasic acetylcholine release and the volume transmission hypothesis: time to move on. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 10, 383-390.

- SASAKI, H., MURAMOTO, O., KANAZAWA, I., ARAI, H., KOSAKA, K. & IIZUKA, R. 1986. Regional distribution of amino acid transmitters in postmortem brains of presenile and senile dementia of Alzheimer type. *Annals of neurology*, **19**, 263-269.
- SATO, A., SATO, Y. & UCHIDA, S. 2002. Regulation of cerebral cortical blood flow by the basal forebrain cholinergic fibers and aging. *Autonomic Neuroscience*, 96, 13-19.
- SAUNDERS, A., GRANGER, A. J. & SABATINI, B. L. 2015. Corelease of acetylcholine and GABA from cholinergic forebrain neurons. *Elife*, 4, e06412.
- SAUNDERS, N. L. & SUMMERS, M. J. 2011. Longitudinal deficits to attention, executive, and working memory in subtypes of mild cognitive impairment. *Neuropsychology*, 25, 237.
- SAVASKAN, E., MÜLLER-SPAHN, F., OLIVIERI, G., BRUTTEL, S., OTTEN, U., ROSENBERG, C., HULETTE, C. & HOCK, C. 2000. Alterations in trk A, trk B and trk C receptor immunoreactivities in parietal cortex and cerebellum in Alzheimer's disease. *European neurology*, 44, 172-180.
- SCHAEFFER, S. & IADECOLA, C. 2021. Revisiting the neurovascular unit. *Nature Neuroscience*, 24, 1198-1209.
- SCHARF, S., MANDER, A., UGONI, A., VAJDA, F. & CHRISTOPHIDIS, N. 1999. A double-blind, placebocontrolled trial of diclofenac/misoprostol in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurology*, 53, 197-197.
- SCHEFF, S., SPARKS, D. L. & PRICE, D. 1996. Quantitative assessment of synaptic density in the outer molecular layer of the hippocampal dentate gyrus in Alzheimer's disease. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders*, 7, 226-232.
- SCHEFF, S. W., ANSARI, M. A. & MUFSON, E. J. 2016. Oxidative stress and hippocampal synaptic protein levels in elderly cognitively intact individuals with Alzheimer's disease pathology. *Neurobiology of* aging, 42, 1-12.
- SCHEFF, S. W., DEKOSKY, S. T. & PRICE, D. A. 1990. Quantitative assessment of cortical synaptic density in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 11, 29-37.
- SCHEFF, S. W. & PRICE, D. A. 1993. Synapse loss in the temporal lobe in Alzheimer's disease. Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society, 33, 190-199.
- SCHEFF, S. W., PRICE, D. A., SCHMITT, F. A., DEKOSKY, S. & MUFSON, E. J. 2007. Synaptic alterations in CA1 in mild Alzheimer disease and mild cognitive impairment. *Neurology*, 68, 1501-1508.
- SCHEFF, S. W., SPARKS, D. L. & PRICE, D. A. 1993. Quantitative assessment of synaptic density in the entorhinal cortex in Alzheimer's disease. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 34, 356-361.
- SCHLIEBS, R. & ARENDT, T. 2011. The cholinergic system in aging and neuronal degeneration. *Behavioural* brain research, 221, 555-563.
- SCHMITZ, T. W., MUR, M., AGHOURIAN, M., BEDARD, M.-A., SPRENG, R. N. & INITIATIVE, A. S. D. N. 2018. Longitudinal Alzheimer's degeneration reflects the spatial topography of cholinergic basal forebrain projections. *Cell reports*, 24, 38-46.
- SCHMITZ, T. W., SOREQ, H., POIRIER, J. & SPRENG, R. N. 2020. Longitudinal basal forebrain degeneration interacts with trem2/c3 biomarkers of inflammation in presymptomatic Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 40, 1931-1942.
- SCHMITZ, T. W., SPRENG, R. N., WEINER, M. W., AISEN, P., PETERSEN, R., JACK, C. R., JAGUST, W., TROJANOWKI, J. Q., TOGA, A. W. & BECKETT, L. 2016. Basal forebrain degeneration precedes and predicts the cortical spread of Alzheimer's pathology. *Nature communications*, 7, 13249
- SCHRATTENHOLZ, A., PEREIRA, E., ROTH, U., WEBER, K.-H., ALBUQUERQUE, E. X. & MAELICKE, A. 1996. Agonist responses of neuronal nicotinic acetylcholine receptors are potentiated by a novel class of allosterically acting ligands. *Molecular pharmacology*, 49, 1-6.
- SCHWARZ, L. A. & LUO, L. 2015. Organization of the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system. *Current Biology*, 25, R1051-R1056.

- SCOTT, S. A., MUFSON, E. J., WEINGARTNER, J. A., SKAU, K. A. & CRUTCHER, K. A. 1995. Nerve growth factor in Alzheimer's disease: increased levels throughout the brain coupled with declines in nucleus basalis. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 15, 6213-6221.
- SCOVILLE, W. B. & MILNER, B. 1957. Loss of recent memory after bilateral hippocampal lesions. *Journal of neurology, neurosurgery, and psychiatry,* 20, 11.
- SECOMB, T. W. 2008. Theoretical models for regulation of blood flow. *Microcirculation*, 15, 765-775.
- SEEGER, G., HÄRTIG, W., ROßNER, S., SCHLIEBS, R., BRÜCKNER, G., BIGL, V. & BRAUER, K. 1997. Electron microscopic evidence for microglial phagocytic activity and cholinergic cell death after administration of the immunotoxin 192IgG-saporin in rat. *Journal of neuroscience research*, 48, 465-476.
- SEEGER, T., FEDOROVA, I., ZHENG, F., MIYAKAWA, T., KOUSTOVA, E., GOMEZA, J., BASILE, A. S., ALZHEIMER, C. & WESS, J. 2004. M2 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knock-out mice show deficits in behavioral flexibility, working memory, and hippocampal plasticity. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 24, 10117-10127.
- SEEMAN, T. E., MILLER-MARTINEZ, D. M., STEIN MERKIN, S., LACHMAN, M. E., TUN, P. A. & KARLAMANGLA, A. S. 2011. Histories of social engagement and adult cognition: Midlife in the US study. *Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences*, 66, i141-i152.
- SEIDAH, N. G., BENJANNET, S., PAREEK, S., CHRETIEN, M. & MURPHY, R. A. 1996a. Cellular processing of the neurotrophin precursors of NT3 and BDNF by the mammalian proprotein convertases. *FEBS Lett*, 379, 247-50.
- SEIDAH, N. G., BENJANNET, S., PAREEK, S., SAVARIA, D., HAMELIN, J., GOULET, B., LALIBERTÉ, J., LAZURE, C., CHRÉTIEN, M. & MURPHY, R. A. 1996b. Cellular processing of the nerve growth factor precursor by the mammalian pro-protein convertases. *Biochemical Journal*, 314, 951-960.
- SELBY, M. J., EDWARDS, R., SHARP, F. & RUTTER, W. 1987. Mouse nerve growth factor gene: structure and expression. *Molecular and cellular biology*, **7**, 3057-3064.
- SELKOE, D. J. & HARDY, J. 2016. The amyloid hypothesis of Alzheimer's disease at 25 years. *EMBO* molecular medicine, 8, 595-608.
- SENDA, T., MATSUNO, K., KOBAYASHI, T. & MITA, S. 1997. Reduction of the scopolamine-induced impairment of passive-avoidance performance by σ receptor agonist in mice. *Physiology & behavior*, 61, 257-264.
- SENDA, T., MATSUNO, K., OKAMOTO, K., KOBAYASHI, T., NAKATA, K. & MITA, S. 1996. Ameliorating effect of SA4503, a novel σ1 receptor agonist, on memory impairments induced by cholinergic dysfunction in rats. *European journal of pharmacology*, 315, 1-10.
- SENGER, D. R., GALLI, S. J., DVORAK, A. M., PERRUZZI, C. A., HARVEY, V. S. & DVORAK, H. F. 1983. Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science*, 219, 983-985.
- SERRANO-POZO, A., FROSCH, M. P., MASLIAH, E. & HYMAN, B. T. 2011. Neuropathological alterations in Alzheimer disease. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*, **1**, a006189.
- SERRANO-POZO, A., GÓMEZ-ISLA, T., GROWDON, J. H., FROSCH, M. P. & HYMAN, B. T. 2013. A phenotypic change but not proliferation underlies glial responses in Alzheimer disease. *The American journal of pathology*, 182, 2332-2344.
- SHEKARI, A. & FAHNESTOCK, M. 2019. Retrograde axonal transport of BDNF and proNGF diminishes with age in basal forebrain cholinergic neurons. *Neurobiology of aging*, 84, 131-140.
- SHELTON, S. B. & JOHNSON, G. V. 2001. Tau and HMW tau phosphorylation and compartmentalization in apoptotic neuronal PC12 cells. *Journal of neuroscience research*, 66, 203-213.
- SHEN, J., BARNES, C. A., WENK, G. L. & MCNAUGHTON, B. L. 1996. Differential effects of selective immunotoxic lesions of medial septal cholinergic cells on spatial working and reference memory. *Behavioral neuroscience*, 110, 1181.

- SHEN, L.-L., MANUCAT-TAN, N. B., GAO, S.-H., LI, W.-W., ZENG, F., ZHU, C., WANG, J., BU, X.-L., LIU, Y.-H.
 & GAO, C.-Y. 2018. The ProNGF/p75NTR pathway induces tau pathology and is a therapeutic target for FTLD-tau. *Molecular psychiatry*, 23, 1813-1824.
- SHI, F., LIU, B., ZHOU, Y., YU, C. & JIANG, T. 2009. Hippocampal volume and asymmetry in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: Meta-analyses of MRI studies. Wiley Online Library.
- SHIEH, P. B. & GHOSH, A. 1999. Molecular mechanisms underlying activity-dependent regulation of BDNF expression. *Journal of neurobiology*, 41, 127-134.
- SHIMIZU, E., KAWAHARA, K., KAJIZONO, M., SAWADA, M. & NAKAYAMA, H. 2008. IL-4-induced selective clearance of oligomeric β-amyloid peptide1–42 by rat primary type 2 microglia. *The Journal of Immunology*, 181, 6503-6513.
- SHINOTOH, H., NAMBA, H., FUKUSHI, K., NAGATSUKA, S. I., TANAKA, N., AOTSUKA, A., OTA, T., TANADA, S. & IRIE, T. 2000. Progressive loss of cortical acetylcholinesterase activity in association with cognitive decline in Alzheimer's disease: a positron emission tomography study. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 48, 194-200.
- SHIOZAKI, K., ISEKI, E., HINO, H. & KOSAKA, K. 2001. Distribution of m1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptors in the hippocampus of patients with Alzheimer's disease and dementia with Lewy bodies—An immunohistochemical study. *Journal of the neurological sciences*, 193, 23-28.
- SHIOZAKI, K., ISEKI, E., UCHIYAMA, H., WATANABE, Y., HAGA, T., KAMEYAMA, K., IKEDA, T., YAMAMOTO, T. & KOSAKA, K. 1999. Alterations of muscarinic acetylcholine receptor subtypes in diffuse Lewy body disease: relation to Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 67, 209-213.
- SHIREY, J. K., BRADY, A. E., JONES, P. J., DAVIS, A. A., BRIDGES, T. M., KENNEDY, J. P., JADHAV, S. B., MENON, U. N., XIANG, Z. & WATSON, M. L. 2009. A selective allosteric potentiator of the M1 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor increases activity of medial prefrontal cortical neurons and restores impairments in reversal learning. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 29, 14271-14286.
- SIMARD, A. R., SOULET, D., GOWING, G., JULIEN, J.-P. & RIVEST, S. 2006. Bone marrow-derived microglia play a critical role in restricting senile plaque formation in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuron*, 49, 489-502.
- ŠIMIĆ, G., LEKO, M. B., WRAY, S., HARRINGTON, C. R., DELALLE, I., JOVANOV-MILOŠEVIĆ, N., BAŽADONA, D., BUÉE, L., DE SILVA, R. & DI GIOVANNI, G. 2017. Monoaminergic neuropathology in Alzheimer's disease. *Progress in neurobiology*, 151, 101-138.
- SIMPSON, M., CROSS, A., SLATER, P. & DEAKIN, J. 1988. Loss of cortical GABA uptake sites in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of neural transmission*, 71, 219-226.
- SKOOG, I., DAVIDSSON, P., AEVARSSON, O., VANDERSTICHELE, H., VANMECHELEN, E. & BLENNOW, K. 2003. Cerebrospinal fluid beta-amyloid 42 is reduced before the onset of sporadic dementia: a population-based study in 85-year-olds. *Dementia and geriatric cognitive disorders*, 15, 169-176.
- SMILEY, J., LEVEY, A. & MESULAM, M.-M. 1999. m2 muscarinic receptor immunolocalization in cholinergic cells of the monkey basal forebrain and striatum. *Neuroscience*, 90, 803-814.
- SMILEY, J. & MESULAM, M.-M. 1999. Cholinergic neurons of the nucleus basalis of Meynert receive cholinergic, catecholaminergic and GABAergic synapses: an electron microscopic investigation in the monkey. *Neuroscience*, 88, 241-255.
- SMITH, A. J., FARMER, R., PILARZYK, K., PORCHER, L. & KELLY, M. P. 2021. A genetic basis for friendship? Homophily for membrane-associated PDE11A-cAMP-CREB signaling in CA1 of hippocampus dictates mutual social preference in male and female mice. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 26, 7107-7117.
- SMITH, G. 1988. Animal models of Alzheimer's disease: experimental cholinergic denervation. *Brain Research Reviews*, 13, 103-118.

- SNOWDEN, J. S., NEARY, D. & MANN, D. M. 2002. Frontotemporal dementia. *The British journal of psychiatry*, 180, 140-143.
- SNYDER, P. J., LIM, Y. Y., SCHINDLER, R., OTT, B. R., SALLOWAY, S., DAIELLO, L., GETTER, C., GORDON, C.
 M. & MARUFF, P. 2014. Microdosing of scopolamine as a "cognitive stress test": rationale and test of a very low dose in an at-risk cohort of older adults. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 10, 262-267.
- SOBREVIELA, T., CLARY, D. O., REICHARDT, L. F., BRANDABUR, M. M., KORDOWER, J. H. & MUFSON, E. J. 1994. TrkA-immunoreactive profiles in the central nervous system: colocalization with neurons containing p75 nerve growth factor receptor, choline acetyltransferase, and serotonin. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 350, 587-611.
- SOFRONIEW, M., PEARSON, R., ECKENSTEIN, F., CUELLO, A. & POWELL, T. 1983. Retrograde changes in cholinergic neurons in the basal forebrain of the rat following cortical damage. *Brain research*, 289, 370-374.
- SOFRONIEW, M. V. 2015. Astrocyte barriers to neurotoxic inflammation. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, 16, 249-263.
- SOFRONIEW, M. V., GALLETLY, N. P., ISACSON, O. & SVENDSEN, C. N. 1990. Survival of adult basal forebrain cholinergic neurons after loss of target neurons. *Science*, 247, 338-42.
- SPERLING, R., MORMINO, E. & JOHNSON, K. 2014. The evolution of preclinical Alzheimer's disease: implications for prevention trials. *Neuron*, 84, 608-622.
- SPERLING, R. A., AISEN, P. S., BECKETT, L. A., BENNETT, D. A., CRAFT, S., FAGAN, A. M., IWATSUBO, T., JACK JR, C. R., KAYE, J. & MONTINE, T. J. 2011. Toward defining the preclinical stages of Alzheimer's disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association workgroups on diagnostic guidelines for Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & dementia*, 7, 280-292.
- SPUCH, C., ANTEQUERA, D., PORTERO, A., ORIVE, G., HERNÁNDEZ, R. M., MOLINA, J. A., BERMEJO-PAREJA, F., PEDRAZ, J. L. & CARRO, E. 2010. The effect of encapsulated VEGF-secreting cells on brain amyloid load and behavioral impairment in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Biomaterials*, 31, 5608-5618.
- STEFANOVIC, B., HUTCHINSON, E., YAKOVLEVA, V., SCHRAM, V., RUSSELL, J. T., BELLUSCIO, L., KORETSKY, A. P. & SILVA, A. C. 2008. Functional reactivity of cerebral capillaries. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 28, 961-972.
- STELZMANN, R. A., NORMAN SCHNITZLEIN, H. & REED MURTAGH, F. 1995. An english translation of alzheimer's 1907 paper, "über eine eigenartige erkankung der hirnrinde". *Clinical Anatomy: The Official Journal of the American Association of Clinical Anatomists and the British Association of Clinical Anatomists*, 8, 429-431.
- STERIADE, M. & DESCARRIES, L. 2006. Cholinergic modulation of cortical activity. *The brain cholinergic system in health and disease. Abingdon, UK: Informa Healthcare*, 191-207.
- STORKEBAUM, E. & CARMELIET, P. 2004. VEGF: a critical player in neurodegeneration. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, 113, 14-18.
- STRAUSS, S., BAUER, J., GANTER, U., JONAS, U., BERGER, M. & VOLK, B. 1992. Detection of interleukin-6 and alpha 2-macroglobulin immunoreactivity in cortex and hippocampus of Alzheimer's disease patients. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology,* 66, 223-230.
- STRLE, K., ZHOU, J.-H., SHEN, W.-H., BROUSSARD, S. R., JOHNSON, R. W., FREUND, G. G., DANTZER, R. & KELLEY, K. W. 2001. Interleukin-10 in the Brain. *Critical Reviews™ in Immunology*, 21.
- STRUBLE, R. G., LEHMANN, J., MITCHELL, S. J., MCKINNEY, M., PRICE, D. L., COYLE, J. T. & DELONG, M. R. 1986. Basal forebrain neurons provide major cholinergic innervation of primate neocortex. *Neuroscience letters*, 66, 215-220.
- SU, T.-P., HAYASHI, T., MAURICE, T., BUCH, S. & RUOHO, A. E. 2010. The sigma-1 receptor chaperone as an inter-organelle signaling modulator. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*, 31, 557-566.

- SU, T.-P., LONDON, E. D. & JAFFE, J. H. 1988. Steroid binding at σ receptors suggests a link between endocrine, nervous, and immune systems. *Science*, 240, 219-221.
- SUGIMOTO, H., IIMURA, Y., YAMANISHI, Y. & YAMATSU, K. 1995. Synthesis and structure-activity relationships of acetylcholinesterase inhibitors: 1-benzyl-4-[(5, 6-dimethoxy-1-oxoindan-2-yl) methyl] piperidine hydrochloride and related compounds. *Journal of medicinal chemistry*, 38, 4821-4829.
- SUGISAKI, E., FUKUSHIMA, Y., TSUKADA, M. & AIHARA, T. 2011. Cholinergic modulation on spike timingdependent plasticity in hippocampal CA1 network. *Neuroscience*, 192, 91-101.
- SUMMERS, W. K., MAJOVSKI, L. V., MARSH, G. M., TACHIKI, K. & KLING, A. 1986. Oral tetrahydroaminoacridine in long-term treatment of senile dementia, Alzheimer type. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 315, 1241-1245.
- SURI, S., MACKAY, C. E., KELLY, M. E., GERMUSKA, M., TUNBRIDGE, E. M., FRISONI, G. B., MATTHEWS, P.
 M., EBMEIER, K. P., BULTE, D. P. & FILIPPINI, N. 2015. Reduced cerebrovascular reactivity in young adults carrying the APOE ε4 allele. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 11, 648-657. e1.
- SUTER, U., HEYMACH JR, J. V. & SHOOTER, E. M. 1991. Two conserved domains in the NGF propeptide are necessary and sufficient for the biosynthesis of correctly processed and biologically active NGF. *The EMBO journal,* 10, 2395-2400.
- SWANSON, L. 1978. The anatomical organization of septo-hippocampal projections. *Functions of the septo-hippocampal system*, 58, 225-248.
- SWEENEY, M. D., MONTAGNE, A., SAGARE, A. P., NATION, D. A., SCHNEIDER, L. S., CHUI, H. C., HARRINGTON, M. G., PA, J., LAW, M. & WANG, D. J. 2019. Vascular dysfunction—the disregarded partner of Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 15, 158-167.
- SWEENEY, M. D., SAGARE, A. P. & ZLOKOVIC, B. V. 2015. Cerebrospinal fluid biomarkers of neurovascular dysfunction in mild dementia and Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism*, 35, 1055-1068.
- SZALAY, G., MARTINECZ, B., LÉNÁRT, N., KÖRNYEI, Z., ORSOLITS, B., JUDÁK, L., CSÁSZÁR, E., FEKETE, R., WEST, B. L. & KATONA, G. 2016. Microglia protect against brain injury and their selective elimination dysregulates neuronal network activity after stroke. *Nature communications*, **7**, **1**-13.
- SZCZEPANIK, A. M., FUNES, S., PETKO, W. & RINGHEIM, G. E. 2001. IL-4, IL-10 and IL-13 modulate Aβ (1– 42)-induced cytokine and chemokine production in primary murine microglia and a human monocyte cell line. *Journal of neuroimmunology*, 113, 49-62.
- SZEKELY, C. A., THORNE, J. E., ZANDI, P. P., EK, M., MESSIAS, E., BREITNER, J. C. & GOODMAN, S. N. 2004. Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs for the prevention of Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review. *Neuroepidemiology*, 23, 159-169.
- SZUHANY, K. L., BUGATTI, M. & OTTO, M. W. 2015. A meta-analytic review of the effects of exercise on brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Journal of psychiatric research*, 60, 56-64.
- TAKAHASHI, R. H., MILNER, T. A., LI, F., NAM, E. E., EDGAR, M. A., YAMAGUCHI, H., BEAL, M. F., XU, H., GREENGARD, P. & GOURAS, G. K. 2002. Intraneuronal Alzheimer Aβ42 accumulates in multivesicular bodies and is associated with synaptic pathology. *The American journal of pathology*, 161, 1869-1879.
- TANZI, R. E., GUSELLA, J. F., WATKINS, P. C., BRUNS, G. A., ST GEORGE-HYSLOP, P., VAN KEUREN, M. L., PATTERSON, D., PAGAN, S., KURNIT, D. M. & NEVE, R. L. 1987. Amyloid β protein gene: cDNA, mRNA distribution, and genetic linkage near the Alzheimer locus. *Science*, 235, 880-884.
- TAPIOLA, T., ALAFUZOFF, I., HERUKKA, S.-K., PARKKINEN, L., HARTIKAINEN, P., SOININEN, H. & PIRTTILÄ,
 T. 2009. Cerebrospinal fluid β-amyloid 42 and tau proteins as biomarkers of Alzheimer-type pathologic changes in the brain. *Archives of neurology*, 66, 382-389.

- TARKOWSKI, E., ISSA, R., SJÖGREN, M., WALLIN, A., BLENNOW, K., TARKOWSKI, A. & KUMAR, P. 2002. Increased intrathecal levels of the angiogenic factors VEGF and TGF-β in Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. *Neurobiology of aging*, 23, 237-243.
- TARTAGLIA, N., DU, J., TYLER, W. J., NEALE, E., POZZO-MILLER, L. & LU, B. 2001. Protein synthesisdependent and-independent regulation of hippocampal synapses by brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 276, 37585-37593.
- TEIPEL, S., HEINSEN, H., AMARO JR, E., GRINBERG, L. T., KRAUSE, B., GROTHE, M. & INITIATIVE, A. S. D. N. 2014. Cholinergic basal forebrain atrophy predicts amyloid burden in Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 35, 482-491.
- TEIPEL, S. J., MEINDL, T., GRINBERG, L., GROTHE, M., CANTERO, J. L., REISER, M. F., MOLLER, H. J., HEINSEN,
 H. & HAMPEL, H. 2011. The cholinergic system in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: an in vivo MRI and DTI study. *Hum Brain Mapp*, 32, 1349-62.
- TENG, H. K., TENG, K. K., LEE, R., WRIGHT, S., TEVAR, S., ALMEIDA, R. D., KERMANI, P., TORKIN, R., CHEN, Z.-Y. & LEE, F. S. 2005. ProBDNF induces neuronal apoptosis via activation of a receptor complex of p75NTR and sortilin. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 25, 5455-5463.
- TERRY, R. D. & DAVIES, P. 1980. Dementia of the Alzheimer type. *Annual review of neuroscience*, 3, 77-95.
- TERRY, R. D., GONATAS, N. K. & WEISS, M. 1964. Ultrastructural studies in Alzheimer's presenile dementia. *The American journal of pathology*, 44, 269.
- TERRY, R. D., MASLIAH, E., SALMON, D. P., BUTTERS, N., DETERESA, R., HILL, R., HANSEN, L. A. & KATZMAN, R. 1991. Physical basis of cognitive alterations in Alzheimer's disease: synapse loss is the major correlate of cognitive impairment. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 30, 572-580.
- THAL, D. R., RÜB, U., ORANTES, M. & BRAAK, H. 2002. Phases of Aβ-deposition in the human brain and its relevance for the development of AD. *Neurology*, 58, 1791-1800.
- THEOFILAS, P., EHRENBERG, A. J., DUNLOP, S., ALHO, A. T. D. L., NGUY, A., LEITE, R. E. P., RODRIGUEZ, R. D., MEJIA, M. B., SUEMOTO, C. K. & FERRETTI-REBUSTINI, R. E. D. L. 2017. Locus coeruleus volume and cell population changes during Alzheimer's disease progression: a stereological study in human postmortem brains with potential implication for early-stage biomarker discovery. *Alzheimer's & dementia*, 13, 236-246.
- THÉRIAULT, P., ELALI, A. & RIVEST, S. 2015. The dynamics of monocytes and microglia in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's research & therapy*, **7**, 1-10.
- THOMPSON, C. L., HENRY, J. D., RENDELL, P. G., WITHALL, A. & BRODATY, H. 2015. How valid are subjective ratings of prospective memory in mild cognitive impairment and early dementia? *Gerontology*, 61, 251-257.
- THOMSEN, M. S., HANSEN, H. H., TIMMERMAN, M. B. & MIKKELSEN, J. D. 2010. Cognitive improvement by activation of α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptors: from animal models to human pathophysiology. *Current pharmaceutical design*, 16, 323-343.
- TIERNAN, C. T., COMBS, B., COX, K., MORFINI, G., BRADY, S. T., COUNTS, S. E. & KANAAN, N. M. 2016. Pseudophosphorylation of tau at S422 enhances SDS-stable dimer formation and impairs both anterograde and retrograde fast axonal transport. *Experimental neurology*, 283, 318-329.
- TIERNAN, C. T., GINSBERG, S. D., HE, B., WARD, S. M., GUILLOZET-BONGAARTS, A. L., KANAAN, N. M., MUFSON, E. J. & COUNTS, S. E. 2018a. Pretangle pathology within cholinergic nucleus basalis neurons coincides with neurotrophic and neurotransmitter receptor gene dysregulation during the progression of Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of disease*, 117, 125-136.
- TIERNAN, C. T., MUFSON, E. J., KANAAN, N. M. & COUNTS, S. E. 2018b. Tau oligomer pathology in nucleus basalis neurons during the progression of Alzheimer disease. *Journal of Neuropathology & Experimental Neurology*, 77, 246-259.

- TIMMUSK, T., BELLUARDO, N., PERSSON, H. & METSIS, M. 1994. Developmental regulation of brainderived neurotrophic factor messenger RNAs transcribed from different promoters in the rat brain. *Neuroscience*, 60, 287-291.
- TIMMUSK, T., PALM, K., METSIS, M., REINTAM, T., PAALME, V., SAARMA, M. & PERSSON, H. 1993. Multiple promoters direct tissue-specific expression of the rat BDNF gene. *Neuron*, 10, 475-489.
- TIMPL, R. 1996. Macromolecular organization of basement membranes. *Current opinion in cell biology*, 8, 618-624.
- TONG, X. & HAMEL, E. 1999. Regional cholinergic denervation of cortical microvessels and nitric oxide synthase-containing neurons in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroscience*, 92, 163-175.
- TORIBATAKE, Y., TOMITA, K., KAWAHARA, N., BABA, H., OHNARI, H. & TANAKA, S. 1997. Regulation of vasomotion of arterioles and capillaries in the cat spinal cord: role of α actin and endothelin-1. *Spinal cord*, 35, 26-32.
- TORRES-PLATAS, S. G., COMEAU, S., RACHALSKI, A., BO, G. D., CRUCEANU, C., TURECKI, G., GIROS, B. & MECHAWAR, N. 2014. Morphometric characterization of microglial phenotypes in human cerebral cortex. *Journal of neuroinflammation*, 11, 1-14.
- TOTTORI, K., NAKAI, M., UWAHODO, Y., MIWA, T., YAMADA, S., OSHIRO, Y., KIKUCHI, T. & ALTAR, C. A. 2002. Attenuation of Scopolamine-Induced and Age-Associated Memory Impairments by the Sigma and 5-Hydroxytryptamine1A Receptor Agonist OPC-14523 (1-{3-[4-(3-chlorophenyl]-1-piperazinyl] propyl}-5-methoxy-3, 4-dihydro-2 [1H]-quinolinone monomethanesulfonate). Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, 301, 249-257.
- TRILLO, L., DAS, D., HSIEH, W., MEDINA, B., MOGHADAM, S., LIN, B., DANG, V., SANCHEZ, M. M., DE MIGUEL, Z. & ASHFORD, J. W. 2013. Ascending monoaminergic systems alterations in Alzheimer's disease. Translating basic science into clinical care. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, 37, 1363-1379.
- TUSZYNSKI, M. H., AMARAL, D. G. & GAGE, F. H. 1990. Nerve growth factor infusion in the primate brain reduces lesion-induced cholinergic neuronal degeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 10, 3604-3614.
- TUSZYNSKI, M. H., SANG U, H., YOSHIDA, K. & GAGE, F. H. 1991. Recombinant human nerve growth factor infusions prevent cholinergic neuronal degeneration in the adult primate brain. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 30, 625-636.
- TUSZYNSKI, M. H., THAL, L., PAY, M., SALMON, D. P., BAKAY, R., PATEL, P., BLESCH, A., VAHLSING, H. L., HO, G. & TONG, G. 2005. A phase 1 clinical trial of nerve growth factor gene therapy for Alzheimer disease. *Nature medicine*, 11, 551-555.
- TUSZYNSKI, M. H., YANG, J. H., BARBA, D., HOI-SANG, U., BAKAY, R. A., PAY, M. M., MASLIAH, E., CONNER, J. M., KOBALKA, P. & ROY, S. 2015. Nerve growth factor gene therapy: activation of neuronal responses in Alzheimer disease. *JAMA neurology*, 72, 1139-1147.
- TZAVARA, E., BYMASTER, F., FELDER, C., WADE, M., GOMEZA, J., WESS, J., MCKINZIE, D. & NOMIKOS, G.
 2003. Dysregulated hippocampal acetylcholine neurotransmission and impaired cognition in M2, M4 and M2/M4 muscarinic receptor knockout mice. *Molecular psychiatry*, 8, 673-679.
- UCHIDA, S., SUZUKI, A., KAGITANI, F. & HOTTA, H. 2000. Effects of age on cholinergic vasodilation of cortical cerebral blood vessels in rats. *Neuroscience letters*, 294, 109-112.
- UTERMANN, G., LANGENBECK, U., BEISIEGEL, U. & WEBER, W. 1980. Genetics of the apolipoprotein Esystem in man. *American journal of human genetics*, 32, 339.
- VAFADARI, B., SALAMIAN, A. & KACZMAREK, L. 2016. MMP-9 in translation: from molecule to brain physiology, pathology, and therapy. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 139, 91-114.
- VALENZA, M., FACCHINETTI, R., STEARDO, L. & SCUDERI, C. 2020. Altered waste disposal system in aging and Alzheimer's disease: focus on astrocytic aquaporin-4. *Frontiers in pharmacology*, 10, 1656.

- VAN BROECKHOVEN, C., HAAN, J., BAKKER, E., HARDY, J., VAN HUL, W., WEHNERT, A., VEGTER-VAN DER VLIS, M. & ROOS, R. 1990. Amyloid β protein precursor gene and hereditary cerebral hemorrhage with amyloidosis (Dutch). *Science*, 248, 1120-1122.
- VAN DE HAAR, H. J., JANSEN, J. F., VAN OSCH, M. J., VAN BUCHEM, M. A., MULLER, M., WONG, S. M., HOFMAN, P. A., BURGMANS, S., VERHEY, F. R. & BACKES, W. H. 2016. Neurovascular unit impairment in early Alzheimer's disease measured with magnetic resonance imaging. *Neurobiology of aging*, 45, 190-196.
- VAN DER FLIER, W. M., VAN STRAATEN, E. C., BARKHOF, F., FERRO, J., PANTONI, L., BASILE, A.-M., INZITARI, D., ERKINJUNTTI, T., WAHLUND, L. O. & ROSTRUP, E. 2005. Medial temporal lobe atrophy and white matter hyperintensities are associated with mild cognitive deficits in non-disabled elderly people: the LADIS study. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 76, 1497-1500.
- VAN ENKHUIZEN, J., JANOWSKY, D. S., OLIVIER, B., MINASSIAN, A., PERRY, W., YOUNG, J. W. & GEYER, M.
 A. 2015. The catecholaminergic–cholinergic balance hypothesis of bipolar disorder revisited. *European journal of pharmacology*, 753, 114-126.
- VANA, L., KANAAN, N. M., UGWU, I. C., WUU, J., MUFSON, E. J. & BINDER, L. I. 2011. Progression of tau pathology in cholinergic Basal forebrain neurons in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *The American journal of pathology*, 179, 2533-2550.
- VANLANDEWIJCK, M., HE, L., MÄE, M. A., ANDRAE, J., ANDO, K., DEL GAUDIO, F., NAHAR, K., LEBOUVIER, T., LAVIÑA, B. & GOUVEIA, L. 2018. A molecular atlas of cell types and zonation in the brain vasculature. *Nature*, 554, 475-480.
- VARENICLINE-ALZFORUM. Available: <u>https://www.alzforum.org/therapeutics/varenicline</u> [Accessed].
- VASSAR, R., BENNETT, B. D., BABU-KHAN, S., KAHN, S., MENDIAZ, E. A., DENIS, P., TEPLOW, D. B., ROSS, S., AMARANTE, P. & LOELOFF, R. 1999. β-Secretase cleavage of Alzheimer's amyloid precursor protein by the transmembrane aspartic protease BACE. *science*, 286, 735-741.
- VAUCHER, E. & HAMEL, E. 1995. Cholinergic basal forebrain neurons project to cortical microvessels in the rat: electron microscopic study with anterogradely transported Phaseolus vulgaris leucoagglutinin and choline acetyltransferase immunocytochemistry. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 15, 7427-7441.
- VAYNMAN, S., YING, Z. & GOMEZ-PINILLA, F. 2004. Hippocampal BDNF mediates the efficacy of exercise on synaptic plasticity and cognition. *European Journal of neuroscience*, 20, 2580-2590.
- VEMURI, P., LESNICK, T. G., PRZYBELSKI, S. A., KNOPMAN, D. S., LOWE, V. J., GRAFF-RADFORD, J., ROBERTS, R. O., MIELKE, M. M., MACHULDA, M. M. & PETERSEN, R. C. 2017. Age, vascular health, and Alzheimer disease biomarkers in an elderly sample. *Annals of neurology*, 82, 706-718.
- VENERO, J., KNÜSEL, B., BECK, K. & HEFTI, F. 1994. Expression of neurotrophin and trk receptor genes in adult rats with fimbria transections: effect of intraventricular nerve growth factor and brainderived neurotrophic factor administration. *Neuroscience*, 59, 797-815.
- VENNERI, A., SHANKS, M. F., STAFF, R. T., PESTELL, S. J., FORBES, K. E., GEMMELL, H. G. & MURRAY, A. D. 2002. Cerebral blood flow and cognitive responses to rivastigmine treatment in Alzheimer's disease. *Neuroreport*, 13, 83-87.
- VILARÓ, M. T., PALACIOS, J. & MENGOD, G. 1990. Localization of m5 muscarinic receptor mRNA in rat brain examined by in situ hybridization histochemistry. *Neuroscience letters*, 114, 154-159.
- VILLARD, V., ESPALLERGUES, J., KELLER, E., VAMVAKIDES, A. & MAURICE, T. 2011. Anti-amnesic and neuroprotective potentials of the mixed muscarinic receptor/sigma1 (σ1) ligand ANAVEX2-73, a novel aminotetrahydrofuran derivative. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 25, 1101-1117.
- VILLEMAGNE, V. L., BURNHAM, S., BOURGEAT, P., BROWN, B., ELLIS, K. A., SALVADO, O., SZOEKE, C., MACAULAY, S. L., MARTINS, R. & MARUFF, P. 2013. Amyloid β deposition, neurodegeneration, and cognitive decline in sporadic Alzheimer's disease: a prospective cohort study. *The Lancet Neurology*, 12, 357-367.
- VINTERS, H. V. 1987. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy. A critical review. Stroke, 18, 311-324.

- VONSATTEL, J. P. G., MYERS, R. H., TESSA HEDLEY-WHYTE, E., ROPPER, A. H., BIRD, E. D. & RICHARDSON JR, E. P. 1991. Cerebral amyloid angiopathy without and with cerebral hemorrhages: a comparative histological study. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 30, 637-649.
- VOSSEL, K. A., ZHANG, K., BRODBECK, J., DAUB, A. C., SHARMA, P., FINKBEINER, S., CUI, B. & MUCKE, L. 2010. Tau reduction prevents Aβ-induced defects in axonal transport. *Science*, 330, 198-198.
- WAITE, J. J., HOLSCHNEIDER, D. P. & SCREMIN, O. U. 1999. Selective immunotoxin-induced cholinergic deafferentiation alters blood flow distribution in the cerebral cortex. *Brain research*, 818, 1-11.
- WAITE, J. J., WARDLOW, M. L., CHEN, A. C., LAPPI, D. A., WILEY, R. G. & THAL, L. J. 1994. Time course of cholinergic and monoaminergic changes in rat brain after immunolesioning with 192 IgG-saporin. *Neuroscience letters*, 169, 154-158.
- WAKEMAN, D. R., WEED, M. R., PEREZ, S. E., CLINE, E. N., VIOLA, K. L., WILCOX, K. C., MODDRELLE, D. S., NISBETT, E. Z., KURIAN, A. M. & BELL, A. F. 2022. Intrathecal amyloid-beta oligomer administration increases tau phosphorylation in the medial temporal lobe in the African green monkey: A nonhuman primate model of Alzheimer's disease. *Neuropathology and applied neurobiology*, 48, e12800.
- WALSH, J. J. & TSCHAKOVSKY, M. E. 2018. Exercise and circulating BDNF: mechanisms of release and implications for the design of exercise interventions. *Applied Physiology, Nutrition, and Metabolism,* 43, 1095-1104.
- WANG, G., COBLE, D., MCDADE, E. M., HASSENSTAB, J., FAGAN, A. M., BENZINGER, T. L., BATEMAN, R. J., MORRIS, J. C., XIONG, C. & NETWORK, D. I. A. 2019. Staging biomarkers in preclinical autosomal dominant Alzheimer's disease by estimated years to symptom onset. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 15, 506-514.
- WANG, P., XIE, Z.-H., GUO, Y.-J., ZHAO, C.-P., JIANG, H., SONG, Y., ZHU, Z.-Y., LAI, C., XU, S.-L. & BI, J.-Z. 2011. VEGF-induced angiogenesis ameliorates the memory impairment in APP transgenic mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 411, 620-626.
- WANG, X., ZHU, M., HJORTH, E., CORTÉS-TORO, V., EYJOLFSDOTTIR, H., GRAFF, C., NENNESMO, I., PALMBLAD, J., ERIKSDOTTER, M. & SAMBAMURTI, K. 2015. Resolution of inflammation is altered in Alzheimer's disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia*, 11, 40-50. e2.
- WANG, Y. & MANDELKOW, E. 2016. Tau in physiology and pathology. *Nature reviews neuroscience*, 17, 22-35.
- WARBURTON, E., AGGLETON, J. & MUIR, J. 1998. Comparing the effects of selective cingulate cortex lesions and cingulum bundle lesions on water maze performance by rats. *European Journal of Neuroscience*, 10, 622-634.
- WEINGARTEN, M. D., LOCKWOOD, A. H., HWO, S.-Y. & KIRSCHNER, M. W. 1975. A protein factor essential for microtubule assembly. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 72, 1858-1862.
- WEINSTEIN, G., BEISER, A. S., CHOI, S. H., PREIS, S. R., CHEN, T. C., VORGAS, D., AU, R., PIKULA, A., WOLF,
 P. A. & DESTEFANO, A. L. 2014. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor and the risk for dementia: the Framingham Heart Study. *JAMA neurology*, 71, 55-61.
- WENK, G. L., STOEHR, J. D., QUINTANA, G., MOBLEY, S. & WILEY, R. G. 1994. Behavioral, biochemical, histological, and electrophysiological effects of 192 IgG-saporin injections into the basal forebrain of rats. *Journal of Neuroscience*, 14, 5986-5995.
- WESS, J. 1993. Molecular basis of muscarinic receptor function. *Trends in pharmacological sciences*, 14, 308-313.
- WESS, J. 2004. Muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice: novel phenotypes and clinical implications. *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.,* 44, 423-450.

- WESS, J., DUTTAROY, A., ZHANG, W., GOMEZA, J., CUI, Y., MIYAKAWA, T., BYMASTER, F., MCKINZIE, L., FELDER, C. & LAMPING, K. 2003. M 1-M 5 muscarinic receptor knockout mice as novel tools to study the physiological roles of the muscarinic cholinergic system. *Receptors and channels*, 9, 279-290.
- WHITE, H. L. & WU, J. C. 1973. Kinetics of choline acetyltransferases (EC 2.3. 1.6) from human and other mammalian central and peripheral nervous tissues. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 20, 297-307.
- WHITE, P., GOODHARDT, M., KEET, J., HILEY, C. R., CARRASCO, L., WILLIAMS, I. & BOWEN, D. M. 1977. Neocortical cholinergic neurons in elderly people. *The Lancet*, 309, 668-671.
- WHITEHOUSE, P. J., PRICE, D. L., CLARK, A. W., COYLE, J. T. & DELONG, M. R. 1981. Alzheimer disease: evidence for selective loss of cholinergic neurons in the nucleus basalis. *Annals of Neurology: Official Journal of the American Neurological Association and the Child Neurology Society*, 10, 122-126.
- WHITEHOUSE, P. J., PRICE, D. L., STRUBLE, R. G., CLARK, A. W., COYLE, J. T. & DELONG, M. R. 1982. Alzheimer's disease and senile dementia: loss of neurons in the basal forebrain. *Science*, 215, 1237-1239.
- WIATRAK, B., KUBIS-KUBIAK, A., PIWOWAR, A. & BARG, E. 2020. PC12 cell line: cell types, coating of culture vessels, differentiation and other culture conditions. *Cells*, 9, 958.
- WILCOCK, G., ESIRI, M., BOWEN, D. & HUGHES, A. 1988. The differential involvement of subcortical nuclei in senile dementia of Alzheimer's type. *Journal of Neurology, Neurosurgery & Psychiatry*, 51, 842-849.
- WILEY , O. A. L. 1991. Immunolesioning: selective destruction of neurons using immunotoxin to rat NGF receptor. *Brain Research*, 562, 149-153.
- WILKINS, A., SHALLICE, T. & MCCARTHY, R. 1987. Frontal lesions and sustained attention. *Neuropsychologia*, 25, 359-365.
- WILLIAMS, L. R., VARON, S., PETERSON, G. M., WICTORIN, K., FISCHER, W., BJORKLUND, A. & GAGE, F. H. 1986. Continuous infusion of nerve growth factor prevents basal forebrain neuronal death after fimbria fornix transection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 83, 9231-9235.
- WILLIS, C. L., LEACH, L., CLARKE, G. J., NOLAN, C. C. & RAY, D. E. 2004. Reversible disruption of tight junction complexes in the rat blood-brain barrier, following transitory focal astrocyte loss. *Glia*, 48, 1-13.
- WILSON, E. N., ABELA, A. R., DO CARMO, S., ALLARD, S., MARKS, A. R., WELIKOVITCH, L. A., DUCATENZEILER, A., CHUDASAMA, Y. & CUELLO, A. C. 2016. Intraneuronal amyloid beta accumulation disrupts hippocampal CRTC1-dependent gene expression and cognitive function in a rat model of Alzheimer disease. *Cerebral cortex*, 27, bhv332.
- WILSON, E. N., DO CARMO, S., IULITA, M. F., HALL, H., AUSTIN, G. L., JIA, D. T., MALCOLM, J. C., FORET, M. K., MARKS, A. R. & BUTTERFIELD, D. A. 2018. Microdose lithium NP03 diminishes pre-Plaque oxidative damage and neuroinflammation in a rat model of Alzheimer's-like amyloidosis. *Current Alzheimer Research*, 15, 1220-1230.
- WISNIEWSKI, T., GHISO, J. & FRANGIONE, B. 1991. Peptides homologous to the amyloid protein of Alzheimer's disease containing a glutamine for glutamic acid substitution have accelerated amyloid fibril formation. *Biochemical and biophysical research communications*, 179, 1247-1254.
- WONG, R. & AMANO, T. Racial/ethnic differences in Alzheimer's disease and dementia risk in the United States: A systematic review and meta-analysis. APHA's 2019 Annual Meeting and Expo (Nov 2-Nov 6): American Public Health Association, 2019.
- WONG, S. L., GILMOUR, H. & RAMAGE-MORIN, P. L. 2016. Alzheimer's disease and other dementias in Canada. Statistics Canada Ottawa.
- WONG, T. P., CAMPBELL, P. M., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A. & CUELLO, A. C. 1998. Synaptic numbers across cortical laminae and cognitive performance of the rat during ageing. *Neuroscience*, 84, 403-12.

- WONG, T. P., DEBEIR, T., DUFF, K. & CUELLO, A. C. 1999. Reorganization of cholinergic terminals in the cerebral cortex and hippocampus in transgenic mice carrying mutated presenilin-1 and amyloid precursor protein transgenes. *J Neurosci*, 19, 2706-16.
- WONG, T. P., MARCHESE, G., CASU, M. A., RIBEIRO-DA-SILVA, A., CUELLO, A. C. & DE KONINCK, Y. 2006. Imbalance towards inhibition as a substrate of aging-associated cognitive impairment. *Neurosci Lett*, 397, 64-8.
- WONNACOTT, S. 1997. Presynaptic nicotinic ACh receptors. *Trends in neurosciences*, 20, 92-98.
- WOO, N. H., TENG, H. K., SIAO, C.-J., CHIARUTTINI, C., PANG, P. T., MILNER, T. A., HEMPSTEAD, B. L. & LU,
 B. 2005. Activation of p75NTR by proBDNF facilitates hippocampal long-term depression. *Nature neuroscience*, 8, 1069-1077.
- WOOLF, N. J. 1991. Cholinergic systems in mammalian brain and spinal cord. *Progress in neurobiology*, 37, 475-524.
- WOOLF, N. J. & BUTCHER, L. L. 1982. Cholinergic projections to the basolateral amygdala: a combined Evans Blue and acetylcholinesterase analysis. *Brain research bulletin*, 8, 751-763.
- WOOLF, N. J., ECKENSTEIN, F. & BUTCHER, L. L. 1984. Cholinergic systems in the rat brain: I. Projections to the limbic telencephalon. *Brain research bulletin*, 13, 751-784.
- WU, Z., LI, L., ZHENG, L. T., XU, Z., GUO, L. & ZHEN, X. 2015. Allosteric modulation of sigma-1 receptors by SKF 83959 inhibits microglia-mediated inflammation. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 134, 904-914.
- WYSS-CORAY, T. & ROGERS, J. 2012. Inflammation in Alzheimer disease—a brief review of the basic science and clinical literature. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in medicine*, 2, a006346.
- XIE, W., STRIBLEY, J. A., CHATONNET, A., WILDER, P. J., RIZZINO, A., MCCOMB, R. D., TAYLOR, P., HINRICHS,
 S. H. & LOCKRIDGE, O. 2000. Postnatal developmental delay and supersensitivity to organophosphate in gene-targeted mice lacking acetylcholinesterase. *Journal of Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics*, 293, 896-902.
- XIONG, M., JIANG, H., SERRANO, J. R., GONZALES, E. R., WANG, C., GRATUZE, M., HOYLE, R., BIEN-LY, N., SILVERMAN, A. P. & SULLIVAN, P. M. 2021. APOE immunotherapy reduces cerebral amyloid angiopathy and amyloid plaques while improving cerebrovascular function. *Science translational medicine*, 13, eabd7522.
- XU, Q., JI, X.-F., CHI, T.-Y., LIU, P., JIN, G., GU, S.-L. & ZOU, L.-B. 2015. Sigma 1 receptor activation regulates brain-derived neurotrophic factor through NR2A-CaMKIV-TORC1 pathway to rescue the impairment of learning and memory induced by brain ischaemia/reperfusion. *Psychopharmacology*, 232, 1779-1791.
- YAMADA, K., MIZUNO, M. & NABESHIMA, T. 2002. Role for brain-derived neurotrophic factor in learning and memory. *Life sciences*, 70, 735-744.
- YAMADA, M., LAMPING, K. G., DUTTAROY, A., ZHANG, W., CUI, Y., BYMASTER, F. P., MCKINZIE, D. L., FELDER, C. C., DENG, C.-X. & FARACI, F. M. 2001a. Cholinergic dilation of cerebral blood vessels is abolished in M5 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor knockout mice. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98, 14096-14101.
- YAMADA, M., MIYAKAWA, T., DUTTAROY, A., YAMANAKA, A., MORIGUCHI, T., MAKITA, R., OGAWA, M., CHOU, C. J., XIA, B. & CRAWLEY, J. N. 2001b. Mice lacking the M3 muscarinic acetylcholine receptor are hypophagic and lean. *Nature*, 410, 207-212.
- YAN, H. & CHAO, M. V. 1991. Disruption of cysteine-rich repeats of the p75 nerve growth factor receptor leads to loss of ligand binding. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 266, 12099-12104.
- YANG, A. C., VEST, R. T., KERN, F., LEE, D. P., AGAM, M., MAAT, C. A., LOSADA, P. M., CHEN, M. B., SCHAUM, N. & KHOURY, N. 2022. A human brain vascular atlas reveals diverse mediators of Alzheimer's risk. *Nature*, 603, 885-892.
- YANG, M., SILVERMAN, J. L. & CRAWLEY, J. N. 2011. Automated three-chambered social approach task for mice. *Current protocols in neuroscience*, 56, 8.26. 1-8.26. 16.

- YANG, S.-P., BAE, D.-G., KANG, H. J., GWAG, B. J., GHO, Y. S. & CHAE, C.-B. 2004. Co-accumulation of vascular endothelial growth factor with β-amyloid in the brain of patients with Alzheimer's disease. *Neurobiology of aging*, 25, 283-290.
- YANG, S. P., KWON, B. O., GHO, Y. S. & CHAE, C. B. 2005. Specific interaction of VEGF165 with β -amyloid, and its protective effect on β -amyloid-induced neurotoxicity. *Journal of neurochemistry*, 93, 118-127.
- YEPES, M. & LAWRENCE, D. A. 2004. New functions for an old enzyme: nonhemostatic roles for tissuetype plasminogen activator in the central nervous system. *Experimental biology and medicine*, 229, 1097-1104.
- YEW, B., NATION, D. A. & INITIATIVE, A. S. D. N. 2017. Cerebrovascular resistance: effects on cognitive decline, cortical atrophy, and progression to dementia. *Brain*, 140, 1987-2001.
- YOKOI, Y., TAKANO, H., SAKATA, M., MARUO, K., NAKAGOME, K. & MATSUDA, H. 2019. Discrete effect of each mild behavioural impairment category on dementia conversion or cognitive decline in patients with mild cognitive impairment. *Psychogeriatrics*, 19, 591-600.
- YOSHIKAI, S.-I., SASAKI, H., DOH-URA, K., FURUYA, H. & SAKAKI, Y. 1990. Genomic organization of the human amyloid beta-protein precursor gene. *Gene*, 87, 257-263.
- YOSHIYAMA, Y., ASAHINA, M. & HATTORI, T. 2000. Selective distribution of matrix metalloproteinase-3 (MMP-3) in Alzheimer's disease brain. *Acta neuropathologica*, 99, 91-95.
- YOSHIYAMA, Y., HIGUCHI, M., ZHANG, B., HUANG, S.-M., IWATA, N., SAIDO, T. C., MAEDA, J., SUHARA, T., TROJANOWSKI, J. Q. & LEE, V. M.-Y. 2007. Synapse loss and microglial activation precede tangles in a P301S tauopathy mouse model. *Neuron*, 53, 337-351.
- YOUNG, J. W., FINLAYSON, K., SPRATT, C., MARSTON, H. M., CRAWFORD, N., KELLY, J. S. & SHARKEY, J. 2004. Nicotine improves sustained attention in mice: evidence for involvement of the α7 nicotinic acetylcholine receptor. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 891-900.
- YOUSIF, S., MARIE-CLAIRE, C., ROUX, F., SCHERRMANN, J.-M. & DECLÈVES, X. 2007. Expression of drug transporters at the blood-brain barrier using an optimized isolated rat brain microvessel strategy. *Brain research*, 1134, 1-11.
- YU, J., WILEY, R. & PEREZ-POLO, R. 1996. Altered NGF protein levels in different brain areas after immunolesion. *Journal of neuroscience research*, 43, 213-223.
- YUCESOY, B., PEILA, R., WHITE, L. R., WU, K. M., JOHNSON, V. J., KASHON, M. L., LUSTER, M. I. & LAUNER,
 L. J. 2006. Association of interleukin-1 gene polymorphisms with dementia in a community-based sample: the Honolulu-Asia Aging Study. *Neurobiology of aging*, 27, 211-217.
- YUN, S., CHEONG, M., MOOK-JUNG, I., HUH, K., LEE, C.-J. & JUNG, M. 2000. Cholinergic modulation of synaptic transmission and plasticity in entorhinal cortex and hippocampus of the rat. *Neuroscience*, 97, 671-676.
- ZABORSZKY, L., PANG, K., SOMOGYI, J., NADASDY, Z. & KALLO, I. 1999. The basal forebrain corticopetal system revisited. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 877, 339-367.
- ZAFRA, F., HENGERER, B., LEIBROCK, J., THOENEN, H. & LINDHOLM, D. 1990. Activity dependent regulation of BDNF and NGF mRNAs in the rat hippocampus is mediated by non-NMDA glutamate receptors. *The EMBO journal*, 9, 3545-3550.
- ZAVA, F., SETTE, S., BAUMGARTNER, E. & COPLAN, R. J. 2021. Social Withdrawal.
- ŹBORSZKY, L., HEIMER, L., ECKENSTEIN, F. & LERANTH, C. 1986. GABAergic input to cholinergic forebrain neurons: an ultrastructural study using retrograde tracing of HRP and double immunolabeling. *Journal of Comparative Neurology*, 250, 282-295.
- ZHANG, F., XU, S. & IADECOLA, C. 1995. Role of nitric oxide and acetylcholine in neocortical hyperemia elicited by basal forebrain stimulation: evidence for an involvement of endothelial nitric oxide. *Neuroscience*, 69, 1195-1204.

- ZHANG, Z.-J., LAPPI, D. A., WRENN, C. C., MILNER, T. A. & WILEY, R. G. 1998. Selective lesion of the cholinergic basal forebrain causes a loss of cortical neuropeptide Y and somatostatin neurons. *Brain research*, 800, 198-206.
- ZHENG, C., ZHOU, X.-W. & WANG, J.-Z. 2016. The dual roles of cytokines in Alzheimer's disease: update on interleukins, TNF-α, TGF-β and IFN-γ. *Translational neurodegeneration*, **5**, **1**-15.
- ZLOKOVIC, B. V., YAMADA, S., HOLTZMAN, D., GHISO, J. & FRANGIONE, B. 2000. Clearance of amyloid βpeptide from brain: transport or metabolism? *Nature medicine*, 6, 718-718.
- ZOLI, M., PICCIOTTO, M. R., FERRARI, R., COCCHI, D. & CHANGEUX, J.-P. 1999. Increased neurodegeneration during ageing in mice lacking high-affinity nicotine receptors. *The EMBO journal*, 18, 1235-1244.
- ZOLOCHEVSKA, O., BJORKLUND, N., WOLTJER, R., WIKTOROWICZ, J. E. & TAGLIALATELA, G. 2018. Postsynaptic proteome of non-demented individuals with Alzheimer's disease neuropathology. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 65, 659-682.
- ZUBIETA, J. K., KOEPPE, R. A., FREY, K. A., KILBOURN, M. R., MANGNER, T. J., FOSTER, N. L. & KUHL, D. E. 2001. Assessment of muscarinic receptor concentrations in aging and Alzheimer disease with [11C] NMPB and PET. Synapse, 39, 275-287.
- ZUROFF, L., DALEY, D., BLACK, K. L. & KORONYO-HAMAOUI, M. 2017. Clearance of cerebral Aβ in Alzheimer's disease: reassessing the role of microglia and monocytes. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences*, 74, 2167-2201.